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FOREWORD
by the Chairman of IASB

I and my fellow Board members at the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) are committed
to developing high quality, understandable, and enforceable global accounting standards that meet the de-
mands for comparable and transparent information in the world’s capital markets. Recently we completed a
work program to develop and issue a stable platform of such standards. Those standards, the International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), are now being implemented in a large number of countries around the
world. This is a major achievement on the road towards the global acceptance of a single set of accounting
standards.

The responsibility for achieving high quality financial reporting, however, does not rest solely with
IASB. Our role is limited to providing the set of standards that entities should apply to achieve high quality,
comparable, and transparent financial reporting. For IFRS to be properly understood, implemented, and ap-
plied in practice, education and training of all relevant parties—including financial statement preparers,
auditors, regulators, financial analysts, and other users of financial statements as well as accounting
students—is essential.

This book should be a helpful tool in this regard. The approach of the book is to discuss core concepts
and other key elements of the standards and to provide training material in the form of worked case studies
and questions to support successful learning of the material. Consequently, the book should be useful for
students who prepare for professional exams and for financial statement preparers, auditors, regulators, fi-
nancial analysts, and other users of financial statements who in their work need to be familiar with the stan-
dards. The book should help practitioners and students alike understand, implement, and apply the key ele-
ments of the standards.

Sir David Tweedie
Chairman of JASB
December, 2005
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FOREWORD
by the Secretary General of IOSCO

In recent years much has been written about International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) so it is
opportune that a publication such as this would be released at this time particularly since this initiative helps
to bring such clarity and focus to the debate.

Globalization is taking place at an ever more rapid pace. As cross-border financial activity increases,
capital markets become more dependent on each other. As financial markets become ever more interdepend-
ent, there is a greater need for the development of internationally recognized and accepted standards dealing
with capital market regulation.

The development of IFRS can be seen within this broader framework. They represent an especially use-
ful instrument designed to promote a stable and more secure international regulatory environment. At the
same time, IFRS deliver on accounting and disclosure objectives as well as the pursuit of improved transpar-
ency of global financial reporting.

For the International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO), the development and subsequent
progress of IFRS represents a priority outcome. The organization has been a key stakeholder with an active
involvement in the process of setting the standards and in continually assessing their quality.

This involvement reflects a long history of commitment by IOSCO to efforts aimed at strengthening the
integrity of international markets through the promotion of high quality accounting standards, including rig-
orous application and enforcement.

At the same time, there is an obligation of international standard setters to be responsive to concerns
over the application and interpretation of the standards. This is a key complement to the success of IFRS and
one which we take seriously.

Ultimately, accounting standards setting is a continuous process that must respond to changes and devel-
opments in the markets and the information needs of investors. Indeed, it has always been the case that ef-
fective financial reporting is fundamental to investor confidence as well as good corporate governance.

In the long term, the adoption of IFRS in many countries and their use in numerous cross-border trans-
actions will help to bring about these high quality global accounting standards by providing transparent and
comparable information in financial reports.

Although as an international standards setter IOSCO is not in position to endorse external publications,
we have always recognized that by helping to promote clear information about the IFRS, publications such as
this one serve a particularly useful function both as an educational opportunity and also to encourage confi-
dence in these standards. On that basis it is most welcome.

Philippe Richard
IOSCO Secretary General
March 2006
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PREFACE

Achieving consistency in financial reporting worldwide is the need of the hour, especially if meaningful
comparisons are to be made of financial information emanating from different countries using accounting
standards that, until recently, were vastly different from each other. Thus, there has arisen the urgent need for
promulgation of a common set of global accounting standards or, in other words, global convergence into a
common language of accounting for the financial world. International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),
the standards promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), previously known as
International Accounting Standards (IAS) that were issued by the International Accounting Standard
Committee (IASC), the IASB’s predecessor body, appear to be emerging as the global accounting standards
and, according to some, could even qualify for the coveted title of “the Esperanto of accounting.”

This is a challenging and exciting time to be writing a book on IFRS. Challenging, because it is indeed a
daunting task to publish a book on a body of knowledge such as IFRS, which is undergoing significant
changes at an unprecedented pace. In some cases, changes were made to certain IASB standards within the
same year, and thus we, as authors, had to revise chapters when amendments to existing standards were
announced. In certain cases, even after chapters were initially written and finalized, in order to keep the book
current, we had to rewrite parts. Yet this is also an exciting time to be writing a book on a subject of global
importance such as IFRS, since the IASB standards are rapidly being adopted in a large number of countries
all around the world. For instance, by the time this book goes to print, most countries in Europe, including all
of the 25 member states of the European Union, will require listed companies to prepare their consolidated
financial statements in accordance with IFRS instead of local requirements, and many countries in Africa,
Asia, Australia, and the Americas are adopting IFRS as their national accounting standards. Knowing full
well that the book will have to cater to the requirements of users globally made the task of writing even more
challenging.

Whether you are an accountant, auditor, investor, banker, regulator, or financial analyst, understanding
and appreciating the fundamental principles and requirements of IFRS has become more important than ever
before. In this new financial world, knowledge of the fundamental principles of IFRS is essential to meet the
growing demands of a changing regulatory and market environment. Cognizant of that, we embarked on this
book project to help users and preparers of IFRS financial statements alike.

We have written this book with the end user in mind, which should make it user-friendly. For instance, if
you are an accountant or an auditor working in a country that has recently adopted IFRS (say, one of the
countries in the European Union), you are now faced with the challenges of being able to apply these
standards and to read and understand financial statements prepared in accordance with them. This book will
help you to do that. We believe that this book’s real strength lies in the fact that it explains the IASB
standards in a lucid manner so even first-time adopters of IFRS can understand the subject. The book
illustrates the practical application of the IASB standards using easy-to-apply illustrations and simple
examples. It goes a step further and provides copious learning aids in the form of case studies (with worked
solutions), multiple-choice questions (with answers), and practical insights. We hope its simple, step-by-step
approach will guide you in the application of IFRS.

In general, the structure and contents of the book are consistent with the order and scope of each
standard; each chapter discusses a specific IFRS, and the chapters are ordered consistent with the numbering
of the IFRS currently in effect. This structure allows you to use the book as a handbook, side by side with the
bound volume of standards issued by IASB. The only exception is the chapter on IAS 39, which is located
immediately after the chapter on IAS 32 in this book, since both standards address the same topic: the
accounting for financial instruments. Also, the chapters dealing with IAS precede the chapters dealing with
IFRS.

We hope that this book will greatly facilitate learning and will also help readers to understand the
technical complexities of the standards. Although a great deal of effort has gone into writing this book, we
sincerely believe that there is always scope for improvement. Any suggestions and comments for future
editions are therefore encouraged. We humbly submit that any views expressed in this publication are ours
alone and do not necessarily represent those of the firms or organizations we are part of.

Finally, we wish all our readers a very educating journey through the book.

Abbas Ali Mirza
Graham Holt
Magnus Orrell
March 2006
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1 INTRODUCTION TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

1. INTRODUCTION

International Accounting Standards (IAS), now renamed International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFRS), are gaining acceptance worldwide. This section discusses the extent to which IFRS
are recognized around the world and includes a brief overview of the history and key elements of
the international standard-setting process.

2. WORLDWIDE ADOPTION OF IFRS

2.1 In the last few years, the international accounting standard-setting process has been able to
claim a number of successes in achieving greater recognition and use of IFRS.

2.2 A major breakthrough came in 2002 when the European Union (EU) adopted legislation that
requires listed companies in Europe to apply IFRS in their consolidated financial statements. The
legislation came into effect in 2005 and applies to more than 7,000 companies in 28 countries, in-
cluding countries such as France, Germany, Italy, Spain, and the United Kingdom. The adoption
of IFRS in Europe means that IFRS replace national accounting standards and requirements as the
basis for preparing and presenting group financial statements for listed companies in Europe.

2.3 Outside Europe, many other countries are also moving to IFRS. In 2005, IFRS had become
mandatory in many countries in Southeast Asia, Central Asia, Latin America, Southern Africa, the
Middle East, and the Caribbean. In addition, countries such as Australia, Hong Kong, New Zea-
land, Philippines, and Singapore had adopted national accounting standards that mirror IFRS. It
was estimated that more than 70 countries required their listed companies to apply IFRS in prepar-
ing and presenting financial statements in 2005.

Countries that have Adopted IFRS

Countries in which some or all companies are required to apply IFRS or IFRS-based standards
are listed below.

Africa:
Egypt, Kenya, Malawi, Mauritius, Namibia, South Africa, Tanzania

Americas:
Bahamas, Barbados, Costa Rica, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Guatemala, Guyana,
Haiti, Honduras, Jamaica, Nicaragua, Panama, Peru, Trinidad and Tobago, Venezuela

Asia:
Armenia, Bahrain, Bangladesh, China, Georgia, Hong Kong, Jordan, Kazakhstan, Kuwait,
Kyrgyzstan, Lebanon, Nepal, Oman, Philippines, Qatar, Singapore, Tajikistan, United
Arab Emirates

Europe:
Austria, Belgium, Bosnia, Bulgaria, Croatia, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia,
Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Liechtenstein,
Lithuania, Luxembourg, Macedonia, Malta, Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Portugal,
Romania, Russia, Slovenia, Slovak Republic, Spain, Sweden, Ukraine, United Kingdom,
Yugoslavia

Oceania:
Australia, New Zealand, Papua New Guinea

2.4 The adoption of standards that require high-quality, transparent, and comparable information
is welcomed by investors, creditors, financial analysts, and other users of financial statements.
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Without common standards, it is difficult to compare financial information prepared by entities lo-
cated in different parts of the world. In an increasingly global economy, the use of a single set of
high-quality accounting standards facilitates investment and other economic decisions across bor-
ders, increases market efficiency, and reduces the cost of raising capital.

3. REMAINING EXCEPTIONS

3.1 Measured in terms of the size of their capital markets, the most significant remaining excep-
tions to the global recognition of IFRS are the United States (US), Japan, and Canada. In these
countries, entities continue to be required to follow local accounting standards.

3.2 The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), the body in charge of setting IFRS,
works closely with the national accounting standard-setting bodies in these countries, including the
US Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) and the Accounting Standards Board of Japan
(ASBJ), to narrow the differences between local accounting standards and IFRS. In Canada, a pro-
posal for conforming local accounting standards to IFRS has been published.

3.3 In the US, the domestic securities regulator (Securities and Exchange Commission, SEC) has
developed a roadmap for eliminating the current requirement for non-US companies that raise
capital in US markets to prepare a reconciliation of their IFRS financial statements to US Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (US GAAP).

4. THE INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS COMMITTEE

From 1973 until 2001, the body in charge of setting the international standards was the Interna-
tional Accounting Standards Committee (IASC). The principal significance of IASC was to en-
courage national accounting standard setters around the world to improve and harmonize national
accounting standards. Its objectives, as stated in its Constitution, were to

* Formulate and publish in the public interest accounting standards to be observed in the
presentation of financial statements and to promote their worldwide acceptance and obser-
vance

* Work generally for the improvement and harmonization of regulations, accounting standards,
and procedures relating to the presentation of financial statements

4.1 TASC and the Accounting Profession

IASC always had a special relationship with the international accounting profession. IASC was
created in 1973 by agreement between the professional accountancy bodies in nine countries, and,
from 1982, its membership consisted of all those professional accountancy bodies that were mem-
bers of the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC), that is, professional accountancy bod-
ies in more than 100 countries. As part of their membership in IASC, professional accountancy
bodies worldwide committed themselves to use their best endeavors to persuade governments,
standard-setting bodies, securities regulators, and the business community that published financial
statements should comply with IAS.

4.2 IASC Board

The members of IASC (i.e., professional accountancy bodies around the world) delegated the re-
sponsibility for all IASC activities, including all standard-setting activities, to the IASC Board. The
Board consisted of 13 country delegations representing members of IASC and up to four other or-
ganizations appointed by the Board. The Board, which usually met four times per year, was sup-
ported by a small secretariat located in London, the United Kingdom.

4.3 The Initial Set of Standards Issued by IASC

In its early years, IASC focused its efforts on developing a set of basic accounting standards. These
standards usually were worded broadly and contained several alternative treatments to accommo-
date the existence of different accounting practices around the world. Later these standards came to
be criticized for being too broad and having too many options.
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4.4 TImprovements and Comparability Project

Beginning in 1987, IASC initiated work to improve its standards, reduce the number of choices,
and specify preferred accounting treatments in order to allow greater comparability in financial
statements. This work took on further importance as securities regulators worldwide started to take
an active interest in the international accounting standard-setting process.

4.5 Core Standards Work Program

4.5.1 During the 1990s, IASC worked increasingly closely with the International Organization of
Securities Commissions (IOSCO) on defining its agenda. In 1993, the Technical Committee of
IOSCO held out the possibility of IOSCO endorsement of IASC Standards for cross-border listing
and capital-raising purposes around the world and identified a list of core standards that IASC
would need to complete for purposes of such an endorsement. In response, IASC in 1995 an-
nounced that it had agreed on a work plan to develop the comprehensive set of core standards
sought after by IOSCO. This effort became known as the Core Standards Work Program.

4.5.2 After three years of intense work to develop and publish standards that met IOSCO’s crite-
ria, IASC completed the Core Standards Work Program in 1998. In 2000, the Technical Committee
of IOSCO recommended securities regulators worldwide to permit foreign issuers to use IASC
Standards for cross-border offering and listing purposes, subject to certain supplemental treatments.

4.6 International Accounting Standards and SIC Interpretations

During its existence, IASC issued 41 numbered Standards, known as International Accounting
Standards (IAS), as well as a Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial State-
ments. While some of the Standards issued by the IASC have been withdrawn, many are still in
force. In addition, some of the Interpretations issued by the IASC’s interpretive body, the so-called
Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC), are still in force.

List of IAS Still in Force for 2006 Financial Statements

IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements

IAS 2, Inventories

IAS 7, Cash Flow Statements

IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
IAS 10, Events After the Balance Sheet Date

IAS 11, Construction Contracts

IAS 12, Income Taxes

IAS 14, Segment Reporting

IAS 16, Property, Plant, and Equipment

IAS 17, Leases

IAS 18, Revenue

IAS 19, Employee Benefits

IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance
IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

IAS 23, Borrowing Costs

IAS 24, Related-Party Disclosures

IAS 26, Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans

IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

IAS 28, Investments in Associates

IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

IAS 30, Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions
IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures

IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation

IAS 33, Earnings per Share

IAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting

IAS 36, Impairment of Assets

IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

IAS 38, Intangible Assets
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IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
IAS 40, Investment Property
IAS 41, Agriculture

List of SIC Interpretations Still in Force for 2006 Financial Statements

SIC 7, Introduction of the Euro

SIC 10, Government Assistance—No Specific Relation to Operating Activities
SIC 12, Consolidation—Special-Purpose Entities

SIC 13, Jointly Controlled Entities—Nonmonetary Contributions by Venturers
SIC 15, Operating Leases—Incentives

SIC 21, Income Taxes—Recovery of Revalued Nondepreciable Assets

SIC 25, Income Taxes—Changes in the Tax Status of an Entity or its Shareholders
SIC 27, Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease
SIC 29, Disclosure—Service Concession Arrangements

SIC 31, Revenue—Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services

SIC 32, Intangible Assets—Web Site Costs

S. THE INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD

5.0.1 In 2001, fundamental changes were made to strengthen the independence, legitimacy, and
quality of the international accounting standard-setting process. In particular, the IASC was re-
placed by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as the body in charge of setting the
international standards.

Key Differences between IASC and IASB

The IASB differs from the IASC, its predecessor body, in several key areas:

* Unlike the IASC, the IASB does not have a special relationship with the international
accounting profession. Instead, IASB is governed by a group of Trustees of diverse
geographic and functional backgrounds who are independent of the accounting
profession.

* Unlike the Board members of the IASC, Board members of the IASB are individuals
who are appointed based on technical skill and background experience rather than as
representatives of specific national accountancy bodies or other organizations.

* Unlike the IASC Board, which only met about four times a year, the IASB Board
usually meets each month. Moreover, the number of technical and commercial staff
working for IASB has increased significantly as compared with IASC. (Similar to
IASC, the headquarters of the IASB is located in London, the United Kingdom.)

The interpretive body of the IASC (SIC), has been replaced by the International Financial Re-
porting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC).

5.0.2 The objectives of the IASB, as stated in its Constitution, are to

(a) Develop, in the public interest, a single set of high-quality, understandable, and enforce-
able global accounting standards that require high-quality, transparent, and comparable in-
formation in financial statements and other financial reporting to help participants in the
various capital markets of the world and other users of the information to make economic
decisions;

(b) Promote the use and rigorous application of those standards; and

(c) Work actively with national standard setters to bring about convergence of national
accounting standards and International Financial Reporting Standards to high-quality solu-
tions.

5.0.3 At its first meeting in 2001, IASB adopted all outstanding IAS issued by the IASC as its
own Standards. Those IAS continue to be in force to the extent they are not amended or withdrawn
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by the IASB. New Standards issued by IASB are known as IFRS. When referring collectively to
IFRS, that term includes both IAS and IFRS.

List of IFRS

IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
IFRS 2, Share-Based Payment

IFRS 3, Business Combinations

IFRS 4, Insurance Contracts

IFRS 5, Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources

IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures

5.0.4 One of the initial projects undertaken by IASB was to identify opportunities to improve the
existing set of Standards by adding guidance and eliminating inconsistencies and choices. The im-
proved Standards, adopted in 2003, form part of IASB’s so-called stable platform of Standards for
use in 2005 when a significant number of countries around the world moved from national ac-
counting requirements to IFRS, such as all the countries in the European Union.

5.1 Structure and Governance of IASB
5.1.1 Trustees

The governance of IASB rests with the Trustees of the International Accounting Standards Com-
mittee Foundation (the “IASC Foundation Trustees” or, simply, the “Trustees”). The Trustees have
no involvement in IASB’s standard-setting activities. Instead, the Trustees are responsible for
broad strategic issues, budget, and operating procedures, as well as for appointing the members of
IASB.

5.1.2 The Board

The Board is responsible for all standard-setting activities, including the development and adoption
of IFRS. The Board has 14 members from around the world who are selected by the Trustees
based on technical skills and relevant business and market experience. The Board, which usually
meets once a month, has 12 full-time members and 2 part-time members. The Board members are
from a mix of backgrounds, including auditors, preparers of financial statements, users of financial
statements, and academics.

5.1.3 Standards Advisory Council

IASB is advised by the Standards Advisory Council (SAC). It has about 40 members appointed by
the Trustees and provides a forum for organizations and individuals with an interest in international
financial reporting to provide advice on IASB agenda decisions and priorities. Members currently
include chief financial and accounting officers from some of the world’s largest corporations and
international organizations, leading financial analysts and academics, regulators, accounting stan-
dard setters, and partners from leading accounting firms.

5.1.4 International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)

IASB’s interpretive body, IFRIC, is in charge of developing interpretive guidance on accounting
issues that are not specifically dealt with in IFRSs or that are likely to receive divergent or unac-
ceptable interpretations in the absence of authoritative guidance. IFRIC members are appointed by
the Trustees.

List of IFRIC Interpretations

IFRIC 1, Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and Similar Liabilities
IFRIC 2, Members’ Shares in Cooperative Entities and Similar Instruments
IFRIC 3, Emission Rights (withdrawn)
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IFRIC 4, Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease

IFRIC 5, Rights to Interests Arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental
Rehabilitation Funds

IFRIC 6, Liabilities Arising from Participating in a Specific Market—Waste Electrical and
Electronic Equipment

IFRIC 7, Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperin-
flationary Economies

IFRIC 8, Scope of IFRS 2

IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

5.1.5 Standard-Setting Due Process

As part of its due process in developing new or revised Standards, the Board publishes an Exposure
Draft of the proposed Standard for public comment in order to obtain the views of all interested
parties. It also publishes a “Basis for Conclusions” to its Exposure Drafts and Standards to explain
how it reached its conclusions and to give background information. When one or more Board
members disagree with a Standard, the Board publishes those dissenting opinions with the Stan-
dard. To obtain advice on major projects, the Board often forms advisory committees or other spe-
cialist groups and may also hold public hearings and conduct field tests on proposed Standards.
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2 IASB FRAMEWORK

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (the “Frame-
work”) sets out the concepts that underlie the preparation and presentation of financial statements,
that is, the objectives, assumptions, characteristics, definitions, and criteria that govern financial
reporting. Therefore, the Framework is often referred to as the “conceptual framework.” The
Framework deals with

(a) The objective of financial statements

(b) Underlying assumptions

(c) The qualitative characteristics that determine the usefulness of information in financial
statements

(d) The definition, recognition, and measurement of the elements from which financial state-
ments are constructed

(e) Concepts of capital and capital maintenance

1.2 The Framework does not have the force of a Standard. Instead, its purposes include, first, to
assist and guide the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as it develops new or re-
vised Standards and, second, to assist preparers of financial statements in applying Standards and
in dealing with topics that are not addressed by a Standard. Thus, in case of a conflict between the
Framework and a specific Standard, the Standard prevails over the Framework.

Practical Insight

In the absence of a Standard or an Interpretation that specifically applies to a transaction, other
event, or condition, IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors,
requires management to use its judgment in developing and applying an accounting policy that
results in information that is relevant and reliable. In making that judgment, management is
required to refer to, and consider the applicability of, in descending order: (a) the requirements
and guidance in Standards and Interpretations dealing with similar and related issues; and (b)
the definitions, recognition criteria, and measurement concepts for assets, liabilities, income,
and expenses in the Framework. Thus, the Framework serves as a guide for preparers to re-
solve accounting issues in the absence of more specific requirements.

2. OBJECTIVE OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The objective of financial statements is to provide information about the financial position, per-
formance, and changes in financial position of an entity that is useful to a wide range of users in
making economic decisions (e.g., whether to sell or hold an investment in the entity). Users include
present and potential investors, employees, lenders, suppliers and other trade creditors, customers,
governments and their agencies, and the public. Because investors are providers of risk capital, it is
presumed that financial statements that meet their needs will also meet most of the needs of other
users.

3. UNDERLYING ASSUMPTIONS

Normally, two assumptions underlying the preparation and presentation of financial statements are
the accrual basis and going concern.

3.1 Accrual Basis

3.1.1 When financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting, the effects of
transactions and other events are recognized when they occur (and not as cash or its equivalent is
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received or paid), and they are recorded in the accounting records and reported in the financial
statements of the periods to which they relate.

3.1.2 The accrual basis assumption is also addressed in IAS 1, Presentation of Financial State-
ments, which clarifies that when the accrual basis of accounting is used, items are recognized as
assets, liabilities, equity, income, and expenses (the elements of financial statements) when they
satisfy the definitions and recognition criteria for those elements in the Framework.

3.2 Going Concern

3.2.1 When financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, it is assumed that the en-
tity has neither the intention nor the need to liquidate or curtail materially the scale of its opera-
tions, but will continue in operation for the foreseeable future. If this assumption is not valid, the
financial statements may need to be prepared on a different basis and, if so, the basis used is dis-
closed.

3.2.2 The going concern assumption is also addressed in IAS 1, which requires management to
make an assessment of an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern when preparing financial
statements.

4. QUALITATIVE CHARACTERISTICS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Qualitative characteristics are the attributes that make the information provided in financial state-
ments useful to users. According to the Framework, the four principal qualitative characteristics are

(1) Understandability
(2) Relevance

(3) Reliability

(4) Comparability

4.1 Understandability

“Understandability” refers to information being readily understandable by users who have a rea-
sonable knowledge of business and economic activities and accounting and a willingness to study
the information with reasonable diligence.

4.2 Relevance

4.2.1 “Relevance” refers to information being relevant to the decision-making needs of users.
Information has the quality of relevance when it influences the economic decisions of users by
helping them evaluate past, present, or future events or confirming, or correcting, their past evalua-
tions. The concept of relevance is closely related to the concept of materiality. The Framework
describes materiality as a threshold or cut-off point for information whose omission or misstate-
ment could influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

4.2.2 The concept of materiality is further addressed in IAS 1, which specifies that each material
class of similar items shall be presented separately in the financial statements and that items of a
dissimilar nature or function shall be presented separately unless they are immaterial. Under the
concept of materiality, a specific disclosure requirement in a Standard or an Interpretation need not
be met if the information is not material.

4.3 Reliability

4.3.1 “Reliability” refers to information being free from material error and bias and can be de-
pended on by users to represent faithfully that which it either purports to represent or could rea-
sonably be expected to represent. According to the Framework, to be reliable, information must

* Be free from material error

¢ Be neutral, that is, free from bias

» Represent faithfully the transactions and other events it either purports to represent or could
reasonably be expected to represent (representational faithfulness). If information is to repre-
sent faithfully the transactions and other events that it purports to represent, the Framework
specifies that they need to be accounted for and presented in accordance with their substance
and economic reality even if their legal form is different (substance over form).
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* Be complete within the bounds of materiality and cost

4.3.2 Related to the concept of reliability is prudence, whereby preparers of financial statements
should include a degree of caution in exercising judgments needed in making estimates, such that
assets or income are not overstated and liabilities or expenses are not understated. However, the
exercise of prudence does not justify the deliberate understatement of assets or income, or the de-
liberate overstatement of liabilities or expenses, because the financial statements would not be
neutral and, therefore, not reliable.

4.4 Comparability

4.4.1 “Comparability” refers to information being comparable through time and across entities.
To achieve comparability, like transactions and events should be accounted for similarly by an en-
tity throughout an entity, over time for that entity, and by different entities.

4.4.2 Consistency of presentation is also addressed in IAS 1. It specifies that the presentation and
classification of items in the financial statements, as a general rule, shall be retained from one pe-
riod to the next, with specified exceptions.

4.5 Constraints

In practice, there is often a trade-off between different qualitative characteristics of information. In
these situations, an appropriate balance among the characteristics must be achieved in order to meet
the objective of financial statements.

Examples
Examples of trade-offs between qualitative characteristics of information follow:

o There is a trade-off between reporting relevant information in a timely manner and taking time to
ensure that the information is reliable. If information is not reported in a timely manner, it may
lose its relevance. Therefore, entities need to balance relevance and reliability in determining
when to provide information.

e There is trade-off between benefit and cost in preparing and reporting information. In principle,
the benefits derived from the information by users should exceed the cost for the preparer of
providing it.

o There is a trade-off between providing information that is relevant, but is subject to measurement
uncertainty (e.g., the fair value of a financial instrument), and providing information that is
reliable but not necessarily relevant (e.g., the historical cost of a financial instrument).

5. ELEMENTS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5.1 The Framework describes the elements of financial statements as broad classes of financial
effects of transactions and other events. The elements of financial statements are

* Assets. An asset is a resource controlled by the entity as a result of past events and from
which future economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity.

* Liabilities. A liability is a present obligation of the entity arising from past events, the settle-
ment of which is expected to result in an outflow from the entity of resources embodying
economic benefits.

» Equity. Equity is the residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all its liabili-
ties.

* Income. Income is increases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form
of inflows or enhancements of assets or decreases of liabilities that result in increases in eq-
uity, other than those relating to contributions from equity participants.

* Expenses. Expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the
form of outflows or depletions of assets or incurrences of liabilities that result in decreases in
equity, other than those relating to distributions to equity participants.

5.2 According to the Framework, an item that meets the definition of an element should be rec-
ognized (i.e., incorporated in the financial statements) if

(a) Itis probable that any future economic benefit associated with the item will flow to or from
the entity; and
(b) The item has a cost or value that can be measured with reliability.
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The Framework notes that the most common measurement basis in financial statements is histori-
cal cost, but that other measurement bases are also used, such as current cost, realizable or
settlement value, and present value.

6. CONCEPTS OF CAPITAL AND CAPITAL MAINTENANCE

6.1 The Framework distinguishes between a financial concept of capital and a physical concept
of capital. Most entities use a financial concept of capital, under which capital is defined in mone-
tary terms as the net assets or equity of the entity. Under a physical concept of capital, capital is
instead defined in terms of physical productive capacity of the entity.

6.2 Under the financial capital maintenance concept, a profit is earned if the financial amount of
the net assets at the end of the period exceeds the financial amount of net assets at the beginning of
the period, after excluding any distributions to, and contributions from, owners during the period.
Under the physical capital maintenance concept, a profit is instead earned if the physical productive
capacity (or operating capability) of the entity (or the resources or funds needed to achieve that
capacity) at the end of the period exceeds the physical productive capacity at the beginning of the
period, after excluding any distributions to, and contributions from, owners during the period.
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. What is the authoritative status of the Frame-
work?

(a) It has the highest level of authority. In case
of a conflict between the Framework and a
Standard or Interpretation, the Framework
overrides the Standard or Interpretation.

(b) If there is a Standard or Interpretation that
specifically applies to a transaction, it over-
rides the Framework. In the absence of a
Standard or an Interpretation that specifi-
cally applies, the Framework should be fol-
lowed.

(c) If there is a Standard or Interpretation that
specifically applies to a transaction, it over-
rides the Framework. In the absence of a
Standard or an Interpretation that specifi-
cally applies to a transaction, management
should consider the applicability of the
Framework in developing and applying an
accounting policy that results in information
that is relevant and reliable.

(d) The Framework applies only when IASB
develops new or revised Standards. An en-
tity is never required to consider the
Framework.

Answer: (¢)

2. What is the objective of financial statements
according to the Framework?

(a) To provide information about the financial
position, performance, and changes in finan-
cial position of an entity that is useful to a
wide range of users in making economic de-
cisions.

(b) To prepare and present a balance sheet, an
income statement, a cash flow statement,
and a statement of changes in equity.

(c) To prepare and present comparable, rele-
vant, reliable, and understandable informa-
tion to investors and creditors.

(d) To prepare financial statements in accor-
dance with all applicable Standards and In-
terpretations.

Answer: (a)

3.  Which of the following are underlying assump-
tions of financial statements?
(a) Relevance and reliability.
(b) Financial capital maintenance and physical
capital maintenance.
(c) Accrual basis and going concern.
(d) Prudence and conservatism.

Answer: (¢)

4. What are qualitative characteristics of financial
statements according to the Framework?

(a) Qualitative characteristics are the attributes
that make the information provided in finan-
cial statements useful to users.

(b) Qualitative characteristics are broad classes
of financial effects of transactions and other
events.

apcBourselir,

(c) Qualitative characteristics are nonquantita-
tive aspects of an entity’s position and per-
formance and changes in financial position.

(d) Qualitative characteristics measure the ex-
tent to which an entity has complied with all
relevant Standards and Interpretations.

Answer: (a)

5. Which of the following is not a qualitative char-
acteristic of financial statements according to the
Framework?

(a) Materiality.

(b) Understandability.

(c) Comparability.

(d) Relevance.

Answer: (a)

6. When should an item that meets the definition of
an element be recognized, according to the Frame-
work?

(a) When it is probable that any future eco-
nomic benefit associated with the item will
flow to or from the entity.

(b) When the element has a cost or value that
can be measured with reliability.

(c) When the entity obtains control of the rights
or obligations associated with the item.

(d) When it is probable that any future eco-
nomic benefit associated with the item will
flow to or from the entity and the item has a
cost or value that can be measured with reli-
ability.

Answer: (d)
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3 PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (IAS 1)

1. INTRODUCTION

IAS 1 provides guidelines on the presentation of the “general purpose financial statements,”
thereby ensuring comparability both with the entity’s financial statements of previous periods and
with those of other entities. It provides overall requirements for the presentation of financial state-
ments, guidance on their structure, and the minimum requirements for their content. It also pre-
scribes the components of the financial statements that together would be considered a complete set
of financial statements.

2. SCOPE

The requirements of IAS 1 are to be applied to all “general purpose financial statements” that have
been prepared and presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS). “General purpose financial statements” are those intended to meet the needs of users who
are not in a position to demand reports that are tailored according to their information needs. IAS 1
is not applicable to condensed interim financial statements prepared according to IAS 34. Addi-
tional requirements for banks and similar financial institutions are contained in IAS 30, Disclosures
in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions. Modification of the pre-
sentation requirements of the Standard may be required by nonprofit entities and those entities
whose share capital is not equity.

3. DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS

Impracticable. Applying a requirement becomes impracticable when the entity cannot apply
a requirement despite all reasonable efforts to do so.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Standards and interpretations adopted
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). They include

(a) International Financial Reporting Standards

(b) International Accounting Standards

(c) Interpretations originated by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC) or the former Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC)

Material. An item is deemed to be material if its omission or misstatement would influence
the economic decisions of a user taken on the basis of the financial statements. Materiality is
determined based on the item’s nature, size, and/or the surrounding circumstances.

Notes to financial statements. A collection of information providing descriptions and disag-
gregated information relating to items included in the financial statements (i.e., balance sheet,
income statement, statement of changes in equity, and cash flow statement), as well as those
that do not appear in the financial statements but are disclosed due to requirements of IFRS.

Practical Insight

“Materiality” as a concept has been the subject of debate for years yet there are no clear-cut
parameters to compute materiality. What would normally be expected to influence one per-
son’s viewpoint may not necessarily influence another person’s economic decisions based on
the financial statements. Furthermore, materiality is not only “quantitative” (i.e., measured in
terms of numbers) but also “qualitative” (because it depends not only on the “size” of the item
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but also on the “nature” of the item). For instance, in some cases, transactions with “related
parties” (as defined under IAS 24), although not material when the size of the transactions is
considered, may be considered “material” because they are with related parties (This is where
the “qualitative” aspect of the definition of the term “material” comes into play). Materiality is
therefore a very subjective concept.

4. PURPOSE OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial statements provide stakeholders with information about the entity’s financial position,
financial performance, and cash flows by providing information about its assets, liabilities, equity,
income and expenses, other changes in equity, and cash flows.

S.  COMPONENTS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income and
expenses

Income Statement

All changes in
equity or changes
other than those
with equity holders

Statement of Changes
in Equity

A\

Components of
Financial Statements Cash inflows &

outflows from
operating, financing,
and investing
activities

\J

Cash Flow Statement

Significant
accounting policies
& explanatory notes

Notes

\J

6. OVERALL CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 Fair Presentation and Compliance with IFRS

6.1.1 “Fair presentation” implies that the financial statements “present fairly” (or alternatively, in
some jurisdictions [countries], present a “true and fair” view) of the financial position, financial
performance, and cash flows of an entity.

6.1.2  “Fair presentation” requires faithful representation of the effects of transactions and other
events and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabili-
ties, income, and expenses laid down in the IASB’s Framework. The application of IFRS, with ad-
ditional disclosure where required, is expected to result in financial statements that achieve a “fair
presentation.”

6.1.3 Under IAS 1, entities are required to make an explicit statement of compliance with IFRS in
their notes if their financial statements comply with IFRS.

6.1.4 By disclosure of the accounting policies used or notes or explanatory material, an entity
cannot correct inappropriate accounting policies.

Practical Insight

In practice, some entities believe that even if an inappropriate accounting policy were used in
presenting the financial statements (say, use of “cash basis” as opposed to the “accrual basis”
to account for certain expenses), as long as it is disclosed by the entity in notes to the financial
statements, the problem would be rectified. Recognizing this tendency, IAS 1 categorically
prohibits such shortcut methods from being employed by entities presenting financial state-
ments under IFRS.
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6.1.5 In extremely rare circumstances, if management believes that compliance with a particular
requirement of the IFRS will be so misleading that it would conflict with the objectives of the fi-
nancial statements as laid down in the IASB’s Framework, then the entity is allowed to depart from
that requirement (of the IFRS), provided the relevant regulatory framework does not prohibit such
a departure. This is referred to as “true and fair override” in some jurisdictions. In such circum-
stances, it is incumbent upon the entity that departs from a requirement of IFRS to disclose

(a) That management has concluded that the financial statements present fairly the entity’s
financial position, financial performance, and cash flows

(b) That it has complied with all applicable Standards and Interpretations except that it has de-
parted from a particular requirement to achieve fair presentation

(c) The title of the Standard or the Interpretation from which the entity has departed, the nature
of the departure, including the treatment that the Standard or Interpretation would require,
the reason why that treatment would be misleading in the circumstances that it would con-
flict with the objective of the financial statements set out in the Framework, and the treat-
ment adopted

(d) The financial impact on each item in the financial statements of such a departure for each
period presented

6.1.6  Furthermore, in the extremely rare circumstances when management concludes that com-
pliance with the requirements in a Standard or Interpretation would be so misleading that it would
conflict with the IASB’s Framework but where the relevant regulatory framework prohibits such
departure, the entity shall, to the maximum extent possible, reduce the perceived misleading as-
pects of compliance by disclosing: the title of the Standard or Interpretation in question, the nature
of the requirement, and the reason why management has concluded that complying with that re-
quirement is so misleading that it conflicts with the IASB’s Framework, and, for each period pre-
sented, the adjustments to each item in the financial statements that management has concluded
would be necessary to achieve a fair presentation.

6.2 Going Concern

Financial statements should be prepared on a going concern basis unless management intends to
liquidate the entity or cease trading or has no realistic option but to do so. When upon assessment it
becomes evident that there are material uncertainties regarding the ability of the business to con-
tinue as a going concern, those uncertainties should be disclosed. In the event that the financial
statements are not prepared on a going concern basis, that fact should be disclosed, together with
the basis on which they are prepared along with the reason for such a decision. In making the as-
sessment about the going concern assumption, management takes into account all available infor-
mation about the future, which is at least 12 months from the balance sheet date.

Case Study 1

Facts

XYZ Inc. is a manufacturer of televisions. The domestic market for electronic goods is currently not
doing well, and therefore many entities in this business are switching to exports. As per the audited fi-
nancial statements for the year ended December 31, 20XX, the entity had net losses of $2 million. At
December 31, 20XX, its current assets aggregate to $20 million and the current liabilities aggregate to
$25 million. Due to expected favorable changes in the government policies for the electronics industry,
the entity is projecting profits in the coming years. Furthermore, the shareholders of the entity have ar-
ranged alternative additional sources of finance for its expansion plans and to support its working needs
in the next 12 months.

Required
Should XYZ Inc. prepare its financial statements under the going concern assumption?
Solution

The two factors that raise doubts about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern are

(1) The net loss for the year of $2 million
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(2) At the balance sheet date, the working capital deficiency (current liabilities of $25 million) ex-
ceeds its current assets (of $20 million) by $5 million
However, there are two mitigating factors:
(1) The shareholders’ ability to arrange funding for the entity’s expansion and working capital
needs
(2) Projected future profitability due to expected favourable changes in government policies for the
industry the entity is operating within
Based on these sets of factors—both negative and positive (mitigating) factors—it may be possible for
the management of the entity to argue that the going concern assumption is appropriate and that any
other basis of preparation of financial statements would be unreasonable at the moment. However, if
matters deteriorate further instead of improving, then in the future another detailed assessment would be
needed to ascertain whether the going concern assumption is still valid.

6.3 Accrual Basis of Accounting

Excluding the cash flow statement, all other financial statements must be prepared on an accrual
basis, whereby assets and liabilities are recognized when they are receivable or payable rather than
when actually received or paid.

6.4 Consistency of Presentation

Entities are required to retain their presentation and classification of items in successive periods
unless an alternative would be more appropriate or if so required by a Standard.

6.5 Materiality and Aggregation

Each material class of similar items shall be presented separately in the financial statements. Mate-
rial items that are dissimilar in nature or function should be separately disclosed.

6.6 Offsetting

Assets and liabilities, income and expenses cannot be offset against each other unless required or
permitted by a Standard or an Interpretation. Measuring assets net of allowances, for instance, pre-
senting receivables net of allowance for doubtful debts, is not offsetting. Furthermore, there are
transactions other than those that an entity undertakes in the ordinary course of business that do not
generate “revenue” (as defined under IAS 18); instead they are incidental to the main revenue-
generating activities. The results of these transactions are presented, when this presentation reflects
the substance of the transaction or event, by netting any income with related expenses arising on
the same transactions. For instance, gains or losses on disposal of noncurrent assets are reported by
deducting from the proceeds on disposal the carrying amount of the assets and related selling ex-
penses.

6.7 Comparative Information

6.7.1 Comparative information (including narrative disclosures) relating to the previous period
should be reported alongside current period disclosure, unless otherwise required.

6.7.2 In case there is a change in the presentation or classification of items in the financial
statements, the comparative information needs to be appropriately reclassified, unless it is
impracticable to do so.

7. STRUCTURE AND CONTENT
7.1 Identification of the Financial Statements

Financial statements should be clearly identified from other information in the same published
document (such as an annual report). Furthermore, the name of the entity, the period covered, pre-
sentation currency, and so on also must be displayed prominently.

7.2 Reporting Period

Financial statements should be presented at least annually. In all other cases, that is, when a shorter
or a longer period than one year is used, the reason for using a different period and lack of total
comparability with previous period information must be disclosed.
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7.3 Balance Sheet

7.3.1 Current and noncurrent assets and liabilities should be separately classified on the face of
the balance sheet except in circumstances when a liquidity-based presentation provides more
reliable and relevant information.

7.3.2 Current assets. A current asset is one that is likely to be realized within the normal
operating cycle or 12 months after balance sheet date, held for trading purposes, or is cash or cash
equivalent. All other assets are noncurrent.

7.3.3  Current liabilities. A current liability is one that is likely to be settled within the normal
operating cycle or 12 months after balance sheet date, held for trading purposes, or there is no
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after balance sheet date. All other
liabilities are noncurrent.

7.3.4 The minimum line items that should be included in the balance sheet are

(a) Property, plant, and equipment

(b) Investment property

(c) Intangible assets

(d) Financial assets [excluding amounts shown under (e), (h), and (i)]
(e) Investments accounted for using the equity method

(f) Biological assets

(g) Inventories

(h) Trade and other receivables

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

(j) Trade and other payables

(k) Provisions

(1) Financial liabilities [excluding amounts shown under (j) and (k)]
(m) Liabilities and assets for current tax

(n) Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets

(o) Minority interest, presented within equity

(p) Issued capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the parent

7.3.5 Deferred tax assets (liabilities) cannot be classified as current assets (liabilities). Additional
line items are disclosed only if it is relevant for further insight. Subclassifications of line items are
required to be disclosed in either the balance sheet or the notes. Other such disclosures include

* Numbers of shares authorized, issued and fully paid, and issued but not fully paid
* Par value

» Reconciliation of shares outstanding at the beginning and the end of the period

* Description of rights, preferences, and restrictions

* Treasury shares, including shares held by subsidiaries and associates

* Shares reserved for issuance under options and contracts

* A description of the nature and purpose of each reserve within owners’ equity

* Nature and purpose of each reserve

Equivalent information would be disclosed by entities without share capital.
7.4 Income Statement

7.4.1 All items that qualify as income or expense should be included in the profit or loss calcula-
tion for the period, unless stated otherwise. The minimum line items to be included in the income
statement are

* Revenue

* Finance costs

* Share of the profit or loss of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity
method

* The total of the post-tax profit or loss of discontinued operations, post-tax gain or loss recog-
nized on the disposal of the assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued opera-
tion
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» Tax expense
* Profit or loss

7.4.2 Additionally, the income statement should disclose the share of profit attributable to minor-
ity interests and equity shareholders of the parent.

7.4.3 Items cannot be presented as extraordinary either in the income statement or the notes.

7.4.4 Material income and expense should be disclosed separately with their nature and amount.
Analysis of expenses can be classified on the basis of their nature or function.

7.4.5  The amount of total and per-share dividends distributable to equity holders should be
disclosed in the income statement, the statement of changes in equity, or the notes.

7.5 Statement of Changes in Equity

7.5.1 The entity is required to present a statement of changes in equity consisting of

* Profit or loss for the period

* Each item of income and expense for the period that is recognized directly in equity, and the
total of those items

 Total income and expense for the period, showing separately the total amounts attributable to
equity holders of the parent and to minority interest

» For each component of equity, the effects of changes in accounting policies and corrections
of errors

7.5.2 These amounts may also be presented either in the preceding statement or in the notes:

 Capital transactions with owners

* The balance of accumulated profits at the beginning and at the end of the period, and the
movements for the period

* A reconciliation between the carrying amount of each class of equity capital and each reserve
at the beginning and end of the period, disclosing each movement

7.6 Cash Flow Statement

The cash flow statement serves as a basis for evaluating the entity’s ability to generate cash and
cash equivalents and the needs to utilize these cash flows. Requirements of cash flow statement
presentation have been elaborated in IAS 7, Cash Flow Statements.

7.7 Notes

The notes should disclose the basis of preparation of financial statements, significant accounting
policies, information required by IFRS but not disclosed in the statements, and additional informa-
tion not present in the statements but required for further comprehension. Notes should be system-
atically presented, and each item in the statements should be cross-referenced to the relevant note.

7.7.1 Disclosure of Significant Accounting Policies

The summary of significant accounting policies in the notes should include the measurement bases
used in the financial statements and all other accounting policies required for further understand-
ing. Furthermore, it should include significant judgments made by management while applying the
accounting policies.

7.1.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The notes should contain key assumptions concerning the future as well as other key sources of
estimation that will pose a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial period. In such a case, the notes should include
details, nature, and carrying amount of those assets and liabilities.
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7.7.3 Other Disclosures

7.7.3.1 An entity shall disclose in the notes

(a) Amount of dividends proposed or declared before the financial statements were authorized
for issue but not recognized as a distribution to equity holders during the period, and the
related amount per share

(b) The amount of cumulative preference dividends not recognized

7.7.3.2 Furthermore, an entity should disclose the following items, if not disclosed elsewhere in
information published with the financial statements:

(a) The domicile and legal form of the entity, its country of incorporation, and the address of
its registered office (or principal place of business, if different from the registered office)

(b) A description of the nature of the entity’s operations and its principal activities

(c) The name of the parent and the ultimate parent of the group
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. Which of the following reports is not a compo-
nent of the financial statements according to IAS 1?
(a) Balance sheet.
(b) Statement of changes in equity.
(c) Director’s report.
(d) Notes to the financial statements.

Answer: (¢)

2. XYZ Inc. decided to extend its reporting period
from a year (12-month period) to a 15-month period.
Which of the following is not required under IAS 1 in
case of change in reporting period?

(a) XYZ Inc. should disclose the reason for
using a longer period than a period of 12
months.

(b) XYZ Inc. should change the reporting pe-
riod only if other similar entities in the
geographical area in which it generally
operates have done so in the current year;
otherwise its financial statements would not
be comparable to others.

(¢) XYZ Inc. should disclose that comparative
amounts used in the financial statements are
not entirely comparable.

Answer: (b)

3. Which of the following information is not
specifically a required disclosure of IAS 1?

(a) Name of the reporting entity or other means
of identification, and any change in that
information from the previous year.

(b) Names of major/significant shareholders of
the entity.

(c) Level of rounding used in presenting the
financial statements.

(d) Whether the financial statements cover the
individual entity or a group of entities.

Answer: (b)

4. Which one of the following is not required to be
presented as minimum information on the face of the
balance sheet, according to IAS 1?

(a) Investment property.

(b) Investments accounted under the equity

method.
(c) Biological assets.
(d) Contingent liability.

Answer: (d)

5. When an entity opts to present the income state-
ment classifying expenses by function, which of the
following is not required to be disclosed as “addi-
tional information”?

(a) Depreciation expense.

(b) Employee benefits expense.

(c) Director’s remuneration.

(d) Amortization expense.

Answer: (¢)
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4 INVENTORIES (IAS 2)

1. BACKROUND AND INTRODUCTION

The Standard prescribes the accounting treatment for inventories. The main issue with respect to
accounting for inventory is the amount of cost to be recognized as an asset. In addition, the
Standard provides guidance on the determination of the cost and subsequent recognition of expense
(including write-down of inventory to its net realizable value). The Standard also provides
guidance on the cost flow assumptions (“cost formulas™) that are to be used in assigning costs to
inventories.

2. SCOPE

2.1 This Standard applies to all inventories other than

* Work in progress under construction contracts and directly related service contracts (IAS 11,
Construction Contracts)

* Financial instruments

* Biological assets related to agricultural activity and agricultural produce at the point of
harvest (under IAS 41, Agriculture)

2.2 This Standard does not apply to the measurement of inventories held by

* Producers of agriculture and forest products, agricultural produce after harvest, minerals and
minerals products, to the extent that they are measured at net realizable value in accordance
with best practices within those industries. When such inventories are measured at net
realizable value, changes in that value are recognized in the profit or loss in the period of
change.

* Commodity brokers-traders who measure their inventories at fair value less cost to sell.
When such inventories are measured at fair value less cost to sell, the changes in fair value
less costs to sell are recognized as profit or loss in the period of change.

Practical Insight

Although inventories referred to in Section 2.1 above are excluded from all requirements of
this Standard, the inventories referred to Section 2.2 above are excluded only from
measurement requirements of this Standard (IAS 2). In other words, all requirements of this
Standard, except the requirements relating to “measurement,” apply to inventories mentioned
in Section 2.2 above. Therefore, the principles of measurement of inventories under IAS 2
(i.e., lower of cost or net realizable value) do not apply to inventories mentioned in Section 2.2
above.

3. DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS

Inventory. An asset

(a) Held for sale in the normal course of business;

(b) In the process of production for such sale; or

(c) In the form of materials or supplies to be used in the production process or in
rendering of services.

Net realizable value. The estimated selling price in the normal course of business less
estimated cost to complete and estimated cost to make a sale.
Fair value. The amount at which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s-length transaction.
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4. MEASUREMENT OF INVENTORIES

In general, inventories are valued at the “lower of cost and net realizable value.” There are, how-
ever, two exceptions to this principle of measuring inventories; they are clearly explained in the
Standard (these are covered in Section 2.2 of this chapter).

S. COST OF INVENTORIES

5.1 The cost of inventories comprises all

(a) Costs of purchase
(b) Costs of conversion
(c) “Other costs” incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition

5.2 Costs of Purchase

The costs of purchase constitute all of
* The purchase price
* Import duties
* Transportation costs
* Handling costs directly pertaining to the acquisition of the goods

Trade discounts and rebates are deducted when arriving at the cost of purchase of inventory.
5.3 Costs of Conversion of Inventory

Cost of conversion of inventory includes costs directly attributable to the units of production, for
example, direct labor. The conversion costs could also include variable and fixed manufacturing
overhead incurred in converting raw material into finished goods. Fixed overhead costs are those
costs that remain constant irrespective of the units of production. The best example would be the
depreciation of factory building and equipment. Variable costs are those costs that vary directly
with the volume of production, such as indirect material and labor costs. The allocation of overhead
to the cost of conversion is based on the “normal capacity” of the facility. Normal capacity is the
production that is normally achieved on average over a number of periods, taking into account the
loss of capacity that may result. Costs that could not be reasonably allocated to the cost of inven-
tory should be expensed as they are incurred. When production process leads to “joint products™ or
“by-products,” then the cost of conversion of each product should be ascertained based on some
rational and consistent basis, such as the “relative sales value” method.

5.4 Other Costs in Valuing Inventories

Other costs in valuing inventories include those costs that are incurred in bringing the inventories
to their present location and condition. An example of such “other costs” is costs of designing
products for specific customer needs.

5.5 Excluded Costs from Inventory Valuation

5.5.1 Certain costs are not included in valuing inventory. They are recognized as expenses dur-
ing the period they are incurred.

5.5.2 Examples of such costs are

(a) Abnormal amounts of wasted materials, labor, or other production costs

(b) Storage costs unless they are essential to the production process

(c) Administrative overheads that do not contribute to bringing inventories to their present
location and condition

(d) Selling costs

5.6 Inventory Purchased on Deferred Settlement Terms

When inventories are purchased on deferred settlement terms, such arrangements in reality contain
a financing element. That portion of the price that can be attributable to extended settlement terms,
the difference between the purchase price for normal credit terms and the amount paid, is recog-
nized as interest expense over the period of the financing arrangement.
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5.7 Inventories of Service Providers

Inventories of service providers are measured at costs of their production. These costs consist
primarily of labor and other costs of personnel directly used in providing the service, including cost
of supervisory personnel, and attributable overheads. The costs of inventories of service providers
should not include profit margins or nonattributable overheads that are generally used in prices
quoted by service providers to their customers.

Case Study 1

Facts

Brilliant Trading Inc. purchases motorcycles from various countries and exports them to Europe. Bril-
liant Trading has incurred these expenses during 2005:

(a) Cost of purchases (based on vendors’ invoices)

(b) Trade discounts on purchases

(c) Import duties

(d) Freight and insurance on purchases

(e) Other handling costs relating to imports

(f) Salaries of accounting department

(g) Brokerage commission payable to indenting agents for arranging imports
(h) Sales commission payable to sales agents

(i) After-sales warranty costs

Required

Brilliant Trading Inc. is seeking your advice on which costs are permitted under IAS 2 to be included in
cost of inventory.

Solution
Items (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), and (g) are permitted to be included in cost of inventory under IAS 2. Salaries

of accounting department, sales commission, and after-sales warranty costs are not considered cost of
inventory under IAS 2 and thus are not allowed to be included in cost of inventory.

6. TECHNIQUES OF MEASUREMENT OF COSTS

Techniques for measurement of costs such as the standard cost method and the retail method may
be used if results more or less equal actual costs. The standard cost method takes into account nor-
mal levels of material, labor, efficiency, and capacity utilization. The retail method is often used by
entities in the retail industry for which large numbers of inventory items have similar gross profit
margins. The cost is determined by subtracting the percentage gross margin from the sales value.
The percentage used takes into account inventory that has been marked down to market value (if
market is lower than cost).

7. COST FORMULAS

7.1 In cases of inventories that are not ordinarily interchangeable and goods or services produced
and segregated for specific projects, costs shall be assigned using the specific identification of their
individual costs.

7.2 In all other cases, the cost of inventories should be measured using either

e The FIFO (first-in, first-out) method; or
* The weighted-average cost method.

7.3 The FIFO method assumes that the inventories that are purchased first are sold first, with the
ending or remaining items in the inventory being valued based on prices of most recent purchases.
However, using the weighted-average cost method, the cost of each item is determined from the
weighted-average of the cost of similar items at the beginning of a period and the cost of items pur-
chased or produced during the period.

7.4 Inventories having a similar nature and use to the entity should be valued using the same cost
formula. However, in case of inventories with different nature or use, different cost formulas may
be justified.

A
al
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Case Study 2

First-in, First-out (FIFO) Method
Facts

XYZ Inc. is a newly established international trading company. It commenced its operation in 2005.
XYZ imports goods from China and sells in the local market. It uses the FIFO method to value its in-
ventory. Listed next are the purchases and sales made by the entity during the year 2005:

Purchases

January 2005 100,000 units @ $ 25 each
March 2005 15,000 units @ $ 30 each
September 2005 20,000 units @ $ 35 each
Sales

May 2005 15,000 units

November 2005 20,000 units

Required

Based on the FIFO cost flow assumption, compute the value of inventory at May 31, 2005, Septem-
ber 30, 2005, and December 31, 2005.

Solution
(a)  January 2005 Purchase + 10,000 units @ $25 = $250,000
March 2005 Purchase + 15,000 units @ $30 = $450.000
Total $700.000
(b) May 2005 Sales (15,000 units)  — 10,000 units @ $25 = $(250,000)
— 5,000 units @ $30 = $(150.000)
$(400.000)
(c) Inventory valued on FIFO basis at May 31, 2005:
10,000 units @ $30 = $300.000
(d) September 2005  Purchase + 20,000 units @ $35 = $700.000
(e) Inventory valued on FIFO basis at September 30, 2005:
10,000 units @ $30 = $300,000
20,000 units @ $35 = $700.000
$1.000,000
(f)  November 2005  Sales (20,000 units)  — 10,000 units @ $30 = $(300,000)
— 10,000 units @ $35 = $(350.000)
$(650.000)
(g) Inventory valued on FIFO basis at December 31, 2005:
10,000 units @ $35 = $350.000

Case Study 3

Weighted-Average Cost Method
Facts

Vigilant LLC, a newly incorporated company, uses the latest version of a software package (EXODUS)
to cost and value its inventory. The software uses the weighted-average cost method to value inventory.
The following are the purchases and sales made by Vigilant LLC during 2006 (being a newly set up
company, Vigilant LLC has no beginning inventory):

Purchases
January 100 units @ $250 per unit
March 150 units @ $300 per unit
September 200 units @ $350 per unit
Sales
March 150 units

December 170 units
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Required

Vigilant LLC has approached you to compute the value of its inventory and the cost per unit of the
inventory at March 31, 2006, September 30, 2006, and December 31, 2006, under the weighted-average
cost method.

Solution
Weighted-
Rate average cost
Month Purchases/Sales/Balance per unit Amount per unit Valuation date
Jan 15 Purchases 100 units $250 25,000
Jan 31 Balance 100  units
Mar 10 Purchases 150 units $300 45.000
Mar 10 Balance 250  units $280 70.000
Mar 15 Sales (150) units $280 (42,000)
Mar 31 Balance 100  units $28.000 $280.00 March 31, 2006
Sep 25 Purchases 200 units $350 70,000
Sep 30 Balance 300 units $98.000 $326.667 September 30, 2006
Dec 15 Sales (170) units $326.667  (55.533)
Dec 31 Balance 130 units $42.467 $326.667 December 31, 2006

8. NET REALIZABLE VALUE

8.1 Inventories are written down to net realizable value (NRV) on the basis that assets should not
be carried in excess of amounts likely to be realized from their sale or use. Write-down of invento-
ries becomes necessary for several reasons; for example, inventories may be damaged or become
obsolete or their selling prices may have declined after year-end (or period end).

8.2 Inventories are usually written down to their NRV on an item-by-item basis, but in certain
conditions, also by a group of similar or related items. It is, however, not appropriate to mark down
inventories by classification of inventories, such as finished goods, or all inventories in a geo-
graphical segment or industry.

8.3 NRV estimates are based on most reliable evidence of the inventories’ realizable amounts.
They take into account price fluctuations or costs directly related to events after the period-end,
confirming conditions that exist at the period-end. Estimates of NRV also take into account the
reason or purpose for which inventories are held. For instance, NRV of a quantity of inventory be-
ing held to satisfy firm sales contracts or service contracts are based on contract prices.

8.4 Inventories of raw materials and other supplies held for use in production of inventories are
not written down below cost if the finished goods in which they will be used are expected to be
sold at or above cost. However, when decrease in the price of raw material indicates that the cost of
the finished goods exceeds net realizable value, the materials are written down to NRV. In such
cases, the replacement cost of the raw materials may be the best available measure of their NRV.

8.5 NRV is assessed in each successive period. If changes in economic circumstances warrant,
earlier write-downs are reversed to make the new carrying amount equal to the lower of cost and
the revised NRV.

Case Study 4

Facts

Moonstruck Enterprises Inc. is a retailer of Italian furniture and has five major product lines: sofas,
dining tables, beds, closets, and lounge chairs. At December 31, 200X, quantity on hand, cost per unit,
and net realizable value (NRV) per unit of the product lines are as follows:

Quantity Cost NRV
Product line on hand  perunit($) per unit ($)
Sofas 100 1,000 1,020
Dining tables 200 500 450
Beds 300 1,500 1,600
Closets 400 750 770
Lounge chairs 500 250 200
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Compute the valuation of the inventory of Moonstruck Enterprises at December 31, 200X, under IAS 2
using the “lower of cost and NRV” principle.

Solution

Quantity Cost Inventory NRV Lower of cost
Product line onhand  perunit($)  atcost(3) perunit($)  and NRV ($)

Sofas 100 1,000 100,000 1,020 100,000

Dining tables 200 500 100,000 450 90,000

Beds 300 1,500 450,000 1,600 450,000

Closets 400 750 300,000 770 300,000

Lounge chairs 500 250 125,000 200 100,000

$1,075,000 $1.040,000

9. RECOGNITION OF EXPENSE

When inventory is sold, the carrying amount of inventory should be recognized as an expense
when the related revenue is recognized. Moreover, the amount of any inventory written down to net
realizable value is recognized as an expense. The amount of any reversal of write-down of
inventory should be a reduction to the amount written off in the period it was reversed.

10. DISCLOSURE

The financial statements should disclose

Accounting policies adopted for measuring inventories and the cost flow assumption (i.e.,

cost formula) used

Total carrying amount as well as amounts classified as appropriate to the entity
Carrying amount of any inventories carried at fair value less costs to sell
Amount of inventory recognized as expense during the period
Amount of any write-down of inventories recognized as an expense in the period

Amount of any reversal of a write-down to net realizable value and the circumstances that led

to such reversal

Circumstances requiring a reversal of the write-down
Carrying amount of inventories pledged as security for liabilities
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. Inventory should be stated at
(a) Lower of cost and fair value.
(b) Lower of cost and net realizable value.
(¢) Lower of cost and nominal value.
(d) Lower of cost and net selling price.
(e) Choices b and d.
(f) Choices a and c.
(g) Choices a, b, and d.

Answer: (b)

2. Which of the following costs of conversion can-
not be included in cost of inventory?
(a) Cost of direct labor.
(b) Factory rent and utilities.
(c) Salaries of sales staff (sales department
shares the building with factory supervisor).
(d) Factory overheads based on normal ca-
pacity.
Answer: (¢)

3. Inventories are assets

(a) Used in the production or supply of goods
and services for administrative purposes.

(b) Held for sale in the ordinary course of
business.

(c) Held for long-term capital appreciation.

(d) In the process of production for such sale.

(e) In the form of materials or supplies to be
consumed in the production process or the
rendering of services.

(f) Choices b and d.

(g) Choicesb, d, ande.

Answer: (g)

4. The cost of inventory should not include
(a) Purchase price.
(b) Import duties and other taxes.
(¢) Abnormal amounts of wasted materials.
(d) Administrative overhead.
(e) Fixed and variable production overhead.
(f) Selling costs.
(g) Choicesc, d, and f.

Answer: (g)

5. ABC LLC manufactures and sells paper enve-
lopes. The stock of envelopes was included in the
closing inventory as of December 31, 2005, at a cost
of $50 each per pack. During the final audit, the
auditors noted that the subsequent sale price for the
inventory at January 15, 2006, was $40 each per pack.
Furthermore, inquiry reveals that during the physical
stock take, a water leakage has created damages to the
paper and the glue. Accordingly, in the following
week, ABC LLC has spent a total of $15 per pack for
repairing and reapplying glue to the envelopes. The
net realizable value and inventory write-down (loss)
amount to

(a) $40 and $10 respectively.

(b) $45 and $10 respectively.

(c) $25 and $25 respectively.

(d) $35 and $25 respectively.

(e) $30 and $15 respectively.

apcBourselir,

Answer: (¢) The net realizable value is the subse-
quent sale price, $40, less any cost incurred to
bring the good to its salable condition, $15. Thus,
NRV= $40 - $15 = $25 per pack. The loss (inven-
tory write-down) per pack is the difference be-
tween cost and net realizable value: $50 — $25= $25
per pack.)
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5 CASH FLOW STATEMENTS (IAS 7)

1. BACKGROUND AND INTRODUCTION

1.1 IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, makes it incumbent upon entities preparing fi-
nancial statements under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) to present a cash flow
statement as an integral part of the financial statements. IAS 7, Cash Flow Statements, lays down
rules regarding cash flow statement preparation and reporting. The cash flow statement provides
information about an entity’s cash receipts and cash payments (i.e., cash flows) for the period for
which the financial statements are presented.

1.2  The cash flow statement replaced the “fund flow statement,” which most accounting stan-
dards around the world (including the then International Accounting Standards) previously required
to be presented as an integral part of the financial statements. The fund flow statement reported the
movements or changes in funds. Certain standards interpreted the term “funds” as “net liquid
funds”; most others, however, interpreted “funds” as “working capital.” Most standard setters re-
vised their standards in favor of the cash flow statement, probably due to the ambiguity in the in-
terpretation of the concept of “funds” coupled with the growing importance of the concept of “cash
generated by operations.” With the change in requirements, whereby an entity is required to report
a cash flow statement (in lieu of a funds flow statement) as an integral part of its financial state-
ments, the emphasis has clearly shifted globally from reporting movements in funds (say, working
capital) to cash inflows and cash outflows (i.e., cash receipts and cash payments) for the period for
which the financial statements are presented.

2. SCOPE

All entities, regardless of the nature of their activities, should prepare a cash flow statement in ac-
cordance with the requirements of IAS 7. The cash flow statement should be presented as an inte-
gral part of the financial statements for each period for which the financial statements are pre-
sented. Recognizing that no matter how diverse the principal revenue-generating activities of the
entities are, their needs for cash to pay their obligations (liabilities) and to produce returns for the
shareholders is the same, the cash flow statement has been made mandatory for all entities.

3. DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS (in accordance with IAS 7, paragraph 6)

Cash. Comprises cash on hand and demand deposits with banks.

Cash equivalents. Short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and that are subject to an insignificant amount of risk of changes in
value.

Operating activities. Principal revenue-producing activities of the entity and other activities
that are not investing or financing activities.

Investing activities. Activities of the entity that relate to acquisition and disposal of long-
lived assets and other noncurrent assets (including investments) other than those included in
cash equivalents.

Financing activities. Activities that result in changes in the size and composition of the equity
capital and borrowings of an entity.

4. BENEFITS OF PRESENTING A CASH FLOW STATEMENT

4.1 When presented along with the other components of financial statements (namely, a balance
sheet, an income statement, and a statement of changes of equity), a cash flow statement provides
this additional information to users of financial statements:
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(a) A better insight into the financial structure of an entity, including its liquidity and sol-
vency, and its ability to affect the amounts and timing of cash flows in order to adapt to
changing circumstances and opportunities; and

(b) Enhanced information for the purposes of evaluation of changes in assets, liabilities, and
equity of an entity.

4.2 Furthermore, a cash flow statement also

(c) Enhances the comparability of reporting operating performance by different entities be-
cause it eliminates the effects of using different accounting treatments for similar transac-
tions; and

(d) Serves as an indicator of the amount, timing, and certainty of future cash flows.

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
5.1 True Significance of the Term ‘“Cash Equivalents”

Cash equivalents are held by the entity for meeting short-term commitments. The true meaning of
cash equivalents can be best understood by analyzing the definition given by the Standard. Ac-
cording to the definition, cash equivalents are required to possess these two attributes:

(a) They should be “short term” in nature; that is, they are held for meeting short-term cash
commitments. In other words, an investment normally qualifies as cash equivalent only if it
has a short maturity, say, three months or less, from the date of acquisition.

Example

A time deposit with a bank (or a fixed deposit, as is referred to in some countries) with an
original maturity of six months would not qualify as cash equivalent.

(b) They should be “highly liquid investments” that are “readily convertible to known amounts
of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.”

Example

Investments in equity shares of another entity would not qualify as cash equivalents be-
cause they are subject to risk of changes in values that could be “significant” depending
on how their market values fluctuate in reacting to economic conditions or other factors.
However, investments in redeemable preference shares acquired within a short period of
their maturity and with a specified redemption date qualify as cash equivalents.

5.2 Bank Borrowings as Cash Equivalents

Amounts due to a bank are generally considered to be financing activities. However, in certain
countries, bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of an entity’s
cash management may be included as a component of cash equivalents. In order for a bank over-
draft to be thus included in cash equivalents (in other words, offset other cash equivalents being a
negative cash equivalent), an important characteristic of such banking arrangements is that the
bank balance should fluctuate from being positive to overdrawn (i.e., negative) during the
period/year for which the cash flow statement is being prepared.

Practical Insight

In certain countries, banks offer to their long-standing customers a service (sometimes referred
to as bounce protection) wherein the banks cover up to a certain amount of overdrawn balance
in a customer’s current account with the bank by way of an accommodation to the customer.
This is a temporary accommodation, and the bank’s customer whose account is overdrawn is
usually allowed a limit for this facility. Some banks charge the customer a fee for this kind of
a service.

Let us examine how this operates in practice. Say an entity issues checks to its creditors in the
expectation that collections from checks deposited with the bank would clear in time and be
enough to cover the funds needed to pay the checks issued to its creditors. For reasons beyond
the control of the entity, the checks deposited are not cleared in time. The bank has to step in
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temporarily and cover its customer by honoring the checks issued to its creditors. The bounce
protection arrangement thus is invoked. In such cases, it would be appropriate to view such a
bank arrangement as an integral part of the entity’s cash management; because the account
with the bank may fluctuate from positive to overdrawn from time to time, such a bank over-
draft would qualify as a component of cash equivalents.

Regular bank overdrafts that are part of the funded facilities negotiated with banks by entities
on a periodic basis (whereby the banks lend funds to the entities based on criteria such as pre-
determined working capital requirements or a percentage of the net book value of trade re-
ceivables) would not meet the criteria of cash equivalents and therefore are considered fi-
nancing activities for the purposes of the cash flow statement.

5.3 Movements in Cash Equivalents

Movements within or between the items of cash equivalents are excluded from cash flows for the
purposes of the preparation of the cash flow statement, as they are part of the cash management of
the entity as opposed to its operating, financing, and investing activities.

Case Study 1

Facts

XYZ Inc., as part of its cash management activities, invested $10 million in redeemable preference
shares (within three months from the date of their redemption). To do so, XYZ instructed its bank to use
a maturing time deposit (a two-month fixed deposit) with the bank.

Required
Determine how XYZ Inc. would treat in its cash flow statement the cash outflows resulting from the in-

vestment of funds in redeemable preferred shares and the cash inflows resulting from the withdrawal of
funds from the bank by using a maturing time deposit.

Solution
These would not be considered either as a cash inflow or a cash outflow for the purposes of the cash

flow statement of XYZ Inc. because both activities are part of the entity’s cash management and com-
prised movements between components of cash equivalents.

6. PRESENTATION OF THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

6.1 IAS 7 requires that a cash flow statement should be classified into four components: (1) op-
erating activities, (2) investing activities, (3) financing activities, and (4) cash and cash equivalents.
In other words, the cash flow statement provides information about an entity’s cash receipts and
cash payments (i.e., cash flows) for the period categorized under three headings (1) operating
activities, (2) investing activities, and (3) financing activities—along with changes in cash and cash
equivalents. Such classification of information provided by the cash flow statement allows users of
financial statements to assess the impact of those activities on the financial position of the entity
and the amount of cash and cash equivalents.

6.2 Due care must be taken to include transactions under the appropriate category. Whatever clas-
sification chosen has to be applied in a consistent manner from year to year.
Example

If “interest received” is presented as a cash flow from investing activities in year I, the same classi-
fication should be followed from year to year, even though IAS 7 allows “interest received” to be
presented either as a cash flow from operating activities or as cash flow from investing activities.

6.3 A single transaction may include cash flows that are classified partly as one type of activity
and partly as another category.
Example

Cash payment made toward repayment of a bank loan has two components: the repayment of prin-
cipal portion of the loan, which is classified as a financing activity, and repayment of the interest,
which is classified as an operating activity.
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7. OPERATING ACTIVITIES

7.1 Cash flows from operating activities are mainly derived from principal revenue-generating
activities of the entity. This is a critical indicator of the financial strength of an entity because it is
an important source of internal finance. Financial statement users usually look at cash flows from
operating activities as a gauge of an entity’s ability to maintain its operating capability and support
other activities, such as servicing debt and repaying of borrowings, paying dividends to sharehold-
ers, and making investments without recourse to external funding.

7.2 Common examples of cash flows from operating activities are
Cash Inflows

(a) Cash collections from customers from sale of goods and the rendering of services

(b) Cash receipts from “other revenues,” such as royalties, fees and commissions

(c) Cash refunds of income taxes unless they can be specifically identified with financing or
investing activities

Cash Outflows

(a) Cash payments to suppliers of goods and services

(b) Cash payments to or on behalf of employees

(c) Cash payment of income taxes unless they can be specifically identified with financing or
investing activities

7.3 In addition, operating cash flows from contracts held for trading or dealing (futures and op-
tions) and, in case of insurance entities, cash receipts and payments for premiums and claims, an-
nuities, and policy benefits. Furthermore, cash flows that do not meet the criteria of investing or
financing activities also are classified as cash flows from operating activities.

8. INVESTING ACTIVITIES

8.1 Investing activities include the purchase and disposal of property, plant, and equipment and
other long-term assets, such as investment property. They also include purchase and sale of debt
and equity and debt instruments of other entities that are not considered cash equivalents or held
for dealing or trading purposes. Investing activities also include cash advances and collections on
loans made to other entities. This, however, does not include loans and advances made by banks
and other financial institutions to their customers that would be classified as “operating activities”
as they are cash flows from these entities’ principal revenue-producing activities.

8.2 Common examples of cash flows relating to investing activities are
Cash Inflows

(a) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant, and equipment
(b) Proceeds from disposal of debt instruments of other entities
(c) Proceeds from the sale of equity instruments of other entities

Cash Outflows

(a) Purchase of property, plant, and equipment

(b) Acquisition of debt instruments of other entities

(c) Purchase of equity instruments of other entities (unless held for trading purposes or consid-
ered to be cash equivalents)

9. FINANCING ACTIVITIES

9.1 Financing activities include obtaining resources from and returning resources to the owners.
Also included in this category is obtaining resources through borrowings (short term or long term)
and repayments of the amounts borrowed.

9.2 Common examples of cash flows relating to financing activities are
Cash Inflows

(a) Proceeds from issuance of share capital
(b) Proceeds from issuing debt instruments (debentures)
(c) Proceeds from bank borrowings
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Cash Outflows

(a) Payment of dividends to shareholders
(b) Repayment of principal portion of debt, including finance lease obligations
(c) Repayment of bank borrowings

10. NONCASH TRANSACTIONS

10.1 IAS 7 requires that noncash investing and financing activities should be excluded from the
cash flow statement and reported “elsewhere” in the financial statements, where all relevant infor-
mation about these activities is disclosed. This requirement is interpreted as the necessity to dis-
close noncash activities in the footnotes to financial statements instead of including them in the
cash flow statement.

10.2 Common examples of noncash activities are

(a) Conversion of debt (convertible debentures) to equity
(b) Issuance of share capital to acquire property, plant, and equipment

Case Study 2

Facts
On January 1, 2004, Dramatic Inc. issued convertible bonds with conversion to take place on or before

the expiry of two years from the date of issuance of the debt. On December 15, 2005, the board of di-
rectors of Dramatic Inc. decided to convert the bonds at year-end and issue equity shares.

Required
How would Dramatic Inc. treat this transaction in its cash flow preparation?
Solution

On conversion of the bonds into equity, it would appear that two types of cash flows have occurred: a
cash inflow resulting from increase of share capital and a cash outflow due to repayment of debt. How-
ever, these are noncash activities, and no cash flows have occurred. The Standard mandates that such
noncash activities be disclosed in the footnotes to the financial statements.

11. DIRECT VERSUS INDIRECT METHOD

11.1 Financial statement preparers have a choice between the direct and the indirect method in
presenting the operating activities section of the statement of cash flows. IAS 7 recommends the
direct method of presenting net cash from operating activities. In practice, however, preparers of
financial statements prefer to present the cash flow statement under the indirect method rather than
the recommended direct method (possibly due to the ease of preparation).

11.2  The direct method presents the items that affected cash flow and the amounts of those cash
flows. Entities using the direct method normally report these major classes of cash receipts and
cash payments:

(a) Cash collections from customers

(b) Interest and dividends received (alternatively, IAS 7 permits interest received and divi-
dends received to be classified as investing cash flows rather than as operating cash flows
because they are returns on investments)

(c) Cash paid toward operating expenses including salaries to employees, and so on

(d) Payments to suppliers

(e) Interest paid (alternatively, IAS 7 permits interest paid to be classified as a financing cash
flow, because this is the cost of obtaining financing)

(f) Income taxes paid

A

A

abCBourse!l o @abcBourselir sl =



http://abcbourse.ir/

32 Wiley IFRS Workbook and Guide

Example
Cash Flow Statement—Direct Method (Operating Activities Section)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash collections from customers $900,000
Cash dividends received 100,000
Cash paid to employees (300,000)
Cash paid to suppliers (200,000)
Cash paid for other operating expenses (150,000)
Income taxes paid (100,000)
Interest paid (150.000)
Net cash flows from operating activities $100,000
Case Study 3
Facts
XYZ Inc. is preparing its cash flow statement under the direct method and has provided this information:
Net credit sales $5,000,000
Accounts receivable, end of the year 1,500,000
Accounts receivable, beginning of the year 2,500,000
Purchases (on account) 4,000,000
Trade payable, end of the year 1,900,000
Trade payable, beginning of the year 2,000,000
Operating expenses 3,000,000
Accrued expenses, beginning of the year 500,000
Accrued expenses, end of the year 400,000
Depreciation on property, plant, and equipment 600,000
Required

For the purposes of the cash flow statement under the direct method, you are required to compute the
cash collections from customers, payments to suppliers, and cash paid for operating expenses.

Solution

a. Cash collections from customers

Net sales $5,000,000
Add: Accounts receivables, beginning of the year 2.500.000
7,500,000
Less: Accounts receivables, end of the year (1,500.000)
Cash collections from customers $6.000.000
b.  Cash paid to suppliers
Purchases $4,000,000
Add: Accounts payable, end of the year 1.900.000
5,900,000
Less: Accounts payable, beginning of the year (2.000.000)
Payments to suppliers $3.900.000
c. Cash paid for operating expenses
Operating expenses $3,000,000
Add: Accrued expenses, beginning of the year 500,000
3,500,000
Less: Accrued expenses, end of year (400,000)
Less: Depreciation on property, plant, and equipment (600.000)
Cash paid toward operating expenses $2.500.000

11.3 The indirect method is the more popular of the two methods despite the recommendation by
IAS 7 to present the cash flows from operating activities under the direct method. A possible rea-
son for this could be that the indirect method is easier to use than the direct method because it de-
rives net cash flows from operating activities from the net operating results for the year as reported
in the income statement. Under the indirect method, the first item presented is the net income (or
loss) for the year as reported in the income statement. Noncash items of revenue and expense are
added or deducted to arrive at net cash provided by operating activities. For instance, depreciation
on property, plant, and equipment is added back because these expenses reduce (increase) net in-
come (loss) for the year without affecting cash from operating activities. Similarly, gain on sale of
property, plant, and equipment is deducted from net income for the year because it does not affect
cash flow from operating activities. Changes in inventory, accounts receivable, and other operating
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assets and liabilities are used to convert the accrual basis net income (loss) for the year to arrive at
cash flows from operating activities.

Case Study 4

Facts

Excellent Inc. has provided the following information and requests you to prepare the operating
activities of the cash flow statement under the indirect method:

Net income before taxes $400,000
Depreciation on property, plant, and equipment 200,000
Loss on sale of building 100,000
Interest expense 150,000
Interest payable, beginning of the year 100,000
Interest payable, end of the year 50,000
Income taxes paid 100,000
Accounts receivable, beginning of the year 500,000
Accounts receivable, end of the year 850,000
Inventory, beginning of the year 500,000
Inventory, end of the year 400,000
Accounts payable, beginning of the year 200,000
Accounts payable, end of the year 500,000

Required
Please prepare the operating activities section of the cash flow statement using the indirect method.
Solution

Cash Flow Statement—Indirect Method (Operating Activities Section)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income before income taxes $400,000
Adjustments for:
Depreciation on property, plant, and equipment 200,000
Loss on sale of building 100,000
Interest expense 150,000
850,000
Increase in accounts receivable (350,000)
Decrease in inventories 100,000
Increase in accounts payable 300.000
Cash generated from operations 900,000
Interest paid (200.000)
Income taxes paid (100.000)
Net cash flows from operating activities $600.000

12. REPORTING CASH FLOWS ON A GROSS BASIS VERSUS A NET BASIS

12.1 Financial Institutions

IAS 7 permits financial institutions to report cash flows arising from certain activities on a net ba-
sis. These activities, and the related conditions under which net reporting would be acceptable, are
set out below:

(a) Cash receipts and payments on behalf of customers when the cash flows reflect the activi-
ties of the customers rather than those of the bank; for example, the acceptance and repay-
ment of demand deposits

(b) Cash flows relating to deposits with fixed maturity dates

(c) Placements and withdrawals of deposits from other financial institutions

(d) Cash advances and loans to bank customers and repayments thereon

12.2 Entities other than Financial Institutions

In case of cash flows of entities other than financial institutions, the preference is clearly for the
“gross” cash receipts and cash payments. This way the cash inflows and cash outflows are each
separately presented instead of being presented as net amounts. Doing this gives the users of finan-
cial statements more meaningful information. To understand this better, let us look at an example:
Reporting the net change in long-term loans payable would not reveal the cash inflows and the cash
outflows relating to the loans and may obscure the true financing activities of the entity. Thus,
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when cash inflows from the proceeds of the loans and cash outflows from repayment of the loans
are disclosed separately, users of financial statements will get a better understanding of the financ-
ing activities of the entity. IAS 7 specifies two exceptions in cases of entities other than financial
institutions, where netting of cash flows is permitted:

(1) Items with quick turnovers, large amounts, and short maturities may be presented as net
cash flows.

(2) Cash receipts and payments on behalf of customers reflect the activities of the customers
rather than those of the entities. The flows may also be reported on a net rather than a
gross basis.

13. FOREIGN CURRENCY CASH FLOWS

(1) Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency shall be recorded in an entity’s
functional currency by using the rate of exchange between the functional currency and the
foreign currency on the date of the cash flow; and

(2) Foreign subsidiaries must prepare separate cash flow statements and translate the state-
ments to the functional currency at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of cash flow.

14. REPORTING FUTURES, FORWARD CONTRACTS, OPTIONS, AND SWAPS

14.1 TAS 7 recognizes that cash flows from futures contracts, forward contracts, option contracts,
and swap contracts are normally classified as investing activities, except

(1) When such contracts are held for dealing or trading purposes and thus represent operating
activities; or

(2) When the payments or receipts are considered by the entities as financing activities and are
reported accordingly.

14.2 When a contract is accounted for as a hedge of an identifiable position, the cash flows of the
contract are classified in the same manner as the cash flows of the position being hedged.

15. RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

IAS 7 makes it incumbent upon an entity to disclose the components of cash and cash equivalents
and also to present a reconciliation of the difference, if any, between the amounts reported in the
statement of cash flows and equivalent items reported in the balance sheet.

16. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND OTHER BUSINESS
UNITS

IAS 7 recognizes that an entity may acquire or dispose subsidiaries or other business units during
the year and thus requires that the aggregate cash flows from acquisitions and from disposals of
subsidiaries or other business units should be presented separately as part of the investing activities
section of the statement of cash flows. IAS 7 has also prescribed these disclosures in respect to
both acquisitions and disposals:

(1) The total consideration included

(2) The portion thereof discharged by cash and cash equivalents

(3) The amount of cash and cash equivalents in the subsidiary or business unit acquired or dis-
posed

(4) The amount of assets and liabilities (other than cash and cash equivalents) acquired or dis-
posed, summarized by major category

17. OTHER DISCLOSURES REQUIRED AND RECOMMENDED BY IAS 7

Certain unique additional disclosures are prescribed by IAS 7 because such information may enable
users of financial statements to gain better insight into the liquidity or solvency of an enterprise.
These additional disclosures follow:

(1) Required disclosure. Amount of significant cash and cash equivalent balances held by an
entity that are not available for use by the group should be disclosed along with a com-
mentary by management.
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Practical Insight

The term used is “significant,” which has not been defined in IAS 7. This may cause interpre-
tational problems while applying this provision of IAS 7 in practice.

(2) Recommended disclosures. Entities are encouraged to make these disclosures, together
with a commentary by management:

a] Amount of undrawn borrowing facilities, indicating restrictions on their use, if any

b] In case of investments in joint ventures, which are accounted for using proportionate
consolidation, the aggregate amount of cash flows from operating, investing, and fi-
nancing activities that are attributable to the investment in the joint venture

c] Aggregate amount of cash flows that are attributable to the increase in operating capac-
ity separately from those cash flows that are required to maintain operating capacity

d] Amount of cash flows segregated by reported industry and geographical segments

Practical Insight

These “recommended” disclosures are unique to IAS 7. Such disclosures are not required un-
der other accounting standards (not even under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles).
They are useful in enabling the users of financial statements to understand the enterprise’s fi-
nancial position better.

Comprehensive Case Study

This case study shows the preparation of the cash flow statement under IAS 7 under the direct and
indirect methods.

Facts
Financial information for Tremendous Enterprises Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2005, follows:

Tremendous Enterprises Inc.

BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2005, and 2004
2005 2004
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,500 $ 1,500
Trade receivables 7,500 3,750
Inventory 3,000 2,250
Intangible asset, net 1,500 2,250
Due from associates 28,500 28,500
Property, plant, and equipment, cost 18,000 33,750
Accumulated depreciation (7.500) (9.000)
Property, plant, and equipment, net 10,500 24,750
Total assets $55,500 $63.000
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 7,500 $18,750
Income taxes payable 3,000 1,500
Deferred taxes payable 4.500 3.000
Total liabilities 15,000 23.250
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 9,750 9,750
Retained earnings 30,750 30.000
Total shareholders’ equity 40.500 39.750
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $55,500 $63.000
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Tremendous Enterprises Inc.
STATEMENT OF INCOME
For the Year Ended December 31, 2005

Sales $45,000
Cost of sales (15.000)
Gross operating income 30,000
Administrative and selling expenses (3,000)
Interest expenses (3,000)
Depreciation of property, plant, and equipment (3,000)
Amortization of intangible asset (750)
Investment income 4,500
Net income before taxation 24,750
Taxes on income (6.000)
Net income $18.750
Additional Information

This additional information is relevant to the preparation of the statement of cash flows:

1. All sales made by Tremendous Enterprises Inc. (“company”) are credit sales. All purchases are
on account.

2. Interest expense for the year 2005 was $3,000, which was fully paid during the year.
3

The company pays salaries and other employee dues before the end of each month. All ad-

ministration and selling expenses incurred were paid before December 31, 2005.

4. Investment income comprised dividends income from investments in shares of blue chip

companies. This was received before December 31, 2005.

5. Equipment with a net book value of $11,250 and original cost of $15,750 was sold for $11,250.
6. The company declared and paid dividends of $18,000 to its shareholders during 2005.
7. Income tax expense for the year 2005 was $6,000, against which the company paid $3,000 dur-
ing 2005 as an estimate.
Required

Using the following financial information for Tremendous Enterprises Inc., prepare the cash flow state-

ment according to the requirements of IAS 7 under both the direct and the indirect methods.

Solution

a. A worksheet can be prepared analyzing the changes in the balance sheet figures as the first step
to the preparation of the cash flow statement.

Cash Flow Worksheet Analyzing Changes in Balance Sheet Figures (all figures in U.S. dollars)

Cash and equivalents

Trade receivables

Inventory

Intangible asset

Due from associates

Property, plant, and
equipment

Accounts payable

Income taxes payable

Deferred taxes payable

Share capital
Retained earnings

Cash flow  Cash flow Cash flow
effect effect effect Cash and
2005 2004 Change  operating investing  financing equivalents
4,500 1,500 3,000 3,000
7,500 3,750 3,750 (3,750)
3,000 2,250 750 (750)
1,500 2,250 (750) 750
28,500 28,500 0
10.500  24.750 (14.250) 3,000 11,250
55.500  63.000  (7.500)
7,500 18,750 (11,250)  (11,250)
3,000 1,500 1,500 1,500
4,500 3,000 1,500 1,500
9,750 9,750 0
30.750  30.000 750 14,250 4.500 (18.000) R
55.500  63.000  (7.500) 5,250 15,750 (18,000 3,000
A B C  A+B+C
b. Direct Method
Tremendous Enterprises Inc.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2005
Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash receipts from customers $41,250
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (30.000)
Cash provided by operations 11,250
Interest paid (3,000)
Income taxes paid (3.000)
Net cash flows from operating activities $_5.250
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Cash flows from investing activities:

Proceeds from the sale of equipment 11,250

Dividends received 4.500
Cash flows from investing activities 15,750
Cash flows from financing activities:

Dividends paid (18.000)

Cash flows used in financing activities (18.000)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,000

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1.500
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $_4.,500

Details of the computations of amounts shown in the statement of cash flows follow:

Cash Received from Customers during the Year

Credit sales 45,000

Plus: Accounts receivable, beginning of year 3,750

Less: Accounts receivable, end of year (7.500)
Cash collections from customers during the year $41.250
Cash Paid to Suppliers and Employees
Cost of sales 15,000

Less: Inventory, beginning of year (2,250)

Plus: Inventory, end of year 3,000

Plus: Accounts payable, beginning of year 18,750

Less: Accounts payable, end of year (7,500)

Plus: Administrative and selling expenses paid 3.000
Cash paid to suppliers and employees during the year $30.000
Interest paid equals interest expense charged to the income statement

(per additional information) $.3.000

Income Taxes Paid During the Year
Tax expense during the year (comprising current and deferred portions) 6,000

Plus: Income taxes payable, beginning of year 1,500

Plus: Deferred taxes payable, beginning of year 3,000

Less: Income taxes payable, end of year (3,000)

Less: Deferred taxes payable, end of year (4.500)
Cash paid toward income taxes $_3.000
Proceeds from sale of equipment (per additional information) $11.250
Dividends received during 2005 (per additional information) $_4.500
Dividends paid during 2005 (per additional information) $18.000

c. Indirect Method

Tremendous Enterprises Inc.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2005

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income before taxation $ 24,750
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant, and equipment 3,000
Amortization of intangible assets 750
Investment income (4,500)
Interest expense 3.000
Operating income before changes in operating assets and
liabilities 27,000
Increase in accounts receivable (3,750)
Increase in inventories (750)
Decrease in accounts payable (11.250)
Cash provided by operations 11,250
Interest paid (3,000)
Income taxes paid (3.000)
Net cash from operating activities 5.250
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sale of equipment 11,250
Dividends received 4.500
Cash from investing activities 15.750
Cash flows from financing activities:
Dividends paid (18.000)
Cash used in financing activities (18.000)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3.000
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,500
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $_4,500
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. An entity purchases a building and the seller
accepts payment partly in equity shares and partly in
debentures of the entity. This transaction should be
treated in the cash flow statement as follows:

(a) The purchase of the building should be in-
vesting cash outflow and the issuance of
shares and the debentures financing cash
outflows.

(b) The purchase of the building should be in-
vesting cash outflow and the issuance of de-
bentures financing cash outflows while the
issuance of shares investing cash outflow.

(c) This does not belong in a cash flow state-
ment and should be disclosed only in the
footnotes to the financial statements.

(d) Ignore the transaction totally since it is a
noncash transaction. No mention is required
in either the cash flow statement or any-
where else in the financial statements.

Answer: (¢)

2. An entity (other than a financial institution) re-
ceives dividends from its investment in shares. How
should it disclose the dividends received in the cash
flow statement prepared under IAS 77

(a) Operating cash inflow.

(b) Either as operating cash inflow or as invest-
ing cash inflow.

(c) Either as operating cash inflow or as financ-
ing cash inflow.

(d) As an adjustment in the “operating activi-
ties” section of the cash flow because it is
included in the net income for the year and
as a cash inflow in the “financing activities”
section of the cash flow statement.

Answer: (b)

3. How should gain on sale of an office building
owned by the entity be presented in a cash flow
statement?

(a) As an inflow in the investing activities sec-
tion of the cash flow because it pertains to a
long-term asset.

(b) As an inflow in the “financing activities”
section of the cash flow statement because
the building was constructed with a long-
term loan from a bank that needs to be re-
paid from the sale proceeds.

(c) As an adjustment to the net income in the
“operating activities” section of the cash
flow statement prepared under the indirect
method.

(d) Added to the sale proceeds and presented in
the “investing activities” section of the cash
flow statement.

Answer: (¢)

4. How should an unrealized gain on foreign cur-
rency translation be presented in a cash flow state-
ment?
(a) As an inflow in the “financing activities”
section of the cash flow statement because it
arises from a foreign currency translation.
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(b) It should be ignored for the purposes of the
cash flow statement as it is an unrealized
gain.

(c) It should be ignored for the purposes of the
cash flow statement as it is an unrealized
gain but it should be disclosed in the foot-
notes to the financial statements by way of
abundant precaution.

(d) As an adjustment to the net income in the
“operating activities” section of the state-
ment of cash flows.

Answer: (d)

5. How should repayment of a long-term loan com-
prising repayment of the principal amount and interest
due to date on the loan be treated in a cash flow
statement?

(a) The repayment of the principal portion of
the loan is a cash flow belonging in the “in-
vesting activities” section; the interest pay-
ment belongs either in the “operating activi-
ties” section or the “financing activities”
section.

(b) The repayment of the principal portion of
the loan is a cash flow belonging in the “in-
vesting activities” section; the interest pay-
ment belongs either in the “operating activi-
ties” section or the “investing activities”
section.

(c) The repayment of the principal portion of
the loan is a cash flow belonging in the “in-
vesting activities” section; the interest pay-
ment belongs in the “operating activities”
section (because IAS 7 does not permit any
alternatives in case of interest payments).

(d) The repayment of the principal portion of
the loan is a cash flow belonging in the “in-
vesting activities” section; the interest pay-
ment should be netted against interest re-
ceived on bank deposits, and the net amount
of interest should be disclosed in the “oper-
ating activities” section.

Answer: (a)
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6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ERRORS
(IAS 8)

1. BACKGROUND AND INTRODUCTION

1.1 “Comparability” is one of the four qualitative attributes (or characteristics) of financial state-
ments according to the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) Framework. For users of
financial statements, it is important to be able to compare not only the financial statements of an
entity from one period to another but also the financial statements of different entities. Such infor-
mation is needed in order to make relative comparisons of financial performance and financial po-
sition and changes in financial position.

1.2 TAS 8 prescribes criteria for selecting and changing accounting policies and the disclosures
thereof and also sets out the requirements and disclosures for changes in accounting estimates and
corrections of errors. In doing so it purports to achieve these objectives:

* To enhance the relevance and reliability of an entity’s financial statements; and
* To ensure the comparability of the financial statements of an entity over time as well as with
financial statements of other entities

2. DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS (in accordance with IAS 8)

Accounting policies. The specific principles, bases, conventions, rules, and practices applied
by an entity in preparing and presenting financial statements.

Change in accounting estimate. An adjustment of the carrying amount of an asset or a
liability, or the amount of periodic consumption of an asset, that results from the assessment
of the present status of, and expected future benefits and obligations associated with, assets
and liabilities. Changes in accounting estimates result from new information or new
developments and, accordingly, are not corrections of errors.

Prior-period errors. Omissions from, and misstatements in, financial statements for one or
more prior periods arising from a failure to use, or misuse of, reliable information that was
available at the time and could reasonably be expected to have been obtained and taken into
account in the preparation and presentation of financial statements.

3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Accounting policies are essential for a proper understanding of the information contained in the
financial statements prepared by the management of an entity. An entity should clearly outline all
significant accounting policies it has used in preparing the financial statements. Because under In-
ternational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) alternative treatments are possible, it becomes all
the more important for an entity to clearly state which accounting policy it has used in the
preparation of the financial statements. For instance, under IAS 2 an entity has the choice of the
weighted-average method or the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method in valuing its inventory. Unless
the entity discloses which method of inventory valuation it has used in the preparation of its finan-
cial statements, users of these financial statements would not be able to use the financial statements
properly to make relative comparisons with other entities.

4. SELECTION AND APPLICATION OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1 When a Standard or Interpretation specifically applies to a transaction, other event, or condi-
tion, the accounting policy applied to that item shall be determined by applying that Standard or
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Interpretation and considering the relevant Implementation Guidance issued by the IASB for the
Standard or Interpretation.

4.2  If the extant IASB Standards or Interpretations do not address a specific transaction, other
event, or condition, management shall develop and apply a policy that is relevant to decision-
making needs of users of financial statements and is reliable as well. In this context, “reliable”
means to

» Represent faithfully the financial position, financial performance and cash flows
¢ Reflect the economic substance of transactions, other events, and conditions

* Be neutral

* Be prudent

* Be complete in all material respects

4.3 In making these judgments, the management of an entity should apply the following sources
in descending order:

* The requirements and guidance in Standards and Interpretations dealing with similar and re-
lated issues

* The definitions, recognition criteria, and measurement concepts for assets, liabilities, income,
and expenses as outlined in the IASB’s Framework

4.4  Furthermore, in making the judgment, the management of an entity may also consider the
most recent pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies that use a similar conceptual frame-
work to develop standards, other accounting literature, and accepted industry practices, to the ex-
tent that these do not conflict with the sources of primary reference (i.e., the IASB Standards and
Interpretations and its Framework).

Practical Insight

According to IAS 8, when an entity’s management is faced with a situation of interpretation of
the IASB Standards on a matter that is not expressly covered by the existing IASB Standards
or Interpretations, then it should look at the IASB’s Framework for answers. While doing so it
should also research recent pronouncements of other standard-setters to the extent that these
do not conflict with the IASB Standards or Interpretations or its Framework.

For example, compare Standards issued to date by the IASB to U.S. generally accepted ac-
counting principles (GAAP), which addresses not only general accounting standards but is
replete with industry-specific rules and guidance. U.S. GAAP contains accounting pro-
nouncements and guidelines for industries ranging from oil and gas to real estate; the IASB
Standards are geared toward general accounting standards and not so much industry-specific
guidance, although some of the recently promulgated IASB Standards seek to address industry
specific standards as well. To date, the only industries that are covered by the IASB Standards
are insurance, banking, and the extractive industry. Thus, according to IAS 8, if an entity’s
management is seeking answers to accounting matters or issues relating to a specific industry
that the IASB Standards have not yet addressed, then guidance under U.S. GAAP (or other
national standard that provide such guidance) may be consulted, keeping in mind that the
guidance to be applied must not conflict with the primary source of reference (i.e., the IASB
Standards and Interpretations or the IASB’s Framework).

S. CONSISTENCY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

5.1 Once selected, accounting policies must be applied consistently for similar transactions, other
events, and conditions unless a Standard or Interpretation specifically otherwise requires or permits
categorization of items for which different policies may be appropriate.

5.2 If a Standard or Interpretation requires or permits such categorization, an appropriate
accounting policy shall be selected and applied consistently to each category.
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6. FACTORS GOVERNING CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

6.1 Once selected, an accounting policy may be changed only if the change

* Is required by a Standard or an Interpretation; or
* Results in financial statements providing reliable and more relevant information.

Practical Insight

In the year in which an entity changes its accounting system from manual to computerized, it
may be required to switch from the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method (which it used while
valuing inventory manually) to the weighted-average method. This change may be essential
because the computerized system, which is tailor-made for the industry to which the entity
belongs, is capable of valuing inventories under the weighted-average method only and is not
equipped to value inventories under the FIFO method, because industry best practice dictates
that only FIFO is appropriate for the industry to which the entity belongs. Under these circum-
stances, this change in method of valuing inventories from the FIFO to the weighted-average
method is probably justified because it results in financial statements providing reliable and
more relevant information (and comparable to other entities within the industry to which the
entity belongs).

6.2 These items are not considered changes in accounting policies:

* The application of an accounting policy for transactions, other events, or conditions that dif-
fers in substance from those previously occurring

* The application of a new accounting policy for transactions, other events, or conditions, that
did not occur previously or were immaterial

7. APPLYING CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

7.1 A change in accounting policy required by a Standard or Interpretation shall be applied in ac-
cordance with the transitional provisions therein. If a Standard or Interpretation contains no transi-
tional provisions or if an accounting policy is changed voluntarily, the change shall be applied
retrospectively. That is to say, the new policy is applied to transactions, other events, and condi-
tions as if the policy had always been applied.

7.2 The practical impact of this is that corresponding amounts (or “comparatives”) presented in
financial statements must be restated as if the new policy had always been applied. The impact of
the new policy on the retained earnings prior to the earliest period presented should be adjusted
against the opening balance of retained earnings.

Case Study 1

Facts

(a) All Change Co. Inc. changed its accounting policy in 200Y with respect to the valuation of invento-
ries. Up to 200X, inventories were valued using a weighted-average cost (WAC) method. In 200Y
the method was changed to first-in, first-out (FIFO), as it was considered to more accurately reflect
the usage and flow of inventories in the economic cycle. The impact on inventory valuation was
determined to be

At December 31, 200W: an increase of $10,000
At December 31, 200X: an increase of $15,000
At December 31, 200Y: an increase of $20,000

(b) The income statements prior to adjustment are

200y 200X
Revenue $250,000 $200,000
Cost of sales 100.000 80.000
Gross profit 150,000 120,000
Administration costs 60,000 50,000
Selling and distribution costs 25.000 15.000
Net profit $65.000 $55.000
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Required

Present the change in accounting policy in the Income Statement and the Statement of Changes in Equity
in accordance with requirements of IAS 8.

Solution
The income statements after adjustment would be

All Change Co. Inc.
INCOME STATEMENT
For the Year Ended December 31, 200Y

200Y 200X (restated)
Revenue $250,000 $200,000
Cost of sales 95.000 75.000
Gross profit 155,000 125,000
Administration costs 60,000 50,000
Selling and distribution costs 25.000 15.000
Net profit 70.000 60.000

Explanation

In each year, Cost of Sales will be reduced by $5,000, the net impact on the opening and closing invento-
ries of change in accounting policy.

The impact on the “retained earnings” included in the “statement of changes in equity” would be as fol-
lows (the shaded figures represent the situation if there had been no change in accounting policy).

All Change Co, Inc.
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Retained earnings columns only)
For the Year Ended December 31, 200Y

Retained Retained
earnings earnings
At January 1, 200X, as originally stated (say) $300,000 $300,000
Change in accounting policy for valuation of inventory 10.000
At January 1, 200X, as restated 310,000
Net Profit for the year as restated 60.000 55.000
At December 31, 200X 370,000 355,000
Net Profit for the year 70,000 65.000
At December 31, 200Y $440.000 $420.000

Explanation

The cumulative impact at December 31, 200X, is an increase in retained earnings of $15,000 and at De-
cember 31, 200Y, of $20,000.

8. LIMITATIONS OF RETROSPECTIVE APPLICATION

8.1 Retrospective application of a change in accounting policy need not be made if it is impracti-
cable to determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. “Im-
practicable” is very strictly defined in the Standard in order to preclude simplistic statements used
to avoid restating earlier periods.

8.2  Applying a requirement of a Standard or Interpretation is “impracticable” when the entity
cannot apply it after making every effort to do so. For a particular prior period, it is “impracticable”
to apply a change in an accounting policy if

* The effects of the retrospective application are not determinable;

» The retrospective application requires assumptions about what management’s intentions
would have been at the time; or

* The retrospective application requires significant estimates of amounts, and it is impossible
to distinguish objectively, from other information, information about those estimates that

¢ Provides evidence of circumstances that existed at that time; and
¢ Would have been available at that time.
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8.3 When it is “impracticable” to apply a change in policy retrospectively, the entity applies the
change to the earliest period to which it is possible to apply the change.

9. DISCLOSURES WITH RESPECT TO CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

9.1 When initial application of a Standard or Interpretation has an effect on current or prior peri-
ods, would have an effect but it is impracticable to determine, or might have an effect, an entity
shall disclose

* The title of the Standard or Interpretation;

If applicable, that the change is made in accordance with the transitional provisions;

* The nature of the change;

* If applicable, a description of the transitional provisions;

* If applicable, the transitional provisions that might have an effect on future periods;

* For current and each prior period presented to the extent practicable, the amount of the ad-
justment for each financial statement line item;

* The amount of the adjustment relating to periods before those presented; and

* If retrospective application is impracticable, the circumstances making it impracticable and
the date from which the accounting policy has been applied.

9.2 Similar disclosures are required for voluntary changes in accounting policies with the addi-
tion that a description must be provided of the reason for the new policy providing reliable and
more relevant information.

9.3 In addition to the foregoing, disclosures are required regarding Standards or Interpretations
that have been issued but are not yet effective. Such disclosures comprise the fact that certain
standards or interpretations have been issued (at the date of authorization of the financial
statements) but were not effective and known or reasonably estimable information relevant to
assessing the possible impact of the new Standard or Interpretation.

10. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

10.1 Many items in the financial statements cannot be measured with accuracy and are thus esti-
mated. This is due to uncertainties inherent in business activities. Accounting, the language of
business, has to translate these uncertainties into figures that are then reported in the financial
statements. Thus accounting estimates are a very important part of the process of financial report-
ing. Common examples of accounting estimates include

* Bad debts

* Inventory obsolescence

» Useful lives of property, plant, and equipment

* Fair values of financial assets or financial liabilities
* Provision for warranty obligations

10.2  Accounting estimates may change as circumstances change or experience grows. Thus a
change in estimate does not warrant restating the financial statements of a prior period because it is
not a correction of an error.

Case Study 2

Facts

Accurate Inc. was incorporated on January 1, 20X1, and follows IFRS in preparing its financial state-
ments. In preparing its financial statements for financial year ending December 31, 20X3, Accurate Inc.
used these useful lives for its property, plant, and equipment:

* Buildings: 15 years
* Plant and machinery: 10 years
* Furniture and fixtures: 7 years

On January 1, 20X4, the entity decides to review the useful lives of the property, plant, and equipment.
For this purpose it hired external valuation experts. These independent experts certified the remaining
useful lives of the property, plant, and equipment of Accurate Inc. at the beginning of 20X4 as
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* Buildings: 10 years
* Plant and machinery: 7 years
* Furniture and fixtures: 5 years

Accurate Inc. uses the straight-line method of depreciation. The original cost of the various components
of property, plant, and equipment were

* Buildings: $15,000,000
e Plant and machinery: $10,000,000
e Furniture and fixtures: $3,500,000

Required

Compute the impact on the income statement for the year ending December 31, 20X4, if Accurate Inc.
decides to change the useful lives of the property, plant, and equipment in compliance with the recom-
mendations of external valuation experts. Assume that there were no salvage values for the three
components of the property, plant, and equipment either initially or at the time the useful lives were re-
visited and revised.

Solution

a. The annual depreciation charges prior to the change in estimate were

Buildings: $15,000,000/ 15 = $1,000,000
Plant and machinery: $10,000,000 / 10 = $1,000,000
Furniture and fixtures: $3,500,000 / 7 = $500.000
Total = $2.500.000 (A)

b. The revised annual depreciation for the year ending December 31, 20X4, would be

Buildings: [$15,000,000 — ($1,000,000 x 3)]/ 10 = $1,200,000
Plant and machinery: [$10,000,000 — ($1,000,000 x 3)]/7 = $1,000,000
Furniture and fixtures: [$3,500,000 — ($500,000 x 3)] / 5 = $400.000
Total = $2.600.000 (B)

c. The impact on Income Statement for the year ending December 31, 20X4
B)-(A)

$2,600,000 — $2,500,000

$ 100,000

10.3  Occasionally it may be difficult to distinguish between changes in measurement bases (i.e.,
accounting policies) and changes in estimate. In such cases, the change is treated as a change in
estimate.

10.4 Changes in accounting estimates are to be adjusted prospectively in the period in which the
estimate is amended and, if relevant, to future periods if they are also affected.

Case Study 3

Facts

On January 1, 20X1, Robust Inc. purchased heavy-duty equipment for $400,000. On the date of installa-
tion, it was estimated that the machine has a useful life of 10 years and a residual value of $40,000.
Accordingly the annual depreciation worked out to $36,000 = [($400,000 — $40,000) / 10].

On January 1, 20X5, after four years of using the equipment, the company decided to review the useful
life of the equipment and its residual value. Technical experts were consulted. According to them, the
remaining useful life of the equipment at January 1, 20X5, was seven years and its residual value was
$46,000.

Required
Compute the revised annual depreciation for the year 20X5 and future years.
Solution

The revised annual depreciation based on the remaining useful life and revised residual value will be
computed based on this formula:

Revised annual depreciation = (Net book value at January 1, 20XS5 — revised residual value) / remaining
useful life
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Net book value at January 1, 20X5:

$400,000 — ($36,000 x 4 years)
$256,000

Revised annual depreciation for 20XS5 and future years:
= ($256,000 — $46,000) / 7 = $30,000

10.5 Disclosures with Respect to Changes in Accounting Estimates

An entity should disclose amounts and nature of changes in accounting estimates. In addition, it
should also disclose changes relating to future periods, unless impracticable. The definition of “im-
practicable,” which has been explained for the purposes of “change in accounting policy,” applies
in case of “changes in accounting estimates” as well.

11. CORRECTION OF PRIOR-PERIOD ERRORS

11.1  Errors can arise in recognition, measurement, presentation, or disclosure of items in finan-
cial statements. If financial statements contain either material errors or intentional immaterial errors
that achieve a particular presentation, then they do not comply with IFRS. Misstatements or omis-
sions are “material” if they could, either individually or cumulatively, influence the decisions of
users of financial statements.

11.2  Discovery of material errors relating to prior periods shall be corrected by restating com-
parative figures in the financial statements for the year in which the error is discovered, unless it is
“impracticable” to do so. Again, the strict definition of “impracticable” (as explained above) ap-
plies.

11.3 Disclosures in Respect of Correction of Prior-Period Errors

With respect to the correction of prior-period errors, IAS 8, paragraph 49, requires disclosure of

* The nature of the prior-period error;
*» For each period presented, to the extent practicable, the amount of the correction:

* For each financial statement line item affected; and
* For entities to which IAS 33 applies, for basic and diluted earnings per share.

* The amount of the correction at the beginning of the earliest prior period presented; and

* If retrospective restatement is “impracticable” for a particular prior period, the circumstances
that led to the existence of that condition and a description of how and from when the error
has been corrected.

Once disclosed, these disclosures are not to be repeated in financial statements of subsequent peri-
ods.

Case Study 4

Facts

(a) The internal auditor of Vigilant Inc. noticed in 200Y that in 200X the entity had omitted to record in
its books of accounts an amortization expense amounting to $30,000 relating to an intangible asset.

(b) An extract from the income statement for the years ended December 31, 200X and 200Y, before
correction of the error follows:

200Y 200X
Gross profit $300,000 $345,000
General and administrative expenses (90,000) (90,000)
Selling and distribution expenses (30,000) (30,000)
Amortization (30.000) XXXX

200Y 200X
Net income before income taxes 150,000 225,000
Income taxes (30.000) (45.000)
Net profit $120.000 $180.000

(c) The “retained earnings” of Vigilant Inc. for 200X and 200Y before correction of the error are
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200Y 200X
Retained earnings, beginning of the year $225.000 $45,000
Retained earnings, ending of the year $375.000 $225.000

(d) Vigilant Inc.’s income tax rate was 20% for both years.

Required

Present the accounting treatment prescribed by IAS 8 for the correction of the errors.
Solution

As an illustration of the accounting treatment and presentation of financial statements in accordance with
IAS 8, a condensed version of Vigilant Inc.’s Income Statement and Statement of Changes in Equity
follows:

Vigilant Inc.
INCOME STATEMENT
For the Year Ended December 31, 200Y
200X
200Y restated

Gross profit $300,000 $345,000
General and administrative expenses and Selling and distribution expenses in-
cluding amortization (see Explanation below) (150.000) (150.000)
Net income before income taxes 150,000 195,000
Income taxes (30,000) (39,000)
Net profit $120,000 $156,000

Vigilant Inc.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (RETAINED EARNINGS COLUMNS ONLY)
For the Year ended December 31, 200Y

200X

200Y restated

Retained earnings, beginning, as reported previously $225,000 $ 45,000
Correction of error, net of income taxes of $6,000 (see

Explanation below) (24.000) -

Retained earnings, beginning, as restated 201,000 45,00

Net profit 120,000 156,000

Retained earnings, ending $321,000 $201,000
Vigilant Inc.

For the Year Ended December 31, 200Y

Notes to the financial statements (extract)

Note XX: The company omitted to record an amortization charge in the amount of $30,000 in 200X.
The financial statements for 200X have been restated to correct this error.

Explanation

According to the revised IAS 8, the amount of correction of an error that relates to prior periods should
be reported by adjusting the opening balance of retained earnings. Comparative information should be
restated unless it is “impracticable” to do so. The steps in preparing the revised financial statements and
related disclosures are

(1) As presented in the Statement of Changes in Equity (retained earnings columns only), the
opening retained earnings was adjusted by $24,000, which represented the amount of error,
$30,000, net of income tax effect of $6,000.

(2) The comparative amounts in the Income Statement were restated as

General and administrative and Selling and Distribution

expenses, including depreciation, before correction $120,000
Amount of correction 30,000
As restated $150,000
Income taxes before correction $ 45,000
Amount of correction (6,000)
As restated $_39,000
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. XYZ Inc. changes its method of valuation of
inventories from weighted-average method to first-in,
first-out (FIFO) method. XYZ Inc. should account for
this change as
(a) A change in estimate and account for it pro-
spectively.
(b) A change in accounting policy and account
for it prospectively.
(c) A change in accounting policy and account
for it retrospectively.
(d) Account for it as a correction of an error and
account for it retrospectively.

Answer: (¢)

2. Change in accounting policy does not include

(a) Change in useful life from 10 years to 7
years.

(b) Change of method of valuation of inventory
from FIFO to weighted-average.

(c) Change of method of valuation of inventory
from weighted-average to FIFO.

(d) Change from the practice (convention) of
paying as Christmas bonus one month’s sal-
ary to staff before the end of the year to the
new practice of paying one-half month’s
salary only.

Answer: (a)

3.  When a public shareholding company changes an
accounting policy voluntarily, it has to
(a) Inform shareholders prior to taking the deci-
sion.
(b) Account for it retrospectively.
(c) Treat the effect of the change as an extraor-
dinary item.
(d) Treat it prospectively and adjust the effect of
the change in the current period and future
periods.

Answer: (b)

4. When it is difficult to distinguish between a
change of estimate and a change in accounting policy,
then an entity should

(a) Treat the entire change as a change in esti-
mate with appropriate disclosure.

(b) Apportion, on a reasonable basis, the rela-
tive amounts of change in estimate and the
change in accounting policy and treat each
one accordingly.

(c) Treat the entire change as a change in ac-
counting policy.

(d) Since this change is a mixture of two types
of changes, it is best if it is ignored in the
year of the change; the entity should then
wait for the following year to see how the
change develops and then treat it accord-

ingly.
Answer: (a)
5.  When an independent valuation expert advises an
entity that the salvage value of its plant and machin-

ery had drastically changed and thus the change is
material, the entity should
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(a) Retrospectively change the depreciation
charge based on the revised salvage value.

(b) Change the depreciation charge and treat it
as a correction of an error.

(c) Change the annual depreciation for the cur-
rent year and future years.

(d) Ignore the effect of the change on annual de-
preciation, because changes in salvage
values would normally affect the future only
since these are expected to be recovered in
future.

Answer: (c)
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7 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
(IAS 10)

1. BACKGROUND AND INTRODUCTION

1.1 The balance sheet date is the pivotal date at which the financial position of an entity is deter-
mined and reported. Thus, events that occur up to that date are critical in arriving at an entity’s fi-
nancial results and the financial position. However, sometimes events occurring after the balance
sheet date may provide additional information about events that occurred before and up to the bal-
ance sheet date. This information may have an impact on the financial results and the financial po-
sition of the entity. It is imperative that those post—balance sheet events up to a certain “cutoff
date” (discussed later and referred to as the authorization date) be taken into account in preparing
the financial statements for the year ended and as at the balance sheet.

1.2 Additionally, certain events that occur after the balance sheet date might not affect the figures
reported in the financial statements but may warrant disclosure in footnotes to the financial state-
ments. Informing users of financial statements about such post-balance sheet date events through
footnote disclosures helps them make informed decisions with respect to the entity, keeping in
mind the impact these post—balance sheet events may have on the financial position of the entity as
at the balance sheet date.

2. SCOPE

IAS 10, Events After the Balance Sheet Date, provides guidance on accounting and disclosure of
post-balance sheet events. For the purposes of this Standard, post-balance sheet events are catego-
rized into “adjusting” and “nonadjusting” events. The issue addressed by the Standard, IAS 10, is
to what extent anything that happens during the period when the financial statements are being pre-
pared should be reflected in those financial statements. The Standard distinguishes between events
that provide information about the state of the entity at balance sheet date and those that concern
the next financial period. A secondary issue is the cutoff point beyond which the financial state-
ments are considered to be finalized.

3. DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS

Events after the balance sheet date. Those post—balance sheet events, both favorable and
unfavorable, that occur between the balance sheet date and the date when the financial
statements are authorized for issue.

Adjusting events after the balance sheet date. Those post—balance sheet events that pro-
vide evidence of conditions that existed at the balance sheet date.

Nonadjusting events after the balance sheet date. Those post—balance sheet events that
are indicative of conditions that arose after the balance sheet date.

4. AUTHORIZATION DATE

4.1 The authorization date is the date when the financial statements could be considered legally
authorized for issuance. The determination of the authorization date is critical to the concept of
events after the balance sheet date. The authorization date serves as the cutoff point after the bal-
ance sheet date up to which the post-balance sheet events are to be examined in order to ascertain
whether such events qualify for the treatment prescribed by IAS 10. This Standard explains the
concept through the use of examples.

4.2 The general principles that need to be considered in determining the “authorization date” of
the financial statements are set out next.
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* When an entity is required to submit its financial statements to its shareholders for approval
after they have already been issued, the authorization date in this case would mean the date
of original issuance and not the date when these are approved by the shareholders; and

* When an entity is required to issue its financial statements to a supervisory board made up
wholly of nonexecutives, “authorization date” would mean the date on which management
authorizes them for issue to the supervisory board.

Case Study 1

Facts

The preparation of the financial statements of Janu Corp. for the accounting period ended December 31,
2005, was completed by the management on March 15, 2006. The draft financial statements were con-
sidered at the meeting of the board of directors held on March 20, 2006, on which date the board ap-
proved them and authorized them for issuance. The annual general meeting (AGM) was held on April
10, 2006, after allowing for printing and the requisite notice period mandated by the corporate statute. At
the AGM the shareholders approved the financial statements. The approved financial statements were
filed by the corporation with the Company Law Board (the statutory body of the country that regulates
corporations) on April 20, 2006.

Required
Given these facts, what is the “authorization date” in terms of IAS 10?
Solution

The date of authorization of the financial statements of Janu Corp. for the year ended December 31,
2005, is March 20, 2006, the date when the board approved them and authorized them for issue (and not
the date they were approved in the AGM by the shareholders). Thus, all post—balance sheet events be-
tween December 31, 2005, and March 20, 2006, need to be considered by Janu Corp. for the purposes of
evaluating whether they are to be accounted or reported under IAS 10.

Case Study 2

Suppose in the above-cited case, the management of Janu Corp. was required to issue the financial
statements to a supervisory board (consisting solely of nonexecutives including representatives of a trade
union). The management of Janu Corp. had issued the draft financial statements to the supervisory board
on March 16, 2006. The supervisory board approved them on March 17, 2006, and the shareholders ap-
proved them in the AGM held on April 10, 2006. The approved financial statements were filed with the
Company Law Board on April 20, 2006.

Required
Would the new facts have any effect on the date of authorization?
Solution

In this case, the date of authorization of financial statements would be March 16, 2006, the date the draft
financial statements were issued to the supervisory board. Thus, all post-balance sheet events between
December 31, 2005, and March 16, 2006, need to be considered by Janu Corp. for the purposes of evalu-
ating whether they are to be accounted or reported under IAS 10.

ADJUSTING AND NONADJUSTING EVENTS (after the balance sheet date)

5.1 Two kinds of events after the balance sheet date are distinguished by the Standard. These are,
respectively, “adjusting events after the balance sheet date” and “nonadjusting events after the bal-
ance sheet date.” Adjusting events are those post—balance sheet events that provide evidence of
conditions that actually existed at the balance sheet date, albeit they were not known at the time.
Financial statements should be adjusted to reflect adjusting events after the balance sheet date.

5.2 Typical examples of adjusting events are

* The bankruptcy of a customer after the balance sheet date usually suggests a loss of trade re-
ceivable at the balance sheet date.

* The sale of inventory at a price substantially lower than its cost after the balance sheet date
confirms its net realizable value at the balance sheet date.
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* The sale of a property, plant, and equipment for a net selling price that is lower than the
carrying amount is indicative of an impairment that took place at the balance sheet date.

* The determination of an incentive or bonus payment after the balance sheet when an entity
has a constructive obligation at the balance sheet date.

* A deterioration in the financial position (recurring losses) and operating results (working
capital deficiencies) of an entity that has a bearing on the entity’s continuance as a “going
concern” in the foreseeable future.

Case Study 3

Facts

During the year 2005, Thror Corp. was sued by a competitor for $15 million for infringement of a
trademark. Based on the advice of the company’s legal counsel, Thror Corp. accrued the sum of $10
million as a provision in its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005. Subsequent to
the balance sheet date, on February 15, 2006, the Supreme Court decided in favor of the party alleging
infringement of the trademark and ordered the defendant to pay the aggrieved party a sum of $14 mil-
lion. The financial statements were prepared by the company’s management on January 31, 2006, and
approved by the board on February 20, 2006.

Required
Should Thror Corp. adjust its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005?
Solution

Thror Corp. should adjust the provision upward by $4 million to reflect the award decreed by the Su-
preme Court (assumed to be the final appellate authority on the matter in this example) to be paid by
Thror Corp. to its competitor.

Had the judgment of the Supreme Court been delivered on February 25, 2005, or later, this post-balance
sheet event would have occurred after the cutoff point (i.e., the date the financial statements were au-
thorized for original issuance). If so, adjustment of financial statements would not have been required.

Case Study 4

Facts

Shani Corp. carries its inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value. At December 31, 2005, the
cost of inventory, determined under the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method, as reported in its financial
statements for the year then ended, was $10 million. Due to severe recession and other negative eco-
nomic trends in the market, the inventory could not be sold during the entire month of January 2006. On
February 10, 2006, Shani Corp. entered into an agreement to sell the entire inventory to a competitor for
$6 million.

Required

Presuming the financial statements were authorized for issuance on February 15, 2006, should Shani
Corp. recognize a write-down of $4 million in the financial statements for the year ended December 31,
20057

Solution

Yes, Shani Corp. should recognize a write-down of $4 million in the financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2005.

Examples of nonadjusting events include

* Declaration of an equity dividend

* Decline in the market value of an investment after the balance sheet date

* Entering into major purchase commitments in the form of issuing guarantees after the balance
sheet date

* Classification of assets as held for sale under IFRS 5 and the purchase, disposal, or expropriation
of assets after the balance sheet date

* Commencing a lawsuit relating to events that occurred after the balance sheet date

A
al
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Case Study 5

Facts

The statutory audit of ABC Inc. for year ended June 30, 2005, was completed on August 30, 2005. The
financial statements were signed by the managing director on September 8, 2005, and approved by the
shareholders on October 10, 2005. The next events have occurred.

(1) On July 15, 2003, a customer owing $900,000 to ABC Inc. filed for bankruptcy. The financial
statements include an allowance for doubtful debts pertaining to this customer only of $50,000.

(2) ABC Inc.’s issued capital comprised 100,000 equity shares. The company announced a bonus
issue of 25,000 shares on August 1, 2005.

(3) Specialized equipment costing $545,000 purchased on March 1, 2005, was destroyed by fire on
June 13, 2005. On June 30, 2005, ABC Inc. has booked a receivable of $400,000 from the in-
surance company pertaining to this claim. After the insurance company completed its investi-
gation, it was discovered that the fire took place due to negligence of the machine operator. As
a result, the insurer’s liability was zero on this claim by ABC Inc.

Required
How should ABC Inc. account for these three post—balance sheet events?
Solution

(1) ABC Inc. should increase its allowance for doubtful debts to $900,000 because the customer’s
bankruptcy is indicative of a financial condition that existed at the balance sheet date. This is an
“adjusting event.”

(2) IAS 33, Earnings Per Share, requires a disclosure of transactions as “stock splits” or “rights is-
sue,” which are of significant importance at the balance sheet. This is a nonadjusting event, and
only disclosure is needed.

(3) This is an adjusting event because it relates to an asset that was recognized at the balance sheet
date. However, as the insurance company’s liability is zero, ABC Inc. must adjust its receivable
on the claim to zero.

6. DIVIDENDS PROPOSED OR DECLARED AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Dividends on equity shares proposed or declared after the balance sheet date should not be recog-
nized as a liability at the balance sheet date. Such declaration is a nonadjusting subsequent event
and footnote disclosure is required, unless immaterial.

7. GOING CONCERN CONSIDERATIONS

Deterioration in an entity’s financial position after the balance sheet date could cast substantial
doubts about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. IAS 10 requires that an entity
should not prepare its financial statements on a going concern basis if management determines af-
ter the balance sheet date either that it intends to liquidate the entity or cease trading, or that it has
no realistic alternative but to do so. IAS 10 notes that disclosures prescribed by IAS 1 under such
circumstances should also be complied with.

8. DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

IAS 10 requires these three disclosures:

(1) The date when the financial statements were authorized for issue and who gave that
authorization. If the entity’s owners have the power to amend the financial statements after
issuance, this fact should be disclosed.

(2) If information is received after the balance sheet date about conditions that existed at the
balance sheet date, disclosures that relate to those conditions should be updated in the light
of the new information.

(3) Where nonadjusting events after the balance sheet date are of such significance that
nondisclosure would affect the ability of the users of financial statements to make proper
evaluations and decisions, disclosure should be made for each such significant category of
nonadjusting event regarding the nature of the event and an estimate of its financial effect
or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made.
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. ABC Ltd. decided to operate a new amusement
park that will cost $1 million to build in the year
2005. Its financial year-end is December 31, 2005.
ABC Ltd. has applied for a letter of guarantee for
$700,000. The letter of guarantee was issued on
March 31, 2006. The audited financial statements
have been authorized to be issued on April 18, 2006.
The adjustment required to be made to the financial
statement for the year ended December 31, 2005,
should be
(a) Booking a $700,000 long-term payable.
(b) Disclosing $700,000 as a contingent liability
in 2005 financial statement.
(c) Increasing the contingency reserve by
$700,000.
(d) Do nothing.

Answer: (d)

2. A new drug named “EEE” was introduced by
Genius Inc. in the market on December 1, 2005.
Genius Inc.’s financial year ends on December 31,
2005. It was the only company that was permitted to
manufacture this patented drug. The drug is used by
patients suffering from an irregular heartbeat. On
March 31, 2006, after the drug was introduced, more
than 1,000 patients died. After a series of investiga-
tions, authorities discovered that when this drug was
simultaneously used with “BBB,” a drug used to
regulate hypertension, the patient’s blood would clot
and the patient suffered a stroke. A lawsuit for
$100,000,000 has been filed against Genius Inc. The
financial statements were authorized for issuance on
April 30, 2006. Which of the following options is the
appropriate accounting treatment for this post—
balance sheet event under IAS 10?

(a) The entity should provide $100,000,000 be-
cause this is an “adjusting event” and the
financial statements were authorized to be
issued after the accident.

(b) The entity should disclose $100,000,000 as a
contingent liability because it is an “ad-
justing event.”

(c) The entity should disclose $100,000,000 as a
“contingent liability” because it is a present
obligation with an improbable outflow.

(d) Assuming the probability of the lawsuit be-
ing decided against Genius Inc. is remote,
the entity should disclose it in the footnotes,
because it is a nonadjusting material event.

Answer: (c)

3. At the balance sheet date, December 31, 2005,
ABC Inc. carried a receivable from XYZ, a major
customer, at $10 million. The “authorization date” of
the financial statements is on February 16, 2006. XYZ
declared bankruptcy on Valentine’s Day (Feb-
ruary 14, 2006). ABC Inc. will
(a) Disclose the fact that XYZ has declared
bankruptcy in the footnotes.
(b) Make a provision for this post-balance sheet
event in its financial statements (as opposed
to disclosure in footnotes).
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(c) Ignore the event and wait for the outcome of
the bankruptcy because the event took place
after the year-end.

(d) Reverse the sale pertaining to this receivable
in the comparatives for the prior period and
treat this as an “error” under IAS 8.

Answer: (b)

4. Excellent Inc. built a new factory building during
2005 at a cost of $20 million. At December 31, 2005,
the net book value of the building was $19 million.
Subsequent to year-end, on March 15, 2006, the
building was destroyed by fire and the claim against
the insurance company proved futile because the
cause of the fire was negligence on the part of the
caretaker of the building. If the date of authorization
of the financial statements for the year ended De-
cember 31, 2005, was March 31, 2006, Excellent Inc.
should

(a) Write off the net book value to its scrap
value because the insurance claim would not
fetch any compensation.

(b) Make a provision for one-half of the net
book value of the building.

(c) Make a provision for three-fourths of the net
book value of the building based on
prudence.

(d) Disclose this nonadjusting event in the
footnotes.

Answer: (d)

5. International Inc. deals extensively with foreign
entities, and its financial statements reflect these
foreign currency transactions. Subsequent to the bal-
ance sheet date, and before the “date of authorization”
of the issuance of the financial statements, there were
abnormal fluctuations in foreign currency rates.
International Inc. should

(a) Adjust the foreign exchange year-end bal-
ances to reflect the abnormal adverse fluc-
tuations in foreign exchange rates.

(b) Adjust the foreign exchange year-end bal-
ances to reflect all the abnormal fluctuations
in foreign exchange rates (and not just
adverse movements).

(c) Disclose the post-balance sheet event in
footnotes as a nonadjusting event.

(d) Ignore the post-balance sheet event.

Answer: (c)
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8 CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS (IAS 11)

1. BACKGROUND AND INTRODUCTION

1.1 This objective of IAS 11, Construction Contracts, is to prescribe the criteria for the
accounting of revenue and costs in relation to construction contracts. Due to the nature of such
contracts—the commencement and completion dates are usually well separated, often crossing
accounting period ends—the Standard focuses on the allocation of revenue and costs to those
accounting periods in which the construction contract is executed.

1.2 The Standard shall be applied in accounting for construction contracts in the financial state-
ments of contractors. Construction contracts also include contracts for services that are directly
related to the construction of an asset, such as project management or design.

2. DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS (in accordance with IAS 11)

Construction contract. A contract specifically negotiated for the construction of an asset or
combination of assets that are closely interrelated or interdependent in terms of their design,
technology, function, or ultimate use or purpose.

Fixed price contract. A construction contract in which the contractor agrees to a fixed price.
Cost-plus contract. A construction contract in which the contractor is reimbursed for allow-
able or defined costs plus a percentage of such costs or a fixed fee.

Variation. An instruction by the customer for the change in the scope of the work to be per-
formed in the contract.

Claim. An amount that the contract seeks to collect from a customer or another party as reim-
bursement for costs not included in the contract price.

Incentive payments. Additional amounts paid to the contractor if specified performance stan-
dards are met or exceeded.

3. COMBINING AND SEGMENTING CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS

The provisions of this Standard usually are applied to construction contracts separately. Some-
times, however, it is necessary to the Standard to separate parts of one contract or to consider a
group of contracts as one. The purpose is to properly reflect the substance of the transaction rather
than the legal form.

3.1 Segmenting Contracts

When a contract covers the construction of a number of assets, the contract for construction of each
asset shall be considered a separate contract when

(a) Separate proposals have been submitted for each asset;

(b) Each asset has been subject to separate negotiation and both contractor and customer were
able to accept or reject that part of the contract relating to each asset; and

(c) The costs and revenues of each asset are separately identifiable.

Case Study 1

Facts

XYZ, Inc. is negotiating with the local government to build a new bridge after demolishing the existing
bridge in downtown near the city center. At the initial meeting, it was indicated that the government
would not be willing to pay for both components of the contract an amount exceeding $100,000. The
government representatives insisted that separate proposals would need to be submitted and negotiated
and that the contractor should maintain separate records for each component of the contract and upon re-
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quest furnish details of the contract costs incurred to date by component. After submission of the
separate proposals, it was agreed that the split of the contract price of $100,000 would be in the ratio of
70% for construction of the new bridge and 30% for demolishing the existing bridge.

Required

Evaluate in light of the provisions of IAS 11 whether the contract for the construction of the new bridge
and the contract for demolishing the existing bridge should be segmented and treated as separate con-
tracts or be combined and treated as a single contract.

Solution
The two contracts should be segmented and treated as separate contracts because

* Separate proposals were submitted for the two contracts.
» The two contracts were negotiated separately.
* Costs and revenues of each contract can be identified separately.

3.2 Combining Contracts

3.2.1 A group of contracts, each with a single or even with different customers, shall be treated as
a single contract when

(1) The group of contracts is negotiated as one single package;

(2) The contracts are so closely interrelated that they are effectively (i.e., in substance) part of
one project with one overall profit margin; and

(3) The contracts are performed either concurrently or in continuous sequence.

Case Study 2

Facts

Universal Builders Inc. is well known for its expertise in building flyovers and maintaining these struc-
tures. Impressed with Universal’s track record, the local municipal authorities have invited them to sub-
mit a tender for a two-year contract to build a super flyover in the heart of the city (the largest in the re-
gion) and another tender for maintenance of the flyover for 10 years after completion of the construction.

Required

Evaluate whether these two contracts should be segmented or combined into one contract for the pur-
poses of IAS 11.

Solution
The two contracts should be combined and treated as a single contract because

* The two contracts are very closely related to each other and, in fact, are part of a single contract
with an overall profit margin.

* The contracts have been negotiated as a single package.

* The contracts are performed in a continuous sequence.

3.2.2 Sometimes a contract may provide for the construction of an additional asset at the option
of the customer or may be amended to include the construction of an additional asset. Under such
circumstances, the additional asset shall be treated as a separate contract when it differs signifi-
cantly from the asset(s) covered by the original contract or when the price is negotiated without
regard to the original contract price.

4. CONTRACT REVENUE

Contract revenue shall comprise the initial price agreed in the contract together with variations,
claims, and incentives to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue and they are
capable of being reliably measured.

4.1 Variations, Claims, and Incentives

Over time, the contract value may need to be amended either upward or downward, There can be a
significant degree of uncertainty and, therefore, estimation in assessing the contract value and
hence revenue to be recognized in financial statements. In all cases, the amount must be reliably
measurable and realization is probable. For example
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* It should be probable that a customer will approve variations.

* Negotiations should be sufficiently advanced with respect to claims.

* A contract should be at a sufficiently advanced stage to make it probable that incentive mile-
stones will be achieved.

5. CONTRACT COSTS

5.1 Contract costs shall consist of

(a) Costs that relate directly to the specific contract;

(b) Costs that are attributable to contract activity in general and can be allocated to contracts;
and

(c) Such other costs as are specifically chargeable under the terms of the contract.

5.2 Common examples of costs that are considered related directly to specific contracts are

* Site labor costs, including site supervisions

* Materials used in construction

* Depreciation of machinery, plant, and equipment used in construction
* Cost of hiring plant (if not owned by the contractor)

* Cost of moving plant to and from contract site

* Design and technical assistance costs directly related to the contract

* Cost of rectification and guarantee work, including warranty costs

* Claims from third parties

These costs may be reduced by any incidental income resulting from sale of surplus material and
the disposal of equipment at the end of the contract.

5.3 Costs that may be attributable to contract activity in general and can be allocated to specific
contracts are insurance, construction overhead, and the like. General contract activity costs must
be allocated on a systematic and rational basis assuming a “normal” level of construction activity.

5.4 Costs that may be specifically charged to the customer under the terms of the contract include
percentage of general and administrative overheads or development costs that the customer has
specifically agreed to reimburse under the terms of the contract.

5.5 Costs that cannot be attributed to contract activity or cannot be allocated to a contract are ex-
cluded from costs of construction contract. Examples of such costs are

* Selling and marketing costs

* General and administrative costs for which the reimbursement is not specified in the contract

» Research and development costs for which reimbursement is not specified in the contract

* Depreciation on idle plant and equipment whose use cannot be attributable to any construc-
tion contract

5.6 A matter of debate in this area is costs incurred in securing a contract, such as travel, promo-
tion and meeting costs, and the like. Usually only those costs incurred after winning the contract
are included as contract costs. However, the Standard states that if such “precontract” costs are re-
liably measurable and it is probable that the contract will be secured, then such costs are included
as part of the overall contract cost. In practice, if the contract has been secured by the time the fi-
nancial statements are authorized for issue, then the condition of probability of securing the con-
tract is satisfied and the costs can be included. However, it should be noted that once such “pre-
contract” costs have been expensed, they cannot be reinstated once the contract is secured.

6. RECOGNITION OF CONTRACT REVENUE AND EXPENSES

6.1 Contract revenue and contract costs should be recognized in the income statement when the
outcome of the contract can be estimated reliably.

6.2 The revenue and costs should be recognized by reference to the stage of completion at the
balance sheet date.
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6.3 When it is likely that contract costs will exceed contract revenue, then the entire loss must be
recognized in the income statement immediately, regardless of the stage of completion.

6.4 The percentage of completion of a contract at any balance sheet date is estimated on a cumu-
lative basis. Therefore, changes in estimates are automatically accounted for in the period in which
the change occurs and in future periods, which is in accordance with IAS 8, Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

7. FIXED COST CONTRACT

With respect to a fixed price contract, the outcome can be estimated reliably when

* Total contract revenue can be measured reliably;

* It is probable that the economic benefit of the contract will flow to the entity;

* Both the costs to complete the contract and the stage of completion can be reliably estimated:
and

* The costs attributable to the contract can be clearly identified and measured.

8. COST-PLUS CONTRACT

With respect to a cost-plus contract, the outcome can be reliably estimated when

* It is probable that the economic benefit of the contract will flow to the entity; and
* The costs attributable to the contract, whether specifically reimbursable or not, can be clearly
identified and measured.

9. PERCENTAGE OF COMPLETION METHOD

9.1 The recognition of revenues and expenses by references to the stages of completion of a con-
tract is referred to as the percentage of completion method. The manner in which this method
works is simple: The contract revenues are matched with the contract costs incurred in reaching the
stage of completion. Such comparison results in the reporting of revenue, expenses, and profit that
can be attributed to the proportion of the work completed.

9.2 IAS 11 recognizes only the percentage of completion method of recognition of revenues and
expenses. The “completed contract method” whereby no contract revenues or profits are recog-
nized until the contracts are completed or are substantially complete is not permitted under IAS 11.

9.3 The stage of completion of a contract can be estimated by a variety of means. Depending on
the nature of the contract, an entity may employ the method that measures reliably the work per-
formed. These include

» The proportion that costs incurred at the balance sheet date bear to expected total costs re-
quired to complete the contract;

* Certification or surveys of work performed; or

* Completion of physical proportion of the contract work.

9.4  Very often, and as a matter of prudence, unless a contract is sufficiently far advanced,
revenue is recognized only to the extent of costs incurred (i.e., zero profit is recognized). How far
is “sufficiently far advanced” is a matter of judgment. Many entities state that a contract should be
at least 50% complete; others, 75%; some, much lower percentages. Clearly hindsight can be very
beneficial. If the contract is complete by the time the financial statements are authorized for issue,
it is a much simpler task to estimate the actual stage of completion at the balance sheet date. For
other cases, a robust estimating system with a proven track record of no significant inaccuracies is
a must if an entity wishes to reliably estimate final outcome when the percentage complete is low at
the time of estimation.

Case Study 3

Facts

Miracle Construct Inc. is executing a gigantic project of constructing the tallest building in the country.
The project is expected to take three years to complete.
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The company has signed a fixed price contract of $12,000,000 for the construction of this prestigious
tower.

The details of the costs incurred to date in the first year are

Site labor costs $1,000,000
Cost of construction material 3,000,000
Depreciation of special plant and equipment used in

contracting to build the tallest building 500,000
Marketing and selling costs to get the tallest building

in the country the right exposure 1.000,000
Total $5.500.000
Total contract cost estimated to complete $5.500.000

Required

Calculate the percentage of completion and the amounts of revenue, costs, and profits to be recognized
under TAS 11.

Solution
(a) Contract cost incurred to date
Site labor cost $1,000,000
Material cost 3,000,000
Depreciation of special plant and equipment 500.000
$4.500.000
NOTE: IAS 11 does not allow “marketing and selling costs” to be considered contract costs.

$5.500.000

4,500,000 / (4,500,000 + 5,500,000)
4,500,000 / 10,000,000
45%

(d) Revenue, costs, and profits to be recognized in the first year:

(b) Cost to complete

(c) Percentage of completion

Revenue = 12,000,000 x 0.45 = $5,400,000
Costs = 10.000,000 x 0.45 = $4.500.000
Profit = $900.000

9.5 In all cases, care must be taken in estimating percentage complete to exclude costs that relate
to future activity, such as materials delivered to site. Such costs are recognized as an asset, pro-
vided it is probable that they will be recovered. Such costs represent amounts incurred on behalf of
the customer and are thus amounts due from a customer. These costs are often classified as “con-
tract work in progress.”

Practical Insight

In order to take advantage of bulk or volume discounts on purchase of construction materials,
such as steel or cement, contractors sometimes buy significant quantities of those items and
stock them at a site where a big construction contract is in progress. The costs of such materi-
als are future costs because these are not meant for immediate consumption at the site where
they are stored. Such costs qualify for the treatment explained above in case of future costs. At
year-end they may need to be estimated in order to report them on the balance sheet as “con-
tract work in progress.”

9.6 It should be borne in mind that the billing schedule, and even the realization of interim in-
voices for such advance deliveries, need not bear any relation to the level of revenue that should be
recognized in the income statement. Similarly, invoices received from, and payments made to, sub-
contractors in advance of the work actually being performed also need to be excluded.

9.7 A more reliable method is the independent certification or survey of the value of work done
as of the balance sheet date and then ensuring that all costs relating to such work have been fully
recognized.
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10. DISCLOSURES
10.1 An entity shall disclose

(1) The amount of contract revenue recognized as revenue in the period

(2) The methods used to determine the contract revenue recognized in the period

(3) The methods used to determine the stage of completion of contracts in progress at the bal-
ance sheet date

(4) For contracts in progress at the balance sheet date

a] The aggregate amount of costs incurred and recognized profits, less recognized losses,
to date

b] Advances received

c] Retentions

(5) The gross amount due from customers for contract work as an asset
(6) The gross amount due to customers for contract work as a liability

10.2 The gross amount due from customers for contract work is the net amount of costs incurred
plus recognized profits, less the sum of recognized losses and progress billings for contracts in pro-
gress for which costs incurred plus recognized profits, less recognized losses exceeds progress
billings.

10.3 The gross amount due to customers for contract work is the net amount of costs incurred plus
recognized profits, less the sum of recognized losses and progress billings for contracts in progress
for which progress billings exceed incurred plus recognized profits, less recognized losses.

Case Study 4

Facts

In year 1, Slow Build Inc. was invited to tender for the construction of a residential block and connected
shopping arcade with common plaza and garden and play areas. Tenders were required to detail the costs
of each element separately, but it was clear that only one contractor would win the entire contract due to
the interrelated aspects of the development.

During year 1, Slow Build Inc. management traveled to the United States to visit three possible designers
in order to obtain their preliminary design proposals, of which only one would be selected. The cost of
the visit was $20,000. Later in year 1, having selected one designer, Slow Build Inc. returned to the
United States to clarify design details and request construction of a scale model in order to make a pre-
sentation of the tender to the ultimate customer. The cost of the second trip was $15,000.

During year 2, but before its year 1 financial statements were authorized for issue, Slow Build Inc. was
notified that it had been awarded the contract. However, the contract was not signed until after the year 1
financial statements were issued.

The contract was for a total price of $16 million, comprising $9 million for the residential block, $5 mil-
lion for the shopping arcade, and $2 million for the common plaza, garden, and play area. A mobiliza-
tion advance of $1 million would be paid at the outset, $1 million was payable at the end of year 2, $5
million at the end of year 3, and $8 million was payable at the end of year 4, at which point the devel-
opment would be complete and $1 million was to be held back as a retention for one year.

Slow Build Inc. initially estimated that the total cost of the project would be $12 million, of which $7
million would be for the residential block, $4 million for the shopping arcade, and $1 million for the
plaza, gardens, and play area. Included in this cost is $1 million of plant acquired specifically for the
project that could not be used subsequently. The estimated residual value of this plant at the end of the
contract was $100,000. Also included in the overall cost was 30 months of depreciation on general plant
and equipment already owned by Slow Build Inc. at $50,000 per month. The on-site accounts staff cost
included in the estimate was $5,000 per month. Their role was to maintain and record time cards of
workers and receive and issue materials.

Costs incurred at each year-end were

Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Total
Residential block $1,000,000 $3,000,000 $3,000,000 $7,000,000
Shopping arcade 500,000 1,800,000 1,700,000 4,000,000
Plaza, gardens, & play area - 200.000 800,000 1.000.000
Total $1,500,000 $5,000,000 $5,500,000 $12,000,000
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The costs at the end of year 2 include $250,000 of materials delivered to the site for use in year 3.

The $200,000 in year 3 for the plaza, gardens, and play area was an advance to subcontractors who
would mobilize in year 4.

During year 3, due to a fire at the neighboring plot, the police cordoned off the whole area for a month
while investigations were conducted. During this time all plant and equipment remained idle on site.
However, work continued in Slow Build Inc.’s workshop and yard.

During year 3, the customer requested a variation in the contract with a value of $1 million and a cost of
$750,000. However, the variation was not approved by the customer until after Slow Build Inc.’s year 3
financial statements were authorized for issue. Slow Build Inc. incurred the extra costs for the variation
in year 3.
Required

Provide Slow Build Inc.’s income statement and the amounts that should be presented in the balance
sheet for each of the years 1, 2, 3 and 4.
Solution

Income statement

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4

$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Contract revenue 15 1,250 8,266 7,469
Contract costs 35) (1.250) (6.250) (5.100)
Gross (loss)/profit (20) —— 2,016 2,369

The percentage completion based on the proportion that costs incurred at each year-end bear to the esti-
mated total costs are

Note Year 1 Year 2 Year3 Year4  Total

$°000 $°000 $°000  $000  $°000
Estimated costs (a) 1,500 5,500 5,000 12,000
Precontract costs (b) 15 15
Materials at site (c) (250) 250 -
Idle plant depreciation (d) (50) (50)
Costs of variation (e) 750 750
Subcontractor advance ®) (200) 200
Residual value of plant (100) (100)
Total costs 15 1,250 6,250 5,100 12,615
Percentage complete 0.125 10.62 59.57 100.00
Memorandum 15/11,915 1,265/11,915 7,515/12,615

Year 1:

Note (a): The customer has made it clear that, despite separate tenders being required for each part of
the development, only one contractor would get the contract and the development was heavily inter-
dependent. Consequently, the contract should be treated as one, and not segmented.

Note (b): The second trip to the designers can be reasonably identified as being specifically incurred to
secure the contract. It was probable that Slow Build Inc. would secure the contract, as it had been so no-
tified, even though the contract was not secured until after the year 1 financial statements were autho-
rized for issue. Accordingly $15,000 can be included in the contract cost. The cost of the initial trip of
$20,000 was more exploratory in nature and thus cannot be included. As Slow Build Inc. can reasonably
expect to recover the costs of the second trip, but as the contract was not sufficiently far advanced to rea-
sonably forecast the outcome (0.125% complete), no profit is accrued. Revenue of $15,000 can be ac-
crued in year 1, and the total trip expenses are charged to the income statement.

The percentage complete is based on the contract cost of $12 million less the expected residual value of
the plant specifically acquired for the contract.

Year 2:

Note (c): At the end of year 2, materials were only delivered to site. Therefore, they are excluded from
the percentage complete calculation. However, in the opinion of management, the contract still remained
sufficiently incomplete to recognize profit, but the costs could be reasonably assumed to be recoverable
and revenue is accrued equal to cost.

The percentage complete is based on the contract cost of $12 million less the expected residual value of
the plant specifically acquired for the contract.
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Year 3:
Note (c): The materials delivered to site in year 2 were used in year 3 and are included in contract costs.

Note (d): Depreciation on idle plant for one month is deducted as the delay was not part of the construc-
tion activity.

Note (e): The costs of the variation are included as the costs were incurred. However, as the variation
was not approved by the customer until after the year 3 financial statements were authorized for issue,
the percentage complete is still applied to the initial contract price of $12,000,000. In the opinion of
management, the contract is sufficiently far advanced to deem the final outcome reasonably certain, so
59.57% ($7,148,000) of the contract price is recognized as revenue. Therefore, $7,148,000 less cumula-
tive revenue to year 2 of $1,265,000, or $5,883,000, is recognized in year 3.

Note (f): The subcontractor advance is deducted from the cost, as it is an advance for work to be exe-
cuted in year 4.

The percentage complete is based on the contract cost of $12 million less the expected residual value of
the plant specifically acquired for the contract plus the cost of variation. This is applied to the initial
contract value of $16 million, as the variation is not approved.

Year 4:

In year 4 the contract is complete and the full contract revenue of $17 million (including the approved
variation), less revenue recognized in earlier years, is taken to the income statement.

Overall, the contract has revenue of $17 million and costs of $12.615 million, earning a profit of
$4,385,000 ($2,016,000 + $2,369,000). The loss in year 1 arises solely from the initial business trip,
which is not a contract cost.

BALANCE SHEET

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4
Cumulative progress billings $2,000,000 $7,000,000 $16,000,000
Variation 1,000,000
Total cumulative billings 2,000,000 7,000,000 17,000,000
Cumulative revenue recognized $15,000 1,265,000 9,531,000 17,000,000
Disclosed as due from customers 15,000 2,531,000
Disclosed as due to customers 735,000
Disclosed as debtors (retention) 1,000,000

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4
Contracts in progress
Costs incurred 15,000 1,265,000 7,515,000 n/a
Recognized profits - -- 2,016,000 n/a
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. Lazy Builders Inc. has incurred the following
contract costs in the first year on a two-year fixed
price contract for $4.0 million to construct a bridge:

¢ Material cost = $2 million

¢ Other contract costs (including site labor costs)
= $1 million

* Cost to complete = $2 million

How much profit or loss should Lazy Inc. recognize
in the first year of the three-year construction con-
tract?
(@) Loss of $0.5 million prorated over two
years.
(b) Loss of $1.0 million (expensed immedi-
ately).
(c) No profit or loss in the first year and defer-
ring it to second year.
(d) Since 60% is the percentage of completion,
recognize 60% of loss (i.e., $0.6 million).

Answer: (b)

2. Brilliant Inc. is constructing a skyscraper in the
heart of town and has signed a fixed price two-year
contract for $21.0 million with the local authorities. It
has incurred the following cost relating to the contract
by the end of first year:

Material cost = $5 million

Labor cost = $2 million

Construction overhead = $2 million

Marketing costs = $0.5 million

¢ Depreciation of idle plant and equipment
= $0.5 million

At the end of the first year, it has estimated cost to
complete the contract = $9 million.

What profit or loss from the contract should Brilliant
Inc. recognize at the end of the first year?

(a) $1.5 million (9/18 x 3.0)

(b) $1.0 million (9/18 x 2.0)

(c) $1.05 million (10/19 x 2.0)

(d) $1.28 million (9.5/18.5 x 2.5)

Answer: (a)

3. Mediocre Inc. has entered into a very profitable
fixed price contract for constructing a high-rise
building over a period of three years. It incurs the
following costs relating to the contract during the first
year:

¢ Cost of material = $2.5 million

« Site labor costs = $2.0 million

* Agreed administrative costs as per contract to
be reimbursed by the customer = $1 million

* Depreciation of the plant used for the construc-
tion = $0.5 million

¢ Marketing costs for selling apartments when
they are ready = $1.0 million

Total estimated cost of the project = $18 million

The percentage of completion of this contract at the
year-end is

(a) 50% (=6.0/18.0)

(b) 27% (=4.5/16.5)
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(©) 25% (= 4.5/18.0)
(d) 39% (= 7.0/18)

Answer: (a)

4. A construction company is in the middle of a
two-year construction contract when it receives a
letter from the customer extending the contract by a
year and requiring the construction company to in-
crease its output in proportion of the number of years
of the new contract to the previous contract period.
This is allowed in recognizing additional revenue
according to IAS 11 if

(a) Negotiations have reached an advanced
stage and it is probable that the customer
will accept the claim.

(b) The contract is sufficiently advanced and it
is probable that the specified performance
standards will be exceeded or met.

(c) Itis probable that the customer will approve
the variation and the amount of revenue
arising from the variation, and the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured.

(d) It is probable that the customer will approve
the variation and the amount of revenue
arising from the variation, whether the
amount of revenue can be reliably measured
or not.

Answer: (¢)

5. A construction company signed a contract to
build a theater over a period of two years, and with
this contract also signed a maintenance contract for
five years. Both the contracts are negotiated as a sin-
gle package and are closely interrelated to each other.
The two contracts should be

(a) Combined and treated as a single contract.

(b) Segmented and considered two separate
contracts.

(c) Recognized under the completed contracted
method.

(d) Treated differently—the building contract
under the completed contract method and
maintenance contract under the percentage
of completion method.

Answer: (a)
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9 INCOME TAXES (IAS 12)

1. BACKGROUND AND INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Standard Applies to the Accounting for Income Taxes

IAS 12 uses a liability method and adopts a balance sheet approach. Instead of accounting for the
timing differences between the accounting and tax consequences of revenue and expenses, it
accounts for the temporary differences between the accounting and tax bases of assets and
liabilities. The Accounting Standard adopts a full-provision balance sheet approach to accounting
for tax.

1.2 It is assumed that the recovery of all assets and the settlement of all liabilities have tax conse-
quences and that these consequences can be estimated reliably and are unavoidable.

1.3 The main reason why deferred tax has to be provided for is that International Financial Re-
porting Standards (IFRS) recognition criteria are different from those that are normally set out in
tax law. Thus there will be income and expenditure in financial statements that will not be allowed
for taxation purposes in many jurisdictions.

1.4 A deferred tax liability or asset is recognized for future tax consequences of past transactions.
There are some exemptions to this general rule.

2. DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS

Tax base. Value that the Standard assumes that each asset and liability has for tax purposes.
Temporary differences. Differences between the carrying amount of an asset and liability
and its tax base.

2.1 The belief is that an entity will settle its liabilities and recover its assets eventually over time
and at that point the tax consequences will crystallize. For example, if a machine has a carrying
value in the financial statements of $5 million and its tax value is $2 million, then there is a taxable
temporary difference of $3 million.

2.2 The tax base of a liability is normally its carrying amount less amounts that will be deductible
for tax in the future. The tax base of an asset is the amount that will be deductible for tax purposes
against future profits generated by the asset.

2.3 The Standard sets out two kinds of temporary differences: a taxable temporary difference
and a deductible temporary difference.

2.4 A taxable temporary difference results in the payment of tax when the carrying amount of the
asset or liability is settled.

2.5 In simple terms, this means that a deferred tax liability will arise when the carrying value of
the asset is greater than its tax base or when the carrying value of the liability is less than its tax
base.

2.6 Deductible temporary differences are differences that result in amounts being deductible in
determining taxable profit or loss in future periods when the carrying value of the asset or liability
is recovered or settled. When the carrying value of the liability is greater than its tax base or when
the carrying value of the asset is less than its tax base, a deferred tax asset may arise.

2.7 This means, for example, that when an accrued liability is paid in future periods, part or all of
that payment may become allowable for tax purposes.
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Case Study 1

Facts
An entity has the following assets and liabilities recorded in its balance sheet at December 31, 20X5:

Carrying value

3 million
Property 10
Plant and equipment 5
Inventory 4
Trade receivables 3
Trade payables 6
Cash 2

The value for tax purposes of property and for plant and equipment are $7 million and $4 million re-
spectively. The entity has made a provision for inventory obsolescence of $2 million, which is not
allowable for tax purposes until the inventory is sold. Further, an impairment charge against trade
receivables of $1 million has been made. This charge does not relate to any specific trade receivable but
to the entity’s assessment of the overall collectibility of the amount. This charge will not be allowed in
the current year for tax purposes but will be allowed in the future. Income tax paid is at 30%.

Required

Calculate the deferred tax provision at December 31, 20XS5.

Solution

Carrying value Tax base Temporary difference
$m $m 3m

Property 10 7 3
Plant and equipment 5 4 1
Inventory 4 6 2)
Trade receivables 3 4 (@€))]
Trade payables 6 6 -
Cash 2 2

1

The deferred tax provision will be $1 million x 30%, or $300.000.
Because the provision against inventory and the impairment charge are not currently allowed, the tax
base will be higher than the carrying value by the respective amounts.

2.8 Every asset or liability is assumed to have a tax base. Normally this tax base will be the
amount that is allowed for tax purposes.

2.9 Some items of income and expenditure may not be taxable or tax deductible, and they will
never enter into the computation of taxable profit. These items sometimes are called permanent
differences.

2.10 Generally speaking, these items will have the same tax base as their carrying amount; that is,
no temporary difference will arise.

2.11 For example, if an entity has on its balance sheet interest receivable of $2 million that is not
taxable, then its tax base will be the same as its carrying value, or $2 million. There is no tempo-
rary difference in this case. Therefore, no deferred taxation will arise.

Case Study 2

Facts

An entity acquired plant and equipment for $1 million on January 1, 20X4. The asset is depreciated at
25% a year on the straight-line basis, and local tax legislation permits the management to depreciate the
asset at 30% a year for tax purposes.

Required

Calculate any deferred tax liability that might arise on the plant and equipment at December 31, 20X4,
assuming a tax rate of 30%.
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Solution

$15,000 (30% of the temporary difference of $50,000). The carrying value of the plant and equipment is
$750,000 and the tax written down value will be $700,000, thus giving a taxable temporary difference of
$50,000.

3. CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES AND ASSETS

3.1 The Standard also deals with current tax liabilities and current tax assets.

3.2 An entity should recognize a liability in the balance sheet in respect of its current tax expense
both for the current and prior years to the extent that it is not yet paid.

4. ACCOUNTING FOR DEFERRED TAX

4.0.1 To account for deferred tax under IAS 12, first prepare a balance sheet that shows all the
assets and liabilities in the accounting balance sheet and their tax base.

4.0.2 Also show any other items that may not have been recognized as assets or liabilities in the
accounting balance sheet but that may have a tax base. Then take the difference between these val-
ues and the accounting values, and calculate the deferred tax based on these differences.

4.0.3 Most taxable differences arise because of differences in the timing of the recognition of the
transaction for accounting and tax purposes.

Examples

(a) Accumulated depreciation that differs from accumulated tax depreciation

(b) Employee expenditure recognized when incurred for accounting purposes and when paid for
tax purposes

(c) Costs of research and development, which may be expensed in one period for accounting pur-
poses but allowed for tax purposes in later periods

4.0.4 Often where assets and liabilities are valued at fair value for accounting purposes, there is
no equivalent measurement for tax purposes. For example, property, plant, and equipment may be
revalued to fair value, but there may be no adjustment to the tax value for this increase or decrease.
Similarly, assets and liabilities can be revalued on a business acquisition, but for tax purposes,
again, there may be no adjustment to the value.

4.1 Summary of Accounting for Deferred Tax

The process of accounting for deferred tax is

(1) Determine the tax base of the assets and liabilities in the balance sheet.

(2) Compare the carrying amounts in the balance sheet with the tax base. Any differences will
normally affect the deferred taxation calculation.

(3) Identify the temporary differences that have not been recognized due to exceptions in IAS
12.

(4) Apply the tax rates to the temporary differences.

(5) Determine the movement between opening and closing deferred tax balances.

(6) Decide whether the offset of deferred tax assets and liabilities between different companies
is acceptable in the consolidated financial statements.

(7) Recognize the net change in deferred taxation

Case Study 3

Facts

An entity has revalued its property and has recognized the increase in the revaluation in its financial
statements. The carrying value of the property was $8 million and the revalued amount was $10 million.
Tax base of the property was $6 million. In this country, the tax rate applicable to profits is 35% and the
tax rate applicable to profits made on the sale of property is 30%. If the revaluation took place at the
entity’s year end of December 31, 20X4, calculate the deferred tax liability on the property as of that
date.
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Solution

$1.2 million. The carrying value after revaluation is $10 million, the tax base is $6 million, and the rate
of tax applicable to the sale of property is 30%; therefore, the answer is $10 million minus $6 million
multiplied by 30%, or $1.2 million.

Case Study 4

Facts

An entity has spent $600,000 in developing a new product. These costs meet the definition of an intangi-
ble asset under IAS 38 and have been recognized in the balance sheet. Local tax legislation allows these
costs to be deducted for tax purposes when they are incurred. Therefore, they have been recognized as an
expense for tax purposes. At the year-end the intangible asset is deemed to be impaired by $50,000.

Required
Calculate the tax base of the intangible asset at the accounting year-end.
Solution

Zero, because the tax authority has already allowed the intangible asset costs to be deducted for tax
purposes.

5. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5.1 Temporary differences can also arise from adjustments on consolidation.

5.2 The tax base of an item is often determined by the value in the entity accounts, that is, for
example, the subsidiary’s accounts.

5.3 Deferred tax is determined on the basis of the consolidated financial statements and not the
individual entity accounts.

5.4 Therefore, the carrying value of an item in the consolidated accounts can be different from
the carrying value in the individual entity accounts, thus giving rise to a temporary difference.

5.5 An example is the consolidation adjustment that is required to eliminate unrealized profits
and losses on intergroup transfer of inventory. Such an adjustment will give rise to a temporary
difference, which will reverse when the inventory is sold outside the group.

5.6 IAS 12 does not specifically address how intragroup profits and losses should be measured
for tax purposes. It says that the expected manner of recovery or settlement of tax should be taken
into account.

Case Study 5

Facts

A subsidiary sold goods costing $10 million to its parent for $11 million, and all of these goods are still
held in inventory at the year-end. Assume a tax rate of 30%.

Required
Explain the deferred tax implications.
Solution

The unrealized profit of $1 million will have to be eliminated from the consolidated income statement
and from the consolidated balance sheet in group inventory. The sale of the inventory is a taxable event,
and it causes a change in the tax base of the inventory. The carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the inventory will be $10 million, but the tax base is $11 million. This gives rise to a
deferred tax asset of $1 million at the tax rate of 30%, which is $300,000 (assuming that both the parent
and subsidiary are resident in the same tax jurisdiction).

A

A
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Case Study 6

Facts

An entity has acquired a subsidiary on January 1, 20X4. Goodwill of $2 million has arisen on the
purchase of this subsidiary. The subsidiary has deductible temporary differences of $1 million and it is
probable that future taxable profits are going to be available for the offset of this deductible temporary
difference. The tax rate during 20X4 is 30%. The deductible temporary difference has not been taken
into account in calculating goodwill.

Required
What is the figure for goodwill that should be recognized in the consolidated balance sheet of the parent?
Solution

$1.7 million. A deferred tax asset of $1 million x 30%, or $300,000, should be recognized because it is
stated that future taxable profits will be available for offset. Thus at the time of acquisition there is an
additional deferred tax asset that has not as yet been taken into account. The result of this will be to
reduce goodwill from $2 million to $1.7 million.

6. TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES NOT RECOGNIZED FOR DEFERRED TAX

6.1 There are some temporary differences that are not recognized for deferred tax purposes.
These arise

(a) From goodwill
(b) From the initial recognition of certain assets and liabilities
(c) From investments when certain conditions apply

6.2 The IAS does not allow a deferred tax liability for goodwill on initial recognition or where
any reduction in the value of goodwill is not allowed for tax purposes. Because goodwill is the re-
sidual amount after recognizing assets and liabilities at fair value, recognizing a deferred tax liabil-
ity in respect of goodwill would simply increase the value of goodwill; therefore, the recognition of
a deferred tax liability in this regard is not allowed. Deferred tax liabilities for goodwill could be
recognized to the extent that they do not arise from initial recognition.

Case Study 7

Facts

An entity has acquired a subsidiary, and goodwill arising on the transaction amounts to $20 million.
Goodwill is not allowable for tax purposes in the entity’s jurisdiction. Tax rate for the entity is 30% and
the subsidiary is 60% owned.

Required

Calculate the deferred tax liability relating to goodwill and explain whether a taxable temporary dif-
ference would arise if goodwill was allowable for tax purposes on an amortized basis.

Solution

Zero. A deferred tax liability should not be recognized for any taxable temporary difference which arises
on the initial recognition of goodwill. Where goodwill is deductible for tax purposes on an amortized
basis, a taxable temporary difference will arise in future years being the difference between the carrying
value in the entity’s accounts and the tax base.

6.3 The second temporary difference not recognized is on the initial recognition of certain assets
and liabilities which are not fully deductible or liable for tax purposes. For example, if the cost of
an asset is not deductible for tax purposes then this has a tax base of nil.

6.4 Generally speaking this gives rise to a taxable temporary difference. However, the Standard
does not allow an entity to recognize any deferred tax that occurs as a result of this initial recogni-
tion. Thus no deferred tax liability or asset is recognized where the carrying value of the item on
initial recognition differs from its initial tax base. An example of this is a nontaxable government
grant that is related to the acquisition of an asset. Note, however, that if the initial recognition oc-
curs on a business combination, or an accounting or taxable profit or loss arises, then deferred tax
should be recognized.
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Case Study 8

Facts

An entity purchases plant and equipment for $2 million. In the tax jurisdiction, there are no tax al-
lowances available for the depreciation of this asset; neither are any profits or losses on disposal taken
into account for taxation purposes. The entity depreciates the asset at 25% per annum. Taxation is 30%.

Required

Explain the deferred tax position of the plant and equipment on initial recognition and at the first year-
end after initial recognition.

Solution

The asset would have a tax base of zero on initial recognition, and this would normally give rise to a
deferred tax liability of $2 million @ 30%, or $600,000.This would mean that an immediate tax expense
has arisen before the asset was used. IAS 12 prohibits the recognition of this expense. This could be
classified as a permanent difference.

At the date of the first accounts, the asset would have been depreciated by, say, 25% of $2 million, or
$500,000. As the tax base is zero, this would normally cause a deferred tax liability of $1.5 @ 30%, or
$450,000. However, this liability has arisen from the initial recognition of the asset and therefore is not
provided for.

6.5 A further temporary difference not recognized relates to investments in subsidiaries, associ-
ates, and joint ventures. Normally deferred tax assets and liabilities should be recognized on these
investments. Such temporary differences often will be as a result of the undistributed profits of
such entities. However, where the parent or the investor can control the timing of the reversal of a
taxable temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future, then a deferred tax liability should not be recognized. This would be the case
where the parent is able to control when and if the retained profits of the subsidiary are to be dis-
tributed.

6.6  Similarly, a deferred tax asset should not be recognized if the temporary difference is ex-
pected to continue into the foreseeable future and there are no taxable profits available against
which the temporary difference can be offset.

6.7 In the case of a joint venture or an associate, normally a deferred tax liability would be rec-
ognized, because normally the investor cannot control the dividend policy. However, if there is an
agreement between the parties that the profits will not be distributed, then a deferred tax liability
would not be provided for.

7. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

7.1 Deductible temporary differences give rise to deferred tax assets. Examples of this are tax
losses carried forward or temporary differences arising on provisions that are not allowable for
taxation until the future.

7.2 These deferred tax assets can be recognized if it is probable that the asset will be realized.

7.3 Realization of the asset will depend on whether there are sufficient taxable profits available in
the future.

7.4 Sufficient taxable profits can arise from three different sources:

(1) They can arise from existing taxable temporary differences. In principle, these differences
should reverse in the same accounting period as the reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in the period in which a tax loss is expected to be used.

(2) If there are insufficient taxable temporary differences, the entity may recognize the
deferred tax asset where it feels that there will be future taxable profits, other than those
arising from taxable temporary differences. These profits should relate to the same taxable
authority and entity.

(3) The entity may be able to prove that it can create tax planning opportunities whereby the
deductible temporary differences can be utilized.
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Wherever tax planning opportunities are considered, management must have the capability and
ability to implement them.

7.5 Similarly, an entity can recognize a deferred tax asset arising from unused tax losses or cred-
its when it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which these can be offset.
However, the existence of current tax losses is probably evidence that future taxable profit will not
be available.

7.6 The evidence to suggest that future taxable profits are available must be relevant and reliable.
For example, the existence of signed sales contracts and a good profit history may provide such
evidence. The period for which these tax losses can be carried forward under the tax regulations
must be taken into account also.

Practical Insight

Isotis SA, a Swiss entity, disclosed in its financial statements to December 31, 2002, that it has
available tax losses of €92 million. Of that amount, €49 million relates to Dutch companies
and €43 million to Swiss companies. The Dutch losses can be carried forward indefinitely, but
the Swiss losses are available for only seven years. The entity feels that it is unlikely to utilize
all the losses and, therefore, does not recognize a deferred tax asset.

7.7 Where an entity has not been able to recognize a deferred tax asset because of insufficient
evidence concerning future taxable profit, it should review the situation at each subsequent balance
sheet date to see whether some or all of the unrecognized asset can be recognized.

8. TAX RATES

8.1 The tax rates that should be used to calculate deferred tax are the ones that are expected to
apply in the period when the asset is realized or the liability settled. The best estimate of this tax
rate is the rate that has been enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date.

8.2 The tax rate that should be used should be that which was applicable to the particular tax that
has been levied. For example, if tax is going to be levied on a gain on a particular asset, then the
rate of tax relating to those types of gain should be used in order to calculate the deferred taxation
amount.

9. DISCOUNTING

9.1 Deferred tax assets and liabilities should not be discounted. The reason for this is generally
because it is difficult to accurately predict the timing of the reversal of each temporary difference.

Case Study 9

Facts

An entity operates in a jurisdiction where the tax rate is 30% for retained profits and 40% for distributed
profits. Management has declared a dividend of $10 million, which is payable after the year-end. A
liability has not been recognized in the financial statements at the year-end. The taxable profit before tax
of the entity was $100 million.

Required
Calculate the current income tax expense for the entity for the current year.
Solution

$30 million (30% of $100 million). The tax rate that should be applied should be that relating to retained
profits.

10. CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAX RECOGNITION

10.1 Current and deferred tax should both be recognized as income or expense and included in
the net profit or loss for the period.

10.2 However, to the extent that the tax arises from a transaction or event that is recognized di-
rectly in equity, then the tax that relates to these items that are credited or charged to equity should
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also be charged or credited directly to equity. For example, a change in the carrying amount of
property due to a revaluation may lead to tax consequences which will be credited or charged to
equity.

10.3 Any tax arising from a business combination should be recognized as an identifiable asset or
liability at the date of acquisition.

10.4 Current tax assets and current tax liabilities should be offset in the balance sheet only if the
enterprise has the legal right and the intention to settle these on a net basis and they are levied by
the same taxation authority.

10.5 The tax expense relating to profit or loss for the period should be presented on the face of
the income statement, and the principal elements of the expense should also be disclosed.

Practical Insight

Rockwood International A/S, a Danish entity, discloses that in its financial statements to De-
cember 31, 2001, within deferred tax assets, a setoff of 63 million Danish krona has taken
place; within deferred tax liabilities, a setoff of 37 million Danish krona has occurred. There
are certain conditions set out in IAS 12 as to the situations where setoffs of deferred tax assets
and liabilities can occur.

11. DIVIDENDS

11.0.1 There are certain tax consequences of dividends. In some countries, income taxes are pay-
able at different rates if part of the net profit is paid out as dividend.

11.0.2 IAS 12 requires disclosure of the potential tax consequences of the payment of dividends.
11.1 The Effect of Share Payment-Based Transactions

In some jurisdictions, tax relief is given on share-based payment transactions. A deductible
temporary difference may arise between the carrying amount which will be zero and its tax base
which will be the tax relief in future periods. A deferred tax asset may therefore be recognized.

Case Study 10

Facts

A parent has recognized in its own financial statements a dividend receivable of $500,000 from an
80%-owned subsidiary. The dividend is not taxable in the country in which the entity operates.

Required

Calculate the temporary difference arising from the recognition of the dividend receivable in the ac-
counts of the parent.

Solution

Zero. There is no temporary difference arising in respect of the dividend as the carrying amount of
$500,000 is the same as the tax base.

12. DISCLOSURE: KEY ELEMENTS

For disclosure, requirements to the standard are quite extensive. For example

(a) IAS 12 requires an explanation of the relationship between tax expense and accounting
profit.

(b) The basis on which the tax rate has been computed should be disclosed as well as an
explanation of any changes in the applicable tax rate.

(c) The aggregate current and deferred tax that relates to items that are recognized directly in
equity should be disclosed.

(d) The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with companies for which no
deferred tax liabilities have been recognized should be disclosed.

(e) The net deferred tax balances of the current and the previous period should be analyzed by
types of temporary difference and types of unused tax loss and unused tax credits.
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IAS 12 sets out many other disclosure requirements.

Case Study 11
Facts
Balance Sheet at January 1, 20X4
Local GAAP
$m
Property, plant, and equipment 7,000
Goodwill 3,000
Intangible assets 2,000
Financial assets 6.000
Total noncurrent assets 18.000
Trade and other receivables 7,000
Other receivables 1,600
Cash and cash equivalents 700
Total current assets 9.300
Total assets 27,300
Issued capital 6,000
Revaluation reserve 1,500
Retained earnings 6.130
Total equity 13.630
Interest-bearing loans 8,000
Trade and other payables 4,000
Employee benefits 1,000
Current tax liability 70
Deferred tax liability 600
Total liabilities 13,670
Total equity and liabilities 27,300

(a) Tax bases of the above assets and liabilities are the same as their carrying amounts except for

Tax base
$m
Property, plant, and equipment 1,400
Trade receivables 7,500
Interest-bearing loans 8,500
Financial assets 7,000

» The intangible assets are development costs that are allowed for tax purposes when the cost is
incurred. The costs were incurred in 20X2.

¢ Included in trade and other payables is an accrual for compensation to be paid to employees.
It is allowed for taxation when the payment is made and totals $200 million.

(b) During 20X3, a building was revalued. At January 1, 20X4, there was $1500 million remaining
in the revaluation reserve in respect of this building.

(c) The following adjustments to the financial statements will have to be made to comply with
IFRS 1, First-Time Adoption of IFRS, on January 1, 20X4:

¢ Intangible assets of $400 million do not qualify for recognition under IFRS 1.

» The financial assets are all classified as at fair value through profit or loss and their fair value
is $6,500 million, which is to be included in the IFRS accounts.

* A pension liability of $50 million is to be recognized under IFRS 1 that was not recognized
under local generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The tax base of the liability is
Zero.

(d) The entity is likely to be very profitable in the future.
Required

Calculate the deferred tax provision at January 1, 20X4, showing the amount of the adjustment required
to the deferred tax provision and any amounts to be charged to revaluation reserve. (Assume a tax rate of
30%.)
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Solution
Local Temporary
GAAP Adjustment Tax base differences
Sm_ $m $m $m
Property, plant, and equipment 7,000 1,400 5,600
Goodwill 3,000 NR -
Intangible assets 2,000 (400) 0 1,600
Financial assets 6.000 500 7.000 (500)
Total noncurrent assets 18.000 100 8.400
Trade and other receivables 7,000 7,500 (500)
Other receivables 1,600 1,600 -
Cash and cash equivalents 700 700 -
Total current assets 9.300 _ 9.800 -
Total assets 27,300 100 18,200 6,200
Interest-bearing loans 8,000 8,500 500
Trade and other payables 4,000 3,800 (200)
Employee benefits 1,000 50 1,000 (50)
Current tax liability 70 70 -
Deferred tax liability 600 _ 600 -
Total liabilities 13.670 _50 13.970 250
Issued capital 6,000 -
Revaluation reserve 1,500 (50)
Retained earnings 6,130 (400)
_ 500 L
Total equity 13,630 _50 6,450
Case Study 12
Facts

East is a private entity, and it has recently acquired two 100% owned subsidiaries, West and North. West
and North are themselves private entities. East has a business plan whereby in a few years it is going to
acquire a stock exchange listing for its shares and capital. East acquired West on July 1, 20X3. When
East acquired West, it had unused tax losses. On July 1, 20X3, it seemed that West would have sufficient
taxable profit in the future to realize the deferred tax asset created by these losses. However, subsequent
events have shown that the future taxable profit will not be sufficient to realize all of the unused tax
losses.

West has made a general impairment charge of $4 million against its total accounts receivable. West gets
tax relief on impairment of specific accounts receivable. Because of the current economic situation, West
feels that impairment charges will increase in the future.

West has investments that are valued at fair value in the balance sheet and any gain or loss is taken to the
income statement. The gains and losses become taxable when the investments are sold.

East acquired North on July 1, 20X3, for $10 million, when the fair value of the net assets was $8
million. The tax base of the net assets acquired was $7 million. Any impairment loss on goodwill is not
allowed as a deduction in determining taxable profit.

During the current year, North has sold goods to East of $10 million. North has made a profit of 20% on
the selling price on the transaction. East has $5 million worth of these goods recorded in its balance
sheet at the current year-end.

The directors of East have decided that during the period up to the date they intend to list the shares of
the entity, they will realize the earnings of the subsidiary, North, through dividend payments. Tax is
payable on any remittance of dividends to the holding entity. In the current year no dividends have been
declared or paid.

Taxation is payable for listed entities at 40% and for private entities at 35% in the jurisdiction.
Required

Prepare a memorandum that sets out the deferred tax implications of the above information for the East
Group.
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Solution

The creation of a group through the purchase of subsidiaries during the period has a major impact on the
deferred taxation charge. Deferred taxation is looked at from the point of view of the group as a whole.
Individual companies may not have sufficient future taxable profits to offset any unused tax losses, but
in the group situation, a deferred tax asset may be recognized if there are sufficient taxable profits within
the group.

Differences arise between the fair values of the net assets being recognized and their tax bases. In the
case of the acquisition of North, deferred taxation will be calculated on the basis of the difference
between the fair value of the net assets of $8 million and the tax base of $7 million, giving taxable
temporary differences of $1 million.

No provision is required for deferred taxation regarding the temporary difference arising on the rec-
ognition of non-tax-deductible goodwill of $2 million, but goodwill will increase by the deferred tax
arising on the acquisition of North.

East is hoping to achieve a stock exchange listing of its shares in the near future. This may affect the tax
rate used to calculate deferred tax. The current tax rate for private companies is 35%; for public
companies, it is 40%. Therefore, a decision will have to be made as to whether the temporary differences
are going to reverse at the higher tax rate; if so, deferred tax will be provided for at this rate.

In the case of West, the entity has investments that are stated at fair value in the balance sheet. The gains
and losses are taxed when the investments are sold; therefore, a temporary difference will arise as the tax
treatment is different from the accounting treatment. The tax base is not adjusted for any surplus on the
investments. Therefore, the difference between the carrying amount of the investments and the tax base
will give rise to a deferred tax liability. The resultant deferred tax expense will be charged against the
income statement, not equity, as the surplus on the investments has already gone to the income
statement.

In the case of the impairment of trade receivables, because the tax relief is available only on the specific
impairment of an account, a deductible temporary difference arises that represents the difference
between the carrying amount of the trade receivables and their tax base, which in this case will be zero.
It appears that the impairment loss is likely to increase in the future. Therefore, it is unlikely that the
temporary difference will actually reverse soon. It does not affect the fact that a provision for deferred
tax ought to be made. A deferred tax asset will arise at the value of the difference between the tax base
and carrying value of the trade receivables at the tax rate applicable for the East Group of companies.
This is subject to the general rule in IAS 12 that there will be sufficient taxable profits available in the
future against which this deductible temporary difference can be offset.

East has unused tax losses brought forward. These can create a deferred taxed asset. However, deferred
tax assets should be recognized only to the extent that they can be recovered in the future. Thus the
deferred tax assets must be capable of being realized. If a deferred tax asset can be realized, then it can
be recognized for that amount. Generally speaking, the future realization of the deferred tax asset is
dependent on the existence of sufficient taxable profit of the appropriate type being available in the
future. The appropriate type would normally be taxable operating profit or taxable gain. In general,
suitable taxable profits will be created only in the same taxable entity and will be assessed by the same
taxation authority as the income. It is possible that tax planning opportunities may be available to the
group in order that these unrelieved tax losses may be utilized. Tax planning opportunities should be
considered only in determining the extent to which a deferred tax asset will be realized. They should
never be used to reduce a deferred tax liability. Any asset recognized as a result of implementing a tax
planning strategy should be reduced by the costs of implementing it. In this case, any deferred tax asset
arising should be recognized together with the corresponding adjustment to goodwill.

Intergroup profits are eliminated on consolidation. Therefore, $1 million should be taken from the value
of inventory in the group balance sheet at year-end. However, because an equivalent adjustment has not
been made for tax purposes, a temporary difference will arise between the carrying amount of the
inventory in the group accounts and its value in East’s balance sheet. The tax base of the inventory will
be $5 million and the carrying value will be $4 million, giving rise to a temporary difference of $1
million.

Temporary differences can arise between the carrying amount of the parent’s investment in a subsidiary
and its tax base. Often this difference is caused by the undistributed earnings in the subsidiary. This
temporary difference can be different from the one that arises in the separate financial statements of the
parent, where the parent carries its investment at cost less impairment or at a revalued amount. IAS 12
requires recognition of all taxable temporary differences associated with the parent’s investments in its
subsidiaries, except when the parent can actually control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
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difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the near future. The
provision is required if the parent entity cannot control the timing of the remittance of undistributed
profits or it is probable a remittance will take place in the near future.

The parent, East, appears to be recovering the carrying value of its investment in North through the
payment of dividends. The method of recovering the value of the investment in the subsidiary is ob-
viously under control of the parent entity. Because the payment of dividends is under the control of East,
IAS 12 would not require the recognition of a deferred tax liability in respect of the undistributed profits
of North.

13. SICs

13.1  SIC 21, Income Taxes—Recovery of Revalued Nondepreciable Assets, deals with the situation
where a nondepreciable asset (land) is carried at revaluation. The carrying amount of such an asset is
considered not to be recovered through usage. Therefore, SIC 21 says that the deferred tax liability or as-
set arising from revaluation is measured based on the tax consequences of the sale of the asset rather
than through use. This may result in the use of tax rate which relates to capital profits rather than the rate
applicable to earnings.

13.2  SIC 25, Income Taxes—Changes in the Tax Status of an Entity or Its Shareholders, states that a
change in tax status does not give rise to increases or decreases in the pretax amounts recognized directly
inequity. Therefore, SIC 25 concludes that the current and deferred tax consequences of the change in
tax status should be included in net profit or loss for the period. If a transaction or event does result in a
direct credit or charge to equity, for example on the revaluation of PPE under IAS 16, the tax conse-
quence would still be recognized in equity.
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. A subsidiary has sold goods costing $1.2 million
to its parent for $1.4 million. All of the inventory is
held by the parent at year-end. The subsidiary is 80%
owned, and the parent and subsidiary operate in
different tax jurisdictions. The parent pays taxation at
30%, and the subsidiary pays taxation at 30%.
Calculate any deferred tax asset that arises on the sale
of the inventory from the subsidiary entity to the
parent.

(a) $ 60,000

(b) $200,000

(c) $ 48,000

(d) $ 80,000

Answer: (a)

2. An entity issued a convertible bond on January 1,
20X4, that matures in five years. The bond can be
converted into ordinary shares at any time. The entity
has calculated that the liability and equity components
of the bond are $3 million for the liability component
and $1 million for the equity component, giving a
total amount of the bond of $4 million. The interest
rate on the bond is 6%, and local tax legislation
allows a tax deduction for the interest paid in cash.
Calculate the deferred tax liability arising on the bond
as at the year ending December 31, 20X4. The local
tax rate is 30%.

(a) $1.2 million.

(b) $900,000

(c) $300,000

(d) $4 million.

Answer: (¢) ($4m - $3m) x 30%

3. An entity is undertaking a reorganization. Under
the plan, part of the entity’s business will be
demerged and will be transferred to a separate entity,
Entity Z. This also will involve a transfer of part of
the pension obligation to Entity Z. Because of this,
Entity Z will have a deductible temporary difference
at its year-end of December 31, 20X4. It is anticipated
that Entity Z will be loss-making for the first four
years of its existence, but thereafter it will become a
profitable entity. The future forecasted profit is based
on estimates of sales to intergroup companies. Should
Entity Z recognize the deductible temporary differ-
ence as a deferred tax asset?

(a) The entity should recognize a deferred tax
asset.

(b) Management should not recognize a de-
ferred tax asset as future profitability is not
certain.

(c) The entity should recognize a deferred tax
asset if the authenticity of the budgeted
profits can be verified.

(d) The entity should recognize a deferred tax
asset if the intergroup profit in the budgeted
profit is eliminated.

Answer: (b)
4. An entity has revalued its property and has
recognized the increase in the revaluation reserve in

its financial statements. The carrying value of the
property was $8 million, and the revalued amount was
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$10 million. Tax base of the property was $6 million.
In the country, the tax rate applicable to profits is
35% and the tax rate applicable to profits made on the
sale of property is 30%. Where will the tax liability be
recognized and at what amount?

(a) In the income statement at $600,000.

(b) In equity at $1.2 million.

(c) In statement of recognized income and ex-

pense at $1.4 million.
(d) Inretained earnings at $700,000.

Answer: (b)

5. The current liabilities of an entity include fines
and penalties for environmental damage. The fines
and penalties are stated at $10 million. The fines and
penalties are not deductible for tax purposes. What is
the tax base of the fines and penalties?

(a) $10 million.

(b) $3 million.

(¢) $13 million.

(d) Zero.

Answer: (a)
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10 SEGMENT REPORTING (IAS 14)

1. BACKGROUND AND INTRODUCTION

Segment information highlights the entity’s risks and returns by showing the financial position and
performance by each segment. Many entities operate in different geographical regions, and seg-
ment information can be used to understand the risks associated with these operations. Entities
listed on a stock exchange and those entities that are in the process of listing must make segment
disclosure. Unlisted entities may disclose segment information; this information must be in full
compliance with the International Accounting Standard. Entities should provide segment informa-
tion about both business and geographical segments.

2. DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS

Business segment. A distinguishable component of the entity that provides products or ser-
vices that are subject to different risks and returns from those of other business segments.
Factors that the entity has to take into account when determining the business segments are

* The nature of the products or services

* The nature of the production processes

* The types or class of customer for the products or services

* The methods used to describe the products or provide the services
* If applicable, the nature of the regulatory environment

Geographical segment. A distinguishable component of an entity that provides products or
services within a particular economic environment. Segments will be subject to risks and re-
turns that are different from those operating in other economic environments. The segment
can be defined in terms of the entity’s geographical location of operations or by the locations
of its customer or market. The Standard identifies certain factors that should be considered
when identifying geographical segments. These are

* Similarity of economic and political conditions

» Relation between operations in different geographical areas
* Proximity of operations

* Special risks associated with operations in a particular area
* Any exchange control regulations

* Underlying currency risks

Practical Insight

Nestlé (2002) discloses that its primary reporting format reflects its management structure and
the secondary format relates to its products. Except for pharmaceutical products and water,
which are managed on a worldwide basis, the business products are managed through three
geographic zones.

3. IDENTIFYING BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

3.1 The segments used for external reporting purposes normally are determined by the entity’s in-
ternal organizational and management structure and also by its internal financial reporting system.
The identification of geographical segments is very judgmental. A geographical segment could be a
single country, an economic grouping of countries, or a region of the world.
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3.2 There is a general presumption in the Standard that the source of an entity’s risk and returns
can be identified by the way it reports internally to its senior management. The idea is that the re-
porting of the segment information should be seen through the eyes of management, and users will
wish to see the business as the chief executive or decision maker sees it.

3.3 The format of the segmental information will depend on the main source and nature of the en-
tity’s risks and returns. If its risks and returns are determined predominantly by products and ser-
vices, then the primary format for reporting segment information will be business segments. The
disclosure of geographical information will therefore be on a less detailed level.

3.4 However, if the nature of the risks and returns is determined primarily by the entity operating
in different countries or regions of the world, then the primary format will be based on geographi-
cal segments; the information on the group’s products and services will be at a less detailed level.

3.5 The organization and management structure of an entity and its system of internal reporting
may not be based on products or services or on geography. Its basis of reporting segments can be
either product based or geographic. This type of structure is often called a matrix structure. Seg-
ments cannot be based on a legal structure that combines unrelated products or services.

3.6 Business and geographical segments must meet the definitions within the Standard before
they can be adopted for external reporting purposes. If an entity’s internal reporting system does
not provide data suitable for external reporting, then the entity may need to look at a lower level of
internal reporting in order to identify appropriate segments.

3.7 Also, if the internal reporting system is based on many different business lines or units, it may
be useful to combine the information to make it more helpful. If different segments are combined,
they must have similar long-term financial performance and similar characteristics as defined in the
IAS. It may be that several internal reporting segments will not meet the criteria for disclosure; if
s0, it may be possible to combine these segments to meet the criteria.

3.8 IAS 14 does not require but encourages the separate reporting of vertically integrated activi-
ties.

Practical Insight

Agrana Beteiligungs-AG, an Austrian entity, states in its financial statements that its busi-
nesses are homogeneous, so segment reporting by class of business is unnecessary. The entity
publishes a geographical breakdown. It disaggregates its segmental information across differ-
ent regions, several of which fall below the 10% threshold.

4. REPORTABLE SEGMENTS

4.1 A reportable segment is one in which revenue is derived from external customers and one of
three other criteria is met:

* Internal and external sales revenue is 10% or more of the total revenue of all segments.

* The segment result is 10% or more of the combined result of all segments in profit or loss,
whichever is the greater absolute amount.

* Its assets are 10% or more of the total assets of all the segments.

4.2 If a segment’s revenue is mainly from internal sources, it will not be classed as a reportable
segment. A segment can be reported even though it might not meet these threshold tests because
the performance of each segment is based on factors that are significantly different from other fac-
tors of business within the entity.

4.3 Additional segments should be disclosed if the total external revenue attributed to the report-
ing segments constitutes less than 75% of the total consolidated or corporate revenue. This disclo-
sure is necessary even if these additional segments do not meet any of the 10% threshold criteria.
Segments are deemed reportable until this threshold is reached.

4.4 Any segments that are not separately reported or combined should be included within the seg-
mental reporting information and reported as unallocated reconciliation items. If a segment meets
the 10% criteria in the preceding period but not in the current period, then it should be reported
separately if the management of the entity judges that the segment is of continuing importance.
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Case Study 1

Rossendale, a public limited company, has two business segments that are reported separately in its fi-
nancial statements. The segments are “machinery” and “investment and insurance.” In its management
accounts, the company reports four different divisional results. The four divisions are machinery leasing,
machinery sales, investments, and insurance. The results of the segments and the divisions follow:

Segment information at May 31, 20X4: Rossendale

Segment
Revenue results Segment Segment
External  Internal  (profit/loss) assets liabilities
$m $m 3m 3m Sm
Machinery:
Leasing $180 $20 $32 $194 $50
Sales 110 15 “@) 24 22
Financial statements disclosure amount 290 35 28 218 72
Investment and insurance:
Investment 120 130 80 192 65
Insurance _60 _8 53) 116 95
Financial statements disclosure amount 180 138 27 308 160
Total 470 173 55 526 232

How would Rossendale report its segment information under IAS 14 as of its year-end of May 31,
20X47?

Answer

The reporting of the business segments in the financial statements should change. Currently the financial
statements show two business segments, one based on machinery and one based on investment and in-
surance. The management accounts are analyzed into four different areas: leasing, sales, investment, and
insurance. Management’s decisions will presumably be based on the financial information in the man-
agement accounts. Therefore, for reporting purposes, the management of Rossendale should look to a
lower level of management information than the one currently disclosed. Thus four business segments
should be disclosed. The main reason for this is that the different areas may not necessarily be subject to
the same risks and uncertainties. Machinery leasing and sales will have different risks attached to them,
and investment and insurance will also have different risks. Also, investment and insurance are likely to
be regulated by different laws within the jurisdiction.

IAS 14 states that a segment is reportable if most of its income is earned from sales to external custom-
ers and

(a) Its revenue from sales for external customers and to other customers is 10% or more of the total
revenue; or

(b) The segment result in profit or loss is 10% or more of the combined result of the segments in
terms of total profit or total loss of the individual segments; or

(c) Its assets are 10% or more of the total assets of all segments.

In this instance, the investment segment does not earn most of its revenue from sales to external custom-
ers. Its internal sales are $130 million and its external sales are $120 million. However, the investment
segment does pass all of the other 10% threshold tests. Its total revenue is greater than 10% of the total
revenue of the group, its segment results are greater than 10% of the combined result of all segments,
and its segment assets are greater than 10% of the total segment assets of the group. However, if this
segment is not reported, then the total external revenue attributable to reportable segments falls below
the 75% level set by IAS 14 for the reporting of consolidated revenue by segment. The total revenue
earned from external customers is $470 million. Of this, the investment segment contributes $120 mil-
lion. Without the investment segment, total revenue reported would be 74.4% of the total revenue from
sales to external customers. Thus, an additional segment must be disclosed—this will be the investment
segment.

It is possible that a lower level of reporting within the entity might identify another business segment.
For example, within the investment segment, there may be another segment that can be identified that
may then push the external revenue reported above the 75% threshold. Machinery sales passes the exter-
nal revenue test but fails the 10% threshold test regarding segment results and segment assets.

The total loss in the segments is $4 million plus $53 million, or $57 million. Total profit of the segments
is $32 million plus $80 million, or $112 million. The sales division losses are $4 million, which is less
than 10% of either of those amounts. Similarly with segment assets, the total segment assets are $526
million and the machinery sales assets are $24 million, thus falling below the 10% threshold level. Thus
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on two accounts Rossendale fails the tests in IAS 14. However, an entity can disclose a business segment
separately even though it does not meet the threshold criteria as long as the information is reported inter-
nally and the segment is a distinguishable component of the entity providing goods and services that are
subject to different risks and rewards. Thus the machinery sales division could be reported separately
even though it is relatively small and fails the threshold tests. All of the other segments pass the 10%
threshold tests.

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

5.1 Segment accounting policies must be the same as the policies used in the consolidated finan-
cial statements. Any changes in segment accounting policies must be disclosed. The total assets
appearing in the balance sheet should be split among the segments. For assets that are jointly used
by segments, the value should be allocated on an appropriate basis between the segments. Any
revenue and expense that relates to those assets should also follow the asset to that segment.

5.2 An entity should disclose its segment result, which is the difference between segment revenue
and segment expense before any adjustment for minority interest. Segment revenue is that which
can be directly attributable to the segment and any group revenue that can be allocated on a reason-
able basis. It does not include interest or dividend income, gains on sales of investments, or gains
on the settlement of debt unless the primary operations are those of a financial nature.

5.3 Profits or losses arising on an investment that is accounted for using the equity method should
be allocated to segments and shown separately from segment revenues. Treatment of segment ex-
pense is very similar to that of segment revenue. It would include costs incurred at the parent level
on behalf of a segment and that can be directly allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.
Segment expense does not include general administrative expenses and other expenses that arise at
the parent level and relate to the enterprise as a whole unless these can be directly attributable to a
segment.

5.4 The total carrying amount of the segment assets should also be disclosed. Segment assets in-
clude operating current assets; property, plant, and equipment; and intangibles. They include
goodwill that can be directly attributable to the segment.

5.5 If the entity’s share of the results of associates is included in the segment result, then the
carrying value of those investments is also included in segment assets.

5.6 Normally segment assets do not include loans and investments unless the segment operations
are of a financial nature. Similarly, the segment assets do not include tax assets and assets that are
used for the parent’s purposes. They will include a venturer’s share of the assets that have been
accounted for using proportionate consolidation.

5.7 Segment liabilities should be shown separately from segment assets and should include all
operating liabilities but do not include borrowings and lease liabilities unless the operations are of a
financial nature. Tax liabilities and other liabilities, such as dividends payable, also are not in-
cluded. Segment liabilities include a venturer’s share of liabilities accounted for using proportion-
ate consolidation.

Practical Insight

Danfoss A/S (2002) publishes a table of segmental information that includes revenue, result,
assets, income from associates and joint ventures, and investment in associates and joint ven-
tures. The information follows:

Business Segments

Net sales—internal

Net sales—external

Operating profit

Other Information

Income from associates and joint ventures
Investment in associates and joint ventures
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Intangible assets

Property, plant, and equipment
Noninterest-bearing debt

Net investments

Net investment in goodwill
Depreciation/impairment
Number of employees

5.8 All the assets included in the consolidated balance sheet should be allocated between seg-
ments. Any assets that are jointly used should be allocated if, and only if, the income and expendi-
ture are also allocated to those segments.

5.9 Segment revenue, expense, assets, and liabilities are calculated before intergroup balances
and intergroup transactions are eliminated. These eliminations should be shown as a separate col-
umn within the segmental reporting format or separately within the segmental information.

Case Study 2

Facts

These consolidated financial statements relate to the JYCE group for the year ended September 30,
20X4:

JYCE Group balance sheet at September 30, 20X4

20X4
_3m

Assets:

Noncurrent assets

Property, plant, and equipment 500

Goodwill 100

Investment in associate _70

670

Current assets 130

800

Equity and Liabilities:

Equity attributable to equity holders of parent
Share capital 200
Retained earnings 400

600

Minority interest _50

Total equity 650

Noncurrent liabilities 60

Current liabilities _90

Total equity and liabilities 800

JYCE Group income statement for the year ended September 30, 20X4
20X4
Sm
Revenue 1800
Cost of sales (1200)
Gross profit 600
Other income 60
Distribution costs (200)
Administrative expenses (100)
Other expenses (50)
Finance costs (60)
Share of profit of associates 10
Profit before tax 260
Income tax expense _(70)
Profit for the period _190
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 176
Minority interest _ 14
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This information is relevant to the production of the segmental information:

(a) The entity is organized for management purposes into three major operating divisions: office
furniture, office stationery, and computer products. There are other smaller operating divisions.
(b) The sales revenue for the major operating divisions is set out next.

Intersegment sales
eliminated on

Revenue consolidation
Sm Sm
Office furniture 800 200
Office stationery 500 150
Computer products 400 80

There are no intersegment sales to the smaller operating divisions.

(c) The profit after taking into account the other income, distribution costs, and administrative ex-
penses can be allocated in this way:

Percentage of profit

Office furniture 50%
Office stationery 25%
Computer products 20%
Other divisions 5%

100%

(d) The “other” expenses, finance costs, and income tax expense cannot be allocated to the seg-
ments on any reasonable basis.

(e) During the year, the office furniture division had purchased an investment in an associate. The
profit shown in the income statement is after the elimination of intersegment profit of $2 mil-

lion.
(f) The next table shows the breakdown of segment assets and liabilities that are allocated to seg-
ments.
Office Office Computer
furniture stationery products
$m $m $m
Property, plant, and equipment 300 100 80
Goodwill 60 30 10
Current assets 80 40 6
Noncurrent liabilities 30 21 4
Current liabilities 45 33 8

The remainder of the assets and liabilities relate to the other divisions except for an asset of $4 million

and a liability of $6 million that cannot be allocated.

Required

Produce a schedule that shows the information required for segment disclosures under IAS 14, Segment

Reporting.
Solution

Information about business segments: JYCE Group

Revenue:

External sales
Intersegment sales
Total revenue

Result:

Segment result
Unallocated expenses
Finance costs

Share of profit of associates

Income tax expense
Profit for the period

apcBourselir,

Office Office Computer Other
furniture  stationery  products divisions  Eliminations Consolidated
$m $m $m $m $m $m
800 500 400 100 1800
200 150 _80 = (430)
1000 650 480 100 430 1800
180 90 72 18 360
(50)
(60)
10 10
_(70)
190
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Other information:

Segment assets 440 170 96 20 726
Investment in associate 70 70
Unallocated asset _ 4
Consolidated total assets 800
Segment liabilities 75 54 12 3 144
Unallocated liabilities _ 6
Consolidated total liabilities 150
Working
Segment result $m
Gross profit 600
Other income 60
Distribution costs (200)
Administrative expenses (100)
Net profit 360
Allocated
Office furniture 180
Office stationery 90
Computer products 72
Other divisions 18
360
Office Office Computer
furniture stationery products
Segment assets
Property, plant, and equipment 300 100 80
Goodwill 60 30 10
Current assets 80 40 _6
440 170 96
Segment liabilities
Noncurrent 30 21 4
Current 45 33 8
75 54 12

6. DISCLOSURE

6.1 Entities should also disclose the amount of capital expenditure incurred during the period to
acquire tangible and intangible segment assets. This disclosure should be on an accrual basis, not
on a cash basis. Depreciation and amortization for segmental assets and other noncash expenses,
such as impairment charges, should be disclosed. The entity should disclose the total of its share of
the net profit or losses of all investments that have been accounted for under the equity method if
all of those associates’ operations are within that single segment.

Practical Insight

Linde AG (2003) discloses that impairment losses have been recognized in the period and
breaks them down across its business segments of material handling, refrigeration, and gas
divisions. There is no segmental analysis for a €2 million impairment against financial assets.

6.2 Where an entity reports business segments as its primary reporting format, this geographical
information should also be disclosed as secondary format information:

(a) Segment revenue from external customers by geographical location for each segment
whose revenue from sales to external customers is 10% or more of the total corporate reve-
nue from sales to all external customers

(b) The total carrying amount of segment assets by geographical location of assets for each
segment whose assets are 10% or more or the total assets of all geographical segments

(c) Total expenditure incurred during the period to acquire segment assets by geographical
location for each segment whose assets are 10% or more of the total assets of all geo-
graphical assets
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6.3 If an entity provides segmental information on geographical segments as its primary reporting
format, then this information should be given as secondary format disclosures:

(a)
(b)

(©)

Segment revenue from external customers by business segment if such revenue is 10% or
more from total revenue from sales to all external customers

The total carrying value of segment assets and total capital expenditure if segment assets
are 10% or more of the total assets of all business segments. The basis of intersegment
pricing should be disclosed, and any intersegment transfers should be measured using the
entity’s actual basis for intersegment pricing. The IAS requires a reconciliation between
segment information disclosed for the primary segment format and the amount reported in
the published financial statements. This information is required only for external revenue,
the segments results, and segment assets and liabilities.

Segment revenue should be reconciled to, for example, consolidated external revenue, and
segment results to operating profit or loss and net profit or loss. Also, the entity’s assets
and liabilities should be reconciled to the segment assets and liabilities disclosed.
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. A group is organized into a number of business
divisions across the world. The group has two main
classes of business: insurance and banking. The Man-
agement Board receives information from each busi-
ness division on a quarterly basis and wishes to report
segmental information on the basis of these divisions.
What should be the basis of the group’s reporting of
the primary segmental information?

(a) The worldwide business divisions.

(b) The classes of business.

(c) The entity should make full disclosures on
the basis of the worldwide divisions and the
classes of business.

(d) It would depend on the different (or differ-
ing) risks and rewards but is likely to be the
different classes of business.

Answer: (d)

2. A chemical entity has no overseas sales. The
entity produces different products from the process.
The entity sells its product to small businesses, to
larger national businesses, and to multinational enti-
ties. The management of the entity proposed to dis-
close just one business segment. Can the entity dis-
close just one business segment because it sells all of
its products nationally?

(a) Yes, IAS 14 will allow the entity to disclose
a single business segment.

(b) No, the entity can identify three different
sets of customers and should, therefore dis-
close information on that basis.

(c) Yes, even though there are three different
groups of customers, they all present the
same risks to the entity.

(d) IAS 14 is silent on this matter.

Answer: (b)

3. An entity has created a new market research divi-
sion that will be financed internally. The entity has
two business segments: domestic electrical goods and
computer products. The segments will not receive any
apparent benefits from the new division. Will the new
division be disclosed under IAS 14 as a separate busi-
ness segment?

(a) The segment should not be separately re-
ported or combined with the corporate seg-
ments and should be disclosed as part of the
unallocated items.

(b) The new business division should be in-
cluded with the electrical segment.

(c) The new business division should be in-
cluded with the computer segment.

(d) The new business division should be sepa-
rately reported.

Answer: (a)

4. An entity is in the entertainment industry and
organizes outdoor concerts in four different areas of
the world: Europe, North America, Australasia, and
Japan. The entity reports to the board of directors on
the basis of each of the four regions. The management
accounts show the profitability for each of the four
regions, with allocations for that expenditure which is

apcBourselir,

o @abcBourselir

difficult to directly charge to a region. The concerts
are of two types: popular music and classical music.
What is the appropriate basis for segment reporting in
this entity?

(a) The segments should be reported by class of
business, that is, popular and classical mu-
sic.

(b) The segments should be reported by region,
so Australasia and Japan would be com-
bined.

(c) The segment information should be reported
as North America and the rest of the world.

(d) Segment information should be reported for
each of the four different regions.

Answer: (d)

5. An entity has split its business segments on the
basis of the law governing its different types of busi-
ness. Two business segments that the entity has iden-
tified are insurance and banking. Within the banking
group, several different services are provided: retail
banking, merchant banking, and small business advi-
sory service. The insurance entities sell travel insur-
ance, health insurance, and property insurance. The
entity operates throughout the world in several coun-
tries and continents. What basis should the entity re-
port its segmental information?
(a) On the basis of its business divisions.
(b) By geographical location.
(c) On the basis of the services it offers within
those divisions.
(d) The entity should just show one segment,
entitled banking and insurance.

Answer: (¢)

6. An entity is engaged in the manufacturing indus-
try and has recently purchased an 80% holding in a
small financial services group. This group does not
meet any of the threshold criteria for a reportable
segment. Can the entity disclose the financial services
group as a separate business segment?

(a) No, because it does not meet any of the IAS
criteria, it cannot be disclosed as a separate
segment.

(b) Yes, even though it does not meet the IAS
criteria, an entity can disclose business seg-
ments separately if they are a distinguishable
component.

(c) The entity can disclose only 80% of the re-
sults and net assets of the banking group.

(d) Because of the disparity in types of business,
the group should disclose its segmental in-
formation on a geographical basis.

Answer: (b)

7. An entity operates in the gas industry and has
four different productive processes within the pro-
duction cycle. It is essentially a vertically integrated
business. The entity proposes to disclose segmental
information regarding each of the four operations.
Can the entity disclose separately as business seg-
ments the four operations within the production cy-
cle?
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(a) No, it must show a single segment covering
all the various operations.

(b) IAS 14 says that it is compulsory to show
each different operation separately.

(c) IAS 14 encourages voluntary disclosure of
the segments, and it is considered to be good
practice.

(d) The entity should group together various op-
erations and show exploration, production,
and chemicals as one segment and retailing
as another segment.

Answer: (¢)

8. An entity manufactures suits, clothing, bed linen,
and various cotton and manmade fiber products. It has
several segments, which are reported internally as

Segment
Segments  Sales  Profit assets
Suits 40% 45% 50%
Shirts 30% 35% 33%
Bed linen 15% 10% 7%
Blinds 8% 6% 5%
Cloth 1% _4% 5%

100% 100% 100%

The table represents the percentages of sales, profit,
and segment assets that are attributable to the differ-
ent segments. The entity wants to present bed linen
and cloth as a single segment but is wondering
whether the information can be aggregated. How will
the segmental information be presented in the finan-
cial statements?

(a) Bed linen and cloth, suits, and shirts, will all
be shown as separate segments with blinds
in the other category.

(b) All of the segments should be presented
separately.

(c) Suits, shirts, and bed linen will be separate
segments with blinds and cloth shown as a
single segment.

(d) Suits and cloth will be one segment with
shirts, bed linen, and blinds shown as other
separate segments.

Answer: (a)
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1 1 PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT
(IAS 16)

1. BACKGROUND AND INTRODUCTION

This Standard prescribes rules regarding the recognition, measurement, and disclosures relating to
property, plant, and equipment (often referred to as fixed assets) that would enable users of finan-
cial statements to understand the extent of an entity’s investment in such assets and the movements
therein.

The principal issues involved relate to the recognition of items of property, plant, and equipment,
determining their costs, and assessing the depreciation and impairment losses that need to be rec-
ognized.

2. SCOPE

The requirements of IAS 16 are applied to accounting for all property, plant, and equipment unless
another Standard permits otherwise, except

* Property, plant, and equipment classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5
* Biological assets relating to agricultural activity under IAS 41
* Mineral rights, mineral reserves, and similar nonregenerative resources

3. DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS (in accordance with IAS 16)

Property, plant, and equipment. Tangible assets that are held for use in production or supply
of goods and services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and are expected to
be used during more than one period.

Cost. The amount paid or fair value of other consideration given to acquire or construct an
asset.

Useful life. The period over which an asset is expected to be utilized or the number of pro-
duction units expected to be obtained from the use of the asset.

Residual value (of an asset). The estimated amount, less estimated disposal costs, that could
be currently realized from the asset’s disposal if the asset were already of an age and condition
expected at the end of its useful life.

Depreciable amount. The cost of an asset less its residual value.

Depreciation. The systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its ex-
pected useful life.

Fair value. The amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable will-
ing parties in an arm’s-length transaction.

4. RECOGNITION OF AN ASSET
4.1 Ciriteria for Recognition

4.1.1 An item of property, plant, and equipment should be recognized as an asset if and only if it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the entity and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably.

4.1.2 Any expenditure incurred that meets these recognition criteria must be accounted for as an
asset. The Standard makes reference to individually insignificant items that can be aggregated.
However, very often, in practice, entities adopt an accounting policy to expense items that are be-
low a predetermined de minimis level in order to avoid undue cost in maintaining the relevant rec-
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ords, which includes tracking the whereabouts of the asset. The definition and recognition criteria
can also be applied to spare parts, although these are often carried as inventory and expensed as
and when utilized. However, major spare parts are usually recognized as property, plant, and
equipment.

4.1.3 For many years the issue of replacement of part of an asset (“subsequent costs”), often in-
volving significant expenditure, was a difficult matter to address; merely adding the cost of the re-
placement part to the cost of the original asset posed certain logical flaws vis-a-vis the preexisting,
and the replaced, part. This was particularly the case when the replaced part was not separately
identified in the overall cost of the original asset. This problem also existed for major inspection
costs, such as those for ships and aircraft, which were usually required to retain sea- or airworthi-
ness. The matter was further exacerbated by an additional recognition criterion that subsequent
costs should add to the utility or useful life of the asset; in some circumstances, this criterion re-
sulted in day-to-day repairs being capitalized. This issue was partly addressed by an interpretation
of the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) that permitted adding major overhaul or inspec-
tion costs to the original asset if an amount representing the major overhaul or inspection compo-
nent of the original cost of the asset was separately identified on initial recognition and was sepa-
rately depreciated, and thereby could be written out of the asset records.

4.1.4 The current Standard applies the two basic recognition criteria referred to above to all ex-
penditures (and dispenses with the increased utility or increased useful life criteria). If the two ba-
sic criteria are satisfied, then the cost should be recognized as an asset. If the cost of the replaced
asset was not separately identifiable, then the cost of the replacement can be used as an indication
of the cost of the replaced item, which should be removed from the asset record.

Case Study 1

This case study is concerned with subsequent costs.
Facts

Road Truckers Inc. has acquired a heavy road transporter at a cost of $100,000 (with no breakdown of
the component parts). The estimated useful life is 10 years. At the end of the sixth year, the power train
requires replacement, as further maintenance is uneconomical due to the off-road time required. The re-
mainder of the vehicle is perfectly roadworthy and is expected to last for the next four years. The cost of
a new power train is $45,000.

Required
Can the cost of the new power train be recognized as an asset, and, if so, what treatment should be used?
Solution

The new power train will produce economic benefits to Road Truckers Inc., and the cost is measurable.
Hence the item should be recognized as an asset. The original invoice for the transporter did not specify
the cost of the power train; however, the cost of the replacement—3$45,000—can be used as an indica-
tion (usually by discounting) of the likely cost, six years previously. If an appropriate discount rate is 5%
per annum, $45,000 discounted back six years amounts to $33,500 [$45,000 / (1.05)]°, which would be
written out of the asset records. The cost of the new power train, $45,000, would be added to the asset
record, resulting in a new asset cost of $111,500 ($100,000 — $33,500 + $45,000).

4.2 Measurement at Recognition

4.2.1 An item of property, plant, and equipment that satisfies the recognition criteria should be
recognized initially at its cost. The Standard specifies that cost comprises

* Purchase price, including import duties, nonrefundable purchase taxes, less trade discounts
and rebates

* Costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be used in a manner intended by the entity

* Initial estimates of dismantling, removing, and site restoration if the entity has an obligation
that it incurs on acquisition of the asset or as a result of using the asset other than to produce
inventories
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4.2.2 Examples of directly attributable costs include

* Employee benefits of those involved in the construction or acquisition of an asset

* Cost of site preparation

* Initial delivery and handling costs

* Installation and assembly costs

* Costs of testing, less the net proceeds from the sale of any product arising from test produc-
tion

* Borrowing costs to the extent permitted by IAS 23, Borrowing Costs

* Professional fees

4.2.3 Examples of costs that are not directly attributable costs and therefore must be expensed in
the income statement include

* Costs of opening a new facility (often referred to as preoperative expenses)

* Costs of introducing a new product or service

* Advertising and promotional costs

* Costs of conducting business in a new location or with a new class of customer

* Training costs

* Administration and other general overheads

* Costs incurred while an asset, capable of being used as intended, is yet to be brought into
use, is left idle, or is operating at below full capacity

* Initial operating losses

* Costs of relocating or reorganizing part or all of an entity’s operations

Case Study 2

This case study is concerned with directly attributable costs.
Facts

Extravagant Inc. is installing a new plant at its production facility. It has incurred these costs:

1. Cost of the plant (cost per supplier’s invoice plus taxes) $2,500,000
2. Initial delivery and handling costs $200,000
3. Cost of site preparation $600,000
4. Consultants used for advice on the acquisition of the plant $700,000
5.  Interest charges paid to supplier of plant for deferred credit $200,000
6.  Estimated dismantling costs to be incurred after 7 years $300,000
7.  Operating losses before commercial production $400,000
Required

Please advise Extravagant Inc. on the costs that can be capitalized in accordance with IAS 16.
Solution
According to IAS 16, these costs can be capitalized:

1. Cost of the plant $2,500,000
2. Initial delivery and handling costs 200,000
3. Cost of site preparation 600,000
4. Consultants’ fees 700,000
5.  Estimated dismantling costs to be incurred after 7 years 300.000

$4.300,000

Interest charges paid on “deferred credit terms” (see discussion under the “Measurement of Cost” sec-
tion) to the supplier of the plant (not a qualifying asset) of $200,000 and operating losses before
commercial production amounting to $400,000 are not regarded as directly attributable costs and thus
cannot be capitalized. They should be written off to the income statement in the period they are incurred.

4.3 Measurement of Cost

4.3.1 The cost of an asset is measured at the cash price equivalent at the date of acquisition. If
payment is “deferred” beyond normal credit terms, then the difference between the cash price and

the total price is recognized as a finance cost and treated accordingly.

A

A
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4.3.2 If an asset is acquired in exchange for another asset, then the acquired asset is measured at
its fair value unless the exchange lacks commercial substance or the fair value cannot be reliably
measured, in which case the acquired asset should be measured at the carrying amount of the asset
given up, where carrying amount is equal to cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. For impairment losses, reference should be made to IAS 36. In this context, any compensa-
tion received for impairment or loss of an asset shall be included in the income statement.

4.4 Measurement After Recognition

4.4.1 After initial recognition of an item of property, plant, and equipment, the asset should be
measured using either the cost model or the revaluation model. Once selected, the policy shall ap-
ply to an entire class of property, plant, and equipment. This means that an entity cannot “cherry-
pick” those assets to measure at cost or at revaluation, which would result in like assets having dif-
ferent measurement bases.

4.4.2 The cost model requires an asset, after initial recognition, to be carried at cost less accumu-
lated depreciation and impairment losses.

4.4.3 The revaluation model requires as asset, after initial recognition, to be measured at a reval-
ued amount, which is its fair value less subsequent depreciation and impairment losses. In this case,
fair value must be reliably measurable. Revaluations must be made with sufficient regularity to
ensure that the carrying amount is not materially different from fair value. However, if an asset is
revalued, then the entire class of asset must be revalued, again to avoid “cherry-picking” and a
mixture of valuation bases.

4.4.4 When an asset is revalued, any increase in carrying amount should be credited to a revalua-
tion reserve in equity. Any reduction in value arising from a revaluation should first be debited to
any revaluation surplus in equity relating to the same asset and then charged off to the income
statement.

4.4.5 The revaluation reserve may be released to retained earnings in one of two ways:

(1) When the asset is disposed of or otherwise derecognized, the surplus can be transferred to
retained earnings.

(2) The difference between the depreciation charged on the revalued amount and that based on
cost can be transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained earnings. Under no
circumstances can the revaluation surplus be credited back to the income statement.

Example of Treatment of Revaluation

Value Assets Inc. has an item of plant with an initial cost of $100,000. At the date of revaluation,
accumulated depreciation amounted to $55,000. The fair value of the asset, by reference to
transactions in similar assets, is assessed to be $65,000. The entries to be passed would be

Dr. Accumulated depreciation 55,000

Cr. Asset cost 55,000
Being elimination of accumulated depreciation against the cost of the asset
Dr. Asset cost 20,000

Cr. Revaluation reserve 20,000

Being uplift of net asset value to fair value

The net result is that the asset has a carrying amount of $65,000: $100,000 — $55,000 + $20,000.
5. DEPRECIATION

5.1 Each part of an item of property, plant, and equipment with a cost that is significant in rela-
tion to the whole shall be depreciated separately, and such depreciation charge shall be charged to
the income statement unless it is included in the cost of producing another asset.

5.2 Depreciation shall be applied to the depreciable amount of an asset on a systematic basis over
its expected useful life. Expected useful life is the period used, not the asset’s economic life, which
could be appreciably longer.
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5.3 The depreciable amount takes account of the expected residual value of the assets. Both the
useful life and the residual value shall be reviewed annually and the estimates revised as necessary
in accordance with IAS 8.

5.4 Depreciation still needs to be charged even if the fair value of an asset exceeds its residual
value. The rationale for this is the definition of residual value, detailed above. Residual value is the
estimated amount, less estimated disposal costs, that could be currently realized from the asset’s
disposal if the asset were already of an age and condition expected at the end of its useful life. This
definition precludes the effect of inflation and, in all likelihood, will be less than fair value.

5.5 Depreciation commences when an asset is in the location and condition that enables it to be
used in the manner intended by management. Depreciation shall cease at the earlier of its derecog-
nition (sale or scrapping) or its reclassification as “held for sale” (see IFRS 5). Temporary idle ac-
tivity does not preclude depreciating the asset, as future economic benefits are consumed not only
through usage but also through wear and tear and obsolescence. Useful life therefore needs to be
carefully determined based on use, maintenance programs, expected capacity, expected output, ex-
pected wear and tear, technical or commercial innovations, and legal limits.

Example of a Change in Useful Life and Residual Value

Mind Changing Inc. owns an asset with an original cost of $200,000. On acquisition, management
determined that the useful life was 10 years and the residual value would be $20,000. The asset is
now 8 years old, and during this time there have been no revisions to the assessed residual value. At
the end of year 8, management has reviewed the useful life and residual value and has determined
that the useful life can be extended to 12 years in view of the maintenance program adopted by the
company. As a result, the residual value will reduce to $10,000. These changes in estimates would
be effected in this way:

The asset has a carrying amount of $56,000 at the end of year 8: $200,000 (cost) less $144,000
(accumulated depreciation). Accumulated depreciation is calculated as

Depreciable amount equals cost less residual value = $200,000 — $20,000 = $180,000.
Annual depreciation = depreciable amount divided by useful life = $180,000 / 10 = $18,000.
Accumulated depreciation = $18,000 x no. of years (8) = $144,000.

Revision of the useful life to 12 years results in a remaining useful life of 4 years (12 — 8). The
revised depreciable amount is $46,000: carrying amount of $56,000 — the revised residual amount
of $10,000). Thus depreciation should be charged in future at $11,500 per annum ($46,000 divided
by 4 years).

6. DERECOGNITION

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant, and equipment shall be derecognized on dis-
posal or when no future economic benefit is expected from its use or disposal. Any gain on
disposal is the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset.
Gains on disposal shall not be classified in the income statement as revenue.

7. IFRIC INTERPRETATION 1

7.1 This interpretation applies to changes in the measurement of any existing decommissioning,
restoration, or similar liability that is both

(a) Recognized as part of the cost of an item of property, plant, and equipment in accordance
with TAS 16; and
(b) Recognized as a liability in accordance with IAS 37.

7.2 While the guidance in this Interpretation relating to the recognition of the liability in accor-
dance with IAS 37 has been dealt with and explained in the relevant chapter of this book (Chapter
30), the guidance with respect to changes in the measurement of the cost of an item of property,
plant, and equipment under IAS 16 is explained in this chapter.

7.3  According to the IFRIC 1 “consensus,” changes in the measurement of an existing decom-
missioning, restoration, and similar liability that result from changes in the estimated timing or
amount of the outflow of resources, or a change in the discount rate, shall be accounted differently
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based on whether the related asset is measured under IAS 16 using the “cost model” or the “re-
valuation model.”

(a) If the related asset is measured using the “cost model” (under IAS 16) then changes in the

liability shall be added to, or deducted from, the cost of the related asset in the current pe-
riod; the amount deducted from the cost of the asset shall not exceed its carrying amount
and if the adjustment results in an addition to the cost of the related asset the entity shall
consider whether there is an indication of “impairment” in accordance with IAS 36.

(b) If, on the other hand, the related asset is measured using the “revaluation model” (under

7.4

IAS 16) then changes in the liability affect the “revaluation surplus” or “deficit” previously
recognized on that asset, as set out below:

1] A decrease in the liability shall be credited directly to “revaluation surplus” in equity,
except when it reverses a revaluation deficit that was previously recognized in profit or
loss, in which case it shall be recognized in profit or loss;

2] An increase in the liability shall be recognized in profit or loss, except that it shall be
debited to “revaluation surplus” in equity (to the extent of any credit balance existing
in the “revaluation surplus” in respect of the asset). In the event that a decrease in li-
ability exceeds the carrying amount that would have been recognized had the asset
been carried under the “cost model,” the excess shall be recognized immediately in
profit or loss.

Further, a change in the liability is an indication that the asset may have to be revalued
in order to ensure that the carrying amount remains closer to fair value at the balance
sheet date. Any such revaluation shall be taken in determining the amounts to be taken
to profit or loss and equity. (If a revaluation is necessary, all assets of that class shall
be revalued together instead of piecemeal revaluations.)

Lastly, as required by IAS 1, change in “revaluation surplus” resulting from a change
in the liability shall be separately disclosed in the “statement of changes in equity.”

The adjusted depreciated amount of the asset is depreciated over its useful life. Therefore,

once the related asset has reached the end of its useful life, all later changes in liability shall be rec-
ognized in profit or loss as they occur. (This applies whether the “cost model” or the “revaluation
model” is used.)

8. DISCLOSURE

8.1

Disclosures with respect to each class of property, plant, and equipment are extensive and

comprise

Measurement bases for determining gross carrying amounts

Depreciation methods

Useful lives or depreciation rates used

Gross carrying amount and accumulated depreciation (aggregated with accumulated impair-
ment losses) at the beginning and end of the period

Additions

Assets classified as held for sale

Acquisitions through business combinations

Increases and decreases arising from revaluations and from impairment losses and reversals
thereof

Depreciation

Net exchange differences recognized under IAS 21

Other changes

Existence and amounts of restrictions on ownership title

Assets pledged as security for liabilities

Assets in the course of construction

Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant, and equipment
Compensation for assets impaired, lost, or given up
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If property, plant, and equipment are stated at revalued amounts, these items must be speci-

The effective date of the valuation

Whether an independent valuer was involved

Methods and significant assumptions used in assessing fair values

The extent to which fair values were measured by reference to observable prices in an active
market, recent market transactions on an arm’s-length basis, or were estimated using other
techniques

For each class of asset revalued, the carrying amount that would have been recognized if the
class had not been revalued

The revaluation surplus, indicating the change for the period and any restrictions on distribu-
tions to shareholders
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. Healthy Inc. bought a private jet for the use of its
top-ranking officials. The cost of the private jet is $15
million and can be depreciated either using a com-
posite useful life or useful lives of its major
components. It is expected to be used over a period of
7 years. The engine of the jet has a useful life of 5
years. The private jet’s tires are replaced every 2
years. The private jet will be depreciated using the
straight-line method over

(a) 7 years composite useful life.

(b) 5 years useful life of the engine, 2 years use-
ful life of the tires, and 7 years useful life
applied to the balance cost of the jet.

(c) 2 years useful life based on conservatism
(the lowest useful life of all the parts of the
jet).

(d) 5 years useful life based on a simple average
of the useful lives of all major components
of the jet.

Answer: (b)

2. An entity imported machinery to install in its
new factory premises before year-end. However, due
to circumstances beyond its control, the machinery
was delayed by a few months but reached the factory
premises before year-end. While this was happening,
the entity learned from the bank that it was being
charged interest on the loan it had taken to fund the
cost of the plant. What is the proper treatment of
freight and interest expense under IAS 16?

(a) Both expenses should be capitalized.

(b) Interest may be capitalized but freight
should be expensed.

(c) Freight charges should be capitalized but in-
terest cannot be capitalized under these
circumstances.

(d) Both expenses should be expensed.

Answer: (c)

3. XYZ Inc. owns a fleet of over 100 cars and 20
ships. It operates in a capital-intensive industry and
thus has significant other property, plant, and equip-
ment that it carries in its books. It decided to revalue
its property, plant, and equipment. The company’s
accountant has suggested the alternatives that follow.
Which one of the options should XYZ Inc. select in
order to be in line with the provisions of IAS 16?

(a) Revalue only one-half of each class of prop-
erty, plant, and equipment, as that method is
less cumbersome and easy compared to re-
valuing all assets together.

(b) Revalue an entire class of property, plant,
and equipment.

(c) Revalue one ship at a time, as it is easier
than revaluing all ships together.

(d) Since assets are being revalued regularly,
there is no need to depreciate.

Answer: ( b)
4. An entity installed a new production facility and
incurred a number of expenses at the point of instal-

lation. The entity’s accountant is arguing that most
expenses do not qualify for capitalization. Included in
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those expenses are initial operating losses. These
should be
(a) Deferred and amortized over a reasonable
period of time.
(b) Expensed and charged to the income state-
ment.
(c) Capitalized as part of the cost of the plant as
a directly attributable cost.
(d) Taken to retained earnings since it is unrea-
sonable to present it as part of the current
year’s income statement.

Answer: (b)

5. IAS 16 requires that revaluation surplus resulting
from initial revaluation of property, plant, and equip-
ment should be treated in one of the following ways.
Which of the four options mirrors the requirements of
IAS 16?

(a) Credited to retained earnings as this is an
unrealized gain.

(b) Released to the income statement an amount
equal to the difference between the depre-
ciation calculated on historical cost vis-a-vis
revalued amount.

(c) Deducted from current assets and added to
the property, plant, and equipment.

(d) Debited to the class of property, plant, and
equipment that is being revalued and cred-
ited to a reserve captioned ‘“revaluation
surplus,” which is presented under “equity.”

Answer: (d)
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12 LEASES (IAS 17)

1. BACKGROUND AND INTRODUCTION

This Standard prescribes the accounting treatment for leases in the financial statements of lessees
and lessors.

2. SCOPE

2.1 The Standard shall be applied in accounting for leases other than

(a) Leases to explore for or use nonregenerative resources such as oil, natural gas, and so forth
(b) Licensing arrangements for motion pictures, video recordings, music, and so on

2.2 The Standard shall not be applied in the measurement of

* Property held by lessees that is an investment property (see [AS 40)

* Investment property provided by lessors under operating leases (see IAS 40)
* Biological assets held by lessees under finance leases (see IAS 41)

* Biological assets provided by lessors under operating leases (see IAS 41)

3. DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS (in accordance with IAS 17)

Lease. An agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee in return for payment the right
to use an asset for an agreed period of time.

Finance lease. A lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an
asset. Title need not necessarily be eventually transferred.

Operating lease. A lease that is not a finance lease.

Minimum lease payments. The payments over the lease term that are required to be made.
For a lessee, this includes any amounts guaranteed to be paid; for a lessor, this includes any
residual value guaranteed to the lessor.

The definition of a lease includes those contracts for hire of an asset that contain provisions for the
hirer to acquire title to the asset upon fulfillment of agreed conditions—these are sometimes called
hire purchase contracts.

Practical Insight

RHI AG, an Austrian entity, states in its 2003 financial statements that the move to
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) has increased the opening book value of
all its noncurrent assets by €69 million. It explains that, under Austrian generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP), the depreciation of noncurrent assets is influenced partly by
tax considerations, while under IFRS, it is in line with expected useful lives.

Included in the above total are increases of €5 million resulting from the capitalization of
finance leases under IAS 17, Leases, and decreases of €7 million unscheduled depreciation
under IAS 36, Impairment of Assets.

4. CLASSIFICATION OF LEASES

4.1 The classification of a lease as either a finance lease or an operating lease is critical as sig-
nificantly different accounting treatments are required for the different types of lease. The classifi-
cation is based on the extent to which risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset are trans-
ferred to the lessee or remain with the lessor. Risks include technological obsolescence, loss from
idle capacity, and variations in return. Rewards include rights to sell the asset and gain from its
capital value.
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4.2 A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. If it does not, then it is an operating lease. When classifying a lease, it is
important to recognize the substance of the agreement and not just its legal form. The commercial
reality is important. Conditions in the lease may indicate that an entity has only a limited exposure
to the risks and benefits of the leased asset. However, the substance of the agreement may indicate
otherwise. Situations that, individually or in combination, would usually lead to a lease being a fi-
nance lease include

* Transfer of ownership to the lessee by the end of the lease term.

* The lessee has the option to purchase the asset at a price that is expected to be lower than its
fair value such that the option is likely to be exercised.

* The lease term is for a major part of the economic life of the asset, even if title to the asset is
not transferred.

* The present value of the minimum lease payments is equal to substantially all of the fair
value of the asset.

* The leased assets are of a specialized nature such that only the lessee can use them without
significant modification.

4.3 Situations that, individually or in combination, could lead to a lease being a finance lease in-
clude

* If the lessee can cancel the lease, and the lessor’s losses associated with cancellation are
borne by the lessee

* Gains or losses from changes in the fair value of the residual value of the asset accrue to the
lessee.

* The lessee has the option to continue the lease for a secondary term at substantially below-
market rent.

4.4 It is evident from these descriptions that a large degree of judgment has to be exercised in
classifying leases; many lease agreements are likely to demonstrate only a few of the situations
listed, some of which are more persuasive than others. In all cases, the substance of the transaction
needs to be properly analyzed and understood. Emphasis is placed on the risks that the lessor re-
tains more than the benefits of ownership of the asset. If there is little or no related risk, then the
agreement is likely to be a finance lease. If the lessor suffers the risk associated with a movement
in the market price of the asset or the use of the asset, then the lease is usually an operating lease.

4.5 The purpose of the lease arrangement may help the classification. If there is an option to can-
cel, and the lessee is likely to exercise such an option, then the lease is likely to be an operating
lease.

4.6 Classifications of leases are to be made at the inception of the lease. The inception of a lease
is the earlier of the agreement date and the date of the commitment by the parties to the principal
provisions of the lease. If the lease terms are subsequently altered to such a degree that the lease
would have had a different classification at it inception, a new lease is deemed to have been entered
into. Changes in estimates such as the residual value of an asset are not deemed to be a change in
classification.

4.7 Leases of land, if title is not transferred, are classified as operating leases, as land has an in-
definite economic life and a significant reward of land ownership is its outright ownership and title
to its realizable value. If the title to the land is not expected to pass to the lessee, then the risks and
rewards of ownership have not substantially passed, and an operating lease is created for the land.
Leases of land and buildings need to be treated separately, as often the land lease is an operating
lease and the building lease, a finance lease.

4.8 Difficulties arise because the minimum lease payments need to be allocated between the land
and the building element in proportion to their relative fair values of the leasehold interests at the
beginning of the lease. If the allocation cannot be made reliably, then both leases are treated as fi-
nance leases or as operating leases, depending on which classification the arrangement more
clearly follows.
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Practical Insight

SWISSCOM AG states in its 2004 financial statements that revised IAS 17 requires that the
land and buildings elements of a lease of land and buildings should be considered separately
for the classification of leases. The land element is classified normally as an operating lease
unless title passes to the lessee at the end of the lease term. Swisscom discloses that it entered
into sale and leaseback transactions in 2001, some of which are classified as finance leases
with no distinction being made between the land and buildings elements. In accordance with
revised IAS 17, those land elements classified as finance leases will be derecognized. Al-
though there will be an effect on assets and liabilities, Swisscom says there will not be any
material effect on operating income.

4.9 If the lessee is to classify the land and buildings as investment property under IAS 40 and the
fair value model is adopted (the required model for operating leases under IAS 40), then separate
measurement is not required. Under IAS 40, property held by a lessee under an operating lease can
be classified as investment property and accounted for as if it were a finance lease.

Case Study 1

Facts

An entity enters into a lease agreement on July 1, 20X6, that lasts for seven years. The asset’s economic
life is 7.5 years. The fair value of the asset is $5 million, and lease payments of $450,000 are payable
every six months commencing January 1, 20X7. The present value of the minimum lease payments is
$4.6 million. The lease payments were originally due to commence on July 1, 20X6, but the lessor has
agreed to postpone the first payment until January 1, 20X7. The asset was received by the entity on
July 1, 20X6.

Required
Describe how the lease agreement should be treated for the year ended January 31, 20X7.
Solution

The lease liability should be recognized when the asset is received by the entity and the lease agreement
commences, which is July 1, 20X6. The lease is a finance lease because it is for substantially all the
asset’s economic life and the present value of the minimum lease payments is substantially all (92%) of
the fair value of the asset.

During the six-month period before the commencement of the lease payments, interest will be accrued
on the lease liability using the interest rate implicit in the lease. In the period to January 31, 20X7, seven
months of interest will be accrued. The cash payment on January 1, 20X7, will be apportioned as to the
repayment of the lease liability and payment of accrued interest. The asset will be depreciated over the
lease term (7 years) in accordance with the depreciation policy for “owned” assets.

5. LEASES IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF LESSEES

5.1 Finance Leases

5.1.1 At the commencement of the lease term, a lessee shall recognize an asset and a liability at
the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The appropriate discount rate in the present value calculation is the rate implicit in the finance
lease—that rate which discounts the lease payments to the fair value of the asset plus any initial
direct costs of the lessor.

5.1.2 The impact of this treatment is to reflect the economic substance of the transaction. The les-
see has acquired an asset for the substantial part of its useful life and expects to obtain substantially
all the benefits from its use. In other words, the lease arrangement is merely a financing vehicle for
the acquisition of an asset.

5.1.3 Subsequent to initial recognition, the lease payments are apportioned between the repay-
ment of the outstanding liability and the finance charge so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
interest on the liability. Methods of calculation vary and include sum of the digits, which is a rough
approximation, and more complex amortization models.
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5.1.4 The asset needs to be depreciated over its expected useful life under IAS 16, using rates for
similar assets. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that ownership will transfer to the les-
see, then the shorter of the lease term and the useful life should be used.

5.2 Disclosures for Finance Leases

The following disclosures for finance leases are required in addition to those required by the finan-
cial instruments standards:

* For each class of asset, the net carrying value at the balance sheet date
* A reconciliation between the total of the minimum lease payments and their present value
* The total of the future minimum lease payments analyzed as to

* Not later than one year;
* Later than one year but not later than five years; and
* Later than five years

* Contingent rents
* Total future minimum lease payments expected to be received under noncancelable subleases
* A general description of the lessee’s material leasing arrangements

5.3 Operating Leases

5.3.1 Lease payments under operating leases shall be recognized as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term unless another basis is more representative of the pattern of the user’s
benefit, even if the payments follow a different pattern.

5.3.2 Itis important to recognize the impact of incentives in operating leases. Often incentives to
enter into operating leases take the form of up-front payments, rent-free periods, and the like.
These need to be appropriately recognized over the lease term from its commencement. Thus, a
rent-free period does not mean that the lessee avoids a rent charge in its income statement. It has to
apportion the rent for the entire lease over the entire period, resulting in a reduced annual charge.

Case Study 2

Facts

Jay has entered into a lease of property whereby the title to the land does not pass to the entity at the end
of the lease but the title to the building passes after 15 years. The lease commenced on July 1, 20X5,
when the value of the land was $54 million and the building value was $18 million. Annual lease rentals
paid in arrears commencing on June 30, 20X6, are $6 million for land and $2 million for buildings. The
entity has allocated the rentals on the basis of their relative fair values at the start of the lease.

The payments under the lease terms are reduced after every 6 years, and the minimum lease term is 30
years. The net present value of the minimum lease payments at July 1, 20X5, was $40 million for land
and $17 million for buildings. The buildings are written off on the straight-line basis over their useful
life of 15 years. Assume an effective interest rate of 7%.

Required
Discuss how Jay should treat this lease under IAS 17.
Solution

IAS 17 requires the substance of the transaction to be reviewed and the extent to which the risks and re-
wards of ownership of the leased asset are transferred to be determined. If the risks and rewards of own-
ership are substantially transferred to the lessee, then the lease is a finance lease. The Standard requires
the land and buildings elements to be considered separately. Normally a lease of land will be regarded as
an operating lease unless the title passes to the lessee. In this case the title does not pass and the present
value of the lease payments is only 74% of the fair value of the land, which does not constitute substan-
tially all of the fair value of the leased asset, one of the criteria for the determination of a finance lease.

In the case of the buildings, the title passes after 15 years, and the lease runs for the whole of its eco-
nomic life, which indicates a finance lease. The present value of the minimum lease payments is 94% of
the fair value of the lease at its inception, an amount that indicates that the lessee is effectively purchas-
ing the building. Thus it would appear to be a finance lease. Property, plant, and equipment would in-
crease by $17 million with a corresponding increase in noncurrent liabilities. The noncurrent liability
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($17 million) will be reduced by the payment on June 30, 20X6 ($2 million), and increased by the inter-
est charge ($17 million x 0.07, or $1.2 million).

The land will not appear on the balance sheet and the operating lease rentals will be charged to the in-
come statement.
5.4 Disclosures for Operating Leases
In addition to the disclosures required by the financial instruments standards, these disclosures are
required:
* Total future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases for each of the
following:

* Not later than one year;
 Later than one year and not later than five years; and
* Later than five years.

* Total future minimum lease payments expected to be received under noncancelable subleases
* Lease and sublease payments and contingent rents recognized as an expense
* A general description of the significant leasing arrangements

Case Study 3

Facts

An entity enters into a finance lease to lease a truck from another entity. The truck’s fair value is
$140,000. The lease rentals are payable monthly, and the lease term is five years. The present value of
the minimum lease payments are the inception of the lease is $132,000 and the unguaranteed residual
value of the truck is estimated at $20,000.

Required

At which amount will the lease liability be recorded in the financial accounts at the inception of the
lease?

Solution

The lease asset and liability will be recorded at $132,000, which is the present value of the minimum
lease payments. A lease liability should be recorded at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and
the present value of the minimum lease payment. The difference between the minimum lease payments
and the fair value of $8,000 will represent the present value of the unguaranteed residual value
($20,000).

Case Study 4

Facts

An entity leases an asset from another entity. The fair value of the asset is $100,000, and the lease rentals
are $18,000, payable half yearly. The first payment is made on the delivery of the asset. The unguaran-
teed residual value of the asset after the three-year lease period is $4,000. The implicit interest rate in the
lease is 9.3% (approximately), and the present value of the minimum lease payment is $96,936.

Required
Show how this lease would be accounted for in the accounts of the lessee.
Solution

The number of payments is six with a total value of $108,000. The use of the approximate implicit inter-
est rate will give a rounding error.

$ $ $ $
Payment Balance Finance Charge Payment Lease Liability
1 96,936 0 (18,000) 78,936
2 78,936 3,670 (18,000) 64,606
3 64,606 3,004 (18,000) 49,610
4 49,610 2,306 (18,000) 33,916
5 33,916 1,577 (18,000) 17,493
6 17,493 507 (813 - 306) (18,000) 0

A

A
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There is a rounding error of $306, which would be taken off the last finance charge to be taken to the in-
come statement.

6. LEASES IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF LESSORS

6.1 Finance Leases

6.1.1 Lessors shall recognize assets held under finance leases as a receivable equal to the net in-
vestment in the lease. The net investment in the lease is the aggregate of the minimum lease pay-
ments and any unguaranteed residual value (the “gross investment”) discounted at the rate implicit
in the lease.

6.1.2 Due to the definition of the interest rate implicit in the lease—that rate which discounts the
lease payments to the fair value of the asset plus the initial direct costs of the lessor—the initial di-
rect costs of the lessor are automatically included in the receivable. The direct costs of the lessor
are those costs directly attributable to negotiating and arranging a lease.

6.1.3 Subsequent to initial recognition, finance income is recognized based on a pattern reflecting
a constant rate of return on the net investment in the lease. Receipts under the finance lease are ap-
portioned to the gross investment, as a reduction in the debtor, and to the finance income element.

6.1.4 Lessors who are manufacturers or dealers should recognize profit on the transaction in the
same way as for normal sales of the entity. Thus a finance lease will create a profit or loss from the
sale of the asset at normal selling prices and a finance income over the lease term. If artificially low
rates of interest are quoted, profit is calculated using market interest rates.

6.2 Disclosures for Finance Leases

In addition to the requirements of the financial instruments standards, these disclosures are re-
quired:

* A reconciliation between the gross carrying amount of the investment in the lease and the
present value of the future minimum lease payments receivable

* The gross investment in the lease and the future minimum lease payments for each of the fol-
lowing:

* Not later than one year
 Later than one year but not later than five years
 Later than five years

* Unearned finance income

* Unguaranteed residual value

* Doubtful recoverable lease payments

* Contingent rents recognized as income

* A general description of the significant leasing arrangements

6.3 Operating Leases

6.3.1 Lessors shall show assets subject to operating leases in the financial statement in accor-
dance with the nature of the asset—motor vehicles, plant and equipment, and so on.

6.3.2 Lease income from operating leases shall be recognized in the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the lease term unless another basis reflects better the nature of the benefit
received. As mentioned earlier, any incentives should be considered.

6.3.3 Depreciation on the asset subject to a lease is recognized as an expense and should be de-
termined in the same manner as similar assets of the lessor. Additionally, the lessor should apply
the principles of IAS 16, 36, and 38 as appropriate.

6.3.4 Initial direct costs of negotiating and arranging the lease shall be added to the cost of the
asset and expensed over the lease term in the same pattern as the income is recognized.

6.4 Disclosures for Operating Leases

In addition to the requirements of the financial instruments standards, these disclosures are re-
quired:
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* The future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases for each of the
following:

* Not later than one year
 Later than one year but not later than five years
 Later than five years

* Contingent rents recognized as income
* A general description of the significant leasing arrangements

Practical Insight

SIC 27, Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease,
considers whether an arrangement meets the definition of a lease under IAS 17, Leases, and, if
not, how a company should account for a fee it may receive. Examples are given of indicators
that demonstrate that it is inappropriate to grant immediate recognition of the entire fee as
income.

Deutsche Post discloses that it leases to companies electronic sorting systems although it
remains the beneficial and legal owner of all the assets and they remain available to Deutsche
Post for its operating activities. The note in its 2002 financial statements refers to SIC 27 and
discloses that the net present value benefit from the transactions has been recognized
immediately, which results in income of €136 million and expenses of €40 million being
recognized.

7. SALE AND LEASEBACK TRANSACTIONS AND OTHER TRANSACTIONS
INVOLVING THE LEGAL FORM OF A LEASE

7.1 Very often entities enter into complex financing arrangements involving lease-like arrange-
ments. Careful analysis of such arrangements needs to be undertaken to ensure that the substance
of the transaction is properly reflected, not just the legal form.

7.2 A common financing transaction is a sale and leaseback whereby the owner of an asset sells it
to a financier who then leases the asset back to the original owner. Analysis is required to deter-
mine if the leaseback is a finance or an operating lease. A finance lease results in the lessee having
to defer any profit on disposal over the lease term. If the leaseback is an operating lease and the
entire transaction is at fair value, gain or loss on disposal is recognized immediately.

7.3 Other more complex transactions need to be analyzed for their substance and often involve a
series of transactions involving leases. On occasion, just tax benefits arise; sometimes there is no
real transaction when the series of transactions is viewed in its entirety. In such cases the substance
needs to be clearly reflected in the financial statements.

7.4 In the case of an operating lease, if the sale price is below fair value and the loss is compen-
sated by future lease payments at below market price, then the loss should be deferred and amor-
tized in proportion to the lease payments over the useful life of the asset.

7.5 If the loss is not compensated by future lease payments, it should be recognized immediately.

7.6 If the sale price is above fair value and the rentals are above the normal market rates, the ex-
cess over fair value should be deferred and amortized over the useful life of the asset.

Practical Insight

KONINKLIJKE PHILIPS ELECTRONICS NV stated in its 2004 financial statements that
gains arising on sale and leaseback transactions that are deferred under U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) will be released to equity as IAS 17, Leases, does not permit
such deferral.

abcBourselir 91 @abcBourselir, ) 92 [ r E


http://abcbourse.ir/

100 Wiley IFRS Workbook and Guide

Case Study 5

Facts

An entity sells a piece of plant to a 100% owned subsidiary and leases it back over a period of 4 years.
The remaining useful life of the plant is 10 years. The selling price of the plant was 20% below its car-
rying and market value. The lease rentals were based on market rates. The entity has no right to buy the
plant back.

Required
Discuss how this transaction should be dealt with in the entity’s financial statements.
Solution

The lease will almost certainly be an operating lease, as the lease period is not for the majority of the
plant’s life and the rentals are based on market rates. However, the selling price was below the carrying
and market value, and this loss has not been compensated by future rentals. Therefore, the loss should be
recognized immediately.

The transaction will be eliminated on consolidation, but the individual entity accounts will recognize it.
Also, the entities are related parties; therefore, the substance of the transaction will have to be carefully
scrutinized. Although the entity has no right to reacquire the asset, it can exercise the right through its
control of the 100% subsidiary. This control may change the designation of the lease.

Case Study 6

Facts

An entity leases a motor vehicle over a period of five years. The economic life of the vehicle is estimated
at seven years. The entity has the right to buy the vehicle at the end of the lease term for 50% of its mar-
ket value plus a nominal payment of 0.5% of the market value at that date. This nominal payment is to
cover the selling costs of the vehicle.

Required
How should the lease be classified in the financial statements of the entity?
Solution

The lease will be a finance lease as the entity is likely to buy the vehicle at the price stated because it
will be sold at 50% of the market value of the vehicle plus a nominal charge. SIC 15, Operating Lease—
Incentives, clarifies the recognition of incentives related to operating leases by both the lessee and lessor.
Lease incentives should be considered an integral part of the consideration for the use of the leased asset.
IAS 17 requires an entity to treat incentives as a reduction of lease income or lease expense. Incentives
should be recognized by both the lessor and the lessee over the lease term, using a single amortization
method applied to the net consideration.

IFRIC 4, Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease deals with agreements that do not take
the legal form of a lease but which give rights to use assets in return for payment. Such agreements
would include outsourcing arrangements and telecommunication contracts. If the agreement conveys a
right to control the use of the underlying asset then it should be accounted for under IAS 17. This is the
case if any of the following conditions are met:

* The purchaser in the arrangement has the ability or right to operate the asset or direct others to
operate the asset.

» The purchaser has the ability or right to control physical access to the asset.

* There is only a remote possibility that parties other than the purchaser will take more than an
insignificant amount of the output of the asset and the price that the purchaser will pay is neither
fixed per unit of output nor equal to the current market price at the time of delivery.

7.7 SIC 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease, states
that the accounting for arrangements between an enterprise and an investor should reflect the sub-
stance of the arrangement. All aspects of the arrangement should be evaluated to determine its sub-
stance, with weight given to those aspects and implications that have an economic effect.

7.8  When the overall economic effect cannot be understood without reference to the series of
transactions as a whole, the series of transactions should be accounted for as one transaction.
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. The classification of a lease as either an operat-
ing or finance lease is based on
(a) The length of the lease.
(b) The transfer of the risks and rewards of
ownership.
(¢) The minimum lease payments being at least
50% of the fair value.
(d) The economic life of the asset.

Answer: (b)

2. The accounting concept that is principally used
to classify leases into operating and finance is

(a) Substance over form.

(b) Prudence.

(c) Neutrality.

(d) Completeness.

Answer: (a)

3.  Which of the following situations would prima
facie lead to a lease being classified as an operating
lease?
(a) Transfer of ownership to the lessee at the
end of the lease term.
(b) Option to purchase at a value below the fair
value of the asset.
(c) The lease term is for a major part of the as-
set’s life.
(d) The present value of the minimum lease
payments is 50% of the fair value of the as-
set.

Answer: (d)

4. The classification of a lease is normally carried
out

(a) At the end of the lease term.

(b) After a “cooling off” period of one year.

(c) At the inception of the lease.

(d) When the entity deems it to be necessary.

Answer: (c)

5. Where there is a lease of land and buildings and
the title to the land is not transferred, generally the
lease is treated as if
(a) The land is a finance lease, the building is a
finance lease.
(b) The land is a finance lease, the building is an
operating lease.
(c) The land is an operating lease, the building
is a finance lease.
(d) The land is an operating lease, the building
is an operating lease.

Answer: (¢)

6. The lease of land and buildings when split causes
difficulty in the allocation of the minimum lease
payments. In this case the minimum lease payments
should be split
(a) According to the relative fair value of two
elements.
(b) By the entity based on the useful life of the
two elements.
(c) Using the sum of the digits method.
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(d) According to any fair method devised by the
entity.

Answer: (a)

7. An entity classifies a lease of land and buildings
as an investment property under IAS 40. The entity
has adopted the fair value model. In this case
(a) Separate measurement of the lease of land
and buildings is compulsory.
(b) Separate measurement of the lease of land

o @abcBourselir

and buildings is not required.
(c) The lease is treated as an operating lease.
(d) The lease cannot be treated as an operating

lease.

Answer: (b)

8. Which is the correct accounting for a finance
lease in the accounts of the lessee (assuming fair

value is used)?

(@) Dr Assetaccount . .
Cr Liability account } with fair value
Dr Income statement } with deprecia-
Cr Asset account tion of asset
Dr Income statement finance charge
Cr Liability account for period
Dr Liability account cash paid in
Cr Cash period

(b) Dr Liability account with fair value
Cr Asset account
Dr Income statement with deprecia-
Cr Asset account tion of asset
Dr Liability account finance charge
Cr Income statement for period
Dr Liability account cash paid in
Cr Cash period

(¢c) Dr

Asset account

with fair value

Cr Liability account
Dr Asset account with deprecia-
Cr Income statement tion of asset
Dr Liability account finance charge
Cr Income statement for period
Dr Liability account cash paid in
Cr Cash period

(@ Dr A.sse.t a ceount with fair value
Cr Liability account

Dr

Income statement

}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}

with deprecia-

Cr Asset account tion of asset
Dr Liability account finance charge
Cr Income statement for period
Dr Liability account cash paid in
Cr Cash

Answer: (a)
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9. Which is the correct accounting treatment for an
operating lease payment in the accounts of the lessee?
(a) Dr Cash
Cr Operating lease rentals/income
statement

(b) Dr Operating lease rentals/income

statement
Cr Cash

(c) Dr Assetaccount
Cr Cash
(d) Dr Cash

Cr Asset account
Answer: (b)

10. Which is the correct accounting treatment for a
finance lease in the accounts of a lessor?

(a) Treat as a noncurrent asset equal to net in-
vestment in lease. Recognize all finance
payments in income statements.

(b) Treat as a receivable equal to gross amount
receivable on lease. Recognize finance pay-
ments in cash and by reducing debtor.

(c) Treat as a receivable equal to net investment
in the lease. Recognize finance payment by
reducing debtor and taking interest to in-
come statement.

(d) Treat as a receivable equal to net investment
in the lease. Recognize finance payments in
cash and by reduction of debtor.

Answer: (¢)

11. The profit on a finance lease transaction for les-
sors who are manufacturers or dealers should
(a) Not be recognized separately from finance
income.
(b) Be recognized in the normal way on the
transaction.
(c) Only be recognized at the end of the lease
term.
(d) Be allocated on a straight-line basis over the
life of the lease.

Answer: (b)

12. In the case of sale and leaseback transactions, if
the sale is at below the fair value of the assets and the
loss is compensated by future lease payments, then
the loss is
(a) Recognized immediately in reserves.
(b) Deferred and amortized over the useful life
of the asset.
(c) Deferred until the end of the lease term.
(d) Recognized immediately in the profit and
loss.

Answer: (b)

13. Lessors should show assets that are out on
operating leases and income therefrom as follows:
(a) The asset should be kept off the balance
sheet and the lease income should go to re-
serves.
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(b) The asset should be kept off the balance
sheet and the lease income should go to the
income statement.

(c) The asset should be shown in the balance
sheet according to its nature and the lease
income should go to reserves.

(d) The asset should be shown in the balance
sheet according to its nature with the lease
income going to the income statement.

Answer: (d)
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13 REVENUE (IAS 18)

1. BACKGROUND AND INTRODUCTION

1.1  The Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements defines “in-
come” as “increases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of inflows or
enhancements of assets or decreases of liabilities that result in increases in equity, other than those
relating to contributions from equity participants.” Income encompasses both revenue and gains.

1.2 “Revenue” should be distinguished from “gains.” Revenue arises from an entity’s ordinary
activities. Gains, however, include such items as the profit on disposal of noncurrent assets, or on
retranslating balances in foreign currencies, or fair value adjustments to financial and nonfinancial
assets.

1.3 This Standard prescribes the requirements for the recognition of revenue in an entity’s finan-
cial statements. Revenue can take various forms, such as sales of goods, provision of services, roy-
alty fees, franchise fees, management fees, dividends, interest, subscriptions, and so on.

1.4  The principal issue in the recognition of revenue is its timing—at what point is it probable
that future economic benefit will flow to the entity and can the benefit be measured reliably.

1.5 Some of the recent highly publicized financial scandals that caused turmoil in the financial
world globally were allegedly the result of financial manipulations resulting from recognizing
revenue based on inappropriate accounting policies. Such financial shenanigans resulting from the
use of aggressive revenue recognition policies have drawn the attention of the accounting world to
the importance of accounting for revenue.

1.6 It is absolutely critical that the point of recognition of revenue is properly determined. For
instance, in case of sale of goods, is revenue to be recognized on receipt of the customer order, on
completion of production, on the date of shipment, or on delivery of goods to the customer? The
decision as to when and how revenue should be recognized has a significant impact on the deter-
mination of “net income” for the year (i.e., the “bottom line”), and thus it is a very critical element
in the entire process of the preparation of the financial statements.

2. SCOPE

2.1 The requirements of IAS 18 are to be applied in accounting for revenue arising from

* Sale of goods
* Rendering of services
* The use by others of the entity’s assets thus yielding interest, royalties, or dividends

2.2 The Standard does not deal with revenue arising from the following items, as they are dealt
with by other Standards:

e Leases (IAS 17)

* Dividends from investments accounted under the equity method (IAS 28)
« Insurance contracts (IFRS 4)

* Changes in fair values of financial instruments (IAS 39)

* Changes in the values of current assets

* Initial recognition and changes in value of biological assets (IAS 41)

* Initial recognition of agricultural produce (IAS 41)

» Extraction of minerals
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3. DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS (in accordance with IAS 18)

Revenue. The gross inflow of economic benefits during a period arising in the course of ordi-
nary activities when those inflows result in increases in equity, other than increases relating to
contributions from equity participants.

Fair value. The amount for which an asset can be exchanged, or a liability settled, between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s-length transaction.

Practical Insight

“Revenue” refers only to those amounts received or receivable by an entity on its own ac-
count. Amounts received or receivable for the accounts of others are not classified as income
as there is no increase in equity; such items are liabilities. Examples include sales taxes
(amounts owed to the government), insurance premiums collected by an agent (revenue in this
case would be the commission), and the like.

4. MEASUREMENT OF REVENUE

4.1 Revenue is to be measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. In
most cases, the value is easily determined by the sales contract after taking into account trade dis-

counts or rebates.
Case Study 1

Facts

Big Bulk has arrangements with its customers that, in any 12-month period ending March 31, if they
purchase goods for a value of at least $1 million, they will receive a retrospective discount of 2%. Big
Bulk’s year-end is December 31, and it has made sales to a customer during the period April 1 to De-

cember 31 of $900,000.

Required

How much revenue should Big Bulk recognize?
Solution

Based on a prorated calculation, Big Bulk will make sales to its customer of $1.2 million ($900,000 x 12
/9). Therefore, Big Bulk should accrue a retrospective rebate of 2% on $900,000 and recognize revenue

of $882,000.

However, transactions can be more complex, for example, if longer-than-normal credit is offered at
below-market rates of interest or if assets are exchanged. In both cases, the transaction needs to be

carefully analyzed.
Case Study 2

Facts

Nice Guy Inc. sells goods with a cost of $100,000 to Start-up Co. for $140,000 and a credit period of six
months. Nice Guy Inc.’s normal cash price would have been $125,000 with a credit period of one month

or with a $5,000 discount for cash on delivery.

Required

How should Nice Guy Inc. measure the income from the transaction?
Solution

Effectively, Nice Guy Inc. is financing Start-up Co. for a period of six months. The normal price would
have been $120,000 ($125,000 — the cash discount of $5,000). Therefore, revenue should be accounted

at an amount that discounts the actual sale amount of $140,000 back to $120,000.

The difference between the nominal amount of $140,000 and the discounted value would be recognized

as interest income over the period of finance of six months.

A
al
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4.2 The exchange of goods or services needs to be examined differently. If goods or services of
similar nature and value are exchanged, essentially no transaction has occurred and no revenue is
recognized.

4.3 If, however, goods or services of a dissimilar nature are exchanged, a revenue transaction is
recognized at the fair value of the goods or services received. If such fair value is not readily de-
terminable, revenue is recognized at the fair value of the goods given up or services provided. In
both cases, revenue is adjusted for any cash or cash equivalents transferred.

4.4 SIC 31 deals with barter transactions involving advertising services. The Interpretation ap-
plies to the measurement of fair value of revenue from these barter transactions. It states that such
revenue can be measured only by reference to nonbarter transactions that

* Involve advertising similar to the advertising in the barter transaction

* Occur frequently

* Represent a predominant number of transactions and amount when compared to nonbarter
transactions to provide advertising that is similar to advertising in barter transactions

* Involve cash and/or another form of consideration (e.g., marketable securities) that has a
reliably measurable fair value

* Do not involve the same counterparty as in the barter transaction

5. IDENTIFICATION OF A TRANSACTION

Usually when applying the recognition criteria of the Standard, one applies it to each transaction.
However, occasions arise with more complex transactions when the criteria need to be applied to
components of a transaction.

Case Study 3

Facts

Full Service Co. sells some equipment, the cash price of which is $100,000, for $140,000 with a com-
mitment to service the equipment for a period of two years, with no further charge.

Solution

Full Service Co. would recognize revenue on sale of goods of $100,000. The balance of $40,000 would
be recognized over two years as service revenue.

6. SALE OF GOODS

6.1 The Standard prescribes that revenue from the sale of goods should be recognized when all of
the following criteria are satisfied:

* The significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have been transferred to the
buyer.

* The seller retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold.

* The amount of the revenue can be reliably measured.

* It is probable that economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the seller.

* The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

6.2 The transfer of “significant” risks and rewards is essential. For example, if goods are sold but
the receivable will be collected only if the buyer is able to sell, then “significant” risks of owner-
ship are retained by the original seller and no sale is recognized.

6.3 The point of time at which significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the buyer
requires careful consideration involving examining the circumstances surrounding the transaction.
Generally, the transfer of significant risks and rewards of ownership takes place when title passes
to the buyer or the buyer receives possession of the goods. However, in some circumstances, the
transfer of risks and rewards of ownership does not coincide with transfer of legal title or the pass-
ing of possession, as when a building that is still under construction is sold.
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Practical Insight

In the case of retail sales, wherein customers have a right to return the goods or right to seek a
refund, the retention of risks and rewards is not considered that “significant” that revenue from
the sale of goods is not recognized at the point when goods are sold to the customers. The risk
not transferred is the risk of goods sold being returned by customers or the risk of customers
seeking refunds. Revenue in such a situation is recognized at the time of sale provided the
seller can reliably estimate future returns (based on some rational basis, such as past experi-
ence and other pertinent factors) and recognize a provision under IAS 37.

6.4 Furthermore, the costs incurred in respect of the transaction must be reliably measured.
Case Study 4

Facts

Bespoke Inc. has manufactured a machine specifically to the design of its customer. The machine could
not be used by any other party. Bespoke Inc. has never manufactured this type of machine before and
expects a number of faults to materialize in its operation during its first year of use, which Bespoke Inc.
is contractually bound to rectify at no further cost to the customer. The nature of these faults could well
be significant. As of Bespoke Inc.’s year-end, the machine had been delivered and installed, the cus-
tomer invoiced for $100,000 (the contract price), and the costs incurred by Bespoke Inc. up to that date
amounted to $65,000.

Required

How should Bespoke Inc. recognize this transaction?

Solution

As Bespoke Inc. has not manufactured this type of machine earlier, it is not in a position to reliably

measure the cost of rectification of any faults that may materialize. Consequently, the cost to Bespoke
Inc. of the transaction cannot be reliably measured and no sale should be recognized.

6.5 Very often, contracts for sale of goods can be subject to conditions, such as

* Subject to inspection and/or installation. If installation is a quick and simple process (i.e., it
forms an insignificant part of the sales contract), revenue can be recognized on delivery.

* On approval with a right of return. The contract is recognized when goods are accepted or
period of right of return has lapsed.

* On consignment. The contract is recognized only when the consignee has sold the goods.

* Cash on delivery. The contract is recognized when cash is received.

* “Layaway” when goods are delivered on final installment. If history shows that full payment
is normally received, revenue could be recognized when a significant deposit is received and
the goods are on hand and ready for delivery. Otherwise revenue would be recognized only
on delivery.

6.6 In other words, if the seller retains significant risks of ownership, the transaction is not re-
garded as a sale for the purposes of recognizing revenue. A seller may retain significant risks of
ownership, which may be manifested in numerous ways. The next case study shows circumstances
wherein the seller retains significant risks of ownership.

Case Study 5

Which of the following situations signify that “risks and rewards” have not been transferred to the
buyer?

(a) XYZ Inc. sells goods to ABC Inc. In the sales contract, there is a clause that the seller has an
obligation for unsatisfactory performance, which is not governed by normal warranty provi-
sions.

(b) Zeta Inc. shipped machinery to a destination specified by the buyer. A significant part of the
transaction involves installation that has not yet been fulfilled by Zeta Inc.
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(c) The buyer has the right to cancel the purchase for a reason not specified in the contract of sale
(duly signed by both parties) and the seller is uncertain about the outcome.

Solution

(a) According to the clause in the sales contract, XYZ Inc. has an obligation beyond the normal
warranty provision. Thus “risks and rewards of ownership” have not been transferred to the
buyer on the date of the sale.

(b) “Risks and rewards of ownership” have not been transferred to the buyer on the date of the
delivery of the machinery because a significant part of the transaction (i.e., installation) is yet to
be done.

(c) “Risks and rewards of ownership” will not be transferred to the buyer due to the “unspecified
uncertainty” arising from the terms of the contract of sale (duly signed by both parties), which
allow the buyer to retain the right of cancellation of the sale due to which the seller is uncertain
of the outcome.

6.7 A transaction is not deemed a sale until it is probable that the future economic benefits will
flow to the entity. In some of the cases, the receipt of consideration may be doubtful. Until the un-
certainty is removed, the sale should not be recognized.

Practical Insight

When uncertainty arises about collectibility of revenue booked in an earlier period, then the
uncollectible amount is to be recognized as an expense as opposed to adjusting the revenue
originally recognized in an earlier period.

6.8 Revenues recognized and the costs (expenses) associated with them should be matched and
recognized simultaneously—this is essential because if costs cannot be measured reliably, then the
related revenue should not be recognized. In such a situation, any consideration received from such
transactions is booked as a liability.

7. RENDERING OF SERVICES

7.1 Revenue from the rendering of services can be recognized by reference to the stage of com-
pletion if the final outcome can be reliably estimated. This would be the case if

* The amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

* It is probable that economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the seller.
* The stage of completion can be measured reliably.

* The costs incurred and the cost to complete can be measured reliably.

7.2 This method of revenue recognition mirrors that prescribed by IAS 11 for construction con-
tracts. The requirements laid down in that Standard are just as applicable for the rendering of ser-
vices, such as robust budgeting and costing systems. The methodologies for estimating the propor-
tion of service rendered, such as surveys, or the ratio of costs incurred to estimated total costs are
also similar. Additionally, if the outcome cannot be reliably estimated, then revenue is recognized
only to the extent that costs are recoverable.

7.3 Examples

* Installation fees are recognized over the period of installation by reference to the stage of
completion.

* Subscriptions usually are recognized on a straight-line basis over the subscription period.

* Insurance agency commissions would be recognized on commencement of the insurance
unless the agent is likely to have to provide further services, in which case a portion of the
revenue would be deferred to cover the cost of providing that service.

* Fees from development of customized software are recognized by reference to stage of
completion, including post-delivery support.

* Event admission fees are recognized when the event occurs. If subscription to a number of
events is sold, the fee is allocated to each event.

* Tuition fees would be recognized over the period in which tuition is provided.
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* Financial service fees depend on the services that are being rendered. Very often they are
treated as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the financial instrument that is being
created. This would be the case for origination and commitment fees. Investment manage-
ment fees would be recognized over the period of management.

8. INTEREST, ROYALTIES, AND DIVIDENDS

8.1 Revenue arising from the use by others of an entity’s asset that yield interest, dividends, or
royalties are recognized in this way:

* Interest is recognized using the “effective interest method.”
* Royalties are recognized on an accruals basis in accordance with the royalty agreement.
* Dividends are recognized when the shareholder has a right to receive payment.

8.2 The cost of acquisition of debt instruments and shares needs to be examined carefully. Very
often the cost includes accrued interest or shares may be “cum div’ or with dividends. In this case,
the subsequent receipt of interest or dividends will need to be allocated against the cost of the
instrument rather than recognized as revenue. Similarly, receipt of dividends out of pre-acquisition
reserves of subsidiary or associate would be treated as a reduction in the cost of the investment and
not as revenue.

9. DISCLOSURES

The Standard requires the following disclosures:

* The accounting policies adopted for the recognition of revenue, including the methods for
determining stage of completion for the rendering of services
* The amount of each significant category of revenue recognized during the period, including

* Sale of goods

* Rendering of services
* Interest

* Royalties

* Dividends

* The amount of revenue recognized from the exchange of goods or services included in each
category.
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. “Bill and hold” sales, in which delivery is de-
layed at the buyer’s request but the buyer assumes
title and accepts invoicing, should be recognized
when

(a) The buyer makes an order.

(b) The seller starts manufacturing the goods.

(c) The title has been transferred but the goods
are kept on the seller’s premises.

(d) It is probable that the delivery will be made,
payment terms have been established, and
the buyer has acknowledged the delivery in-
structions.

Answer: (d)

2. ABC Inc. is a large manufacturer of machines.
XYZ Ltd., a major customer of ABC Inc., has placed
an order for a special machine for which it has given a
deposit of 112,500 to ABC Inc. The parties have
agreed on a price for the machine of 150,000. As per
the terms of the sales agreement, it is an FOB (free on
board) contract and the title passes to the buyer when
goods are loaded onto the ship at the port. When
should the revenue be recognized by ABC Inc.?

(a) When the customer orders the machine.

(b) When the deposit is received.

(c) When the machine is loaded on the port;

(d) When the machine has been received by the

customer.

Answer: (¢)

3. Revenue from an artistic performance is recog-
nized once
(a) The audience register for the event online.
(b) The tickets for the concert are sold.
(c) Cash has been received from the ticket sales.
(d) The event takes place.

Answer: (d)

4. X Ltd., a large manufacturer of cosmetics, sells
merchandise to Y Ltd., a retailer, which in turn sells
the goods to the public at large through its chain of
retail outlets. Y Ltd. purchases merchandise from X
Ltd. under a consignment contract. When should
revenue from the sale of merchandise to Y Ltd. be
recognized by X Ltd.?
(a) When goods are delivered to Y Ltd.
(b) When goods are sold by Y Ltd.
(c) It will depend on the terms of delivery of the
merchandise by X Ltd. to Y Ltd. (i.e., CIF
[cost, insurance, and freight] or FOB).
(d) It will depend on the terms of payment be-
tween Y Ltd. and X Ltd. (i.e., cash or
credit).

Answer: (b)

5. M Ltd, a new company manufacturing and sell-
ing consumable products, has come out with an offer
to refund the cost of purchase within one month of
sale if the customer is not satisfied with the product.
When should M Ltd. recognize the revenue?

(a) When goods are sold to the customers.

(b) After one month of sale.
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(c) Only if goods are not returned by the cus-
tomers after the period of one month.

(d) At the time of sale along with an offset to
revenue of the liability of the same amount
for the possibility of the return.

Answer: (a)

6. Micrium, a computer chip manufacturing com-
pany, sells its products to its distributors for onward
sales to the ultimate customers. Due to frequent fluc-
tuations in the market prices for these goods, Micrium
has a “price protection” clause in the distributor
agreement that entitles it to raise additional billings in
case of upward price movement. Another clause in
the distributor’s agreement is that Micrium can at any
time reduce its inventory by buying back goods at the
cost at which it sold the goods to the distributor. Dis-
tributors pay for the goods within 60 days from the
sale of goods to them. When should Micrium recog-
nize revenue on sale of goods to the distributors?

(a) When the goods are sold to the distributors.

(b) When the distributors pay to Micrium the
cost of the goods (i.e., after 60 days of the
sale of goods to the distributors).

(c) When goods are sold to the distributor pro-
vided estimated additional revenue is also
booked under the “protection clause” based
on past experience.

(d) When the distributor sells goods to the ulti-
mate customers and there is no uncertainty
with respect to the “price protection” clause
or the buyback of goods.

Answer: (d)

7. Company XYZ Inc. manufacturers and sells stan-
dard machinery. One of the conditions in the sale
contract is that installation of machinery will be un-
dertaken by XYZ Inc. During December 2005, XYZ
received a special onetime contract from ABC Ltd. to
manufacture, install, and maintain customized ma-
chinery. It is the first time XYZ Inc. will be producing
this kind of machinery, and it is expecting numerous
changes that would need to be made to the machine
after the installation is completed, which one period is
described in the contract of sale as the “maintenance
period.” The total cost of making the changes during
the maintenance period cannot be reasonably esti-
mated at the time of the installation. When should the
revenue from sale of this special machine be recog-
nized?

(a) When the machinery is produced.

(b) When the machinery is produced and deliv-

ered.
(c) When the installation is complete.
(d) When the maintenance period as per the
contract of sale expires.

Answer: (d)
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14 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (IAS 19)

1. SCOPE

1.1 This Standard sets out the accounting and disclosure by employers for employee benefits.
1.2 The Standard identifies four main categories of employee benefit:

(1) Short-term employee benefits, such as wages, salaries, vocational holiday benefit, sick pay,
profit sharing or bonus plans paid within 12 months of the end of the period, and non-
monetary benefits, such as medical care and so on, for current employees.

(2) Postemployment benefits, such as pensions, postemployment medical benefits, and post-
employment life insurance.

(3) Termination benefits, such as severance pay.

(4) Other long-term employee benefits including long service leave or sabbatical leave.

1.3 Postemployment benefits are categorized as either defined contribution plans or defined bene-
fit plans.

2. DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS (in accordance with IAS 19)

Multiemployer plan. Either a defined contribution or a defined benefit plan that pools the
assets contributed by various companies that are not under common control and uses those
assets to provide benefits to employees of more than one entity.

Present value of a defined benefit obligation. The present value before deducting any
plan assets or any expected payments required to settle the obligation that has occurred as
a result of the service of employees in the current and previous periods.

Current service cost. The increase in the present value of the defined benefit obligation
that occurs as a result of employee service in the current period.

Interest cost. The increase in the period in the present value of the defined benefit obliga-
tion that arises because the benefits payable are one year closer to the settlement of the
scheme.

Plan assets. Those assets held by the employee benefit fund, including any qualifying in-
surance policies.

Return on plan assets. The interest, dividends, and any other income that is derived from
the plan assets together with any realized or unrealized gains or losses on those assets less
the cost of administering the plan and any tax payable by the plan.

Actuarial gains and losses. Experience adjustments and the effects of any changes in ac-
tuarial assumptions. Experience adjustments are differences between the previous actuarial
assumptions and what has actually happened.

Past service cost. The increased present value of a defined benefit obligation for employee
service in previous periods that has arisen because of the introduction of changes to the
benefits payable to employees. Past service costs may be positive or negative depending
on whether the benefits are improved or reduced.

3. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS AND DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS—
CLASSIFICATION

3.1 In defined contribution plans, an entity pays a fixed contribution into a separate entity (fund)
and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not
have sufficient assets to pay employee benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior
periods. An entity should recognize contributions to a defined contribution plan where an employee
has rendered service in exchange for those contributions.
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3.2 All other postemployment benefit plans are classified as defined benefit plans. Defined bene-
fit plans can be unfunded, partly funded, or wholly funded.

4. DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

4.1 IAS 19 requires an entity to account not only for its legal obligation to defined benefit plans
but also for any constructive obligation that arises.

4.2 In accounting for defined benefit plans, an entity should determine the present value of any
defined benefit obligation and the fair value of any plan assets with such regularity that the amount
shown in the financial statements does not differ materially from the amounts that would be deter-
mined at the balance sheet date.

4.3 Defined benefit plans should use the projected unit credit method to measure their obligations
and costs.

5. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

Under a defined contribution plan, payments or benefits provided to employees may be simply a
distribution of total fund assets or a third party—for example, an insurance entity—may assume the
obligation to provide the agreed level of payments or benefits to the employees. The employer is
not required to make up any shortfall in the fund’s assets.

6. CONTRASTING DEFINED BENEFIT AND DEFINED CONTRIBUTION

6.1 Under the defined benefits scheme, the benefits payable to the employees are not based solely
on the amount of the contributions, as in a defined contribution scheme; rather, they are determined
by the terms of the defined benefit plan.

6.2 This means that the risks remain with the employer, and the employer’s obligation is to pro-
vide the agreed amount of benefits to current and former employees. The benefits normally are
based on such factors as age, length of service, and compensation.

6.3 The employer retains the investment and actual risks of the plan. The accounting for defined
benefit plans is more complex than defined contributions plans.

Case Study 1

Facts

According to the pension plan of an entity, the employees and entity contribute 5% of the employee’s
salary to the plan, and the employee is guaranteed a return of the contributions plus 3% a year by the
employer.

Required
What classification would be given to the above pension scheme?
Solution

It is a defined benefit plan, as the employer has guaranteed a fixed rate of return and therefore carries the
risk.

7. ACCOUNTING FOR DEFINED CONTRIBUTION SCHEMES

7.1 The accounting for a defined contribution scheme is fairly simple because the employer’s ob-
ligation for each period is determined by the amount that had to be contributed to the scheme for
that period.

7.2 Contributions can be based on a formula that uses employee compensation as the basis for its
calculation.

7.3 There are no actuarial assumptions required to measure the obligation or expense, and there
are no actuarial gains or losses.

7.4 The employer recognizes the contribution payable at the end of each period based on em-
ployee service during that period. This amount is reduced by any payments made to employees in
the period.
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7.5 If the employer has made payments in excess of the required amount, this excess is treated as
a prepayment to the extent that the excess will lead to reduction in future contributions or refund of
cash.

8. ACCOUNTING FOR DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

8.1 The obligation of an employer under a defined benefit plan is to provide an agreed amount of
benefits to current and former employees in the future. Benefits may be in the form of cash pay-
ments or could be in-kind in terms of medical or other benefits.

8.2 Normally benefits will be based on age, length of service, and wage and salary levels. Pen-
sions and other long-term benefits plans are basically measured in the same way. Actuarial gains
and losses of long-term benefits plans other than pensions are reported immediately in net income.

8.3  The defined benefit plan can be unfunded, partially funded, or wholly funded by the em-
ployer. The employer contributes to a separate entity or fund that is legally separate from the re-
porting entity.

8.4  This fund then pays the benefits. The payment of benefits depends on the fund’s financial
position and the performance of its investments.

8.5 However, the payment of benefits will also depend on the employer’s ability to pay and to
make good any shortfall in the fund. The employer is essentially guaranteeing the fund’s invest-
ment and actuarial risk.

8.6  Accounting for defined benefit plans is more complex because actuarial assumptions are
needed to determine the obligation and the expenses. Often the actual results differ from those de-
termined under the actuarial valuation method. The difference between these results creates actu-
arial gains and losses.

8.7 Discounting is used because the obligations often will be settled several years after the em-
ployee gives the service. Usually actuaries are employed to calculate the defined benefit obligation
and also the current and past service costs.

9. KEY INFORMATION: DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS
9.1 The entity must determine certain key information for each material employee benefit plan.

9.2 This information is required:

* A reliable estimate is required of the amount of the benefit that the employees have earned in
the current and prior period for service rendered.

* That benefit must be discounted using the projected unit credit method in order to determine
the present value of the defined benefit obligation and the current service cost.

* The fair value of any plan assets should be determined.

* The total amount of actuarial gains and losses and the amount of those actuarial gains and
losses that are to be recognized must be calculated.

* The past service costs should be determined in cases in which there has been a change or an
introduction of a plan.

* The resulting gain or loss should be calculated in cases in which a plan has been curtailed,
changed, or settled.

9.3 The entity must account not only for its legal obligation but also for any constructive obliga-
tion that arises from any informal practices. For example, the situation could arise wherein the en-
tity has no realistic alternative but to pay employee benefits even though the formal terms of a de-
fined benefit plan may permit an entity to terminate its obligation under the plan.

Case Study 2

Facts

A director of an entity receives a retirement benefit of 10% of his final salary per annum for his con-
tractual period of three years. The director does not contribute to the scheme. His anticipated salary over
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the three years is Year 1 $100,000, Year 2 $120,000, and Year 3 $144,000. Assume a discount rate of
5%.

Required
Calculate the current service cost, the pension liability, and the interest cost for the three years.

Solution

$ $
$ Discounted 3 Liability 3

3 3 Current current Interest cost brought Liability at
Year Salary service cost service cost (5% x liability) forward vear-end

1 100,000 14,400 13,061 - - 13,061

2 120,000 14,400 13,714 653 13,061 27,428

3 144,000 14.400 14,400 1,372 27,428 43,200
Total 43,200 41,175 2,025

10. BALANCE SHEET

10.1 The amount recognized in the balance sheet could be either an asset or a liability calculated
at the balance sheet date.

10.2 The amount recognized will be

(a) The present value of the defined benefit obligation, plus

(b) Any actuarial gains less losses not yet recognized because the gains and losses fall outside
the limits of the corridor, minus

(c) Any past service cost not yet recognized, and minus

(d) The fair value of the plan assets at the balance sheet date.

10.3 If the result of the preceding calculation is a positive amount, then a liability is incurred, and
it is recorded in full in the balance sheet.

10.4 Any negative amount is an asset that is subject to a recoverability test. The asset recognized
is the lesser of the negative amount calculated above or the net total of

* Any unrecognized net actuarial losses and past service costs, and
* The present value of any benefits available in the form of refunds or reductions in future em-
ployer contributions to the plan.

Case Study 3

Facts
An entity has these balances relating to its defined benefit plan:

* Present value of the obligation: $33 million

Fair value of plan assets: $37 million

Actuarial losses: $3 million unrecognized

Past service cost: $2 million unrecognized

Present value of available future refunds and reduction in future contributions: $1 million

Required

Calculate the value that will be given to the net plan asset under IAS 19.

Solution

The negative amount (asset) determined under the Standard will be $33 million minus $37 million, mi-
nus $3 million, minus $2 million, which equals $9 million. The limit under IAS 19 is computed in this
way: unrecognized actuarial losses of $3 million plus unrecognized past service cost of $2 million, plus
the present value of available future refunds and reductions in future contributions of $1 million, which

equals $6 million. The entity recognizes an asset of $6 million and discloses the fact that the limit has
reduced the carrying amount of the asset by $3 million.

10.5 Any element of the asset that is not recognized in the balance sheet must be disclosed. It is
often difficult to determine the benefits available in the form of refunds or reductions in future em-
ployer contributions.

A

A
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10.6  The control of pension and benefit plans is often dependent on national laws and regula-
tions, which are unlikely to allow refunds to employers of overfunded amounts. The trustees of the
pension plan are also unlikely to allow the management of an entity to reduce the contributions to a
plan up to the limit of any overfunded amount.

Practical Insight

Océ, NV, a Dutch entity, accounted for pension liabilities in accordance with IAS 19 for
the first time in its 2003 accounts. The entity says that the adoption of IAS 19 results in
more transparent reporting and reduces volatility of pension costs. A note discloses that
comparative figures relating to pension disclosures are not available and that the effect of
adopting IAS 19 is to increase the provision for pensions by €260 million and decrease net
assets by €175 million.

11. INCOME STATEMENT

The amount of the expense or income for a particular period is determined by a number of factors.
The pension expense is the net of these items:

(a) Current service cost

(b) Interest cost

(c) The expected return on any plan assets and on any reimbursement rights

(d) Actuarial gains and losses to the extent recognized

(e) Past service cost to the extent that the Standard requires the entity to recognize it
(f) The effect of any curtailments or settlements

12. MEASURING THE DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION

12.1 The entity should use the projected unit credit method to determine the present value of its
defined benefit obligation, the related current service cost, and past service cost.

12.2 This method looks at each period of service, which creates an additional increment of bene-
fit entitlement. The method then measures each unit of benefit entitlement separately to build up
the final obligation. The whole of the postemployment benefit obligation is discounted. The use of
this method involves a number of actuarial assumptions. These assumptions are the entity’s best
estimate of the variables that will determine the final cost of the postemployment benefits provided.
These variables include assumptions about mortality rates, change in retirement age, and financial
assumptions, such as discount rates and benefit levels.

12.3  Any assumptions should be compatible, unbiased, and neither imprudent nor excessively
conservative. The Standard provides guidance on certain key assumptions.

13. PLAN ASSETS

13.1 Plan assets are measured at fair value. Fair value is normally market value where available
or an estimated value where it is not.

13.2  Fair value can be determined by discounting future expected cash flows using a discount
rate that reflects risk and the maturity or expected disposal date of those assets. Plan assets specifi-
cally exclude

(a) Unpaid contributions due from the employer
(b) Nontransferable financial instruments issued by the entity and held by the fund

1] Nonqualifying insurance policies
14. PENSION ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

14.1  Often an entity may have a number of employment benefit plans. Plan assets and plan li-
abilities from the different plans are normally presented separately in the balance sheet.

14.2 The offsetting of assets and liabilities is permitted only where there is a legally enforceable
right to use the surplus in one plan to settle the obligation in another. The employer also must in-
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tend to settle the obligations on a net basis or to realize the surplus in one plan and settle the obli-
gation in another plan simultaneously.

14.3 Because of these requirements, it is unlikely that the offsetting of assets and liabilities will
occur.

14.4 If an entity acquires another entity, then the purchaser recognizes the assets and liabilities
arising from acquiree’s postemployment benefits at the present value of the defined benefit obliga-
tion less the fair value of any plan assets. At the acquisition date, the present value of the obligation
includes

(a) Actuarial gains and losses that arose before the acquisition date, whether inside or outside
the 10% corridor

(b) Past service costs that arise from benefit changes before the acquisition date

(c) Amounts that had arisen under the transitional provisions that the acquiree had not recog-
nized

14.5 Where an entity first adopts this Standard, the entity will apply IAS 8, Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates, and Errors. IAS 19 sets out the transitional arrangements in
paragraphs 153 to 156.

15. CURTAILMENTS AND SETTLEMENTS

15.1 A curtailment occurs when an entity either reduces the number of employees covered by the
plan or amends the terms of a defined benefit plan. An amendment would normally be such that a
material element of future service by current employees will no longer qualify for benefits or will
qualify for a reduction in benefits.

15.2  Curtailments are likely to have a material impact on the entity’s financial statements and
often are linked to restructuring or reorganization. They should be recognized in the financial
statements at the same time as the restructuring.

15.3 An entity settles its obligations when it enters into a transaction that eliminates a future legal
and constructive obligation for part or all of the benefits provided under a defined benefit plan.

15.4 Settlements are usually lump-sum cash payments made to or on behalf of plan participants
in exchange for the right to receive specified future benefits. A settlement occurs together with a
curtailment if a plan is terminated such that the obligation is settled and the plan ceases to exist.

15.5 The plan does not cease to exist if the plan is replaced by a new plan that offers benefits that
are in substance identical. If the entity acquires an insurance policy to fund some or all of the em-
ployee benefits, the acquisition of such a policy is not a settlement if the entity retains a legal or
constructive obligation to pay further amounts if the insurance policy does not pay the employee
benefits.

15.6 Where a curtailment relates to only some employees covered by the plan, the obligation is
only partly settled, and any gain or loss calculated should include a proportionate share of the pre-
viously unrecognized past service cost and actuarial gains and losses.

15.7 The settlement gain and loss is based on

(a) Any resultant change in defined benefit obligation

(b) Any resultant change in the fair value of the plan assets

(c) Any related actuarial gains and losses and past service cost that have not been recognized
previously

15.8 Before determining the effect of a curtailment, the entity shall remeasure the obligation and
plan assets using current actuarial assumptions.

Case Study 4

Facts

An entity closes down its subsidiary, and the employees of that subsidiary will earn no further pension
benefits. The entity has a defined benefit obligation with a net present value of $20 million. The plan as-
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sets have a fair value of $16 million, and there are net cumulative and unrecognized actuarial gains of $8
million. The entity had adopted IAS 19 two years previously, and it has decided to recognize the in-
creased liability of $10 million over a five-year period from that date. The curtailment reduces the net
present value of the obligation by $2 million to $18 million.

Required
Calculate the curtailment gain and the net liability recognized in the balance sheet after the curtailment.

Solution

Before Gain on After
curtailment curtailment curtailment

$ $ $
NPV of obligation 20 2 18
Fair value of plan assets (16) _- 16)

4 2) 2
Unrecognized actuarial gains 8 (0.8) 7.2
Unrecognized transitional amount (3/5 of 10) (6) 0.6 5.4)
Net liability in balance sheet _6 2.2) 3.8

16. ACTUARIAL GAINS AND LOSSES—DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS
An entity can recognize actuarial gains and losses in the following ways:

16.1 An entity should recognize a portion of its actuarial gains and losses as income or expense if
the net cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses at the end of the previous reporting pe-
riod (i.e., at the beginning of the current financial year) exceeds the greater of

(a) 10% of the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the year; and
(b) 10% of the fair value of the plan assets at the same date.

16.2 These limits should be calculated and applied separately for each defined plan. The excess
determined by this method is then divided by the expected average remaining lives of the employ-
ees in the plan.

16.3 An entity can adopt any other systematic method that results in a faster recognition of actu-
arial gains and losses, provided that the same basis is applied to both gains and losses and that the
basis is applied consistently from period to period.

16.4  Entities have the option of recognizing actuarial gains and losses in full in the period in
which they occur but outside profit or loss in the statement of recognized income and expense. This
must be done for all defined benefit plans and for all of its actuarial gains and losses.

Case Study 5

Facts

An entity has a defined benefit pension plan. As of January 1, 20X4, these values relate to the pension
scheme:

* Fair value of plan assets: $50 million

* Present value of defined benefit obligation: $45 million

* Cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains: $8 million

» Average remaining working lives of employees: 20 years

At the end of the period at December 31, 20X4, the fair value of the plan assets has risen by $5 million.
The present value of the defined benefit obligation has risen by $3 million. The actuarial gain is $10
million, and the average remaining working lives of the employees is 20 years. The entity wishes to
know the difference between the corridor approach and the full recognition of actuarial gains and losses.

Required

Show how the actuarial gain or loss for the period ending December 31, 20X4, could be recognized in
the financial statements.

A

A
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Solution
Corridor Approach

The entity must recognize the portion of the net actuarial gain or loss in excess of 10% of the greater of
defined benefit obligation or the fair value of the plan assets at the beginning of the year.

Unrecognized actuarial gain at the beginning of the year was $8 million. The limit of the corridor is 10%
of $50 million, or $5 million. The difference is $3 million, which divided by 20 years is $0.15 million.

Full Recognition Approach

Under this approach, the full amount of the actuarial gains ($10 million) will be recognized in the state-
ment of recognized income and expense.

Practical Insight

Georg Tisher AG, a Swiss entity, discloses in its 2002 accounts that under IAS 19, unrec-
ognized actuarial losses amounted to 163 million Swiss francs, but these reduce to 60 mil-
lion Swiss Francs when calculated in accordance with Swiss law. This difference is due to
the fact that future salary and pension increases are excluded from the calculation under
Swiss law but not under IAS 19.

17. DISCLOSURE

17.1 The elements of the pension expense can be either segregated and presented as current ser-
vice cost, interest cost, and return of plan assets or presented as a single amount within the income
Statement.

17.2  Sufficient disclosure is required to provide an understanding of the significance of the en-
tity’s employee benefit plans.

17.3 The pension disclosures are set out in paragraphs 120 to 143 of the Standard; they are exten-
sive and quite detailed. Items that require disclosure are the accounting policy for recognizing actu-
arial gains and losses, description of the plan, components of the total expense in the income state-
ment, principal actuarial assumptions used, reconciliation of the net liability for assets recognized
in the balance sheet from one year to the next, the funded status of the plan, the fair value of the
plan assets for each category of the entity’s own financial instruments, any property occupied or
other assets used by the reporting entity, and disclosures about related-party transactions and con-
tingencies.

Case Study 6

Facts
This information related to a defined benefit plan for the year ended December 31, 20X6:

(a) Current service cost of providing benefits for the year to December 31, 20X6: $30 million

(b) Average remaining working life of employees: 10 years

(c) Benefits paid to retired employees in the year: $31 million

(d) Contributions paid to the fund: $21 million

(e) Present value of obligation to provide benefits: $2,200 million at January 1, 20X6, and $2,500
million at December 31, 20X6

(f) Fair value of plan assets: $2,100 million at January 1, 20X6, and $2,400 million at December
31,20X6

(g) Net cumulative unrecognized gains at January 1, 20X6: $252 million

(h) Past service cost: $115 million. All of these benefits have vested.

(1) Discount rates and expected rates of return on plan assets:

January 1. 20X6 January 1, 20X7

Disount rate 5% 6%
Expected rate of return on plan assets 7% 8%

The entity wishes to use the corridor approach to recognizing actuarial gains and losses.

A

A
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Required

Show the amounts that will be recognized in the balance sheet and income statement for the year ended
December 31, 20X6, under IAS 19, Employee Benefits, and the movement in the net liability in the bal-
ance sheet.

Solution

Amounts recognized in balance sheet:

Present value of the obligation
Fair value of plan assets

Unrecognized actuarial gains
Liability recognized in balance sheet

Expense recognized in income statement for year ended
December 31, 20X6:

Current service cost

Interest cost

Expected return on assets
Past service cost

Actuarial gain recognized
Expense in income statement

Movement in net liability in balance sheet:

Opening net liability (2,200 — 2,100 + 252)
Expense

Contributions

Closing liability

Changes in the present value of obligation and fair value of
plan assets:

Present value of obligation January 1, 20X6
Interest cost (5% of 2,200)

Current service cost

Past service cost

Benefits paid

Actuarial loss on obligation (balance)

Present value of obligation December 31, 20X6

Fair value of plan assets January 1, 20X6
Expected return on plan assets (7% of 2100)
Contributions

Benefits paid

Actuarial gain on plan assets (balance)

Fair value of plan assets December 31, 20X6

Using the Corridor Approach

Limits of corridor:

apcBourselir,

Net cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains at January
1, 20X6

Limits of corridor (greater of 10% of 2200 [present
value of obligation] and 2100 [fair value of plan
assets] at January 1, 20X6)

Excess
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at December 31, 20X6
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2,500
(2.400)
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)
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30
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2.500
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Average remaining working lives of employees is 10 years. Therefore, the actuarial gain to be recog-
nized in the income statement is $32 million divided by 10, or $3.2 million.

Sm
Actuarial gains and losses recognized in balance sheet
Balance at January 1, 20X6 252
Actuarial loss on obligation (76)
Actuarial gain — plan assets 163
339
Actuarial gain to income statement _(3
Unrecognized actuarial gain 336
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. An entity contributes to an industrial pension
plan that provides a pension arrangement for its em-
ployees. A large number of other employers also
contribute to the pension plan, and the entity makes
contributions in respect of each employee. These
contributions are kept separate from corporate assets
and are used together with any investment income to
purchase annuities for retired employees. The only
obligation of the entity is to pay the annual contribu-
tions. This pension scheme is a
(a) Multiemployer plan and a defined contribu-
tion scheme.
(b) Multiemployer plan and a defined benefit
scheme.
(c) Defined contribution plan only.
(d) Defined benefit plan only.

Answer: (a)

2.  Which of these events will cause a change in a
defined benefit obligation?

(a) Changes in mortality rates or the proportion
of employees taking early retirement.

(b) Changes in the estimated salaries or benefits
that will occur in the future.

(¢) Changes in the estimated employee turn-
over.

(d) Changes in the discount rate used to calcu-
late defined benefit liabilities and the value
of assets.

(e) All of the above.

Answer: (e)

3. An entity has decided to improve its defined
benefit pension scheme. The benefit payable will be
determined by reference to 60 years service rather
than 80 years service. As a result, the defined benefit
pension liability will increase by $10 million. The
average remaining service lives of the employees is
10 years. How should the increase in the pension li-
ability by $10 million be treated in the financial
statements?

(a) The past service cost should be charged
against retained profit.

(b) The past service cost should be charged
against profit or loss for the year.

(c) The past service cost should be spread over
the remaining working lives of the employ-
ees.

(d) The past service cost should not be recog-
nized.

Answer: (b)

4. Which of these elements are taken into account
when determining the discount rate to be used?
(a) Market yields at the balance sheet date on
high-quality corporate bonds.
(b) Investment or actuarial risk.
(c) Specific risk associated with the entity’s
business.
(d) Risk that future experiences may differ from
actuarial assumptions.

Answer: (a)
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5. An entity operates a defined benefit plan that
pays employees an annual benefit based on their
number of years of service. The annual payment does
allow the employer to vary the final benefit. Over the
last five years the entity has used this flexibility to
increase employees’ pensions by the current growth
in earnings per share. How will employees’ benefit be
calculated if they retire in the current period?

(a) It will be based on the existing plan rules
with no additional award.

(b) It will be based on the existing plan rules
plus the current rate of growth of earnings
per share.

(c) It will be based on the plan rules plus the
current rate of inflation.

(d) It will be based on the plan rules plus the in-
crease in earnings per share anticipated over
the remaining working lives of the employ-
ees.

Answer: (b)

6. Which of these assets should be included within
the valuation of plan assets?

(a) Unpaid contributions.

(b) Unlisted corporate bonds that are redeem-
able but not transferable without the entity’s
permission.

(c) A loan to the entity that cannot be assigned
to a third party.

(d) Investments in listed companies.

Answer: (d)

7. An entity has decided to protect its pension obli-
gation with an insurance policy. The insurance policy
permits the entity to cash in the insurance policy. Is
this insurance policy a qualifying insurance policy
that will be included in plan assets?

(a) Yes.

(b) No.

Answer: (b)

8. An entity uses International Financial Reporting
Standards to prepare its financial statements, but the
defined benefit obligation has been calculated using
assumptions that are different from IFRS. The finan-
cial statements of the entity also do not take into ac-
count unrecognized past service costs. How should
the entity measure its net pension liability?

(a) The net present value of the defined benefit
obligation less the fair value of the plan as-
sets.

(b) The net present value of the defined benefit
obligation less the fair value of plan assets
less the unrecognized past service costs.

(c) The net present value of the defined benefit
obligation less the fair value of the plan as-
sets less the unrecognized past service costs.
In addition, a review of the assumptions
should be undertaken to remeasure the obli-
gation.

(d) The value in the entity’s balance sheet will
simply be used in the consolidated financial
statements.

Answer: (c)
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9. An entity operates a defined benefit pension plan
and changes it on January 1, 20X4, to a defined con-
tribution plan. The defined benefit plan still relates to
past service but not to future service. The net pension
liability after the plan amendment is $70 million, and
the net pension liability before the amendment was
$100 million. How should the entity account for this
change?

(a) The entity recognizes a gain of $30 million.

(b) The entity does not recognize a gain.

(c) The entity recognizes a gain of $30 million
over the remaining service lives of the em-
ployees.

(d) The entity recognizes the gain but applies
the 10% corridor approach to it.

Answer: (a)

10. An entity on December 31, 20XS5, changes its
defined benefit pension plan to a defined contribution
plan. The entity agrees with the employees to pay
them $9 million in total on the introduction of a de-
fined contribution plan. The employees forfeit any
pension entitlement for the defined benefit plan. The
pension liability recognized in the balance sheet at
December 31, 20X4, was $10 million. How should
this curtailment be accounted for in the balance sheet
at December 31, 20X57?

(a) A settlement gain of $1 million should be
shown.

(b) The pension liability should be credited to
reserves and a cash payment of $9 million
should be shown in expense in the income
statement.

(c) The cash payment should go to reserves and
the pension liability should be shown as a
credit to the income statement.

(d) A credit to reserves should be made of $1
million.

Answer: (a)
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15 ACCOUNTING FOR GOVERNMENT GRANTS
AND DISCLOSURE OF GOVERNMENT
ASSISTANCE (IAS 20)

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Government grants or other types of government assistance are usually intended to encourage
entities to embark on activities that they would not have otherwise undertaken. IAS 20 sets out the
accounting treatment and disclosure of “government grants” and the disclosure requirements
(only) of “government assistance.”

1.2 Government assistance, according to the Standard, is action by the government aimed at pro-
viding economic benefits to some constituency by subsidizing entities that will provide them with
jobs, services, or goods that might not otherwise be either available or available at a desired cost.
Depending on the nature of the assistance given and the associated conditions, government assis-
tance can be of many types, including grants, forgivable loans, and indirect or nonmonetary forms
of assistance, such as technical advice.

1.3 A government grant is government assistance that entails the transfer of resources in return
for compliance, either past or future, with certain conditions relating to the entity’s operating ac-
tivities, such as for remediating a polluted plant site.

2. SCOPE

2.1 IAS 20 deals with the accounting treatment and disclosure requirements of grants received by
entities from government. It also mandates disclosure requirements of other forms of government
assistance.

2.2 The Standard provides four exclusions:

(1) Special problems arising in reflecting the effects of changing prices on financial statements
or similar supplementary information.

(2) Government assistance provided in the form of tax benefits (including income tax holidays,
investment tax credits, accelerated depreciation allowances, and concessions in tax rates).

(3) Government participation in the ownership of the entity.

(4) Government grants covered by IAS 41.

3. DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS (in accordance with IAS 20)

Fair value. The amount for which an asset could be exchanged between a knowledgeable,
willing buyer and a knowledgeable, willing seller in an arm’s-length transaction.

Forgivable loans. Those loans that the lender undertakes to waive repayment of under certain
prescribed conditions.

Government. For the purposes of IAS 20, refers not only to a government (of a country), as is
generally understood, but also to government agencies and similar bodies, whether local, na-
tional, or international.

Government assistance. Action by a government aimed at providing an economic benefit to
an entity or group of entities qualifying under certain criteria. It includes a government grant
and other kinds of nonmonetary government assistance, such as providing, at no cost, legal
advice to an entrepreneur for setting up a business in a free trade zone. It excludes benefits
provided indirectly through action affecting trading conditions in general; for example, laying
roads that connect the industrial area in which an entity operates to the nearest city or impos-
ing trade constraints on foreign companies in order to protect domestic entrepreneurs in
general.
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Government grant. A form of government assistance that involves the transfer of resources
to an entity in return for past or future compliance (by the entity) of certain conditions relating
to its operating activities. It excludes:

* Those forms of government assistance that cannot reasonably be valued
* Transactions with governments that cannot be distinguished from the normal trading
transactions of the entity

Grants related to assets. Those government grants whose primary condition is that an entity
qualifying for them should acquire (either purchase or construct) a long-term asset or assets.
Subsidiary conditions may also be attached to such grants. Examples of subsidiary conditions
include specifying the type of long-term assets, location of long-term assets, or periods during
which the long-term assets are to be acquired or held.

Grants related to income. Government grants other than those related to assets.

4. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

4.1 Government grants are assistance provided by government by transfer of resources (either
monetary or nonmonetary) to entities. In order to qualify as a government grant, the grant should
be provided by the government, to an entity, in return for past or future compliance with conditions
relating to the operating activities of the entity.

4.2  For quite some time, it has been unclear whether the provisions of IAS 20 would apply to
government assistance aimed at encouraging or supporting business activities in certain regions or
industry sectors, because related conditions may not specifically relate to the operating activities of
the entity. Examples of such grants are government grants that involve transfer of resources to en-
tities to operate in a particular area (i.e., an economically backward area) or a particular industry
(i.e., an agriculture-based industry that, due to its low profitability, may not be a popular choice of
entrepreneurs). The Standing Interpretations Committee’s Interpretation, SIC 10, has clarified that
“the general requirement to operate in certain regions or industry sectors in order to qualify for the
government assistance constitutes such a condition in accordance with IAS 20.” This Interpretation
has set to rest the confusion as to whether such government assistance falls within the definition of
government grants and thus whether the requirements of IAS 20 apply to such government assis-
tance.

5. RECOGNITION OF GOVERNMENT GRANTS

5.1 Ciriteria for Recognition

Government grants are provided in return for past or future compliance with certain conditions.
Thus grants should not be recognized until there is reasonable assurance that both

* The entity will comply with the conditions attaching to the grant; and
* The grant(s) will be received.

5.2 Recognition Period

5.2.1 The Standard discusses two broad approaches with respect to the accounting treatment of
government grants—the “capital approach” and the “income approach.” It is fairly evident that IAS
20 is not in favor of the capital approach, which requires a government grant to be directly credited
to the shareholders’ equity. Supporting the income approach, the Standard sets out this rule for rec-
ognition of government grants: “Government grants should be recognized as income, on a system-
atic and rational basis, over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs.” As a cor-
ollary, and by way of abundant precaution, the Standard reiterates that government grants should
not be credited directly to shareholders’ interests.

5.2.2 In setting out this rule, the Standard expands it further and lays down additional principles
for recognition of grants under different conditions. These rules are explained in the case studies.
5.2.2.1 Principle 1: “Grants in recognition of specific costs are recognized as income over the
same period as the relevant expense.”

According to the Standard, grants in recognition of specific costs should be taken to income “over
the period which matches the costs” using a “systematic and rational basis.”

abcBourselir 91 @abcBourselir, sl -



http://abcbourse.ir/

124

5.2

Wiley IFRS Workbook and Guide

Case Study 1

Facts

Brilliant Inc. received a grant of $60 million to compensate it for costs it incurred in planting trees over a
period of five years. Brilliant Inc. will incur such costs in this manner:

Year Costs
1 $ 2 million
2 $ 4 million
3 $ 6 million
4 $ 8 million
5 $10 million

Total costs thus incurred will aggregate to $30 million, whereas the grant received is $60 million.
Required

Based on the provisions of IAS 20, how would Brilliant Inc. treat the “grant” in its books?
Solution

Applying the principle outlined in the Standard for recognition of the grant, that is, recognizing the grant
as income “over the period which matches the costs” using a “systematic and rational basis” (in this
case, sum-of-the-years’ digits amortization), the total grant would be recognized as:

Year Grant recognized

$ 60 % (2/30) =$ 4 million
$ 60 % (4/30) =$ 8 million
$ 60 % (6/30) = $12 million
$ 60 X (8/30) = $16 million
$ 60 X (10/30) = $20 million

2.2 Principle 2: “Grants related to depreciable assets are usually recognized as income over

AW -

the periods and in the proportions in which depreciation on those assets is charged.”

5.2

Case Study 2

Facts

Intelligent Corp. received a grant of $150 million to install and run a windmill in an economically back-
ward area. Intelligent Inc. has estimated that such a windmill would cost $250 million to construct. The
secondary condition attached to the grant is that the entity should hire labor in the local market (i.e.,
from the economically backward area where the windmill is located) instead of employing workers from
other parts of the country. It should maintain a ratio of 1:1 local workers to workers from outside in its
labor force for the next 5 years. The windmill is to be depreciated using the straight-line method over a
period of 10 years.

Required
Adpvise Intelligent Corp. on the treatment of this grant in accordance with IAS 20.
Solution

The grant received by Intelligent Corp. will be recognized over a period of 10 years. In each of the 10
years, the grant will be recognized in proportion to the annual depreciation on the windmill. Thus $15
million will be recognized as income in each of the 10 years. With regard to the secondary condition of
maintenance of the ratio of 1:1 in the labor force, this contingency would need to be disclosed in the
footnotes to the financial statements for the next 5 years (during which period the condition is in force),
in accordance with disclosure requirements of IAS 37.

2.3 Principle 3: “Grants related to nondepreciable assets may also require the fulfillment

of certain obligations and would then be recognized as income over periods which bear the cost
of meeting the obligations.”

Case Study 3
Facts

Citimart Inc. was granted 5,000 acres of land in a village, located near the slums outside the city limits,
by a local government authority. The condition attached to this grant was that Citimart Inc. should clean

A
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up this land and lay roads by employing laborers from the village in which the land is located. The gov-
ernment has fixed the minimum wage payable to the workers. The entire operation will take three years
and is estimated to cost $100 million. This amount will be spent in this way: $20 million each in the first
and second years and $60 million in the third year. The fair value of this land is currently $120 million.
Required

Based on the principles laid down for accounting and recognition of grants, how should this grant be
treated in the books of Citimart Inc.?

Solution

Citimart Inc. would need to recognize the fair value of the grant over the period of three years in propor-
tion to the cost of meeting the obligation. Thus, $120 million will be recognized as

Year Grant recognized
1 $120 x (20/100) = $24 million
2 $120 % (20/100) = $24 million
3 $120 % (60/100) = $72 million
5.2.2.4 Principle 4: “Grants are sometimes received as part of a package of financial or fiscal
aids to which a number of conditions are attached.”

When different conditions attach to different components of the grant, the terms of the grant would
have to be evaluated in order to determine how the entity would earn the various elements of the
grant. Based on that assessment, the total grant amount would then be apportioned.

Case Study 4

Exuberant Inc. received a consolidated grant of $120 million. Three-fourths of the grant is to be utilized
to purchase a college building for students from underdeveloped or developing countries. The balance of
the grant is for subsidizing the tuition costs of those students for four years from the date of the grant.

The grant would first be apportioned as

Grant related to assets (3/4) $90 million
Grant related to income (1/4) $30 million

Required

Advise Exuberant Inc. on the treatment of the grant in accordance with TAS 20.

Solution

The grant related to assets would be recognized in income over the useful life of the college building, for
example, 10 years, using a systematic and rational basis. Assuming the college building is depreciated
using the straight-line method, this portion of the grant (i.e., $90 million) would be recognized as income
over a period of 10 years at $9 million per year.

The grant related to income would be recognized over a period of 4 years. Assuming that the tuition sub-

sidy will be offered evenly over the period of 4 years, this portion of the grant (i.e., $30 million) would
be taken to income over a period of 4 years at $7.5 million per year.

5.2.2.5 Principle 5: “A government grant that becomes receivable as compensation for ex-
penses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
entity with no future related costs should be recognized as income of the period in which it be-
comes receivable.”

5.2.2.5.1 Sometimes grants are awarded for the purposes of giving immediate financial support to
an entity, for example, to revive an insolvent commercial business (referred to as sick unit in third-
world countries). Such grants are not given as incentives to invest funds in specified areas or for a
specified purpose from which the benefits will be derived over a period of time in the future. In-
stead such grants are awarded to compensate an entity for losses incurred in the past. Thus they
should be recognized as income in the period in which the entity becomes eligible to receive such
grants.

5.2.2.5.2 A grant may be awarded to an entity to compensate it for losses incurred in the past for
operating out of an economically backward area that has been hit recently by an earthquake. Dur-
ing the period the entity operated in that area, the area experienced an earthquake, and thus the en-
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tity incurred massive losses. Such a grant received by the entity should be recognized as income in
the year in which the grant becomes receivable.

6. NONMONETARY GRANTS

A government grant may not always be given in cash or cash equivalents. Sometimes a government
grant may take the form of a transfer of a nonmonetary asset, such as grant of a plot of land or a
building in a remote backward area. In these circumstances, the Standard prescribes these optional
accounting treatments:

* To account for both the grant and the asset at the fair value of the nonmonetary asset, or
* To record both the asset and the grant at a “nominal amount”

7. PRESENTATION OF GRANTS RELATED TO ASSETS
7.1 Presentation on the Balance Sheet

Government grants related to assets, including nonmonetary grants at fair value, should be pre-
sented in the balance sheet in either of two ways:

(1) By setting up the grant as deferred income
(2) By deducting the grant in arriving at the carrying amount of the asset

Case Study 5

Facts

Taj Corp. received a grant related to a factory building that it bought in 2005. The total amount of the
grant was $9 million. Taj Corp. acquired the building from an industrialist identified by the government.
If Taj Corp. did not purchase the factory building, which was located in the slums of the city, it would
have been repossessed by a government agency. Taj Corp. purchased the factory building for $27 mil-
lion. The useful life of the building is not considered to be more than three years, mainly due to the fact
that it was not properly maintained by the previous owner.

Solution
Under Option 1: Set up the grant as deferred income.

* The grant of $9 million would be set up initially as deferred income in 2005.

» At the end of 2005, $3 million would be recognized as income, and the balance of $6 million
would be carried forward in the balance sheet.

» At the end of 2006, $3 million would be taken to income, and the balance of $3 million would be
carried forward in the balance sheet.

» At the end of 2007, $3 million would be taken to income.

Under Option 2: The grant will be deducted from carrying value.

The grant of $9 million is deducted from the gross book value of the asset to arrive at the carrying value
of $18 million. As the useful life is three years, annual depreciation of $6 million per year is charged to
the income statement for the years 2005, 2006, and 2007.

The effect on the operating results is the same whether the first or the second option is chosen.
Under the second option, the grant is indirectly recognized in income through the reduced depreciation
charge of $3 million per year. Under the first option, it is taken to income directly.

7.2 Presentation in the Cash Flow Statement

When grants related to assets are received in cash, there is an inflow of cash to be shown under the
investing activities section of the cash flow statement. Furthermore, there would also be an outflow
resulting from the purchase of the asset. IAS 20 specifically requires that both these movements
should be shown separately and not be netted. The Standard further clarifies that such movements
should be shown separately regardless of whether the grant is deducted from the related asset for
the purposes of the balance sheet presentation or not.

7.3 Presentation of Grants Related to Income
The Standard allows a free choice between two presentations.
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Option 1:  Grant presented as a credit in the income statement, either separately or under a
general heading other income

Option 2:  Grant deducted in reporting the related expense

The Standard does not favor either option. It acknowledges the reasoning given in support of each
approach by its supporters. The Standard considers both methods to be acceptable. However, it
does recommend disclosure of the grant for a proper understanding of the financial statements. The
Standard recognizes that the disclosure of the effect of the grants on any item of income or expense
may be appropriate.

8. REPAYMENT OF GOVERNMENT GRANTS

8.1 When a government grant becomes repayable, for example, due to nonfulfillment of a condi-
tion attaching to it, it should be treated as a change in estimate under IAS 8 and accounted for pro-
spectively (as opposed to retrospectively).

8.2 Repayment of a grant related to income should

* First be applied against any unamortized deferred income (credit) set up in respect of the
grant

* To the extent the repayment exceeds any such deferred income (credit), or in case no de-
ferred credit exists, the repayment should be recognized immediately as an expense.

8.3 Repayment of a grant related to an asset

* Should be recorded by increasing the carrying amount of the asset or reducing the deferred
income balance by the amount repayable

* The cumulative additional depreciation that would have been recognized to date as an ex-
pense in the absence of the grant should be recognized immediately as an expense.

8.4 When a grant related to an asset becomes repayable, it would become incumbent upon the
entity to assess whether any impairment in value of the asset (to which the repayable grant relates)
has resulted. For example, a bridge is being constructed through funding from a government grant.
During the construction period, because of nonfulfillment of the terms of the grant, the grant be-
came repayable. Because the grant was provided to assist in the construction, it is possible that the
entity may not be in a position to arrange funds to complete the project. In such a circumstance, the
asset is impaired and may need to be written down to its recoverable value, in accordance with IAS
36.

9. GOVERNMENT ASSISTANCE

9.1 Government assistance includes government grants. IAS 20 deals with both accounting and
disclosure of government grants but only with disclosure requirements of government assistance.
Thus government assistance comprises government grants and other forms of government assis-
tance (i.e., those not involving transfer of resources).

9.2 Excluded from the government assistance are certain forms of government benefits that can-
not reasonably have a value placed on them, such as free technical or other professional advice.
Also excluded from government assistance are government benefits that cannot be distinguished
from the normal trading transactions of the entity. The reason for the second exclusion is obvious:
Although the benefit cannot be disputed, any attempt to segregate it would necessarily be arbitrary.

10. DISCLOSURES

IAS 20 prescribes these three disclosures:

(1) The accounting policy adopted for government grants, including the methods of presenta-
tion adopted in the financial statements

(2) The nature and extent of government grants recognized in the financial statements and an
indication of other forms of government assistance from which the entity has directly bene-
fited

(3) Unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attaching to government assistance that has
been recognized
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. In the case of a nonmonetary grant, which of the
following accounting treatments is prescribed by IAS
20?
(a) Record the asset at replacement cost and the
grant at a nominal value.
(b) Record the grant at a value estimated by man-
agement.
(¢) Record both the grant and the asset at fair
value of the nonmonetary asset.
(d) Record only the asset at fair value; do not rec-
ognize the fair value of the grant.

Answer: (¢)

2. In the case of grants related to an asset, which of
these accounting treatments (balance sheet presentation)
is prescribed by IAS 20?

(a) Record the grant at a nominal value in the first
year and write it off in the subsequent year.

(b) Either set up the grant as deferred income or
deduct it in arriving at the carrying amount of
the asset.

(c) Record the grant at fair value in the first year
and take it to income in the subsequent year.

(d) Take it to the income statement and disclose it
as an extraordinary gain.

Answer: (b)

3. In the case of grants related to income, which of
these accounting treatments is prescribed by IAS 20?7

(a) Credit the grant to “general reserve” under
shareholders’ equity.

(b) Present the grant in the income statement as
“other income™ or as a separate line item, or
deduct it from the related expense.

(c) Credit the grant to “retained earnings” on the
balance sheet.

(d) Credit the grant to sales or other revenue from
operations in the income statement.

Answer: (b)

4. Which of these disclosures is not required by IAS
20?

(a) The accounting policy adopted for government
grants, including methods of presentation
adopted in the financial statements.

(b) Unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies
attaching to government assistance.

(¢) The names of the government agencies that
gave the grants along with the dates of sanction
of the grants by these government agencies and
the dates when cash was received in case of
monetary grants.

(d) The nature and extent of government grants
recognized in the financial statements and an
indication of other forms of government assis-
tance from which the entity has directly
benefited.

Answer: (¢)

5. Which of the following is net specifically excluded
from the purview of IAS 20?
(a) Government participation in ownership of the
entity.
(b) Government grant covered by IAS 41.

apcBourselir,

(c) Government assistance provided in the form of
tax benefits.
(d) Forgivable loan from the government.

Answer: (d)
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16 THE EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN FOREIGN
EXCHANGE RATES (IAS 21)

1. OBJECTIVES

The purpose of IAS 21 is to set out how to account for transactions in foreign currencies and for-
eign operations. The Standard also shows how to translate financial statements into a presentation
currency. The presentation currency is the currency in which the financial statements are presented.
The key issues are the exchange rate(s) that should be used and where the effects of changes in ex-
change rates are reported in the financial statements.

2. DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS (in accordance with IAS 21)

Functional currency. The currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates.

Exchange difference. The difference resulting from translating a given number of units of
one currency into another currency at different exchange rates.

Foreign operation. A subsidiary, associate, joint venture, or branch whose activities are based
or conducted in a country or currency other than those of the reporting entity.

Functional currency. The currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates.

Closing rate. The spot exchange rate at the balance sheet date.

Spot rate. The exchange rate for immediate delivery.

Presentation currency. The currency that is used to present the financial statements.

3. FUNCTIONAL CURRENCY

3.1 The functional currency should be determined by looking at several factors. This currency
should be the one in which the entity normally generates and spends cash and in which transactions
are normally denominated. All transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are
treated as transactions in foreign currencies. Five factors can be taken into account in making this
decision: the currency

(1) That mainly influences the price at which goods and services are sold

(2) Of the country whose competitive forces and regulations mainly influence the entity’s pric-
ing structure

(3) That influences the costs of the entity

(4) In which funds are generated

(5) In which receipts from operating activities are retained

The first three items are generally considered to be the most influential in deciding the functional
currency.

3.2 An entity will have to determine the functional currency of a foreign operation, such as a for-
eign subsidiary, and whether it is the same currency as that of the reporting entity. Such factors as
whether the foreign entity is an extension of the reporting entity business, what proportion of its
transactions are with the reporting entity, and the nature of the cash flows will help determine the
functional currency of the foreign operation.

3.3 The entity’s functional currency reflects the transactions, events, and conditions under which
the entity conducts its business. Once decided on, the functional currency does not change unless
there is a change in the underlying nature of the transactions and relevant conditions and events.

3.4 If the functional currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy, the financial state-
ments should be restated using IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies.
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3.5 Where there is a change in the functional currency, it should be applied from the date of
change. A change must be linked to a change in the nature of the underlying transactions. For ex-
ample, a change in the major market may lead to a change in the currency that influences sales
prices. The change is accounted for prospectively not retrospectively.

4. RECORDING FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS USING THE FUNCTIONAL
CURRENCY

4.1 Foreign currency transactions should be recorded initially at the spot rate of exchange at the
date of the transaction. An approximate rate can be used. For example, in general, an average rate
for a particular period can be used, but if exchange rates are fluctuating wildly, an average rate
cannot be used.

4.2 Subsequently, at each balance sheet date, foreign currency monetary amounts should be re-
ported using the closing rate. Nonmonetary items measured at historical cost should be reported
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Nonmonetary items carried at fair value
should be reported at the rate that existed when the fair values were determined.

4.3 It is possible that the carrying value for an item will have been determined by a comparison
of two amounts that have been measured at different dates. For example, the cost of inventory can
have been determined at one date and the net realizable value or recoverable amount at another
date. The effect may be to change the amount of any impairment loss recognized in the functional
currency.

Practical Insight

FJA AG, a German company, discloses that the income statements of foreign operations are
converted at annual average rates. This follows IAS 21, which allows a rate that approximates
to actual exchange rates for the transaction, such as an average rate for the period, to be used
to translate income and expense items of a foreign operation

Case Study 1

Facts

An entity buys inventory from a foreign supplier for €4 million. The functional currency of the entity is
the dollar. The date of the order was March 31, 20X6, the date of shipping was April 7, 20X6, the date of
the invoice was April 8, 20X6, the date the goods were received was April 15, 20X6, and the date the in-
voice was paid was May 31, 20X6.

Required
What is the date of the transaction for the purpose of recording the purchase of inventory?
Solution

Although IAS 2, Inventories, does not refer to the date of the initial recognition of inventory, IAS 39
says that a liability should be recognized when the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of
a contract. The date that the risks and rewards of ownership pass will essentially be the date of the trans-
action for these purposes.

It is unlikely that the ownership will pass on the date of the order, but it could pass on shipping, de-
pending on the nature of the agreement. Similarly, it could pass on receipt of the goods, but it is unlikely
to pass on receipt of the invoice or when payment is made.

Thus the date of the transaction in this case is likely to be the date of shipping or date of receipt, de-
pending on when the risks and rewards of ownership pass and who would suffer loss if the inventory was
damaged or lost in transit.

5. RECOGNITION OF EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES

5.1 Exchange differences arising on monetary items are reported in profit or loss in the period,
with one exception.
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5.2 The exception is that exchange differences arising on monetary items that form part of the
reporting entity’s net investment in a foreign operation are recognized in the group financial state-
ments within a separate component of equity. They are recognized in profit or loss on disposal of
the net investment.

5.3 The exchange difference arising on monetary items that form part of the reporting entity’s net
investment in a foreign operation is recognized in profit or loss in the entity financial statements.

5.4 If a gain or loss on a nonmonetary item is recognized in equity (e.g., property, plant, and
equipment revalued under IAS 16), any foreign exchange gain or loss element is also recognized in
equity.

Case Study 2

Facts

An entity purchases equipment from a foreign supplier for €6 million on March 31, 20X6, when the ex-
change rate was €2 = $1. The entity also sells goods to a foreign customer for €3.5 million on April 30,
20X6, when the exchange rate was €1.75 = $1. At the entity’s year-end of May 31, 20X6, the amounts
have not been paid. The closing exchange rate was €1.5 = $1. The entity’s functional currency is the
dollar.

Required

Calculate the exchange differences that would be recorded in profit or loss for the period ending May 31,
20X6.

Solution

The entity records the asset at a cost of $3 million at March 31, 20X6, and a liability of the same amount.
At year-end, the amount has not been paid. Thus using the closing rate of exchange, the amount payable
would be retranslated at $4 million, which would give an exchange loss of $1 million to be reported in
profit or loss. The cost of the asset remains at $3 million before depreciation.

Similarly, the entity will record a sale of $2 million and an amount receivable of the same amount. At
year-end, the receivable would be stated at $2.33 million, which would give an exchange gain of $0.33
million, which would be reported in profit or loss.

IAS 21 does not specify where exchange gains and losses should be shown in the income statement.

6. TRANSLATION TO THE PRESENTATION CURRENCY FROM THE FUNCTIONAL
CURRENCY

6.1 An entity can present its financial statements in any currency. If the presentation currency dif-
fers from the functional currency, the financial statements are retranslated into the presentation cur-
rency.

6.2 If the financial statements of the entity are not in the functional currency of a hyperinflation-
ary economy, then they are translated into the presentation currency in this way:

* Assets and liabilities (including any goodwill arising on the acquisition and any fair value ad-
justment) are translated at the closing spot rate at the date of that balance sheet.

» The income statement is to be translated at the spot rate at the date of the transactions. (Aver-
age rates are allowed if there is no great fluctuation in the exchange rates.)

» All exchange differences are recognized in a separate component of equity.

6.3 Any exchange difference that relates to the minority interest is recognized in the balance
sheet amount.

6.4 Special rules apply for translating into a different presentation currency the results and finan-
cial position of an entity whose functional currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy.
All amounts are translated at the closing spot rate. The one exception is that the comparative
amounts will be shown as presented in the previous period.
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Case Study 3

Facts

An entity commenced business on January 1, 20X6, with an opening share capital of $2 million.
The income statement and closing balance sheet follow:

Income Statement for the year ended December 31, 20X6

Sm

Revenue 32
Cost of sales (10)
Gross profit 22
Distribution costs (8)
Administrative expenses 2
Profit before tax 12
Tax expense @
Profit for period _8

Balance Sheet at December 31, 20X6

Sm

Share capital 2
Retained earnings 8
10

Trade payables 4
Total equity and liabilities 14
Land (nondepreciable) acquired December 31, 20X6 8
Inventories 4
Trade receivables 2
Total assets 14

The functional currency is the dollar, but the entity wishes to present its financial statements using the
euro as its presentational currency. The entity translates the opening share capital at the closing rate. The
exchange rates in the period were

1=
January 1, 20X6 €1
December 31, 20X6 €2
Average rate €1.5

Required
Translate the financial statements from the functional currency to the presentational currency.
Solution

Income Statement for the year ended December 31, 20X6, at average rate

(€1.5=8%1)
Revenue 48
Cost of sales as)
Gross profit 33
Distribution costs (12)
Administrative expenses 3)
Profit before tax 18
Tax expense ©
Profit for period _12
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Balance Sheet at December 31, 20X6

€2=31)

Share capital (closing rate) 4
Retained earnings (above) 12
Exchange difference (see below) 4
20

Trade payables 8
Total equity and liabilities 28
Land (nondepreciable) acquired December 31, 20X6 16
Inventories 8
Trade receivables 4
Total assets 28

The exchange difference is calculated in this way:

The retained earnings if translated into euros would be €16 million. As the income statement has been
translated using the average rate, the profit per that statement is €12 million, creating an exchange differ-
ence of €4 million.

The total exchange difference of €4 million, is shown as a component of equity.
7. TRANSLATION OF A FOREIGN OPERATION

7.1 When preparing group accounts, it is normal to deal with entities that utilize different curren-
cies. The financial statements should be translated into the presentation currency.

7.2 Any goodwill and fair value adjustments are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign en-
tity and therefore are retranslated at each balance sheet date at the closing spot rate.

7.3 Exchange differences on intragroup items are recognized in profit or loss unless the differ-
ence arises on the retranslation of an entity’s net investment in a foreign operation when it is classi-
fied as equity.

7.4 Dividends paid in a foreign currency by a subsidiary to its parent company may lead to ex-
change differences in the parent’s financial statements and will not be eliminated on consolidation
but recognized in profit or loss.

Practical Insight

Volkswagen discloses in its 2004 financial statements that it has adopted early revised IAS 21
regarding the requirement that goodwill in foreign operations should be translated at the clos-
ing rate. The company discloses that the cumulative effect of the change is a charge of €59
million to the translation reserve.

Case Study 4

Facts

An entity has a foreign subsidiary whose functional currency is the euro. The functional currency of the
entity is the dollar. On January 1, 20X6, when the exchange rate was $1= €1.5 the entity loans the sub-
sidiary $3 million. At December 31, 20X6, the loan has not been repaid and is regarded as part of the net
investment in the foreign subsidiary, as settlement of the loan is not planned or likely to occur in the
foreseeable future. The exchange rate at December 31, 20X6, is $1 = €2, and the average rate for the
year was $1 = €1.75.

Required
Explain how this loan would be treated in the entity’s and group financial statements.
Solution

There is no exchange difference in the entity’s financial statements, as the loan has been made in dollars.
In the foreign subsidiary’s financial statements, the loan is translated into its own functional currency
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(euro) at the rate of $1= €1.5, or €4.5 million as of January 1, 20X5. At year-end, the closing rate will be
used to translate this loan. This will result in the loan being restated at €6 million ($3 million x 2), giving
an exchange loss of €1.5 million, which will be shown in the subsidiary’s income statement.

In the group financial statements, this exchange loss will be translated at the average rate, as it is in the
subsidiary’s income statement, giving a loss of ($1.5/1.75 million), or $857,000. This will be recognized
in equity.

There will be a further exchange difference (gain) arising between the amount included in the subsidi-
ary’s income statement at the average rate and at the closing rate: that is, $857,000 minus $750,000 (1.5
million euros/2), or $107,000.

Thus the overall exchange difference is $750,000. This will be recognized in equity.

An alternative way of calculating this exchange loss follows. The loan at January 1, 20X6, is €4.5 mil-
lion. On retranslation, this becomes $2.25 million at December 31, 20X6 (€4.5/2).The original loan was
$3 million, so there is an exchange loss of ($3 — 2.25) million, or $0.75 million.

DISPOSAL OF A FOREIGN ENTITY

When a foreign operation is disposed of, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences in
equity relating to that foreign operation shall be recognized in profit or loss when the gain or loss
on disposal is recognized.

9.
9.1

9.2

Case Study 5

Facts

An entity has a 100% owned foreign subsidiary, which it carries at its original cost of $2 million. It sells
the subsidiary on March 31, 20X7, for €5 million. As of March 31, 20X7, the balance on the exchange
reserve was $300,000 credit. The functional currency of the entity is the dollar, and the exchange rate on
March 31, 20X7, is $1 = €2. The net asset value of the subsidiary at the date of disposal was $2.4
million.

Required
Discuss the treatment of the disposal of the foreign subsidiary.
Solution

The subsidiary is sold for €5 million /2 or $2.5 million. In the parent entity’s accounts, a gain of $0.5
million will be shown. ($2.5 — $2 million).

In the group financial statements, the cumulative exchange gain will have to be shown in profit or loss
together with the gain on disposal. The gain on disposal is $(2.5 — 2.4)million, or $100,000, which is the
difference between the sale proceeds and the net asset value of the subsidiary. To this is added the cu-
mulative exchange gain of $300,000 to give a total gain of $400,000, which will be included in the group
income statement.

DISCLOSURE

An entity should disclose

* The amount of exchange differences recognized in profit or loss but not differences arising
on financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with
IAS 39

* Net exchange differences classified in a separate component of equity and a reconciliation of
the amount of such exchange differences at the beginning and end of the period

* When the presentation currency is different from the functional currency, disclosure of that
fact together with the functional currency is required, and is the reason for using a different
presentation currency

* Any change in the functional currency of either the reporting entity or significant foreign
operation and the reasons for the change

When an entity presents its financial statements in a currency that is different from its func-

tional currency, it may describe those financial statements as complying with International Finan-

cial

Reporting Standards (IFRS) only if they comply with all the requirements of each applicable

Standard and Interpretation.

A
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9.3 If an entity displays its financial statements or other financial information in a currency that is
different from either its functional or presentation currency or if the requirements just listed are not
met, then it should
* Clearly identify the information as supplementary information to distinguish it from the
information that complies with IFRS.

* Disclose the currency in which the supplementary information is displayed.
* Disclose the entity’s functional currency and the method of translation used to determine the

supplementary information.
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. Which of these considerations would not be rele-
vant in determining the entity’s functional currency?
(a) The currency that influences the costs of the
entity.
(b) The currency in which finance is generated.
(c) The currency in which receipts from operat-
ing activities are retained.
(d) The currency that is the most internationally
acceptable for trading.

Answer: (d)

2. Foreign operations that are an integral part of the
operations of the entity would have the same func-
tional currency as the entity. Where a foreign opera-
tion functions independently from the parent, the
functional currency will be

(a) That of the parent.

(b) Determined using the guidance for determin-

ing an entity’s functional currency.
(c) That of the country of incorporation.
(d) The same as the presentation currency.

Answer: (b)

3. An entity started trading in country A, whose
currency was the dollar. After several years the entity
expanded and exported its product to country B,
whose currency was the euro, and conducted business
through a branch. The functional currency of the
group was deemed to be the dollar but by the end of
20X7, 80% of the business was conducted in country
B using the euro. At the end of 20X6, 30% of the
business was conducted in the euro.

The functional currency should

(a) Remain the dollar.

(b) Change to the euro at the beginning of
20X7.

(c) Change to the euro at the end of 20X7.

(d) Change to the euro at the end of 20X7 if it is
considered that the underlying transactions,
events, and conditions of business have
changed.

Answer: (d)

4. An entity started trading in country A, whose
currency was the dollar. After several years the entity
expanded and exported its product to country B,
whose currency was the euro. The business was con-
ducted through a subsidiary in country B. The sub-
sidiary is essentially an extension of the entity’s own
business, and the directors of the two entities are
common. The functional currency of the subsidiary is

(a) The dollar.

(b) The euro.

(¢) The dollar or the euro.

(d) Difficult to determine.

Answer: (a)
5. An entity purchases plant from a foreign supplier
for €3 million on January 31, 20X6, when the ex-

change rate was €2 = $1. At the entity’s year-end of
March 31, 20X6, the amount has not been paid. The
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closing exchange rate was €1.5 = $1. The entity’s
functional currency is the dollar.

Which of the following statements is correct?

(a) Cost of plant $2 million, exchange loss $0.5
million, trade payable $1.5 million.

(b) Cost of plant $1.5 million, exchange loss
$0.6 million, trade payable $2 million.

(c) Cost of plant $1.5 million, exchange loss
$0.5 million, trade payable $2 million.

(d) Cost of plant $2 million, exchange loss $0.5
million, trade payable $2 million.

Answer: (¢)

6. An entity acquired all the share capital of a for-
eign entity at a consideration of €9 million on
June 30, 20X6. The fair value of the net assets of the
foreign entity at that date was €6 million. The func-
tional currency of the entity is the dollar. The finan-
cial year-end of the entity is December 31, 20X6.
The exchange rates at June 30, 20X6, and Decem-
ber 31, 20X6, were €1.5 = $1 and €2 = $1 respec-
tively.

What figure for goodwill should be included in the
financial statements for the year ended December 31,
20X6?

(a) $2 million.

(b) €3 million.

(¢) $1.5 million.

(d) $3 million.

Answer: (¢)

7. An entity has a subsidiary that operates in a
country where the exchange rate fluctuates wildly and
there are seasonal variations in the income and ex-
penditure patterns. Which of the following rates of
exchange would probably be used to translate the
foreign subsidiary’s income statement?

(a) Year-end spot rate.

(b) Average for the year.

(c) Average of the quarter-end rates.

(d) Average rates for each individual month of

the year.

Answer: (d)

8. An entity has a subsidiary that operates in a for-
eign country. The subsidiary sold goods to the parent
for €2.1 million. The functional currency of the entity
is the dollar. The cost of the goods to the subsidiary
was €1.2 million. The goods were recorded by the
entity at $1.05 million (€2 = $1) and were all unsold
at the year-end of December 31, 20X6. The exchange
rate at that date was €1.5 = $1.

What is the value of the intragroup profit that will be
eliminated at December 31, 20X6?

(a) $205,000

(b) $600,000

(c) $450,000

(d) $350,000

Answer: (¢) [€2.1 — 1.2) million @ €2 = $1, or
$450,000]

9. An entity has a subsidiary that operates in a for-
eign country. The subsidiary issued a legal notice of a
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dividend to the parent of €2.4 million, and this was
recorded in the parent entity’s financial statements.
The exchange rate at that date was €2 = $1. The func-
tional currency of the entity is the dollar. At the date
of receipt of the dividend, the exchange rate had
moved to €3 = $1. The exchange difference arising on
the dividend would be treated in which way in the
financial statements?

(a) No exchange difference will arise as it will
be eliminated on consolidation.

(b) An exchange difference of $400,000 will be
taken to equity.

(c) An exchange difference of $400,000 will be
taken to the parent entity’s income statement
and the group income statement.

(d) An exchange difference of $400,000 will be
taken to the parent entity’s income statement
only.

Answer: (¢)

10. An entity acquired 60% of the share capital of a
foreign entity on June 30, 20X6. The fair value of the
net assets of the foreign entity at that date was €6
million. This value was €1.2 million higher than the
carrying amount of the net assets of the foreign entity.
The excess was due to the increase in value of nonde-
preciable land. The functional currency of the entity is
the dollar. The financial year-end of the entity is De-
cember 31, 20X6. The exchange rates at June 30,
20X6, and December 31, 20X6, were €1.5 = $1 and
€2 = $1 respectively.

What figure for the fair value adjustment should be
included in the group financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 20X6?

(a) $600,000

(b) $800,000

(¢) $2 million.

(d) $3 million.

Answer: (a) (€1.2 million/2)
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17 BORROWING COSTS (IAS 23)

1. BACKGROUND

IAS 23, Borrowing Costs, prescribes the criteria for determining whether borrowing costs can be
capitalized as part of the cost of acquiring, constructing, or producing a “qualifying asset.” The
Standard prescribes two alternative treatments for recognizing borrowing costs. The capitalization
of borrowing costs into the cost of a qualifying asset is an “allowed alternative treatment” under the
Standard, while the “benchmark treatment” prescribed by the Standard is to expense borrowing
costs when incurred.

2. SCOPE

2.1 The Standard is to be applied in accounting for (i.e., recognizing) borrowing costs. Although
the benchmark treatment under the Standard is to expense borrowing costs, the allowed alternative
treatment permits capitalization of such costs. Not all kinds of borrowing costs are to be capital-
ized. Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or production of
a qualifying asset are to be capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. Furthermore, once such an
accounting policy is selected, it must be used for all qualifying assets.

2.2 The Standard applies only to borrowing costs relating to external borrowings and not to eq-
uity. Therefore, the Standard does not deal with the imputed or actual cost of equity, including pre-
ferred capital not classified as equity.

3. DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS (in accordance with IAS 23)

Borrowing costs. Include interest and other costs incurred by an entity in relation to borrow-
ing of funds.

Qualifying asset. An asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale.

Practical Insight

The concept of “qualifying asset” is difficult to understand and comprehend in the spirit of the
Standard. Some entities inadvertently apply (or at least insist on applying) this Standard to
borrowing costs relating to assets that are expensive to purchase. These entities get confused
because to them the quantum of the borrowing costs relating to the cost of the asset probably
justifies such accounting treatment. For instance, if an expensive machine is bought (as op-
posed to being built by the entity) and the cost of the machine is quite substantial, entities
inadvertently apply the Standard and argue that it is appropriate to capitalize borrowing costs
along with the cost of the plant. Their justification is that since the machine is very expensive,
the borrowing costs relating to the purchase of the machine are also quite significant. Thus it
would not be right on their part to expense these costs. These entities further argue that in ex-
pensing such borrowing costs, they are able to capture only part of the cost of the asset. The
cost of financing is to be included in the cost of the purchase of the asset because without in-
curring that cost, the entity would not have been in a position to purchase such an expensive
asset.

In practice, auditors face such situations quite often, especially in developing countries, where
the costs of borrowing are quite high compared to other economies.

A
A
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4. BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs, as understood generally, refer to interest costs. However, borrowing costs as en-
visaged by the Standard are not just interest costs on short-term borrowings, such as bank
overdrafts and notes payable, or long-term borrowings, such as term loans and real estate mort-
gages. Rather, borrowing costs also include other related costs, such as

* Amortization of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings

* Amortization of ancillary costs incurred in connection with the arrangement or borrowings

» Exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent they are re-
garded as an adjustment to interest costs

* Finance charges in respect of finance leases recognized in accordance with IAS 17, Leases

Case Study 1

Facts

On December 1, 20X4, Compassionate Inc. began construction of homes for those families that were hit
by the tsunami disaster and were homeless. The construction is expected to take 3.5 years. It is being fi-
nanced by issuance of bonds for $7 million at 12% per annum. The bonds were issued at the beginning
of the construction. The bonds carry a 1.5% issuance cost. The project is also financed by issuance of
share capital with a 14% cost of capital. Compassionate Inc. has opted under IAS 23 to capitalize bor-
rowing costs.

Required

Compute the borrowing costs that need to be capitalized under IAS 23.

Solution

Since these homes are “qualifying assets,” borrowing costs can be capitalized and are computed thus:
a. Interest on $7 million bond = $7,000,000 x12% = $840.000
b. Amortization of issuance costs of the

bond (using the straight-line method) = [(0.015 x $7,000,000 ) / 3.5 years] = $30.000

Total borrowing to be capitalized = $840,000 + $30,000 = $870.000

S. QUALIFYING ASSETS

5.1 Assets that are ready for their intended use or sale when acquired are not qualifying assets as
envisioned by this Standard. Qualifying assets, for the purposes of this Standard, are assets that
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use. Examples of qualifying assets
include

* A toll bridge that takes a couple of years to construct before it is ready for use and is opened
to the public

* A power plant that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use

* A hydroelectric dam that services the needs of a village and takes a considerable period of
time to construct

5.2 Inventories that are routinely manufactured or are produced on a repetitive basis over a short
period of time are obviously not qualifying assets. However, inventories that require a substantial
period of time to bring to a salable condition can be regarded as qualifying assets for the purposes
of this Standard.

Case Study 2

Facts

(a) Magnificent Inc. engaged a consulting firm to advise it on many projects that it had been plan-
ning to undertake in order to diversify its operations and enhance its public image and ratings.
With this mandate, the consulting firm set out to prepare a feasibility study for the construction
of a shopping mall that would house anchor tenants such as world-class international designers
and well-known global retail chains. The consulting firm advised Magnificent Inc. that this kind
of a project would do wonders to its corporate image. This shopping mall had certain distin-
guishing features that were unique in many respects, and it could easily win the coveted title of
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the most popular commercial complex in the country. Based on this advice, Magnificent Inc.
began construction of the shopping mall on a huge plot of land in the heart of the city. Substan-
tial amounts were spent on its construction. Architects from around the globe competed for the
project, and the construction was entrusted to the best construction firm in the country. The
construction took over two years from the date the project was launched. The total cost of con-
struction was financed by a term loan from an international bank.

(b) The consulting firm also advised Magnificent Inc. to launch a car dealership that deals only in
world-renowned, expensive brand names, such as Rolls-Royce and Alfa Romeo. According to
the research study undertaken by the consulting firm, this would be yet another business to di-
versify and invest in order to enhance the corporate image of Magnificent Inc. with people who
matter, as such an exclusive car dealership would cater only to the needs of the top management
of multinational corporations (MNCs) operating in the country. Magnificent Inc. invested in
this business by borrowing funds from major local banks. Besides the corporate guarantees
Magnificent Inc. gave to the banks, they also insisted on depositing with the banks title deeds of
the cars as security for the loans until the entire loan amounts remain unpaid.

Required

(a) Would the shopping mall be considered a qualifying asset under the Standard? Would the in-
terest expense on the term loan borrowed for the construction of the shopping mall qualify as
eligible borrowing costs?

(b) Would the expensive cars purchased by the car dealership be considered qualifying assets under
the Standard, thereby making it possible for Magnificent Inc. to capitalize the borrowing costs,
which are substantial compared to the costs of the cars? Would borrowing costs include guar-
antee commission paid to banks for arranging corporate guarantees in addition to interest
expense on bank loans?

Solution

(a) Yes, the shopping mall would be considered a qualifying asset as envisaged by the Standard be-
cause construction took a substantial period of time. Furthermore, the interest expense on the
funds borrowed for the construction of the shopping mall would qualify as eligible borrowing
costs.

(b) Although the cars purchased are expensive assets, because they are ready for use when pur-
chased (and do not take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use), they are
not qualifying assets. Neither the interest expense on bank borrowings nor the guarantee fees
for corporate guarantees given to banks by Magnificent Inc. would be capitalized with the cost
of cars and would be expensed in the year of acquisition of the cars.

6. RECOGNITION
6.1 Benchmark Treatment

Under the benchmark treatment, borrowing costs shall be recognized as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred. When the benchmark treatment for recognizing borrowing costs is used,
these costs are expensed regardless of how they are applied.

6.2 Allowed Alternative Treatment

Under the allowed alternative treatment, borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acqui-
sition, construction, or production of a qualifying asset shall be capitalized as part of the cost of
that asset. Capitalization of borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, con-
struction, or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of the asset is possible only if both
these conditions are met:

* It is probable that they will result in future economic benefits to the entity.
* The costs can be measured reliably.

(If borrowing costs do not meet these criteria, then they are expensed.)
7. BORROWINGS ELIGIBLE FOR CAPITALIZATION

7.1 When borrowings are taken specifically to acquire, construct, or produce an asset, the
borrowing costs that relate to that particular qualifying asset are readily identifiable. In such
circumstances, it is easy to quantify the borrowing costs that would need to be capitalized by using
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the process of elimination, that is, capitalizing the borrowing costs that would have been avoided
had the expenditure on the qualifying asset not been made.

7.2 Difficulties arise, however, if borrowings and funding are organized centrally, say, within a
group of companies. In such cases, a weighted-average capitalization rate may be applied to the
expenditures on the qualifying asset.

7.3 When funds borrowed specifically to finance a qualifying asset are not utilized immediately,
and instead the idle funds are invested temporarily until required, the borrowing costs that are
capitalized should be reduced by any investment income resulting from the investment of idle
funds.

7.4  Borrowing costs capitalized in a period cannot exceed the amount of borrowing costs in-
curred by the entity during that period.

Case Study 3

Facts

A socially responsible multinational corporation (MNC) decided to construct a tunnel that will link two
sides of the village that were separated by a natural disaster years ago. Realizing its role as a good corpo-
rate citizen, the MNC has been in this village for a couple of years exploring oil and gas in the nearby
offshore area. The tunnel would take two years to build and the total capital outlay needed for the con-
struction would be not less than $20 million. To allow itself a margin of safety, the MNC borrowed $22
million from three sources and used the extra $2 million for its working capital purposes. Financing was
arranged in this way:

* Bank term loans: $5 million at 7% per annum
* Institutional borrowings: $7 million at 8% per annum
* Corporate bonds: $10 million at 9% per annum

In the first phase of the construction of the tunnel, there were idle funds of $10 million, which the MNC
invested for a period of six months. Income from this investment was $500,000.

Required
If the MNC decided to opt for the “allowed alternative treatment” under IAS 23, how would it treat the

borrowing costs? How would it capitalize the borrowing costs, and what would it do with the investment
income?

Solution

Under the allowed alternative treatment under IAS 23, borrowing costs would be capitalized as part of
the cost of the asset.
(a) In order to capitalize the borrowing costs, a weighted-average cost of funds borrowed is com-
puted:
($5 million x 7%) + ($7 million x 8%) + ($10 million x 9%) / ($5 million + $7 million + $10 million)
($1.81 million / $22 million) x 100
8.22 % per annum

(b) Total borrowing cost = $20 million x 8.22 % per annum X 2 years
= $1.644 million x 2 years
= $3.288 million
(c) Borrowing costs to be capitalized = Interest expense — investment income (resulting from
investment of idle funds)
= $3,288,000 — $500,000
= $2.788.000

8. EXCESS OF CARRYING AMOUNT OF THE QUALIFYING ASSET OVER THE
RECOVERABLE AMOUNT

When the carrying amount or the expected ultimate cost of the qualifying asset exceeds its recover-
able amount or net realizable value, the carrying amount is to be written down or written off in
accordance with the requirements of other Standards, such as IAS 36, Impairment of Assets.

A
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9. COMMENCEMENT OF CAPITALIZATION

Capitalization of borrowing costs shall commence when

» Expenditures for the asset are being incurred;
* Borrowing costs are being incurred; and
* Activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.

10. SUSPENSION OF CAPITALIZATION

Capitalization shall be suspended during extended periods in which active development is inter-
rupted unless that period is a necessary part of the process for the production of the asset. For
example, capitalization would be suspended during an interruption to the construction of a bridge
during very high water levels, which are common in the area where construction is taking place.
However, capitalization of borrowing costs should not be suspended when there is only a tempo-
rary delay that is caused by certain expected and anticipated reasons, such as while an asset is
getting ready for its intended use.

11. CESSATION OF CAPITALIZATION

11.1 Capitalization of borrowing costs shall cease when substantially all the activities necessary
to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are complete. If all that is left are minor modifica-
tions, such as decoration or routine administrative work, then the asset is considered to be substan-
tially complete.

11.2  In some instances, such as a business park or extensive development, parts may become
ready for use in stages. In such cases, capitalization ceases on those parts that are ready for use.

12. DISCLOSURE
An entity shall disclose its accounting policy for the recognition of borrowing costs, the amount of

borrowing costs capitalized during the period, and the capitalization rate used to determine the
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. Borrowing costs can be capitalized as part of the
asset when

(a) They are a qualifying asset and the entity
has opted for the benchmark treatment under
IAS 23.

(b) They are a qualifying asset; the entity has
opted for the allowed alternative treatment
under TAS 23, but it is not probable that they
will result in future economic benefits to the
entity.

(c) They are a qualifying asset; the entity has
opted for the allowed alternative treatment
under IAS 23, and it is probable that they
will result in future economic benefits to the
entity, but the costs cannot be measured re-
liably.

(d) They are a qualifying asset; the entity has
opted for the allowed alternative treatment
under IAS 23, and it is probable that they
will result in future economic benefits to the
entity, but the costs cannot be measured re-
liably.

Answer: (d)

2. Which of the following may not be considered a
“qualifying asset” under IAS 23?
(a) A power generation plant that normally
takes two years to construct.
(b) An expensive private jet that can be pur-
chased from a local vendor.
(c) A toll bridge that usually takes more than a
year to build.
(d) A ship that normally takes one to two years
to complete.

Answer: (b)

3.  Which of the following costs may not be eligible
for capitalization as borrowing costs under IAS 23?

(a) Interest on bonds issued to finance the con-
struction of a qualifying asset.

(b) Amortization of discounts or premiums
relating to borrowings that qualify for capi-
talization.

(c) Imputed cost of equity.

(d) Exchange differences arising from foreign
currency borrowings to the extent they are
regarded as an adjustment to interest costs
pertaining to a qualifying asset.

Answer: (¢)

4. Capitalization of borrowing costs

(a) Shall be suspended during temporary peri-
ods of delay.

(b) May be suspended only during extended
periods of delays in which active develop-
ment is delayed.

(¢c) Should never be suspended once capitaliza-
tion commences.

(d) Shall be suspended only during extended pe-
riods of delays in which active development
is delayed.

Answer: (d)

apcBourselir,

5. Which of the following is not a disclosure re-
quirement under IAS 23?

(a) Accounting policy adopted for borrowing
costs.

(b) Amount of borrowing costs capitalized dur-
ing the period.

(c) Segregation of assets that are “qualifying as-
sets” from other assets on the balance sheet
or as a disclosure in the footnotes to the fi-
nancial statements.

(d) Capitalization rate used to determine the
amount of borrowing costs eligible for
capitalization.

Answer: (c)
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18 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (IAS 24)

1. BACKGROUND AND INTRODUCTION

1.1  Related party transactions are a normal and a common feature of business and commerce
these days. However, in some cases, entities may enter into transactions with related parties at
terms that unrelated parties might not enter into under normal circumstances. Thus the existence of
a related party relationship may have an effect on profit or loss and the financial position of an en-
tity. In order to ensure “transparency” in financial reporting, most accounting standards around the
world prescribe disclosures of transactions with related parties.

1.2 IAS 24 is the Standard under the International Financial Reporting Standards that prescribes
the requirements for the disclosure of related party relationships in financial statements. The pur-
pose of the Standard is to make the reader of financial statements aware of the existence of related
party relationships and the extent to which an entity’s financial position, profitability, or cash flows
may have been affected by transactions with such parties. It should be noted that this is a disclosure
Standard and does not deal with recognition or measurement issues, all of which are dealt with by
other relevant Standards.

1.3  Related party transactions generally are very sensitive subjects in most parts of the world.
Often, and sometimes erroneously, it is believed that transactions with related parties are “not a
good thing”’; usually this is the case in unscrupulous corporate deals where transactions with related
parties are used to manipulate results of operation or net assets for economic gain by a group of
individuals in control of the entity. Although this may be true in some instances, especially in the
recent highly publicized corporate scandals where the board of directors (i.e., “related parties”) al-
legedly took the shareholders for a ride, in most cases there are valid economic and/or commercial
reasons for dealing with related parties.

Example

An example of related party transactions is a group of companies (with a common parent) having
diverse activities wherein entities within the group, in the normal course of business, enter into day-
to-day transactions with other entities within the group. For instance, one entity within the group
may supply goods or services to another but only after going through a tendering process in com-
petition with third parties. In such a case, the transaction is transparent, as a bidding process was
conducted and the price at which the transaction was entered into would in all likelihood have been
at market, or arm’s-length, pricing. This is what generally happens in the real world, and, in princi-
ple, there is nothing wrong with entering into such a transaction with entities within the group. The
Standard merely requires entities that enter into such transactions with other related parties to so
state in their financial statements.

1.4 It is important, however, that a reader of financial statements is made aware of all related
party relationships, transactions, and balances as such transactions may not always be at arm’s
length and may have occurred only, or indeed transactions may not have occurred, because of the
position that a related party has—it can influence, or can be influenced by, that other party, which
can impact the reported results, net assets or cash flows.

2. SCOPE
The requirements of IAS 24 are to be applied in

(a) Identifying related party relationships and transactions

(b) Identifying outstanding balances between an entity and its related parties

(c) Identifying the circumstances in which disclosure of items in (a) and (b) is required
(d) Determining the disclosures that are to be made about those items

The Standard is very clear that its provisions apply to disclosure of related party transactions and
outstanding balances in the separate financial statements of a parent company, venturer, or investor
as, very often, such financial statements may be physically separate from the consolidated financial
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statements. Equally, the Standard must be applied to subsidiaries for the same reason. No exemp-
tion is given for subsidiaries that are consolidated with their parent. Furthermore, transactions with
other entities in a group are to be disclosed in an individual entity’s financial statements, although
such intragroup transactions are eliminated on consolidation in the financial statements of the

group.

Practical Insight

In separate financial statements of a parent company, presented on a “stand-alone” basis as
permitted under IAS 27, transactions with its subsidiaries would be disclosed as related party
transactions. However, in “consolidated financial statements” of the parent company, there
will be no related party transactions or balances reported between members of the consoli-
dated group, as all such items will have been eliminated upon consolidation by applying the
procedures outlined in IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements.

3. DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS (in accordance with IAS 24)

The definitions in the Standard, by their nature, are quite long.
A party is related to an entity if

(a) Directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, that party controls, is con-
trolled by, or is under common control with the entity; has an interest in the entity
that gives it significant influence; or has joint control over the entity.

(b) The party is an associate (see 1AS 28, Investments in Associates).

(c) The party is a joint venture in which the entity is a venturer (see IAS 31, Interests in
Joint Ventures).

(d) The party is a member of the key management personnel of the entity or of its parent.

(e) The party is a close family member of any individual referred to in (a) or (d).

(f) The party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled, or significantly influenced
by, or for which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indi-
rectly, any individual referred to in (d) or (e).

(g) The party is a postemployment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the entity
or of any entity that is a related party of the entity.

Related party transaction. A transfer of resources, services, or obligations between related
parties, regardless of whether a price is charged or not.

Close family members of an individual. Those family members who may be expected to in-
fluence, or be influenced by, that individual, in their dealings with the entity and include

(a) The individual’s domestic partner and children
(b) Children of the individual’s domestic partner
(c) Dependents of the individual or the individual’s domestic partner

Compensation. Includes all employee benefits (as described in IAS 19, Employee Benefits,
and IFRS 2, Share-Based Payments). It also includes consideration paid on behalf of a parent
of the entity in respect of the entity.

Control. The power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

Joint control. The contractually agreed sharing of control.

Significant influence. The power to participate in the financial and operating decisions of an
entity, but not control over those policies.

Key management personnel. Those persons having authority and responsibility for plan-
ning, directing, and controlling the activities of an entity, either directly or indirectly, and in-
clude directors (executive or otherwise) of that entity.

A
A

abCBourse!l o @abcBourselir sl &



http://abcbourse.ir/

146 Wiley IFRS Workbook and Guide

4. EXPLANATION AND FURTHER ELABORATION OF THE DEFINITIONS

4.0.1 Most of the definitions are a matter of common sense insofar as they specifically include
parent companies (in relation to a subsidiary), subsidiaries (in relation to the parent), fellow sub-
sidiaries, associates, joint ventures, and key management. However, a number of definitions require
in-depth analysis to comprehend the real meaning behind the terminology used.

4.0.2 Interpretations and clarifications of the various aspects of the definitions follow to enable
the Standard to be applied in its true spirit. In fact, this is a requirement of the Standard, as IAS 24
categorically states that “in considering each related party relationship, attention is directed to the
substance of the relationship and not merely the legal form” (paragraph 10).

4.1 Key Management Personnel

4.1.1 Key management personnel include all those who have authority and responsibility for
planning, directing, and controlling the activities of an entity. Therefore, these persons need not
necessarily be directors. The definition does indeed include “directors, executive or otherwise.”

Practical Insight

This broad definition will include nonexecutive directors (NEDs) and what in some jurisdic-
tions are termed “shadow directors”—those persons in accordance with whose instructions
the directors act, whether those persons are legally called directors or not. This definition also
includes key management personnel of the entity’s parent.

4.1.2 Thus in most cases it would be difficult to avoid the related party label. However, the Stan-
dard does state that two entities are not related solely because they have a director or other key
management personnel in common. This statement recognizes the increasing use by significant
entities of nonexecutive directors in order to satisfy corporate governance issues and requirements.
Doing this can quite easily result in entities having common directors, as often such persons are
retired politicians, civil servants, or prominent corporate executives, any one of whom may sit on
various boards in their “retirement.”

4.1.3 However, it must be remembered that for management personnel to be “key,” they must
have authority and responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling the entity’s activities. For
many of these “professional” NEDs, this will not be the case.

4.2 Close Members of the Family of an Individual

The issue of “close members of the family of an individual” is a thorny one. International Ac-
counting Standards have always been designed to cater to cross-border jurisdictions, but this issue
has cross-cultural dimensions as well. Although the Standard provides a list of persons that “close
members of the family of an individual” are purported to include, the wording of the definition
makes it clear that the list is by no means exhaustive. This fact is obvious; the definition is an in-
clusive one that begins with the word “includes,” thus announcing clearly that “related parties” not
specifically mentioned in the definition are not necessarily excluded under this principle and should
not automatically be ruled out. In other words, IAS 24 puts the onus on the person applying the
Standard to apply the Standard correctly. The Standard says that “close members of the family of
an individual” are those who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that individual, in
his dealings with the entity. To put it differently, and to sum up, it appears that the other “related
parties” not specifically mentioned in this part of the definition, but covered by inference (because
the Standard says “includes”), are a matter of interpretation. The burden of applying (accurately)
the principle enshrined in the Standard rests squarely on the entity applying the Standard. This task
is an onerous one, as under IAS 1, a set of financial statements cannot be described as prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) unless the provisions of each
and every Standard are fully complied with.

Practical Insight

This principle allows cross-cultural interpretation of the expression “close member of the
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family of an individual.” For example, regarding siblings: In some cultures, the younger sib-
ling may always defer to the elder. In other cultures, this may not be the case. Furthermore, in
some cultures, where the families are very closely knit, relatives other than sons or daughters
could also be considered as “close members of the family” because they could very well in-
fluence the individual in his or her dealings with the entity. However, in other countries,
where each individual independently makes business decisions, this may not be the case. Ac-
cording to one school of thought, this anomaly could, to some extent, be avoided if the Stan-
dard provided an exhaustive and prescribed list of “close members of the family of an indi-
vidual” (as is the case in accounting standards of some countries).

Practical Insight

Yet another “gray” area is that of “children” of an individual. The Standard states that chil-
dren are related parties but does not clarify whether it is referring only to minors. If the defi-
nition is stretched to include even “adult children,” it could give rise to disagreement based on
the principle of substance over form. It may be possible to interpret this area in the light of
one of the other elements of the definition of “close members of the family of the individ-
ual”’—that of “dependents” of the individual. In some cases, parents may be dependent on a
child for financial, emotional, or physical support; thus they are related parties. This interpre-
tation could be extended to the definition of children also, so that if the children are not de-
pendent, they are not necessarily related parties for the purposes of the Standard. This is,
however, a very fine line to draw and possibly an aggressive interpretation.

Practical Insight

According to one school of thought, by referring to “domestic partners” rather than “spouses,”
the Standard recognizes the trend in some cultures for persons to cohabit without marrying.
For all intents and purposes, they are “spouses.”

Case Study 1

Facts

Interesting Inc. is a manufacturer of automobile spare parts. It transacts business through a business
model that has worked for several years and has made the entity a successful enterprise that is rated in
the top 10 businesses in its field by a trade journal. Interesting Inc. believes in working with reliable and
dependable vendors and also sells only to entities that it can either control or exercise significant influ-
ence over. The business model works in this way:

(a) Interesting Inc. purchases everything it needs from Excellent Inc., a well-known supplier. Due
to the high quality of the material that Excellent Inc. has provided over the last 10 years, Inter-
esting Inc. has never purchased from any other supplier. Thus it may be considered economi-
cally dependent on Excellent Inc.

(b) Interesting Inc. sells 70% of its output to a company owned by a director and the balance to an
entity that is its “associate” by virtue of Interesting Inc. owning 35% of the share capital of that
company.

(c) Interesting Inc. stores inventory in a warehouse that is leased from the wife of its director. The
lease rentals are at arm’s length.

(d) Interesting Inc. has provided an interest-free loan to a company owned by the chief executive
officer (CEO) of Interesting Inc. for the purposes of financing the purchase of delivery vans
which the company owned by the CEO is using for transporting goods from the warehouse of
the supplier to the warehouse used by Interesting Inc. for storing inventory.

Required

Based on the requirements of IAS 24, identify which transactions would need to be disclosed as related
party transactions under IAS 24.
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Solution

Let us examine each of the transactions in order to determine whether they would warrant disclosure as
related party transaction under IAS 24.

(a) Notwithstanding the fact that Interesting Inc. purchases all its raw materials from Excellent Inc.
and is economically dependent on it, Excellent Inc. does not automatically become a related
party. Thus for the purpose of IAS 24, purchases made from Excellent Inc. are not considered
related party transactions.

(b) Seventy percent of the sales are to an entity owned by a “director” (i.e., an entity controlled by a
key management person), and 30% of the sales are made to an entity that Interesting Inc. has
“significant influence” over. Thus both sales are to related parties as defined in IAS 24 and
would need to be disclosed as such.

(c) The lease of the warehouse, although at arm’s length, has been entered into with the wife (a
“close member of the family”) of a “director” (a key management person) and thus needs to be
disclosed as a related party transaction.

(d) The interest-free loan to an entity owned by a director needs to be disclosed as a related party
transaction. The fact that it is interest-free may warrant disclosure because it may not be con-
strued as an “arm’s-length transaction” since Interesting Inc. would not normally provide unre-
lated parties with interest-free loans.

NOTE: IAS 24, paragraph 21, requires that “disclosures that related party transactions were made on
terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s-length transactions are made only if such terms can be sub-
stantiated.”

Furthermore, the rental expenses paid for hiring a delivery van belonging to an entity owned by
a director also would need to be disclosed as a related party transaction since these charges are
paid to an entity “controlled” by a key management person.

4.3 Joint Ventures

The Standard clarifies that two parties to a joint venture are not related solely through their con-
tractual relationship. The joint venture would be a related party of each venturer by definition, but,
if the joint venture contract is the only relationship between the two venturers, this does not make
them related.

4.4 Compensation to Key Management Personnel

In the past, it has always been arguable as to whether “directors’ remuneration” was a related party
transaction. While in some jurisdictions law requires disclosure, it has been debated as to whether
IAS 24 referred to such transactions. The Standard now makes very clear that such transactions are
included, no matter how they are termed.

4.5 Related Party Transactions

The definition of related party transactions is critical to the proper application and implementation
of the Standard. It encompasses a transfer of resources, services, or obligations, regardless of
whether a price is charged. This definition includes, therefore, free-of-charge services, which can
be some of the more difficult transactions to detect. It will also include guarantees,
provision/receipt of collateral, and settlement of obligations.

Practical Insight

The pricing of related party transactions is often a sensitive subject, particularly if pricing is
not at arm’s length. This area can be a difficult one that is open to judgment. For example, an
entity may sell 60% of its production to a related party at unit prices substantially lower than
what it charges other third parties for the balance 40% production. None of the third parties
accounted for more than 5% of the sales. It may be very difficult to determine whether the
volume discount was at a market rate. It can be even more difficult to determine arm’s length
if there are no sales to third parties.

In such cases, the Standard states that a transaction can be described as at arm’s length only
if it can be substantiated. Thus it is the responsibility of the management to prove the market
value of transactions if it wishes to describe transactions as “at market value.”
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S. SCOPE EXCLUSIONS

Although apparently some parties, by virtue of their relationship with the entity, may appear as re-
lated parties falling within the scope of IAS 24, the Standard clarifies that the following parties are
not necessarily related parties as envisaged in the Standard:

* Providers of finance, trade unions, public utilities, and government departments and agencies
are not necessarily related parties simply by virtue of their normal dealings with an entity,
even if they participate in decision-making processes or affect freedom of action.

* Customers, suppliers, franchisors, distributors, or general agents are not related to an entity
solely because the entity is economically dependent on them.

* Two entities are not related parties simply because they have common directors or other
members of key management personnel in common.

» Two venturers are not related parties simply because they share joint control over a joint ven-
ture.

6. DISCLOSURES

6.1 In order to enable users of financial statements to better understand the financial position of
an entity and to form a view about the effects of related party transactions on an entity, IAS 24 has
mandated extensive disclosure requirements with respect to related party transactions.

6.2 According to IAS 24, paragraph 12, an entity should disclose

» Relationships between parents and subsidiaries regardless of whether there have been any
transactions between them

* The name of the entity’s parent and, if different, the ultimate controlling party. If neither the
entity’s parent nor the ultimate controlling party produces financial statements available for
public use, the name of the next most senior parent that does so shall also be disclosed.

6.3 According to IAS 24, paragraph 16, 6.2, an entity should disclose “key management person-
nel” compensation in total and for each of these categories:

(a) Short-term employee benefits
(b) Postemployment benefits

(c) Other long-term benefits

(d) Termination benefits

(e) Share-based payments

6.4 IAS 24, paragraph 17, states that if there have been transactions between related parties, an
entity should disclose the nature of the related party relationship as well as information about the
transactions and outstanding balances necessary for an understanding of potential effect of the re-
lationship on the financial statements. At a minimum, disclosures shall include

* The amount of the transactions
* The amount of outstanding balances and

* Their terms and conditions

* Whether they are secured or unsecured

* The nature of the settlement consideration
* Details of guarantees given or received

* Provisions for doubtful debts against balances outstanding
* Provisions for doubtful debts recognized as an expense

6.5 According to IAS 24, paragraph 18, these disclosures are required to be disclosed separately
for each of these categories of related party:

* Parent

* Entities with joint control or significant influence over the entity
* Subsidiaries

* Associates

* Joint ventures in which the entity is a venturer

» Key management personnel of the entity or its parent

* Other related parties
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6.6 IAS 24, paragraph 22, states that items of a similar nature may be disclosed in aggregate ex-
cept when separate disclosure is necessary for an understanding of the effects of related party
transactions on the financial statements of the entity.

Case Study 2

Facts

Zeeba Inc. is part of a major industrial group of companies and is known to accurately disclose related
party transactions in its financial statements prepared under IFRS. With the sweeping changes that were
made to the various Standards under the International Accounting Standards Board’s Improvements
Project, the entity is seeking advice from IFRS specialists on whether the following transactions need to
be reported under IAS 24 and, if so, to what extent, and how the related party transactions footnote
should be worded.

1. Remuneration and other payments made to the entity’s chief executive officer (CEO) during the
year 20XX were

a. An annual salary of $2 million

b. Share options and other share-based payments valued at $1 million

c. Contributions to retirement benefit plan amounting to $1 million

d. Reimbursement of his travel expenses for business trips totaling $1.2 million

2. Sales made during the year 20XX to

a. Meifa, Inc., parent company: $35 million
b. Deifa, Inc., associate: $25 million

3. Trade debtors at December 31, 20XX, include

a. Due from Meifa, Inc.: Gross: $10 million, Net of provision: $7 million
b. Due from Deifa, Inc.: $15 million (these receivables are fully backed by corporate guaran-
tees from Deifa, Inc.)

Required

Please advise Zeeba, Inc. on related party transactions that need to be disclosed and draft a sample
related party transactions footnote to guide the entity.

Solution

1. All the listed items are required to be disclosed in Zeeba, Inc.’s financial statements prepared
under IFRS. The only exception is the reimbursement of the travel expenses of the CEO
amounting to $1.2 million; as this sum is not “compensation,” it is not required to be disclosed
under IAS 24.

2. Footnote: Related Party Transactions

a. Zeeba, Inc. enters into related party transactions in the normal course of business. During
the year 20XX, these related party transactions were entered into with related parties as de-
fined under TAS 24. The transactions resulted in balances due from those parties that, at
December 31, 20XX, were

(1) With the parent company (Meifa, Inc.)

Sales $35 million

Included in trade debtors (due from parent company) $10 million

Provision for doubtful debts $ 3 million
(2) With an “associate”

Sales $25 million

Included in trade debtors (due from an associate)* $15 million

*Amount due from an associate is secured by a corporate guarantee given by the associate.

b. For the year ended December 31, 20XX, Zeeba, Inc. made these payments to its CEO, part
of the “key management personnel”:

Short-term benefits (salary) $2 million
Postemployment benefits (retirement benefit

plan contribution) $1 million
Share-based payments (stock options, etc.) $1 million
Total $4 million
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. Which of the following is not a related party as
envisaged by IAS 24?
(a) A director of the entity.
(b) The parent company of the entity.
(c) A shareholder of the entity that holds 1%
stake in the entity.
(d) The son of the chief executive officer of the
entity.

Answer: (¢)

2. TAS 24 requires disclosure of compensation of
key management personnel. Which of the following
would not be considered “compensation” for this
purpose?

(a) Short-term benefits.

(b) Share-based payments.

(¢) Termination benefits.

(d) Reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses.

Answer: (d)

3. To enable financial statement users to form a
view about the effects of the related party transac-
tions, IAS 24 requires certain disclosures to be made.
Which of the following disclosures is not a mandated
disclosure under IAS 24?

(a) Relationships between parents and sub-
sidiaries irrespective of whether there have
been transactions between those related par-
ties.

(b) Names of all the “associates” that an entity
has dealt with during the year.

(c) Name of the entity’s parent and, if different,
the ultimate controlling party.

(d) If neither the entity’s parent nor its ultimate
controlling entity produces financial state-
ments available for public use, then the
name of the next most senior parent that
does so.

Answer: (b)

4. If there have been related party transactions dur-
ing the year, an entity needs to make, at a minimum,
certain disclosures. Which of the following is not a
required minimum disclosure under IAS 24?

(a) The amount of the related party transactions.

(b) The amount of the outstanding related party
balances and their terms and conditions
along with details of guarantees given and
received.

(c) The amounts of similar transactions with un-
related (third) parties to establish that com-
parable related party transactions have been
entered at arm’s length.

(d) Provisions for doubtful debts related to the
amount of outstanding related party balances
and expense recognized during the year in
respect of bad or doubtful debts due from
related parties.

Answer: (¢)

5. The minimum disclosures prescribed under IAS
24 are to be made separately for certain categories of
related parties. Which of the following is not among

apcBourselir,

the list of categories specified under the Standard for
the purposes of separate disclosure?
(a) Entities with joint control or significant in-
fluence over the entity.
(b) The parent company of the entity.
(c) An entity that has a common director with
the entity.
(d) Joint ventures in which the entity is a ven-
turer.

Answer: (c)
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19 ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING BY
RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (IAS 26)

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 IAS 26 deals with accounting and reporting to all participants of a retirement benefit plan as a
group, and not with reports that might be made to individuals about their particular retirement
benefits. The Standard sets out the form and content of the general-purpose financial reports of re-
tirement benefit plans. The Standard applies to

* Defined contribution plans. Where benefits are determined by contributions to the plan to-
gether with investment earnings thereon.

* Defined benefit plans. Where benefits are determined by a formula based on employees’
earnings and/or years of service.

1.2 IAS 26 is sometimes confused with IAS 19, because both Standards address employee bene-
fits. But there is a difference: while IAS 26 addresses the financial reporting considerations for the
benefit plan itself, as the reporting entity, IAS 19 deals with employers’ accounting for the cost of
such benefits as they are earned by the employees. These Standards are thus somewhat related, but
there will not be any direct interrelationship between amounts reported in benefit plan financial
statements and amounts reported under IAS 19 by employers.

2. SCOPE

2.1 IAS 26 addresses the accounting and reporting by retirement benefit plans. It does not man-
date the presentation of an annual report for the plan. However, the terms of a retirement plan may
require that the plan present an annual report; in some jurisdictions this may be a statutory re-
quirement. If such annual reports are prepared by a retirement plan, then the requirements of this
Standard should be applied to them.

2.2 The retirement benefit plan is a separate entity, distinct from the employer of the plan’s par-
ticipants; the Standard treats it as such. The Standard also applies to retirement benefit plans that
have sponsors other than employer (e.g., trade associations or groups of employers). Furthermore,
this Standard deals with accounting and reporting by retirement benefit plans to all participants as a
group; it does not deal with reports to individual participants with respect to their retirement benefit
entitlements.

2.3  Whether there are formal retirement benefit plans or informal retirement benefit arrange-
ments, the Standard prescribes the same accounting for both. It is also worthy of mention that this
Standard applies whether a separate fund is created or not and regardless of whether there are trus-
tees. The requirements of this Standard also apply to retirement benefit plans with assets invested
with an insurance company, unless the contract with the insurance company is in the name of a
specified participant or a group of participants and the responsibility is solely of the insurance
company.

3. DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS (in accordance with IAS 26)

Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits. The present value of the expected
future payments by a retirement benefit plan to existing and past employees, attributable to the
service already rendered.

Defined benefit plans. Retirement benefit plans whereby retirement benefits to be paid to
plan participants are determined by reference to a formula usually based on employees’ earn-
ings and/or years of service.
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Defined contribution plans. Retirement benefit plans whereby retirement benefits to be paid
to plan participants are determined by contributions to a fund together with investment earn-
ings thereon.

Funding. The transfer of assets to a separate entity (distinct from the employer’s enterprise),
the “fund,” to meet future obligations for the payment of retirement benefits.

Net assets available for benefits. The assets of a retirement benefit plan less its liabilities
other than the actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits.

Participants. The members of a retirement benefit plan and others who are entitled to benefits
under the plan.

Retirement benefit plans. Formal or informal arrangements based on which an enterprise
provides benefits for its employees on or after termination of service, which usually are re-
ferred to as termination benefits. These could take the form of annual pension payments or
lump-sum payments. Such benefits, or the employer’s contributions toward them, should
however be determinable or possible of estimation in advance of retirement from the provi-
sions of a document (i.e., based on a formal arrangement) or from the enterprise’s practices
(which is referred to as an informal arrangement).

Vested benefits. Entitlements, the rights to which, under the terms of a retirement benefit
plan, are not conditional on continued employment.

4. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

4.1 Retirement benefit plans can either be defined contribution plans or defined benefit plans.
When the amount of the future benefits payable to the participants of the retirement benefit plan is
determined by the contributions made by the participants’ employer, the participants, or both, to-
gether with investment earnings thereon, such plans are defined contribution plans. Defined benefit
plans guarantee certain defined benefits, often determined by a formula that takes into considera-
tion factors such as number of years of service of employees and their salary level at the time of
retirement, irrespective of whether the plan has sufficient assets; thus the ultimate responsibility for
payment (which may be guaranteed by an insurance company, the government, or some other en-
tity, depending on local law and custom) remains with the employer. In rare cases, a retirement
benefit plan may contain characteristics of both defined contribution and defined benefit plans; for
the purposes of this Standard, such a hybrid plan is deemed to be a defined benefit plan.

4.2 According to IAS 26, the report of a defined contribution plan should contain a “Statement of
the Net Assets Available for Benefits” and a description of the funding policy. In preparing the
statement of the net assets available for benefits, the plan investments should be carried at “fair
value,” which in the case of marketable securities would be their “market value.” If an estimate of
fair value is not possible, the entity must disclose why “fair value” has not been used.

Practical Insight

In practice in many cases “plan assets” will have determinable market values, because in dis-
charge of their fiduciary responsibilities, plan trustees generally will mandate that the retire-
ment plans hold only marketable investments.

Example

An example of a statement of net assets available for plan benefits, for a defined contribution plan,
is presented next.
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Benevolent Corp. Defined Contribution Plan
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS
December 31, 2006
(in thousands of U.S. $)

Assets
Investments at fair value:
U.S. government securities $10,000
U.S. municipal bonds 13,000
U.S. equity securities 13,000
EU equity securities 13,000
U.S. debt securities 12,000
EU corporate bonds 12,000
Others 11,000
Total investments 84,000
Receivables:
Amounts due from stockbrokers on sale of securities 25,000
Accrued interest 15,000
Dividends receivable 12,000
Total receivables 52.000
Cash: 15.000
Total assets 151,000
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Amounts due to stockbrokers on purchase of securities 20,000
Benefits payable to participants—due and unpaid 21.000
Total accounts payable 41.000
Accrued expenses 21.000
Total liabilities 62,000
Net assets available for benefits 89,000

5. DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

5.1 Defined benefit plans are those plans where the benefits are guaranteed amounts and amounts
to be paid as retirement benefits are determined by reference to a formula, usually based on em-
ployees’ earnings and/or number of years of service. The critical factors are thus the retirement
benefits that are fixed or determinable, without regard to the adequacy of assets that may have been
set aside for payment of the benefits. This clearly is different from the way defined contribution
plans work; they provide the employees, upon retirement, amounts that have been set aside, plus or
minus investment earnings or losses that have been accumulated thereon, however great or small
that amount may be.

5.2 IAS 26 requires that the report of a defined benefit plan should contain either
(1) A statement that shows

a] The net assets available for benefits;

b] The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits, distinguishing between
vested and nonvested benefits; and

c] The resulting excess or deficit;

or
(2) A statement of net assets available for benefits including either

a] A note disclosing the actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits, dis-
tinguishing between vested and nonvested benefits; or
b] A reference to this information in an accompanying actuarial report.

5.3 IAS 26 recommends, but does not mandate, that in each of the three formats described above,
a report of the trustees in the nature of a management or directors’ report and an investment report
may also accompany the statements.

5.4 The Standard does not make it incumbent upon the plan to use annual actuarial valuations. If
an actuarial valuation has not been prepared on the date of the report, the most recent valuation
should be used as the basis for preparing the financial statement. The Standard does, however, re-
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quire that the date of the actuarial valuation used should be disclosed. Actuarial present values of
promised benefits should be based either on current or projected salary levels; whichever basis is
used should also be disclosed. Furthermore, the effect of any changes in actuarial assumptions that
had a material impact on the actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits should also be
disclosed. The report should explain the relationship between actuarial present values of promised
benefits, the net assets available for benefits, and the policy for funding the promised benefits.

5.5 As in the case of defined contribution plans, investments of a defined benefit plan should be
carried at fair value, which for marketable securities would be “market values.”

Example
Examples of the alternative types of reports prescribed for a defined benefit plan follow.

Excellent Inc. Defined Benefit Plan
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS, ACTUARIAL
PRESENT VALUE OF ACCUMULATED RETIREMENT
BENEFITS AND PLAN EXCESS OR DEFICIT
December 31, 2006
(in thousands of U.S. $)

1. Statement of net assets available for benefits

Assets
Investments at fair value:
U.S. government securities 155,000
U.S. municipal bonds 35,000
U.S. equity securities 35,000
EU equity securities 35,000
U.S. debt securities 25,000
EU corporate bonds 25,000
Others 15.000
Total investments 325.000
Receivables:
Amounts due from stockbrokers on sale of securities 155,000
Accrued interest 55,000
Dividends receivable 25,000
Total receivables 235.000
Cash: 55.000
Total assets 615.000
Liabilities
Accounts payable:
Amounts due to stockbrokers on purchase of securities 150,000
Benefits payable to participants—due and unpaid 150,000
Total accounts payable 300.000
Accrued expenses: 120,000
Total liabilities 420,000
Net assets available for benefits 195,000

2. Actuarial present value of accumulated plan benefits

Vested benefits 120,000

Nonvested benefits 30.000

Total 150.000
3. Excess of net assets available for benefits over actuarial present

value of accumulated plan benefits 45,000

Excellent Inc. Defined Benefit Plan
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS
December 31, 2006
(in thousands of U.S. $)

Investment income:

Interest income 45,000
Dividend income 15,000

Net appreciation (unrealized gain) in fair value of investments
15,000
Total investment income 75.000
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Plan contributions:

Employer contributions 55,000

Employee contributions 50.000
Total plan contributions 105.000
Total additions to net asset value 180.000
Plan benefit payments:

Pensions (annual) 25,000

Lump-sum payments on retirement 35,000

Severance pay 10,000

Commutation of superannuation benefits 15,000
Total plan benefit payments 85.000
Total deductions from net asset value 85.000
Net increase in asset value 95.000
Net assets available for benefits

Beginning of year 100,000

End of year 195,000

6. ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY THE STANDARD

6.1 In case of both defined benefit plans and defined contribution plans, IAS 26 requires that the
reports of a retirement benefit plan should also contain this information:

* A statement of changes in net assets available for benefits
* A summary of significant accounting policies
* A description of the plan and the effect of any changes in the plan during the period

6.2 Reports provided by retirement benefits plans may include, if applicable
(1) A statement of net assets available for benefits disclosing

a] Assets at the end of the period suitably classified

b] The basis of valuation of assets

c] Details of any single investment exceeding either 5% of the net assets available for
benefits or 5% of any class or type of security

d] Details of any investment in the employer

e] Liabilities other than the actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits

(2) A statement of changes in net assets available for benefits showing

a] Employer contributions

b] Employee contributions

c] Investment income such as interest and dividends

d] Other income

e] Benefits paid or payable (analyzed, e.g., as retirement, death, and disability benefits,
and lump-sum payments)

f] Administrative expenses

g] Other expenses

h] Taxes on income

i] Profits and losses on disposal of investments and changes in value of investments

jl  Transfers from and to other plans

(3) A description of the funding policy

(4) For defined benefit plans, the actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits
(which may distinguish between vested benefits and nonvested benefits) based on the
benefits promised under the terms of the plan, on service rendered to date and using either
current salary levels or projected salary levels. This information may be included in an ac-
companying actuarial report to be read in conjunction with the related information.

(5) For defined benefit plans, a description of the significant actuarial assumptions made and
the method used to calculate the actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits.

6.3 According to the Standard, since the report of a retirement benefit plan contains a description
of the plan, either as part of the financial information or in a separate report, it may contain

(1) The names of the employers and the employee groups covered
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(2) The number of participants receiving benefits and the number of other participants, classi-
fied as appropriate

(3) The type of plan—defined contribution or defined benefit

(4) A note as to whether participants contribute to the plan

(5) A description of the retirement benefits promised to participants

(6) A description of any plan termination terms

(7) Changes in items 1. through 6. during the period covered by the report

6.4 Furthermore, it is not uncommon to refer to other documents that are readily available to us-
ers in which the plan is described, and to include in the report only information on subsequent
changes.
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. IAS 26 deals with

(a) Employers’ accounting for the cost of retire-
ment benefits.

(b) General-purpose financial statements of fi-
nancial reports of retirement benefit plans.

(c) Only defined contribution plans and not de-
fined benefit plans.

(d) Only defined benefit plans and not defined
contribution plans.

Answer: (b)

2. In rare circumstances, when a retirement benefit
plan has attributes of both defined contribution and
defined benefit plans, according to IAS 26 it is
deemed
(a) Defined benefit plan.
(b) Defined contribution plan.
(c¢) Neither a defined benefit nor a defined con-
tribution plan.
(d) For aspects of the hybrid plan that are simi-
lar to a defined benefit plan: provisions of
IAS 26 applicable to such plans are to be
applied; for aspects of the hybrid plan that
are similar to a defined contribution plan,
provisions of IAS 26 that apply to such
plans are to be applied.

Answer: (a)

3. In the case of a defined benefit plan, IAS 26

(a) Makes it incumbent upon the plan to obtain
an actuarial valuation.

(b) Does not make it incumbent upon the plan to
obtain an actuarial valuation.

(c) Allows the plan to estimate the present value
of future benefits based on valuations done
by other similar plans.

(d) Allows the plan to add a percentage based
on consumer price index to the previous
year’s valuation of actuarial valuation.

Answer: (b)
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20 CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (IAS 27)

1. SCOPE

The Standard is to be applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements of groups of com-
panies controlled by a parent entity.

2. DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS (in accordance with IAS 27)

Consolidated financial statements. The financial statements of a group shown as those of a
single economic entity.

Subsidiary. An entity controlled by another entity.

Parent. An entity that has one or more subsidiaries.

Control. The power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity.

Minority interest. The portion of the equity interest not owned by the parent.

3. PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial statements should be presented by the parent entity unless these four conditions are met:

(1) A parent is the wholly owned subsidiary or is a partially owned subsidiary of another entity
and its other owners do not object to the parent not preparing consolidated financial state-
ments.

(2) The parent’s equity or debt capital is not traded on a public market.

(3) The parent did not file nor is it filing its financial statements with a securities commission
or other regulator for the purpose of issuing shares.

(4) The ultimate or intermediate parent of the parent produces consolidated financial state-
ments that comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and that are for
public use.

4. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4.1 All subsidiaries of the parent should be consolidated. Control is presumed to exist when the
parent owns either directly or indirectly more than half of the voting rights of the entity.

4.2 In exceptional circumstances, if it can be demonstrated that such ownership does not consti-
tute control, then the parent/subsidiary relationship does not exist. Even if less than half or even
half of the voting rights is acquired, it is still possible for control to exist where there is power

* Over more than half of the voting rights because of an agreement with other investors

* To govern the financial and operating policies of the entity by law or by agreement

* To appoint or remove the majority of the members of the board of directors and control of
the entity is by that board

* To cast the majority of votes at a meeting of the board of directors and control is exercised
by that board

Practical Insight

TPSA, a Polish entity, discloses in its financial statements that it has a 66% subsidiary; the re-
maining 34% is held by another party. TPSA had the right to nominate four out of six members
of the subsidiary’s management board, although the minority shareholder had a blocking right
in various circumstances. The articles were changed so that members of the board were nomi-
nated equally by TPSA and the minority shareholder. The view taken by TPSA was that the
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blocking rights were not intended to deprive it of its ability to control the subsidiary and have
never been used as such. TPSA considers that it continues to exercise control under IAS 27 and
continues to consolidate the subsidiary.

4.3 A subsidiary cannot be excluded from consolidation because its business is dissimilar from
that of the other entities within the group.

4.4 An entity loses control when it loses the power to govern its financial and operating policies.
This could occur, for example, where a subsidiary becomes subject to the control of the govern-
ment, a regulator, a court of law, or as a result of a contractual agreement.

4.5 The Standard does not require the consolidation of a subsidiary where the control is intended
to be temporary. There should be evidence that the subsidiary has been acquired with the intention
to dispose of it within 12 months and that management is actively seeking a buyer.

4.6 A subsidiary that has previously been excluded from consolidation and is not disposed of
within the 12-month period must be consolidated from the date of acquisition.

4.7 A subsidiary that is operating under severe long-term restrictions that impair its ability to
transfer funds to the parent should not be excluded from consolidation. Control must be lost for the
exclusion to happen.

Case Study 1

Facts

There are currently severe restrictions on the repatriation of dividends from a subsidiary located in
Country A. As a result, the directors of the parent entity wish to deconsolidate the subsidiary as they feel
that this restriction may be in place for several years. Two subsidiaries located in the country are indi-
vidually immaterial but collectively material. The directors also wish to deconsolidate these entities.

Required
Can the results of these subsidiaries be deconsolidated?
Solution

Control must be lost for deconsolidation to occur, and the impairment of the ability to transfer funds is
not sufficient reason. Therefore, the subsidiary should be consolidated. Also, IFRS do not apply to im-
material items, but the two subsidiaries should be taken together and in this instance are material. Hence
this is also not a reason for deconsolidation.

S. ACCOUNTING PROCEDURES

5.1 The group must use uniform accounting policies for reporting transactions, without excep-
tion.

Case Study 2

Facts

A French parent entity uses a revaluation method to value its property, but an American subsidiary uses
the cost basis for valuation. The directors feel that it is not practical to keep revaluing the property of the
American subsidiary and wish to discontinue revaluing the property on consolidation.

Required
Must uniform accounting policies be used under IAS 27?
Solution

Uniform accounting policies must be used by the group. There are no exceptions under IAS 27, even if it
is not practical to use uniform policies.

5.2 Minority interests must be presented separately from the parent entity’s equity and must be
shown within equity. Minority interest in the profit or loss of the group should also be presented
separately.

A
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5.3 All intergroup transactions, balances, income, and expenditures should be eliminated in full.
Any intergroup losses on items may be indicative of an impairment loss and may require recogni-
tion in the consolidated financial statements.

5.4 The financial statements of the parent and its subsidiaries should be prepared using the same
reporting date. If the reporting dates are different, the subsidiary should prepare additional financial
statements for consolidation purposes as of the same date of the parent entity, unless it is impracti-
cable to do so. In this case, adjustments must be made for the effects of significant transactions that
have occurred between the date of the subsidiary’s and the date of the parent entity’s financial
statements. The difference between these dates should never be more than three months.

Practical Insight

Agrana Beteiligung AG, an Austrian entity, states that those subsidiaries’ financial statements
with different year-ends all fell within the three-month window. In the year to February 28,
2003, the balance sheets of all subsidiaries have been harmonized to the end of February. A
note in the financial statements cautions that this should be taken into account for comparability
purposes and discloses an increase in revenue of €40 million and an increase in profit after tax
of €2 million.

5.5 If the loss that is applicable to the minority exceeds the minority interest in the equity of the
subsidiary, then the excess and any further losses attributable to the minority are charged to the
group, unless the minority has a binding obligation to make good the losses.

5.6 When such a subsidiary subsequently reports profits, all such profits will be attributable to the
group until the minority’s share of losses, which have been absorbed by the group, have been re-
covered.

5.7 In the separate financial statements of the parent entity, investments in subsidiaries, associ-
ates, and jointly controlled entities should be accounted for by either measuring the investments at
cost or in accordance with IAS 39. Any such items that are classified as held for sale should be ac-
counted for in accordance with IFRS 5.

5.8 Investments in jointly controlled entities and associates that are accounted for in accordance
with IAS 39 in the consolidated financial statements (i.e., when a subsidiary ceases to be a subsidi-
ary, associate, or joint venture) must be accounted for in the same way in the investor’s separate
financial statements.

6. DISCLOSURES

6.1 Disclosure requirements under this Standard are quite extensive. These disclosures must be
made in consolidated financial statements:

(a) The nature of the relationship between the parent and a subsidiary when the parent does not
own, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, more than half of the voting power

(b) The reasons why the ownership, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, of more than
half of the voting or potential voting power of an investee does not constitute control

(c) The reporting date of the financial statements of a subsidiary when such financial state-
ments are used to prepare consolidated financial statements and are as of a reporting date
or for the period that is different from that of the parent, and the reason for using a different
reporting date or period

(d) The nature and extent of any significant restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries to transfer
funds to the parent in the form of cash dividends or to repay loans or advances

6.2 These disclosures are required where separate financial statements are prepared for a parent
that elects not to prepare consolidated financial statements:

(a) The fact that the financial statements are separate financial statements and that the exemp-
tion from consolidation has been used; the name and country of incorporation or residence
of the entity whose consolidated financial statements that comply with IFRS have been
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produced for public use; and the address where those consolidated financial statements are
obtainable

(b) A list of significant investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities, and associates,
including the name, country of incorporation or residence, proportion of ownership inter-
est, and, if different, proportion of voting power held

(c) A description of the method used to account for the investments in (b)

6.3 These disclosures are required where a parent, investor in a jointly controlled entity, or inves-
tor in an associate prepared separate financial statements:

(a) The fact that the statements are separate financial statements and the reasons why those
statements are prepared if not required by law

(b) A list of significant investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities, and associates,
including the name, country of incorporation or residence, proportion of ownership interest
and, if different, proportion of voting power held

(c) A description of the method used to account for the investments under (b)

Case Study 3

Facts

Entity X is preparing its group accounts for the year ended December 31, 20X4, and has acquired in-
vestments in three companies. The details are set out next.

(a) Entity Y
The whole of the share capital of Y was acquired on July 1, 20X4, with a view to selling the
subsidiary within a year. At the date of acquisition, the estimated fair value less cost to sell of Y
is $27 million. (The fair value of the liabilities is $8 million.) At year-end, (December 31,
20X4), the estimated fair value less costs to sell is $26 million. (The fair value of the liabilities
is $7 million.)

(b) Entity Z
X has acquired, on August 1, 20X4, 48% of Z, which is a major supplier of X. X has a written
agreement with another major shareholder, which owns 30% of the share capital of Z, whereby
X can receive as much of Z’s production as it wishes. X has also made a substantial loan to Z,
which is repayable on demand. If repaid currently, Z would be insolvent.

(c) Entity W
X has acquired 45% of the voting shares of W on September 1, 20X4. The other shares are
owned by V (25%) and T (30%). V and T are both institutional investors and have representa-
tion on the board of directors. X can appoint four members of the board; V and T appoint three
each. The effective power to set W’s operating policies lies with the four directors appointed by
X. However, if there is to be any change in the capital structure of the company, then the full
board (10 directors) must vote in favor of the proposal.

Required

Discuss how these three investments should be treated in the consolidated financial statements of X
group for year ended December 31, 20X4.

Solution

Entity Y, which was acquired on July 1, 20X4, will have to be accounted for under IFRS 5. It will meet
the criteria as being held for sale and, therefore, must be accounted for in this way.

Initially, the fair value of the assets would be recorded at $27 million plus $8 million, which is $35 mil-
lion. The fair value of the liabilities would be recorded at $8 million. At the first balance sheet date, X
will have to remeasure the investment in entity Y at the lower of its cost and fair value less cost to sell,
which will be $26 million. The assets and liabilities will have to be presented separately in the consoli-
dated financial statements from any other assets and liabilities. The total assets at year-end December 31
will be shown separately as $33 million and the total liabilities will be shown separately as $7 million.
Obviously the subsidiary is not consolidated as such.

X owns 48% of the voting shares and has the power to control who has access to the operating capacity
of Z by virtue of a written agreement with another shareholder that owns 30% of the share capital. There
will be a presumption that X will have significant influence over Z through its ability to demand repay-
ment of a substantial loan. Therefore, X should consolidate Z. X has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of the entity through agreement and through its relationship with Z.
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Regarding entity W, X has 45% of the voting power, V has 25%, and T has 30%, but V and T are insti-
tutional investors, and the directors who represent these investors have no effective power. Substantial
power lies with the four directors of W. Although the full board retains some powers, these powers are
limited. The four directors representing W have effective control over most of the financing and operat-
ing policies, which would represent a significant part of the decision making. X has effective control
over V through its control over the board of directors and decision making. Therefore, W should be con-
solidated.

6.4  SIC 12, Consolidation-Special Purpose Entities addresses the situation where a special-
purpose entity should be consolidated by a reporting entity under the consolidation principles in
IAS 27. Under SIC 12, an entity must consolidate a special-purpose entity (SPE) when, in sub-
stance, the entity controls the SPE.

6.5 IFRIC 5, Rights to Interests Arising from Decommissioning Activities, Restoration and Envi-
ronmental Funds states that where an entity recognizes a decommissioning obligation under IFRSs
and contributes to a fund to segregate assets to pay for the obligation, it should apply IAS 27,
SIC 12, TIAS 28 and IAS 31 to determine whether the funds should be consolidated, proportionately
consolidated or accounted for under the equity method.
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. X has control over the composition of Y’s board
of directors. X owns 49% of Y and is the largest
shareholder. X has an agreement with Z, which owns
10% of Y, whereby Z will always vote in the same
way as X. Can X exercise control over Y?

(a) X cannot exercise control because it owns
only 49% of the voting rights.

(b) X cannot exercise control because it can
control only the makeup of the board and
not necessarily the way the directors vote.

(c) X can exercise control solely because it has
an agreement with Z for the voting rights to
be used in whatever manner X wishes.

(d) X can exercise control because it controls
more than 50% of the voting power, and it
can govern the financial and operating poli-
cies of Y through its control of the board of
directors.

Answer: (d)

2. X owns 50% of Y’s voting shares. The board of
directors consists of six members; X appoints three of
them and Y appoints the other three. The casting vote
at meetings always lies with the directors appointed
by X. Does X have control over Y?
(a) No, control is equally split between X and Z.
(b) Yes, X holds 50% of the voting power and
has the casting vote at board meetings in the
event that there is not a majority decision.
(¢) No, X owns only 50% of the entity’s shares
and therefore does not have control.
(d) No, control can be exercised only through
voting power, not through a casting vote.

Answer: (b)

3. Z has sold all of its shares to the public. The
company was formerly a state-owned entity. The na-
tional regulator has retained the power to appoint the
board of directors. An overseas entity acquires 55%
of the voting shares, but the regulator still retains its
power to appoint the board of directors. Who has
control of the entity?

(a) The national regulator.

(b) The overseas entity.

(c) Neither the national regulator nor the over-

seas entity.
(d) The board of directors.

Answer: (¢)

4. A has acquired an investment in a subsidiary, B,
with the view to dispose of this investment within six
months. The investment in the subsidiary has been
classified as held for sale and is to be accounted for in
accordance with IFRS 5. The subsidiary has never
been consolidated. How should the investment in the
subsidiary be treated in the financial statements?
(a) Purchase accounting should be used.
(b) Equity accounting should be used.
(c) The subsidiary should not be consolidated
but IFRS 5 should be used.
(d) The subsidiary should remain off balance
sheet.

Answer: (¢)
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5. A manufacturing group has just acquired a con-
trolling interest in a football club that is listed on a
stock exchange. The management of the manufactur-
ing group wishes to exclude the football club from the
consolidated financial statements on the grounds that
its activities are dissimilar. How should the football
club be accounted for?

(a) The entity should be consolidated as there is
no exemption from consolidation on the
grounds of dissimilar activities.

(b) The entity should not be consolidated using
the purchase method but should be consoli-
dated using equity accounting.

(c) The entity should not be consolidated and
should appear as an investment in the group
accounts.

(d) The entity should not be consolidated; de-
tails should be disclosed in the financial
statements.

Answer: (a)

6. In the separate financial statements of a parent
entity, investments in subsidiaries that are not classi-
fied as held for sale should be accounted for

(a) Atcost.

(b) In accordance with IAS 39.

(c) Atcostorin accordance with IAS 39.

(d) Using the equity method.

Answer: (¢)

7. Which of the following is not a valid condition
that will exempt an entity from preparing consoli-
dated financial statements?

(a) The parent entity is a wholly owned subsidi-
ary of another entity.

(b) The parent entity’s debt or equity capital is
not traded on the stock exchange.

(c) The ultimate parent entity produces consoli-
dated financial statements available for pub-
lic use that comply with IFRS.

(d) The parent entity is in the process of filing
its financial statements with a securities
commission.

Answer: (d)

8. Entity X controls an overseas entity Y. Because
of exchange controls, it is difficult to transfer funds
out of the country to the parent entity. X owns 100%
of the voting power of Y. How should Y be accounted
for?
(a) It should be excluded from consolidation
and the equity method should be used.
(b) It should be excluded from consolidation
and stated at cost.
(c) It should be excluded from consolidation
and accounted for in accordance with IAS
39.
(d) It is not permitted to be excluded from con-
solidation because control is not lost.

Answer: (d)
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9. Where should minority interests be presented in
the consolidated balance sheet?
(a) Within long-term liabilities.
(b) In between long-term liabilities and current
liabilities.
(c) Within the parent shareholders’ equity.
(d) Within equity but separate from the parent
shareholders’ equity.

Answer: (d)

abcBourselir > @abcBourselir



http://abcbourse.ir/

21 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (IAS 28)

1. BACKGROUND AND INTRODUCTION

This Standard is to be applied to all accounting for investments in associates but does not apply to
investments in associates held by a venture capital organization, a mutual fund, a unit trust, and a
similar entity, including investment-linked insurance funds, where these investments upon initial
recognition are designated at fair value through profit or loss or classified as held for trading and
accounted for in accordance with IAS 39.

2. DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS (in accordance with IAS 28)

Associate. An entity in which an investor has significant influence but which is neither a sub-
sidiary nor an interest in a joint venture.

Significant influence. The power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but not to control them; that control includes joint control over those policies.
Equity method. A method of accounting by which an investment is initially recognized at
cost and adjusted thereafter to reflect the postacquisition change in the investor’s share of the
net assets of the investee. The profit or loss attributable to the investment in the associate is
included in the investor’s income statement.

3. SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCE

3.1 [Itis presumed that the investor has significant influence if it holds directly or indirectly 20%
or more of the voting power of the associate unless it can be clearly shown that significant influ-
ence does not exist. If the holding is less than 20%, the investor will be presumed not to have sig-
nificant influence unless such influence can be shown. If a substantial or even a majority ownership
is held by another investor, this does not necessarily mean that significant influence cannot arise
through a holding of 20% or more.

3.2 Significant influence is normally created in one of these ways:

» Representation on the board of directors

* Participation in the policy-making process

* Material transactions occurring between the two entities
* The changing over of management

* The provision of essential technical information

The existence of potential voting rights, for example, through the ownership of share-warrants,
share-call options, and the like, must be considered when assessing whether an entity has
significant influence. Where these potential voting rights are not currently exercisable, they will not
be taken into account.

3.3 Significant influence is lost when the investor loses the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee. This can occur without the loss of voting power or
without a change in the ownership levels. It could occur, for example, where the associate is sub-
ject to government control or regulation as the result of a contractual agreement.

Case Study 1

Facts

X owns 60% of the voting rights of Y, Z owns 19% of the voting rights of Y, and the remainder are dis-
persed among the public. Z also is the sole supplier of raw materials to Y and has a contract to supply
certain expertise regarding the maintenance of Y’s equipment.
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Required
What is the relationship between Z and Y?
Solution

Z may be able to exercise significant influence over Y, and therefore it may have to be treated as an as-
sociate. Although Z owns only 19% of the voting rights, it is the sole supplier of raw materials to Y and
provides expertise in the form of maintenance of Y’s equipment.

4. Equity Method

Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is recognized initially at cost, and then the
carrying amount is adjusted to recognize the investor’s share of profit or loss of the investee after
that date. The investor’s share of the profit or loss of the associate is recognized in the income
statement. Adjustments to the carrying amount may be necessary for distributions received or
through changes in the investor’s interest in the investee or changes arising from the revaluation of
property, plant, and equipment, for example.

Case Study 2

Facts

A acquires 25% of the voting shares of B on January 1, 20X5. The purchase consideration was $10 mil-
lion, and A has significant influence over B. The retained earnings of B were $15 million at the date of
acquisition, and the A group has several other subsidiaries. The retained earnings of B at December 31,
20X35, were $21 million.

Required

Calculate the carrying value of the investment in B in the group financial statements at December 31,
20X5.

Solution
$m
Cost of investment 10.0
Share of postacquisition reserves 25% of ($21 — 15)m _15
11.5

The share of the postacquisition reserves will be credited to the retained earnings of the group. Goodwill
in an associate is not separately recognized. The entire carrying amount is tested for impairment.

In the consolidated income statement, income from associates for the year is reported after profit from
operations, just before profit before tax.

Case Study 3

Facts

Company A sells inventory to its 30% owned associate, B. The inventory had cost A $200,000 and was
sold for $300,000. B also has sold inventory to A. The cost of this inventory to B was $100,000, and it
was sold for $120,000.

Required

How would the intercompany profit on these transactions be dealt with in the financial statements if
none of the inventory had been sold at year-end?

Solution
Company A to Company B
000
The intergroup profit is $(300 — 200) 100
Profit reported would be 100 x 70/100 = _70

The remaining profit would be deferred until the sale of the inventory.
Company B to Company A
The profit made by B would be $(120 — 100) = 20
An amount of 20 x 30/100 would be eliminated from the carrying value of the investment, that is, $6,000.

The alternative is to eliminate the whole of the profit from B’s profit for the period and then calculate the
profit attributable to the associate.
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5. EXCEPTIONS TO THE EQUITY METHOD

An investment in an associate should be accounted for using the equity method except in these
three exceptional circumstances:

(1) Where the investment is classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5

(2) Where a parent does not have to present consolidated financial statements because of the
exemption in IAS 27

(3) The investor need not use the equity method if all of these criteria apply:

(a) The investor is a wholly owned subsidiary or is a partially owned subsidiary of another
entity and its owners have been informed about and do not object to the investor not
applying the equity method. The owners in this case are all of those entitled to vote.

(b) The investor’s debt or equity instruments are not traded in a public market.

(c) The investor did not file, nor is it in the process of filing, its financial statements with a
securities commission or other regulatory body for the purpose of issuing any class of
financial instrument in a public market.

(d) The ultimate or any intermediate parent of the investor produces consolidated financial
statements that are available for public use and that comply with IFRS.

6. INVESTOR CEASES TO HAVE SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCE

6.1 If the investor ceases to have significant influence over an associate, then the equity method
should not be used and the investment should be accounted for using IAS 39, provided that the as-
sociate does not become a subsidiary or a joint venture.

6.2 The carrying amount at the date that the investment ceases to be regarded as an associate shall
be treated as cost on its initial measurement as a financial asset under IAS 39.

Case Study 4

Facts

Company X owns 22% of Company Y and is entitled to appoint two directors to the board, which con-
sists of eight members. The remaining 78% of the voting rights are held by two other companies, each of
which is entitled to appoint three directors. The board makes decisions on the basis of a simple majority.
Because board meetings are often held at very short notice, Company X does not always have represen-
tation on the board. Often the suggestions of the representative of Company X are ignored, and the deci-

sions of the board seem to take little notice of any representations made by the director from Company
X.

Required
What is the relationship between Company X and Company Y?
Solution

Company X is unable to exercise significant influence as its directors seem to be ignored at board meet-
ings. Therefore, the equity method should not be used.

7. ACQUISITION OF AN ASSOCIATE AND ACCOUNTING TREATMENT

7.1 When an investment in an associate is acquired, any difference between the cost of the invest-
ment and the investor’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s net assets and contingent li-
abilities is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3. Thus, any goodwill relating to the associate
will be included in the carrying value of the investment.

7.2 FRS 3 and, therefore, IAS 28 do not allow amortization of that goodwill. Negative goodwill
is excluded from the carrying amount of the investment. This amount should be included as income
in determining the investor’s share of the associate’s profit or loss for the period in which the in-
vestment was acquired.

7.3 After acquisition, adjustments will be made to the investor’s share of the associates’ profits or
losses for such events as impairment losses incurred by the associate.
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7.4 In determining the investor’s share of profits or losses, the most recently available financial
statements of the associate are used. If the reporting dates of the investor and the associate are dif-
ferent, both should prepare financial statements as of the date as those of the investor unless it is
impracticable to do so.

7.5 If financial statements are prepared to a different reporting date, then adjustments should be
made for any significant transactions or events that occurred between the date of the associate’s
financial statements and the date of the investor’s financial statements. The difference between the
reporting dates should not be more than three months.

7.6 If the associate uses accounting policies that are different from those of the investor, the asso-
ciate’s financial statements should be adjusted and the investor’s accounting policies should be
used.

7.7 If the investor’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
then the investor should not recognize its share of any further losses.

7.8 The interest in the associate is essentially the carrying amount of the investment using the eq-
uity method together with any other long-term interests that are essentially part of the investor’s net
investment in the associate. An example is a long-term loan from the investor to the associate.
Long-term interests in this context do not include trade receivables or payables or any secured
long-term receivables. Losses recognized in excess of the investor’s investment in ordinary shares
should be applied to the other elements of the investor’s interest in the associate in the order of
their priority in liquidation.

7.9  When the investor’s interest is reduced to zero, any additional losses are provided for and
liabilities recognized only to the extent that the investor has a legal or constructive obligation or
has made payments on behalf of the associate. When the associate reports profits, the investor can
recognize its share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of the losses
not yet recognized.

Practical Insight

November AG Gesellschaft fur Molekulare Medizin, a German company, accounted for an
associate under the equity method in 2001. As a result of the associate’s uncertain financing,
the investment was written down to €1. The write-down was classified as depreciation but
should have been treated as an impairment loss in the income statement.

8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

8.1 Impairment indicators in IAS 39 apply to investments in associates. Because the goodwill is
included in the carrying amount of the investment in an associate and is not separately recognized,
it cannot be tested for impairment separately by applying IAS 36. Instead the entire carrying
amount of the investment is tested for impairment under IAS 36 by comparing the recoverable
amount with the carrying amount.

8.2 Each associate must be assessed individually regarding the recoverable amount of that invest-
ment unless the associate does not generate independent cash flows.

8.3 An investment in an associate is accounted for in the investor’s separate financial statements
in accordance with IAS 27.

Case Study 5

Facts

A acquired 30% of the issued capital of B for $1 million on December 31, 20X5. The accumulated prof-
its at that date were $2 million. A appointed three directors to the board of B, and A intends to hold the
investment for a significant period of time. The companies prepare their financial statements to Decem-
ber 31 each year. The abbreviated balance sheet of B on December 31, 20X7 is
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Sundry net assets $6 million
Issued share capital of $1 $1 million
Share premium $2 million
Retained earnings $3 million

B had made no new issues of shares since the acquisition of the investment by A. The recoverable
amount of net assets of B is deemed to be $7 million. The fair value of the net assets at the date of acqui-
sition was $5 million.

Required
‘What amount should be shown in A’s consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 20X7, for the invest-
ment in B?
Solution
Sm
Investment in associate (30% x $6 million) 1.8
Alternative Calculation
Cost 1.0
Postacquisition profits 30% (3 — 2) 0.3
Negative goodwill (30% of $5 million) — $1 million 0.5
1.8

The negative goodwill will be credited to income.

An impairment test would prove that the carrying amount of the investment is not impaired.

$m
Recoverable amount $7 million x 30% 2.1
Carrying value of investment 1.8

(Goodwill should not be impairment tested separately but included in the carrying value of the invest-
ment.)

9. DISCLOSURES

9.2

Under IAS 28, these disclosures are mandated:

Fair value of investment in associates for which there are published price quotations.
Summarized financial information of associates, including the aggregated amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues, and profit or loss.

Reasons why investments of less than 20% are accounted for by the equity method or when
investments of more than 20% are not accounted for by the equity method.

The reporting date of the financial statements of an associate that is different from that of the
investor and the reasons why.

Nature and extent of any significant restrictions on the ability of associates to transfer funds
to the investor in the form of cash dividends, or repayment of loans or advances.
Unrecognized share of losses of an associate, both for the period and cumulatively, if an
investor has discontinued recognition of its share of losses of an associate.

Reasons why an associate is not accounted for using the equity method.

Summarized financial information of associates, either individually or in groups, that are not
accounted for using the equity method, including the amounts of total assets, total liabilities,
revenues, and profit or loss.

Equity method investment should be classified as noncurrent assets.

The investor’s share of the profit or loss of equity method investments, and the carrying
amount of those investments, must be separately disclosed.

The investor’s share of any discontinued operations of such associates should be separately
disclosed.

The investor’s share of changes recognized directly in the associate’s equity are also recog-
nized directly in equity by the investor, and disclosed in the statement of changes in equity as
required by IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements.

In addition, in accordance with IAS 37, these points should also be disclosed:

Investor’s share of the contingent liabilities of an associate incurred jointly with other inves-
tors.

Any contingent liabilities that may arise because the investor is severally liable for all or part
of the liabilities of the associate.
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. An entity has bought a 25% share in another
entity with a view to selling that investment within six
months. The investment has been classified as held
for sale in accordance with IFRS 5. How should the
investment be treated in the final year accounts?
(a) It should be equity accounted.
(b) The assets and liabilities should be presented
separately from other assets in the balance
sheet under IFRS 5.
(¢) The investment should be dealt with under
IAS 29.
(d) Purchase accounting should be used for this
investment.

Answer: (b)

2. The Standard does not require the equity method
to be applied when the associate has been acquired
and held with a view to its disposal within a certain
time period. What is the period within which the as-
sociate must be disposed of?

(a) Six months.

(b) Twelve months.

(c) Two years.

(d) In the near future.

Answer: (b)

3. How is goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate dealt with in the financial statements?
(a) It is amortized.
(b) Itis impairment tested individually.
(c) Itis written off against profit or loss.
(d) Goodwill is not recognized separately within
the carrying amount of the investment.

Answer: (d)

4. An investor must apply the requirements of IAS
39 in determining whether it is necessary to recognize
any impairment loss in the investment in an associate.
How is the impairment test carried out?

(a) The goodwill is separated from the rest of
the investment and is impairment tested in-
dividually.

(b) The entire carrying amount of the invest-
ment is tested for impairment under IAS 36
by comparing its recoverable amount with
its carrying amount.

(c) The carrying value of the investment should
be compared with its market value.

(d) The recoverable amounts of all investments
in associates should be assessed together to
determine whether there has been an im-
pairment on all investments.

Answer: (b)

5. What should happen when the financial state-
ments of an associate are not prepared to the same
date as the investor’s accounts?

(a) The associate should prepare financial state-
ments for the use of the investor at the same
date as those of the investor.

(b) The financial statements of the associate
prepared up to a different accounting date
will be used as normal.
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(c) Any major transactions between the date of
the financial statements of the investor and
that of the associate should be accounted for.

(d) As long as the gap is not greater than three
months, there is no problem.

Answer: (a)

6. If the investor ceases to have significant influ-
ence over an associate, how should the investment be
treated?

(a) It should still be treated using equity ac-
counting.

(b) It should be treated in accordance with IAS
39.

(c¢) The investment should be frozen at the date
at which the investor ceases to have signifi-
cant influence.

(d) The investment should be treated at cost.

Answer: (b)

7. If there is any excess of the investor’s share of
the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets
and contingent liabilities over the cost of the invest-
ment, that is, negative goodwill, how should that ex-
cess be treated?

(a) It should be included in the carrying amount
of the investment.

(b) It should be written off against retained
earnings.

(c) It should be included as income in the deter-
mination of the investor’s share of the asso-
ciate’s profit or loss for the period.

(d) It should be disclosed separately as part of
the investor’s equity.

Answer: (c)

8. What accounting method should be used for an
investment in an associate where it is operating under
severe long-term restrictions—for example where the
government of a company has temporary control over
the associate?

(a) IAS 39 should be applied.

(b) The equity method should be applied if sig-

nificant influence can be exerted.
(¢) The associate should be shown at cost.
(d) Proportionate consolidation should be used.

Answer: (b)

9. An investor sells inventory for cash to a 25%
associate. The inventory cost the investor $6 million
and is sold to the associate for $10 million. None of
the inventory has been sold at year-end. How much of
the profit on the transaction would be reported in the
group accounts?

(a) $4 million.

(b) $1 million.

(¢) $3 million.

(d) Zero.

Answer: (c)
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22 FINANCIAL REPORTING IN
HYPERINFLATIONARY ECONOMIES
(IAS 29)

1. SCOPE

1.1 This Standard deals with the measurement problems of entities that are reporting in the cur-
rency of a hyperinflationary economy. In this situation, financial information reported in historical
terms would present a distorted picture of the entity’s performance and financial position. This
Standard sets out procedures for adjusting the financial information for the effects of hyperinfla-
tion.

2. DEFINITION OF HYPERINFLATION

The Standard does not define hyperinflation but sets out the general characteristics of a
hyperinflationary economy.

These characteristics would include

(1) Where the preference is to keep wealth in nonmonetary assets or in a stable foreign cur-
rency. Any local currency would be immediately invested in order to attempt to main-
tain its purchasing power.

(2) Where prices are quoted in a stable foreign currency and the population regards mone-
tary amounts in that currency, as effectively a local currency

(3) Where transactions are priced at an amount that includes compensation for the future
expected loss of the purchasing power of the local currency. This characteristic would
be taken into account even if the credit period is quite short.

(4) Where prices, wages, and interest rates are closely linked to a price index

(5) Where cumulative inflation rates over a period of three years approaches or exceeds
100%

Although IAS 29 sets out the characteristics that may indicate a hyperinflationary economy, it also
states that judgment will have to be used in determining whether restatement of the financial state-
ments of the entity is required.

3. CEASING TO BE HYPERINFLATIONARY

3.1 Likewise, judgment will be required in determining whether an economy is no longer hyper-
inflationary. The criteria used for this is whether the cumulative inflation rate drops below 100% in
a three-year period.

3.2 When the economy ceases to have hyperinflation, then the entity should discontinue prepar-
ing financial statements in accordance with IAS 29. If possible, all entities in that environment
should cease to apply the Standard from the same date.

3.3 The carrying amounts in subsequent financial statements will be taken as the amounts ex-
pressed in the measuring unit current at the end of the previous year.

4. FUNCTIONAL CURRENCY AND HYPERINFLATION

4.1 The functional currency should be based on the economic circumstances relevant to the entity
and not based on choice. If the functional currency is one of a hyperinflationary economy, the fi-
nancial statements should be stated in terms of the measurement unit current at the balance sheet
date.
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Practical Insight

Wella AG discloses in its 2002 accounts that the functional currency of foreign subsidiaries is
normally the national currency, as the subsidiaries operate independently. The entity also states
that the financial statements of subsidiaries operating in Turkey have been restated to reflect the
purchasing power at the balance sheet date.

4.2 If a parent entity operates in a hyperinflationary economy but a subsidiary does not, then the
parent’s results should be restated for hyperinflation but the subsidiary’s results need not be re-
stated but should comply with IAS 21.

4.3 If a subsidiary is operating in a hyperinflationary economy and the parent entity is not, then
the parent entity would prepare financial statements using IFRS and the subsidiary would use
IAS 29.

5. RESTATEMENT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: BALANCE SHEET

5.1 IAS 29 requires the restatement of financial statements including the cash flow statements
and requires the use of a general price index.

Practical Insight

Turkiye Petrol Rafanerileri published in its 2002 accounts that cumulative inflation in Turkey
was 227% for the three years to December 2002. The entity restates comparatives and discloses
that it uses the Turkish countryside wholesale prices index.

5.2 Itis preferable that all entities in the same country use the same index.

5.3 Monetary items are already stated in the measuring unit at the balance sheet dates and are
therefore not restated.

5.4  All nonmonetary items are restated using the change in the general price index between the
date that those items were acquired and the current balance sheet date, unless they are carried at
current values (e.g., net realizable value and market value) at the balance sheet date, in which case
they are not restated.

5.5 Any gain or loss on the restatement of nonmonetary items is included in the income state-
ment. It is a requirement to disclose this net gain or loss separately.

5.6 The index is applied from the dates on which accounting for hyperinflation was first applica-
ble to these items.

5.7 Some nonmonetary assets are carried at values determined at an earlier date than that of the
financial statements. Examples are the revaluation of property or equipment. In this case, the carry-
ing amounts are restated from the date the assets were revalued.

5.8 The restated amounts are compared to (1) recoverable amounts in the case of noncurrent as-
sets, (2) net realizable value in the case of inventory, (3) market value in the case of current invest-
ments, and reduced if they exceed the above values.

5.9 An associate operating in the hyperinflationary economy should have its financial statements
restated in accordance with IAS 29.

5.10 Opening owners’ equity should be restated using the Standard, but retained earnings and
revaluation surplus should not be restated. Any revaluation surplus arising prior to the application
of the Standard is eliminated. Restated retained earnings are the balancing figure in the restated
balance sheet.

6. INCOME STATEMENT

6.1 The income statement is expressed in terms of the measuring unit at the balance sheet date.
Therefore, amounts need to be restated from the dates they were initially recorded.

A
A
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Practical Insight

Norilsk Nicket, a Russian entity, disclosed in 2002 that the economy of the Russian Federation
was considered to be hyperinflationary even though a rate of inflation was not published.
Norilsk Nicket showed a table of conversion factors taken from the consumer price index. It
also disclosed that from 2003, the economy has ceased to be hyperinflationary and that it will
now measure its noncurrent assets and liabilities at cost.

Case Study 1

Facts

An entity keeps three weeks’ inventory of raw materials on hand and has a substantial amount of fin-
ished goods inventory. The entity operates in a hyperinflationary environment.

Required
Adpvise the entity as to how to restate its inventory.
Solution

A general price index should be used, but the problem will be maintaining records of the acquisition
dates of the raw materials and the nature and timing of the conversion cost to finished inventory. Sys-
tems need to be developed to accumulate this information in order to use general price indices. If there
are low inventory levels, the problem is minimized. In this case, the general price indices for the most
recent month will be used together with the aged inventory lists to restate inventory.

6.2 The gain or loss on the net monetary position is included in net income.
7. SUNDRY POINTS

7.1 Current cost financial statements. The balance sheet is not restated, but the income statement
needs restating into the measuring unit at the balance sheet date using a general price index.

7.2 Taxation. There may be deferred tax consequences of the restatement of the carrying values
of assets and liabilities.

Case Study 2

Facts

Z operates in a hyperinflationary economy. Its balance sheet at December 31, 20XS5, follows:

m. zlotis

Property, plant, and equipment 900
Inventory 2,700
Cash 350
Share capital (issued 20X1) 400
Retained earnings 2,350
Noncurrent liabilities 500
Current liabilities 700

The general price index had moved in this way:

December 31
20X1 100
20X2 130
20X3 150
20X4 240
20X5 300

The property, plant, and equipment was purchased on December 31, 20X3, and there is six months’ in-
ventory held. The noncurrent liabilities were a loan raised on March 31, 20X5.

Required
Show the balance sheet of Z after adjusting for hyperinflation.
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Solution

m zlotis

Property, plant, and equipment (900 x 300/150) 1,800
Inventory (300/270) x 2,700 3,000
Cash _ 350
5,150

Share capital (300/100 x 400) 1,200
Retained earnings (balance) 2,750
Noncurrent liabilities 500
Current liabilities _ 700
5.150

The inventory had been restated assuming that the index has increased proportionately over time. The
loan is a monetary item and therefore is not restated. If the loan had been index linked, then it would
have been restated in accordance with the loan agreement.

8. DISCLOSURE
8.1 This information has to be disclosed under IAS 29:

(a) That the financial statements and other corresponding period data have been restated for
changes in the general purchasing power of the reporting currency

(b) The basis on which the financial statements are prepared, that is, based on historical cost or
current cost approach

(c) The nature and level of the price index at the balance sheet date and any movements on this
index in the current and previous reporting period

8.2 IFRIC 7, Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29, “Financial Reporting in Hyper-
inflationary Economies,” states that in the period in which the economy of an entity’s functional
currency becomes hyperinflationary, the entity shall apply the requirements of IAS 29 as if the
economy had always been hyperinflationary. The effect is that restatements of nonmonetary items
carried at historical cost are made from the dates they were first recognized; for other non-mone-
tary items the restatements are made from the dates of the revised current values. Deferred tax
items are remeasured in accordance with IAS 12 after restating the nominal carrying amounts of
the nonmonetary items in the opening balance sheet by applying the measuring unit at that date.
These items are restated for the change in the measuring unit from the date of the opening balance
sheet to the date of the closing balance sheet.
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MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS

1. An entity has several subsidiaries that operate in
a hyperinflationary economy which uses the zloty as
its local currency. Management wishes to show the
financial statements in U.S. dollars. Many of the op-
erations of the entity are within countries that are not
hyperinflationary, and these subsidiaries use the euro
as their functional currency. What currency should the
entity use to present its consolidated financial state-
ments?

(a) U.S. dollars.

(b) The zloty.

(¢) The euro.

(d) The entity may use any currency.

Answer: (d)

2. An entity has a subsidiary that operates in a
hyperinflationary economy. The subsidiary’s financial
statements are measured in terms of the local cur-
rency, which is the zloty. The subsidiary’s financial
statements have been restated in accordance with [AS
29. The parent is located in the United States and
prepares the consolidated financial statements in U.S.
dollars. Which of the following accounting proce-
dures is correct in terms of the consolidation of the
subsidiary’s financial statements?

(a) The subsidiary’s financial statements should
be prepared using the zloty and then re-
translated into U.S. dollars.

(b) The subsidiary’s financial statements should
be prepared using the zloty, then restated ac-
cording to IAS 29, and then retranslated into
U.S. dollars at closing rates.

(c) The subsidiary’s financial statements should
be remeasured in U.S. dollars, then restated
according to TAS 29 and consolidated.

(d) The subsidiary’s financial statements should
be deconsolidated and not included in the
consolidated financial statements.

Answer: (b)

3. An entity is trying to determine which assets and
which liabilities are monetary and nonmonetary.
Which of the following assets or liabilities are non-
monetary?

(a) Trade receivables.

(b) Deferred tax liabilities.

(c) Accrued expenses and other payables.

(d) Taxes payable.

Answer: (b)

4. Property was purchased on December 31, 20X5,
for 20 million zlotis. The general price index in the
country was 60.1 on that date. On December 31,
20X7, the general price index had risen to 240.4. If
the entity operates in a hyperinflationary economy,
what would be the carrying amount in the financial
statements of the property after restatement?
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(a) 20 million zlotis

(b) 1,200.2 million zlotis
(c) 80 million zlotis

(d) 4,808 million zlotis

Answer: (¢)

5. The following “equity” relates to an entity
operating in a hyperinflationary economy:

After

Before IAS 29 restatement
Share capital 100 170
Revaluation reserve 20 -
Retained earnings _30 -
150 270

What would be the balances on the revaluation re-
serve and retained earnings after the restatement for
1AS 29?
(a) Revaluation reserve 0, retained earnings
100.